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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 

        This Annual Report on Form 10-K, or this Annual Report, contains "forward-looking statements" within the meaning of Section 21E of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act, that involve substantial risks and uncertainties. The forward-looking statements are
contained principally in Part I, Item 1: "Business," Part I, Item 1A: "Risk Factors," and Part II, Item 7: "Management's Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations," but are also contained elsewhere in this Annual Report. In some cases, you can identify forward-
looking statements by the words "may," "might," "will," "could," "would," "should," "expect," "intend," "plan," "objective," "anticipate," "believe,"
"estimate," "predict," "project," "potential," "continue" and "ongoing," or the negative of these terms, or other comparable terminology intended to
identify statements about the future. These statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause our actual
results, levels of activity, performance or achievements to be materially different from the information expressed or implied by these forward-looking
statements. Although we believe that we have a reasonable basis for each forward-looking statement contained in this Annual Report, we caution you
that these statements are based on a combination of facts and factors currently known by us and our expectations of the future, about which we cannot
be certain. All statements other than statements of historical fact could be deemed forward-looking, including but not limited to statements about:

• the expansion of the mobile advertising market in general and our belief that digital advertising can be more effective than traditional
advertising; 

• the expected growth of app downloads, mobile ad revenue, number of mobile connected devices and Wi-Fi enabled devices, wireless
network penetration and mobile consumption of content; 

• market trends, including overall opportunities for mobile advertising and shifting advertising budgets; 

• the ongoing improvement and refinement of our ad targeting capabilities and the willingness of advertisers to pay more for ads as a
result; 

• our growth strategy; 

• our expectations to increase our sales and marketing expense, investment in technology and development efforts and general and
administrative expense; and 

• our beliefs about our capital expenditure requirements and that our capital resources will be sufficient to meet our anticipated cash
requirements through at least the next 12 months.

        You should refer to "Item 1A. Risk Factors" in this Annual Report for a discussion of important factors that may cause our actual results to differ
materially from those expressed or implied by our forward-looking statements. As a result of these factors, we cannot assure you that the forward-
looking statements in this Annual Report will prove to be accurate. Furthermore, if our forward-looking statements prove to be inaccurate, the
inaccuracy may be material. In light of the significant uncertainties in these forward-looking statements, you should not regard these statements as a
representation or warranty by us or any other person that we will achieve our objectives and plans in any specified time frame, or at all. The forward-
looking statements in this Annual Report represent our views as of the date of this Annual Report. Subsequent events and developments may cause our
views to change. However, while we may elect to update these forward-looking statements at some point in the future, we undertake no obligation to
publicly update any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, except as required by law. You
should, therefore, not rely on these forward-looking statements as representing our views as of any date subsequent to the date of this Annual Report.
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Conventions Used in this Report 

        Mobile connected devices—We refer to mobile devices, such as traditional mobile phones, smartphones and tablets, that are able to connect to the
internet through a cellular, wireless or other network as mobile connected devices.

        Apps—Software applications specifically designed to operate on mobile connected devices are commonly called apps. Mobile connected devices
can access information and content either through apps downloaded onto the device or from web-based mobile sites accessed using a web browser
installed on the device. For convenience, unless the context otherwise requires, we refer to these apps and web-based mobile sites together as apps.

        Developers—For convenience, we refer to the developers of apps and the publishers of web-based mobile sites together as developers.

        Unique users—When we discuss the number of unique users our platform reaches, we measure this as the total number of unique users whose
devices made ad requests to our platform during the specified period. This represents the number of users to whom we had an opportunity to deliver ads
during that period, not the number of users who actually received ads.

        Profiles—When we discuss profiles, we are referring to the number of active unique users in our system that are targetable to receive ads as of the
specified date.

        Audience categories—When we discuss audience categories, we are referring to a grouping of data into a category based on a variety of user
attributes, including location, demographics, affluence, intent, gender, and interests.

        Cross-screen users—When we discuss cross-screen users, we are referring to users who access digital media through both traditional online
means, such as on a laptop or PC, as well as on mobile connected devices.

        Number of apps—When we discuss the number of apps enabled by the developers of those apps to receive ads delivered through our platform, we
count an app developed for multiple operating systems as multiple apps.

        New and existing clients—When we discuss existing clients, we are referring to advertiser clients who had, as of the beginning of the period being
discussed, previously advertised on our or Jumptap, Inc.'s platform at any time. An existing client would include a new brand or subsidiary of a parent
company that had previously advertised with us or Jumptap. When we discuss new clients, we are referring to advertiser clients who had, as of the
beginning of the period being discussed, not previously advertised on either platform.
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PART I 

Item 1.    Business 

Overview

        We are the leading independent mobile advertising platform company delivering market-leading products and services to advertisers and
developers. We offer advertisers a suite of solutions that allow them to reach and connect with their target audiences across screens—from smartphones,
tablets and other mobile devices to PCs—with the scale to make significant impact to their business. We offer developers the ability to maximize their
advertising revenue and acquire new users for their apps. We operate a proprietary technology and data platform that allows advertisers and developers
to interact with us in the way that suits them best. For clients that want to interact on a managed basis, meaning that they have a higher degree of
customer service, we have dedicated account teams that use our technology platform to deliver highly engaging advertising campaigns for advertisers
and optimized monetization solutions for developers. For our clients that want to interact with us on an automated basis, our platform offers tools to
allow advertisers to buy our ad inventory in a programmatic fashion through our ad exchange, MMX, and developers the opportunity to manage and
monetize their ad inventory through our supply side tool, mMedia. In addition, we offer advertisers the ability to consolidate all of their mobile media
buying through our demand side platform, mmDSP.

        One of the main strengths of our platform is that it accesses and analyzes mass volumes of data—including location, social, interest, and contextual
data, as well as our own insights that we derive from measuring ad effectiveness—to provide a unique, multidimensional view of individual consumer
profiles. We call this data asset our Relevance Graph. To date, we have developed more than 625 million server-side unique user profiles, many of
which link multiple mobile devices and PCs to a single specific user on an anonymous basis. These user profiles and the Relevance Graph, combined
with third party data from more than 20 data partners and our proprietary data management platform, enable us to deliver more relevant, engaging and
effective advertising to our advertising clients. Our data asset also allows us to measure the impact of mobile advertising on consumer engagement,
intent and action. We have developed a suite of solutions, which we call Omni Measurement, that measure several different areas of mobile advertising
impact. As of December 31, 2013, our platform reached more than 600 million monthly unique users worldwide, including approximately 170 million
monthly unique users in the United States alone. More than 50,000 apps and mobile sites are enabled by their developers to receive ads delivered
through our platform, and we can deliver ads on over 9,000 different mobile device types and models.

        The goal of our products and services is to help developers and advertisers remove the complexity from mobile advertising. We provide tools and
services to developers that allow their apps to display video, banner ads, interactive rich media and native ad formats from our platform. By partnering
with us, developers gain access to advertising campaigns from leading brand marketers as well as performance-based advertisers through our platform.
In return, developers supply us with space on their apps to deliver ads for our advertiser clients and also provide us with access to anonymous data
associated with their apps and users. We analyze this data to build sophisticated user profiles and audience groups that, in combination with the real-time
decisioning, optimization and targeting capabilities of our platform, enable us to deliver highly targeted advertising campaigns for our advertiser clients.
Advertisers pay us to deliver their ads to mobile users, and we pay developers a fee for the use of their ad space. As we deliver more ads, we are able to
collect additional anonymous data about users, audiences and the effectiveness of particular ad campaigns, which in turn enhances our targeting
capabilities and allows us to deliver better performance for advertisers and better opportunities for developers to increase their revenue streams.

        Our advertiser and developer solutions support all major mobile operating systems, including Apple® iOS, Android™, Windows Phone and
BlackBerry®. We are the only one of the three principal mobile advertising platform companies that is not affiliated with a particular mobile operating
system or set of devices.
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        We were incorporated under the laws of the State of Delaware on May 30, 2006. Our principal executive office is located at 2400 Boston Street,
Suite 201, Baltimore, Maryland. Our telephone number is (410) 522-8705. Our website address is www.millennialmedia.com. Information contained
in, or accessible through, our website does not constitute a part of, and is not incorporated into, this Annual Report. We completed our initial public
offering in March 2012 and our common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol "MM". Unless the context requires
otherwise, the words "Millennial Media," "Company," "we," "us," and "our" refer to Millennial Media, Inc. and its wholly owned subsidiaries.

        On November 6, 2013, we completed our acquisition of Jumptap, Inc., or Jumptap, a privately held mobile advertising platform, under the terms of
an Agreement and Plan of Reorganization, dated August 13, 2013, as amended on November 1, 2013. As a result of this acquisition, Jumptap is now a
wholly owned subsidiary of Millennial Media.

        In connection with the acquisition of Jumptap, we issued an aggregate of 24,759,604 shares of our common stock to the former securityholders of
Jumptap and participants in Jumptap's Management Incentive Plan, or MIP, and we also assumed options to purchase Jumptap stock, which were
converted into options to purchase an aggregate of 861,311 shares of our common stock. In the aggregate, the shares issued and options assumed
equaled approximately 22.8% of the total number of shares of our common stock, on a fully diluted basis, following the closing of the transaction. Of
the shares of common stock we issued in connection with the acquisition, 2,560,709 shares are being held in escrow as partial security for the
indemnification obligations of the Jumptap securityholders and management participants in the MIP. We also paid an aggregate of $9.5 million in cash
consideration for the Jumptap shares. All outstanding warrants exercisable for, and all outstanding debt instruments convertible into, common stock of
Jumptap, were exchanged for a portion of the 24,759,604 shares of our common stock issued at closing.

        "Millennial Media," "MYDAS," "S.M.A.R.T.," "Mobile Mix," "mmDSP," "mmStudio," "mMedia," "MMX," "Relevance Graph," "Jumptap,"
"tapMatch," and other trademarks or service marks of Millennial Media, Inc. or its subsidiaries appearing in this Annual Report are the property of
Millennial Media, Inc. or its subsidiaries. All other trademarks, service marks and trade names appearing in this Annual Report are the property of their
respective owners.

Our Strategy

        Our objective is to be the strategic independent platform partner of choice for developers and advertisers wanting to capitalize on the large and
growing mobile advertising opportunity. The following are the key elements of our growth strategy:

• Innovate through continued investments in technology and data. 

• Deepen our relationship with developers. 

• Increase our share of advertising budgets from existing advertisers. 

• Acquire new developers and advertisers. 

• Increase our global market penetration. 

• Expand our partnership network with third party providers of tools and services. 

• Continue to provide trusted insight into the app economy.

Industry Background and Market Opportunity

        Consumers are now spending more time on mobile devices than they are on personal computers. This market shift means that advertisers need to
move their dollars and focus to mobile platforms. Mobile advertising is now a marketing imperative, and provides significant benefits both to
developers and to advertisers. For developers, mobile advertising provides the opportunity to monetize their apps, acquire
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users and gain insight into usage. For advertisers, the combination of the personal nature of mobile devices, their enhanced functionality and data and
measurement capabilities, creates a powerful platform for highly targeted and effective advertising. Mobile advertising provides advertisers and
developers with a number of benefits over traditional advertising media, such as anytime, anywhere access, personalization, location targeting and
relevance, more complete user engagement, enhanced audience targeting and superior monetization for developers.

        The convergence of several factors is also fundamentally changing the way mobile users consume content on their mobile connected devices and
has created a significant opportunity for mobile advertising. These factors include:

• Adoption of faster and more functional mobile connected devices.  There has been widespread adoption of mobile connected devices,
driven by intuitive user interfaces, increased functionality, faster processing speeds, better graphics processors and advanced display
technologies with touch capabilities. It has become possible to deliver innovative, interactive and engaging consumer media experiences
on a wide variety of mobile connected devices. We anticipate continued adoption of mobile connected devices over time. 

• Widespread access to faster wireless networks facilitates consumer consumption of content.  With the growth in the adoption of
mobile connected devices, consumers increasingly expect to have a high-quality online experience everywhere. High-speed mobile
networks are steadily expanding their footprint. We also believe the rise of next-generation networks, such as 4G, and the prevalence of
Wi-Fi will further accelerate consumption of content on mobile devices. The combination of widespread network access and faster
network technologies is enabling the proliferation of rich media content, presenting new opportunities in the mobile ecosystem. 

• Mobile usage has disrupted how content is consumed.  Consumers are increasingly using their mobile devices instead of their personal
computers and other traditional media to access content. Consumers are also increasingly using their mobile devices in all aspects of their
daily lives, such as reading the news, playing games, checking sports scores, shopping, checking the weather, banking, obtaining maps
and directions and listening to music. 

• Growth of the mobile app economy.  The convergence of better mobile devices and faster connectivity has enabled developers to create,
and consumers to interact with, content in new ways. Mobile apps have been created by developers as an easy, intuitive and interactive
way to instantly deliver content on mobile devices. Mobile apps can either be native, meaning that they run directly on the operating
system of the device, or they can run in an internet browser on the device. Native apps and emerging web technologies, such as the
computer programming language HTML5, have allowed app developers to harness the increasing processing power and functionality of
mobile devices and faster networks to deliver interactive and engaging content to users. Developers have pursued a variety of approaches
to monetize their apps, including charging users a fee for downloading their apps, offering the app for free to users but placing ads
within the app, and selling virtual goods within the app. Developers that charge users a fee or sell virtual goods within an app often
utilize advertising as well to supplement their revenue or to promote their apps. Developers also use advertising to help consumers
discover their apps among the many thousands of apps that are available in the market today. 

• Advertising industry is being disrupted by mobile advertising.  As advertisers seek to maximize the effectiveness of their campaigns,
the attractiveness of traditional advertising media, such as outdoor billboards, newspapers, magazines, radio and even television, is
declining relative to digital advertising as consumers spend a larger proportion of their time with digital media. This decline is due to
several inherent limitations in traditional advertising, such as its limited ability to target specific audiences, its limited ability to measure
audience reach and, in some cases, its limited geographic range.
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The Millennial Media Solution

Solutions for Developers

        Our solutions give developers the opportunity to maximize ad revenues from their apps by receiving ad campaigns from our advertiser clients. We
also offer developers solutions that help them promote and distribute their apps, including the ability to run their own ads on their own apps at no cost to
them or to reinvest their ad proceeds by becoming an advertiser and advertising their apps through our platform. Our solutions provide developers with
insights into their user base along with data to help them enhance their apps and their business.

Tools for App Developers

        We provide an easy-to-use, turn-key solution for developers. Through our mMedia portal, developers can download and integrate our software
development kits, or SDKs, into their apps at no cost to them. The SDK then becomes an integral part of the app. We have created SDKs for each major
mobile operating system. Our SDKs allow the app to receive multiple kinds of ads—including video, interactive rich media, banner display and native
ad formats—and also allow developers to take advantage of advanced mobile device features, such as gestures, pinch-zoom, device orientation and
movement. Together, these features enable a compelling interactive user experience with ads. We also offer developers ad serving capabilities, mediation
tools and access to our exchange, MMX, which, together, allow developers to allocate ad requests among various advertising campaign sources,
including ads the developers sell themselves, ads generated through us directly, and ads from third party demand side platforms, agency trading desks
and third party networks. The ability to access ads from a variety of sources enables developers to maximize revenue from their ad space. Because our
SDKs support all major operating systems and thousands of different mobile device models, developers can be confident that our ads can be delivered
to their apps regardless of the operating system or device on which they will be used. We do not charge developers for our SDKs because our goal is to
have our SDKs integrated into as many apps as possible so that we can deliver ads to these apps and thereby maximize our platform reach and scale.

Data and Analytics

        We offer developers sophisticated reporting and analytics through an integrated dashboard on our mMedia portal, which includes comprehensive
ad revenue generation reports for their apps across all major mobile operating systems. These reports help developers gain insight into user interaction
and behavior and the performance of their apps. We share this performance data with developers to help them improve their apps and their deployment
of our SDKs in order to maximize their ad revenue. In addition, through the more than a billion ad requests that we typically receive each day, we are
able to gain important insights about users that we are able to share with developers on an aggregated basis.

Services

        We offer all developers support through our mMedia portal, as well as various webinars, blogs and, in some cases, support from account
managers. We then use the insights we gain from our interactions with developers to enhance the tools we provide to our full developer base.

Solutions for Advertisers

        We offer advertisers the opportunity to reach and engage with their target audiences across mobile devices and screens. Our significant audience
reach, access to a large volume of mobile ad space, sophisticated targeting capabilities and broad array of advertising formats allow us to deliver
marketing solutions that can help grow our clients' business. We also enable advertisers to gain insights into the performance of their ad campaigns and
to manage their campaigns with a view to maximizing return on
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their advertising investment. Our solutions are designed to address the needs of large brand advertisers and advertising agencies, as well as
performance-based advertisers. Large brand and performance advertisers typically buy ads on our platform on a full service, or managed basis, through
direct interaction with our sales teams. We also have a tier of clients that prefer to buy ads on our platform through a programmatic or automated
approach, buying through our ad exchange, MMX, on a real-time bidded, or RTB, basis.

Sophisticated targeting

        Our proprietary technology and data platform accesses and analyzes volumes of data about the users on our platform at any point in time. We
combine information about a user's profile and other relevant data to create our Relevance Graph. The Relevance Graph is based on core audience
algorithms and an analytical framework for evaluating users' mobile behavior. Because our platform operates in real-time, the Relevance Graph is
responsive to shifts in data, continually refreshing audience segments as individual interests, activities and needs change. This view gives us deep
insight into what is relevant to individuals at any given moment. Our analytics technology, coupled with the Relevance Graph, enables us to offer
advertisers the ability to run more targeted and engaging advertising campaigns, which we call Mobile Advertising Solutions, or MAS.

        We have developed more than 700 audience categories to which advertisers can target their ads. Audience categories can be based on a variety of
user attributes, including location, demographics, affluence, intent, gender and interests. For example, if a user is browsing the internet and clicks on a
news story about a car, that does not necessarily mean the user is interested in purchasing a car. Without additional data points, it is unclear whether the
user is interested in purchasing a car or just happened to be interested in the news article. However, if a user has been in a car dealership recently, based
on information that can be derived from the location of his or her mobile device, we could place the user into an "in-market auto" audience category and
target car ads to the user. Delivering automotive ads to this user may continue to be very relevant, even after the user has left the car dealership.

        Our targeting capabilities also allow us to deliver the type of ad we predict is most likely to engage the user. For example, we may show a video ad
for a sports car to a 25- to 35-year-old affluent male or a rich media ad for a full-sized SUV or a sedan to a 45- to 55-year-old father.

        We have developed a supplemental approach to data targeting that relies on integrations with more than 20 leading online and offline third party
data providers, including Datalogix, Acxiom and eXelate. Our technology addresses the complex problem of merging these providers' data into the
mobile environment.

        We also use this third party data to deliver our suite of attribution products called Omni Measurement. These products use our first party data and
third party data to show the impact of mobile advertising campaigns, for example, on consumer awareness, product purchase results and in-store foot
traffic. By showing the return on investment of mobile advertising to our large base of advertising clients, we seek to deliver them more consumer
insight and thereby increase their confidence in the mobile medium.

        We enable advertisers to reach, target and engage audiences directly through our network of more than 50,000 apps and sites as well as through
third party mobile ad exchanges. We also enable third party ad networks, demand side platforms (DSPs) and advertising agency trading desks to target
audiences directly through our exchange, MMX. We offer managed solutions where we manage algorithmic, real-time buying on behalf of our clients,
as well as direct real-time bidding.
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Cross-screen capabilities

        According to comScore, a market research firm, there are over 100 million cross-screen users in the United States. We have developed a cross-
screen device map that allows us to associate a single user with his or her multiple online and mobile devices. Using this cross-screen device map, we
offer advertisers the ability both to deliver their message to the same user across screens and then to measure the effectiveness of that message across
screens. For example, we are able to deliver an automotive advertisement to the same user on his or her smartphone, tablet and laptop. In addition, we
can measure the effectiveness of the mobile advertising even if the user is influenced by an ad on his or her smartphone but interacts with the brand on
his or her tablet or laptop, for example by using a website to build a vehicle or schedule an appointment at a dealership. Of our more than 625 million
unique user profiles, we are currently able to target more than 50 million profiles across mobile connected devices and PCs.

mmDSP

        mmDSP is our mobile-first DSP. Integrated with most major mobile supply side platforms and exchanges, mmDSP is also able to access
inventory from our developers directly and through MMX. mmDSP processes billions of ad requests per day and values each ad request in real-time
based on the needs of our advertisers and its understanding of the likely value of the given ad request to those advertisers. We deliver mmDSP on both
a managed and a licensed basis to advertisers.

MMX

        MMX is a transparent marketplace, enabling advertisers to bid on individual ad impressions. Leveraging our sophisticated targeting capabilities
and extensive developer relationships, MMX brings scale and premium quality to mobile real-time bidding. Extensive device and user data obtained via
our SDK ensures advertisers have the data they need to reach their desired target audiences. A wide range of bidding parameters are available in MMX,
enabling advertisers to target their campaign by specific criteria, including location, carrier, device ID, user IP address and developer information.

High level of engagement

        We enable advertisers to deliver numerous ad formats:

• interactive videos, which can also include buttons within the ad that allow a consumer to take an action and engage with the brand, such
as visit a website, make a purchase or recommend on social media sites; 

• display banners, which are a type of ad format that appears on part of the screen in an app and can be static, animated or expandable,
meaning that the ad expands to a full page ad when a user clicks it; 

• rich media, which refers generally to an interactive ad that exhibits dynamic motion over time or in direct response to user interaction,
such as a streaming ticker, an interactive animated presentation or ads that expand when users click or touch a specified location on the
device screen; 

• launch pre-stitials, which are full screen rich media ads, either static image or video, that appear to users before the app loads; 

• transition interstitials, which are full screen rich media ads, either static image or video, that appear to users at natural transition points in
the app, such as between game levels or between the homepage and a unique content page; and  

• native ad formats, which use the native functionality of the device to display ads or to run ads that are customized to the content on the
mobile connected device.
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        We believe that these advertising formats, coupled with sophisticated targeting, increase user interaction and engagement with ads, which in turn
drives better results for advertisers. Our mmStudio solution enables advertisers and advertising agencies to design rich media and creative ads using a
set of templates that we have developed. This solution allows the advertiser to have full control over ad content while ensuring that the ads can be easily
integrated and delivered through our platform. We also support the most popular third party rich media creative formats. Our goal is to deliver the most
engaging ad possible to a specific user, then to effectively measure the user's engagement with the ad and, finally, to report the user's engagement level
back to the advertiser.

Measurement, actionable insights and campaign management

        As a result of the amount and nature of the data we collect through our platform, our reporting to advertisers goes beyond traditional post-
campaign analysis to provide actionable insights for current ad campaigns and future marketing strategies. We offer real-time reporting and analytics to
help advertisers understand why some campaigns perform better than others. We also use our Omni Measurement suite of solutions to report back to
advertisers on consumer behavior, mobile advertising impact and overall return-on-investment.

        The self-service features of our platform also enable advertisers to plan and alter live campaign parameters, such as audience targeting and pricing.
We also give our larger advertisers the option to work directly with our advertising account specialists to help them manage their ad campaigns.

Our Technology Platform

        At the core of our solutions and services is MYDAS, our comprehensive mobile advertising technology and data platform serving the needs of
developers and advertisers. MYDAS now includes powerful technology that we acquired in the Jumptap acquisition and are integrating into our core
technology platform. Each time an app makes a request to receive an ad, the MYDAS platform performs several tasks automatically and in real-time,
including identifying unique users; targeting ads based on user interest, behavior and location; delivering those ads to millions of users through tens of
thousands of apps, running on thousands of different device types; ensuring that the ads will work over wireless connections of varying quality and
speed; and measuring user engagement and ad performance.

        The MYDAS platform combines proprietary technology with our Relevance Graph data asset in order to deliver the right mobile ad to the right
person at the right time in the right place. The MYDAS technology engine typically accomplishes the following sequences in under 50 milliseconds,
while typically receiving over a billion ad requests daily:

• Ad request management.  Mobile apps that have our SDKs embedded send a request for an ad to MYDAS through the SDK. This ad
request enters the MYDAS engine, along with associated data from the device, app and mobile carrier. MYDAS analyzes all of the
available data to categorize the ad request and to place it in context so that we can deliver the most relevant available ad to the specific
user. 

• Unique user identification.  MYDAS then runs a proprietary set of algorithms to analyze multiple data points from the device, carrier
and app to statistically determine, on an anonymous basis, the likely unique user of the device and the app requesting the ad. In addition,
MYDAS can analyze anonymized identifiers sent to us from third parties to identify unique users across devices more accurately.
MYDAS assigns an internal unique user identifier to the user profile developed for that individual, with the goal of delivering more
relevant ads to that user across multiple mobile devices and maximizing advertising diversity for that user. We believe that many of our
competitors rely only upon a device identification code to identify the device as opposed to the more robust analysis that MYDAS
employs to identify the unique user. User identification is accomplished on a completely anonymous basis.
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• Contextual analysis.  After identifying the unique user associated with a specific advertising request, MYDAS then determines the
context around the ad request. This context answers one or more of the following questions: 

• Where is the user? 

• What site or app is the user currently using? 

• What is the nature of the content on the site or app from which the request is coming? 

• What type of device is the request coming from? 

• What wireless network is the request coming through? 

• Audience analysis.  Once MYDAS identifies the unique user associated with an ad request and its context, it then searches our databases
to determine an appropriate audience category or categories based on prior information we have gathered about the user on a completely
anonymous basis. For example, a user may belong to an audience of "moms" because she has downloaded or visited several apps
focused on content for mothers, or she has identified herself as a "mom" in a registration form for an app. We may also place a user in a
"moms" audience because she has opted to share location data with us and she has regularly visited retail establishments typically
frequented by mothers. We might place another user in an "in-market auto buyer" audience because he or she has been in multiple auto
dealerships in a short period of time, has opened and engaged with automotive ads and has used numerous apps with automotive-
focused content. The ability to identify a user and then determine the audiences to which that user belongs is critical in order to deliver
the most relevant ad possible to that user and deliver the best results for advertisers and developers. Each time that we see a unique user
on our platform, we gain data that enables us to better determine the audiences with which that user should be associated. 

• RTB platform.  RTB is an auction-based system in which digital advertising opportunities are auctioned off in real-time from developers
on an impression-by-impression basis. Our RTB platform, within MYDAS, was developed to analyze billions of impressions of mobile
inventory, in order to deliver effective programmatic buying for advertisers and to increase returns for developers. The RTB platform
interacts directly with developers' available ad inventory to access scalable audiences in real-time. After the bid request is received
mmDSP identifies the unique user associated with a specific ad request, the context around the ad request and the audiences to which the
user belongs, and delivers the request to our RTB marketplace in which it matches available ads with available ad requests. The real-time
marketplace can be a virtual auction that we run on behalf of our clients or a real-time bidded auction on our exchange or through third
party exchanges. mmDSP performs a sophisticated algorithmic analysis to automatically run a near-instantaneous auction in which each
qualified ad campaign bids on each available ad request. We call this process optimization and decisioning. As part of this decisioning
process, we use an artificial intelligence concept called "agents," which are software programs designed to operate the ad marketplace
efficiently and fairly, while at the same time optimizing results based on each campaign's goals. Each ad campaign is represented in the
marketplace by one of these agents, programmed with specific goals for the particular campaign. The goals will usually include
information such as price, audiences to be targeted and timeframe of the campaign, as well as target engagement metrics. When mmDSP
enters an ad request into the marketplace, each agent bids on the ad request, and the platform then matches the best available ad to the
specific ad request. 

• CPC marketplace.  We have added Jumptap's CPC marketplace to our MYDAS platform. This marketplace is based on display ads and
is geared towards performance advertising. 

• Cross-platform ad delivery.  After matching an ad to a request, MYDAS then delivers, or serves, the ad through the SDK integrated into
the app on the specific device making the request. MYDAS can deliver a variety of different types of ads, including video ads, rich
media ads, native ad formats and
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a variety of banner ads, to virtually any mobile connected device across all major mobile operating systems, both within mobile apps and
through mobile web browsers. MYDAS can also deliver a variety of ad formats to PCs through online exchanges or through partners
with online advertising inventory.

• Reporting, analysis and machine learning.   Once MYDAS has delivered an ad to a specific device, MYDAS analyzes the user's
engagement with the ad, measuring whether the user clicked on the ad or engaged with the ad in some other meaningful way, such as
swiping the ad, opening a video, sharing the ad with a friend or downloading an app in response to the ad. These results are then
incorporated back into the MYDAS platform, which can use the data to analyze whether the specific ad served to the user was actually
the best available ad to deliver to that user. This information about the user's engagement level with the ad is used to automatically refine
various weightings and algorithms within MYDAS to further improve our ability to target and optimize future ad delivery.

        The MYDAS platform also includes a suite of enterprise web services that drive our client-facing tools and interfaces like mMedia and our internal
workflow tools and interfaces. Our web services layer enables us to build new offerings and scale our platform for developers and advertisers quickly
and cost-effectively while also enabling us to integrate our solutions with those of third parties.

        MYDAS consists primarily of software incorporating our proprietary algorithms, database software and the data that we store. Our software and
data are hosted in data centers in the United States, the United Kingdom and the Netherlands. We primarily lease space at data centers on a managed
services basis, although we also co-locate servers and other equipment that we own at some data centers and expect to co-locate more of our own
equipment and servers moving forward. In addition, we use third party web services for some of our data and computing needs.

        We use techniques that we believe are standard in our industry to protect our MYDAS platform against unauthorized access. These techniques
include password- controlled user access and authentication, secure hosting with firewalls, encryption, load balancers, switches, anti-virus software and
use of physically secure and redundant facilities.

Our Advertisers and Developers

        We have built relationships with developers and advertisers of all sizes. Our developer base includes large mobile web publishers, large app
developers and other developers. Our advertiser clients include leading advertising agencies and brands, as well as smaller advertisers and often the
developers themselves. Throughout our history, we have worked with many of the top 100 advertisers as ranked by Ad Age, and in 2013, based on the
Ad Age rankings for 2012, which is the most recent ranking available, we delivered ads for all of the top 25 advertisers and 90 of the top 100. These are
typically the largest brand advertisers, and many of them have multiple brands for which they run campaigns throughout the year. We have analyzed the
total spending by the top 100 Ad Age advertisers based on the most current rankings for each respective period on our platform from 2009 through
2013. The results of this analysis are summarized in the table below.

Use of our Platform by the Top 100 Ad Age Advertisers 
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  2009  2010  2011  2012  2013  

Number of advertisers using our platform   38  61  75  85  90 
Total spending by these advertisers

(millions)  $ 7.7 $ 24.6 $ 53.4 $ 70.8 $ 103.0 
Average spending per advertiser  $ 202,000 $ 404,000 $ 712,000 $ 833,000 $ 1,144,000 



Table of Contents

        We have increased the average annual spending from this group of advertisers by more than 450% during the period from 2009 to 2013. We
attribute this growth in average spending among these advertisers to our success in capturing advertising campaigns from more brands per advertiser,
running more campaigns for each brand per year and supporting larger campaigns from these advertisers. We believe our increased penetration of these
100 advertisers is attributable to increased sales and marketing efforts and our growing reputation for delivering results for large brand advertisers.

        Our largest advertiser and developer clients are typically different from period to period. We believe our business is not substantially dependent on
any particular client, and no individual advertising client represented more than 10% of our revenue for the year ended December 31, 2013.

Competition

        The mobile advertising market is highly competitive. The competitive dynamics of our market are unpredictable because it is in an early stage of
development, rapidly evolving, fragmented and subject to potential disruption by new technological innovations. Several competitors provide mobile
advertising solutions. Our primary competitors are the large advertising platforms offered by Google and Apple, both of which focus on advertising
solutions built for their proprietary mobile operating systems, Android and iOS, respectively. We also, at times, compete with in-house solutions used
by companies who choose to coordinate mobile advertising across their own properties, such as Facebook, Twitter, Yahoo!, and Pandora, as well as
some smaller point-solution offerings in the mobile advertising market.

        We believe the principal competitive factors in our industry include the following:

• mobile advertising focus; 

• proven and scalable technology; 

• platform independence; 

• size of the developer ecosystem; 

• relationships with leading advertisers; 

• quality and size of advertising inventory; 

• brand awareness and reputation; 

• ability to integrate with third party apps and technologies; 

• ability to anonymously identify unique users across multiple mobile devices as well as PCs; 

• ability to gather and use data to deliver more relevant ads; and  

• ability to offer advertisers and developers the opportunity to buy or sell inventory on our platform in an automated, real-time bidded
manner.

        We believe that we compete favorably with respect to all of these factors and that we are well-positioned as an independent mobile advertising
platform that can operate without regard to brand of mobile device or operating system.

Technology and Development

        Our technology and development efforts are focused on enhancing the architecture of our MYDAS technology platform and creating additional
functionality for our developer and advertiser customers. We are also continuously working to enhance our Relevance Graph, which enables us to help
our advertisers reach and engage more precise audiences developed through demographic and behavioral analysis, and then better measure that
improved engagement. As part of our cross-platform SDKs that we provide to
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developers, we seek to include new capabilities, such as additional analytical tools, notification solutions, payment solutions and mediation tools.

        During the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, our technology and development expenses were $19.0 million, $13.6 million and
$5.2 million, respectively.

Intellectual Property

        Our ability to protect our intellectual property, including our technology, will be an important factor in the success and continued growth of our
business. We protect our intellectual property through trade secrets law, patents, copyrights, trademarks and contracts. Some of our technology relies
upon third party licensed intellectual property.

        We have 72 issued patents, between the U.S. and internationally, and over 100 pending U.S. and international patent applications.

        We own a U.S. trademark registration for the Millennial Media® trademark, the Jumptap® trademark, the tapMatch® trademark, the decktrade®
trademark, and the MYDAS® trademark. We also own a trademark registration for Millennial Media in Singapore and Japan and for Jumptap in
Australia, Canada, the European Union, Israel, Japan, Malaysia, Mexico, Romania, South Korea, Switzerland, Taiwan, and Turkey, and with the World
Intellectual Property Organization. In addition, we own a pending trademark application for Millennial Media in the European Union, as well as a
pending application for Jumptap in Brazil, China, Russia, India, Indonesia, Saudi Arabia, and Singapore. We continue to review whether pursuing
trademark protection in other countries is appropriate.

        In addition to the foregoing, we have established business procedures designed to maintain the confidentiality of our proprietary information,
including the use of confidentiality agreements and assignment of inventions agreements with employees, independent contractors, consultants and
companies with which we conduct business.

Government Regulation

        We are subject to numerous U.S. and foreign laws and regulations that are applicable to companies engaged in the business of advertising on
mobile devices. In addition, many areas of law that apply to our business are still evolving, and could potentially affect our business to the extent they
restrict our business practices or impose a greater risk of liability.

        Given the nascent stage of mobile advertising, industry practices are rapidly evolving. We participate in the Digital Advertising Alliance and other
industry groups that are developing best practices for the mobile advertising industry.

Privacy

        Privacy and data protection laws play a significant role in our business. In the United States, at both the state and federal level, there are laws that
govern activities such as the collection and use of data by companies like us, and privacy and data protection issues generally have gained wide media
and public attention recently. Online advertising activities in the United States have primarily been subject to regulation by the Federal Trade
Commission, which has regularly relied upon Section 5 of the Federal Trade Commission Act to enforce against unfair and deceptive trade practices.
Section 5 has been the primary regulatory tool used to enforce against alleged violations of online privacy policies, and would apply to privacy practices
in the mobile advertising industry. In December 2012, the Federal Trade Commission adopted amendments to rules under the Children's Online Privacy
Protection Act, or COPPA, which went into effect in July 2013. These amendments broaden the potential applicability of COPPA compliance
obligations to our activities and those of our clients.
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        The issue of privacy in the mobile advertising industry is still evolving. Federal legislation and rule-making has been proposed from time to time
that would govern certain advertising practices as they relate to mobile devices, including the use of precise geo-location data. Although such legislation
has not been enacted, it remains a possibility that such federal and state laws may be passed in the future.

        There have been numerous civil lawsuits, including class action lawsuits, filed against companies that conduct business in the mobile device
industry, including makers of mobile devices, mobile application providers, mobile operating system providers, and mobile third party networks.
Plaintiffs in these lawsuits have alleged a range of violations of federal, state and common laws, including computer trespass and violation of privacy
laws.

        In addition, mobile services are generally not restricted by geographic boundaries, and our services reach mobile devices throughout the world. We
currently transact business in Europe and Southeast Asia and, as a result, some of our activities may also be subject to the laws of foreign jurisdictions.
In particular, European data protection laws can be more restrictive regarding the collection and use of data than those in U.S. jurisdictions. As we
continue to expand into other foreign countries and jurisdictions, we may be subject to additional laws and regulations that may affect how we conduct
business.

Advertising

        Even though we receive contractual protections from our advertising business partners with respect to their ads, we may nevertheless be subject to
regulations concerning the content of ads. Federal and state laws governing intellectual property or other third party rights could apply to the content of
ads we place. Laws and regulations regarding unfair and deceptive advertising, sweepstakes, advertising to children, and other consumer protection
regulations, may also apply to the ads we place on behalf of clients.

Employees

        As of December 31, 2013, we had 600 employees. The majority of these employees are located in the United States, although we have hired a
significant number of employees in Europe and Asia over the past year. None of our U.S.-based employees are represented by a labor union or covered
by a collective bargaining agreement. We consider our relationship with our employees to be good.

Information about Segment and Geographic Revenue

        Information about segment and geographic revenue is set forth in Note 11 to our consolidated financial statements under Item 8 of this Annual
Report.

Available Information

        Our internet website address is www.millennialmedia.com. In addition to the information about us and our subsidiaries contained in this Annual
Report, information about us can be found on our website. Our website and information included in or linked to our website are not part of this Annual
Report.

        Our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and amendments to those reports filed or
furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, are available free of charge through our website as
soon as reasonably practicable after they are electronically filed with or furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission, or the SEC. The public
may read and copy the materials we file with the SEC at the SEC's Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, NE, Washington, DC 20549. The public
may obtain information on the operation of the Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. Additionally the SEC maintains an
internet site that contains reports, proxy and information statements and other information. The address of the SEC's website is www.sec.gov.
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Item 1A.    Risk Factors 

        Our business is subject to numerous risks. You should carefully consider the following risks and all other information contained in this Annual
Report, as well as general economic and business risks, together with any other documents we file with the SEC. If any of the following events actually
occur or risks actually materialize, it could have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results and financial condition and cause the
trading price of our common stock to decline.

Risks Related to Our Acquisition of Jumptap

The consummation of our acquisition of Jumptap could have a negative impact on our business, or on our stock price.

        On November 6, 2013, we completed our acquisition of Jumptap. This acquisition could disrupt our business in the following ways, any of which
could negatively affect our stock price or could harm our financial condition, results of operations or business prospects:

• our and Jumptap's customers and other third party business partners may seek to terminate or renegotiate their relationships as a result of
our acquisition of Jumptap, whether pursuant to the terms of their existing agreements or otherwise; 

• the attention of our management may be directed toward the integration of our businesses and related matters and may be diverted from
our current business operations, including from other opportunities that might otherwise be beneficial to us; and 

• current and prospective employees may experience uncertainty regarding their future roles with our company, which might adversely
affect our ability to retain, recruit and motivate key personnel.

We may be unable to realize the benefits anticipated by the acquisition, including estimated cost savings and synergies, or it may take longer than
we anticipate for us to achieve those benefits.

        Our realization of the benefits anticipated as a result of the acquisition of Jumptap will depend in part on the integration of Jumptap's business with
ours. However, there can be no assurance that we will be able to operate Jumptap's business profitably or integrate it successfully into our operations in
a timely fashion, or at all. Following the acquisition, the size of the combined company's business is significantly larger than our business was prior to
the acquisition. Our future success as a combined company depends, in part, upon our ability to manage this expanded business, which will pose
substantial challenges for our management, including challenges related to the management and monitoring of new operations and associated increased
costs and complexity. The dedication of management resources to this integration could detract attention from our current day-to-day business, and we
cannot assure you that there will not be substantial costs associated with the transition process or other negative consequences as a result of these
integration efforts. These effects, including, but not limited to, incurring unexpected costs or delays in connection with integration of the two businesses,
or the failure of Jumptap's business to perform as expected, could harm our results of operations.

The loss of key personnel could hurt our business and our prospects.

        The success of the acquisition of Jumptap will depend, in part, on our ability to retain key employees who have continued employment with the
combined company. If any of these key employees terminate their employment, our sales, marketing or development activities might be negatively
impacted and management's attention might be diverted from successfully integrating Jumptap's operations. In addition, we might not be able to locate
suitable replacements on reasonable terms for any key employees who leave the combined company.
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Our success will also depend on relationships with third parties and pre-existing customers of both companies, which relationships may be
affected by customer preferences or public attitudes about the acquisition.

        Our success following the acquisition of Jumptap will be dependent on the ability to maintain and renew relationships with pre-existing customers
and other clients of both companies and to establish new advertiser and developer relationships. There can be no assurance that the business of the
combined company will be able to maintain pre-existing customer contracts and other business relationships, or that we will be able to enter into or
maintain new customer contracts and other business relationships on acceptable terms, if at all. Our failure to maintain important customer relationships
could harm our reputation, while also negatively impacting our financial condition and the results of operations of the combined company.

Charges to earnings resulting from the acquisition may cause our operating results to suffer.

        Under accounting principles, we have allocated the total purchase price of the acquisition to Jumptap's net tangible assets and intangible assets
based on their fair values as of the date of the acquisition, and we have recorded the excess of the purchase price over those fair values as goodwill. Our
management's estimates of fair value are based upon assumptions that they believe to be reasonable but that are inherently uncertain. The following
factors, among others, could result in material charges that would cause our financial results to be negatively impacted:

• impairment of goodwill; 

• charges for the amortization of identifiable intangible assets and for stock-based compensation; 

• accrual of newly identified pre-acquisition contingent liabilities that are identified subsequent to the finalization of the purchase price
allocation; and 

• charges to income to eliminate certain of our pre-acquisition activities that duplicate those of Jumptap or to reduce our cost structure.

        Additional costs may include costs of employee redeployment, relocation and retention, including salary increases or bonuses, accelerated
amortization of deferred equity compensation and severance payments, reorganization or closure of facilities, taxes and termination of contracts that
provide redundant or conflicting services. Some of these costs may have to be accounted for as expenses that would decrease our net income and
earnings per share for the periods in which those adjustments are made.

Risks Related to Our Business and Our Industry

We have incurred significant net losses since inception, and we expect our operating expenses to increase significantly in the foreseeable future.
Accordingly, we may never achieve profitability.

        We incurred net losses of $15.1 million and $5.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively, and we had an
accumulated deficit of $65.2 million as of December 31, 2013. We do not know when or if we will ever achieve profitability. Although our revenue has
increased substantially in recent periods, it is likely that we will not be able to maintain this rate of revenue growth. Historically, our operating expenses
have increased in proportion to our revenue. We anticipate that our operating expenses will continue to increase in the foreseeable future to the extent
that our revenue grows and as we increase headcount, particularly our sales and technology-related headcount, incur general and administrative
expenses associated with being a public company and expand our facilities. Additionally, our acquisition-related costs may increase if we pursue
additional acquisition opportunities. Although we expect to achieve operating efficiencies and greater leverage of resources as we grow, if we are unable
to do so, we may be unable to achieve profitability. If we are not able to achieve and maintain profitability, the value of our company and our common
stock could decline significantly.
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We operate in an intensely competitive industry, and we may not be able to compete successfully.

        The mobile advertising market is highly competitive, with numerous companies providing mobile advertising services. We compete primarily with
Google and Apple, both of which are significantly larger than us and have more capital to invest in their mobile advertising businesses. We also
compete with in-house solutions used by companies who choose to coordinate mobile advertising across their own properties, such as Facebook,
Twitter, Yahoo! and Pandora. They, or other companies that offer competing mobile advertising solutions, may establish or strengthen cooperative
relationships with their mobile operator partners, brand advertisers, app developers or other parties, thereby limiting our ability to promote our services
and generate revenue. Competitors could also seek to gain market share from us by reducing the prices they charge to advertisers or by introducing new
technology tools for developers. Moreover, increased competition for mobile advertising space from developers could result in an increase in the portion
of advertiser revenue that we must pay to developers to acquire that advertising space.

        Our business will suffer to the extent that our developers and advertisers purchase and sell mobile advertising directly from each other or through
other companies that are able to become intermediaries between developers and advertisers. For example, we are aware of companies that have
substantial existing platforms for developers who had previously not heavily used those platforms for mobile advertising campaigns. These companies
could compete with us to the extent they expand into mobile advertising. Other companies, such as large app developers with a substantial mobile
advertising business, may decide to directly monetize some or all of their advertising space without utilizing our services. Other companies that offer
analytics, mediation, exchange or other third party services may also become intermediaries between mobile advertisers and developers and thereby
compete with us. Any of these developments would make it more difficult for us to sell our services and could result in increased pricing pressure,
reduced profit margins, increased sales and marketing expenses or the loss of market share.

The mobile advertising market may deteriorate or develop more slowly than expected, which could harm our business.

        Advertising on mobile connected devices is an emerging phenomenon. Advertisers have historically spent a smaller portion of their advertising
budgets on mobile media as compared to traditional advertising methods, such as television, newspapers, radio and billboards, or online advertising
over the internet, such as placing banner ads on websites. Future demand and market acceptance for mobile advertising is uncertain. Many advertisers
still have limited experience with mobile advertising and may continue to devote larger portions of their advertising budgets to more traditional offline or
online personal computer-based advertising, instead of shifting additional advertising resources to mobile advertising. In addition, our current and
potential advertiser clients may ultimately find mobile advertising to be less effective than traditional advertising media or marketing methods or other
technologies for promoting their products and services, and they may even reduce their spending on mobile advertising from current levels as a result. If
the market for mobile advertising deteriorates, or develops more slowly than we expect, we may not be able to increase our revenue.

Our business is dependent on the continued growth in usage of smartphones, tablets and other mobile connected devices.

        Our business depends on the continued proliferation of mobile connected devices, such as smartphones and tablets, that can connect to the internet
over a cellular, wireless or other network, as well as the increased consumption of content through those devices. Consumer usage of these mobile
connected devices may be inhibited for a number of reasons, such as:

• inadequate network infrastructure to support advanced features beyond just mobile web access; 

• users' concerns about the security of these devices;
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• inconsistent quality of cellular or wireless connection; 

• unavailability of cost-effective, high-speed internet service; and 

• changes in network carrier pricing plans that charge device users based on the amount of data consumed.

        For any of these reasons, users of mobile connected devices may limit the amount of time they spend on these devices and the number of apps they
download on these devices. If user adoption of mobile connected devices and consumer consumption of content on those devices do not continue to
grow, our total addressable market size may be significantly limited, which could compromise our ability to increase our revenue and to become
profitable.

If mobile connected devices, their operating systems or content distribution channels, including those controlled by our primary competitors,
develop in ways that prevent our advertising from being delivered to their users, our ability to grow our business will be impaired.

        Our business model depends upon the continued compatibility of our mobile advertising platform with most mobile connected devices, as well as
the major operating systems that run on them and the thousands of apps that are downloaded onto them.

        The design of mobile devices and operating systems is controlled by third parties with whom we do not have any formal relationships. These
parties frequently introduce new devices, and from time to time they may introduce new operating systems or modify existing ones. Network carriers,
such as Verizon, AT&T, Sprint, or T-Mobile, may also affect the ability of users to download apps or access specified content on mobile devices.

        In some cases, the parties that control the development of mobile connected devices and operating systems include companies that we regard as our
most significant competitors. For example, Apple controls two of the most popular mobile devices, the iPhone® and the iPad®, as well as the iOS
operating system that runs on them. Apple also controls the App Store for downloading apps that run on Apple® mobile devices. Similarly, Google
controls the Android™ platform operating system. If our mobile advertising platform were unable to work on these devices or operating systems, either
because of technological constraints or because a maker of these devices or developer of these operating systems wished to impair our ability to provide
ads on them or our ability to fulfill advertising space, or inventory, from developers whose apps are distributed through their controlled channels, our
ability to generate revenue could be significantly harmed.

We do not control the mobile networks over which we provide our advertising services.

        Our mobile advertising platform is dependent on the reliability of network operators and carriers who maintain sophisticated and complex mobile
networks, as well as our ability to deliver ads on those networks at prices that enable us to realize a profit. Mobile networks have been subject to rapid
growth and technological change, particularly in recent years. We do not control these networks.

        Mobile networks could fail for a variety of reasons, including new technology incompatibility, the degradation of network performance under the
strain of too many mobile consumers using the network, a general failure from natural disaster or a political or regulatory shut-down. Individuals and
groups who develop and deploy viruses, worms and other malicious software programs could also attack mobile networks and the devices that run on
those networks. Any actual or perceived security threat to mobile devices or any mobile network could lead existing and potential device users to reduce
or refrain from mobile usage or reduce or refrain from responding to the services offered by our advertising clients. If the network of a mobile operator
should fail for any reason, we would not be able to effectively provide our services to our clients through that mobile network. This, in turn, could hurt
our reputation and cause us to lose significant revenue.
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        Mobile carriers may also increase restrictions on the amounts or types of data that can be transmitted over their networks. We currently generate
different amounts of revenue from our advertiser clients based on the kinds of ads we deliver, such as display ads, rich media ads or video ads. In some
cases, we are paid by advertisers on a cost-per-thousand, or CPM, basis depending on the number of ads shown. In other cases, we are paid on a cost-
per-click, or CPC, or cost-per-action, or CPA, basis depending on the actions taken by the mobile device user. Different types of ads consume differing
amounts of bandwidth and network capacity. If a network carrier were to restrict the amounts of data that can be delivered on that carrier's network, or
otherwise control the kinds of content that may be downloaded to a device that operates on the network, it could negatively affect our pricing practices
and inhibit our ability to deliver targeted advertising to that carrier's users, both of which could impair our ability to generate revenue.

Mobile connected device users may choose not to allow advertising on their devices.

        The success of our business model depends on our ability to deliver targeted, highly relevant ads to consumers on their mobile connected devices.
Targeted advertising is done primarily through analysis of data, much of which is collected on the basis of user-provided permissions. This data might
include a device's location or data collected when device users view an ad or video or when they click on or otherwise engage with an ad. Users may
elect not to allow data sharing for targeted advertising for a number of reasons, such as privacy concerns, or pricing mechanisms that may charge the
user based upon the amount or types of data consumed on the device. Users may also elect to opt out of receiving targeted advertising from our
platform. In addition, the designers of mobile device operating systems are increasingly promoting features that allow device users to disable some of
the functionality, which may impair or disable the delivery of ads on their devices, and device manufacturers may include these features as part of their
standard device specifications. Although we are not aware of any such products that are widely used in the market today, as has occurred in the online
advertising industry, companies may develop products that enable users to prevent ads from appearing on their mobile device screens. If any of these
developments were to occur, our ability to deliver effective advertising campaigns on behalf of our advertiser clients would suffer, which could hurt our
ability to generate revenue and become profitable.

Our limited operating history makes it difficult to evaluate our business and prospects and may increase your investment risk.

        We commenced operations in 2006 and, as a result, we have only a limited operating history upon which you can evaluate our business and
prospects. Although we have experienced significant revenue growth in recent periods, it is likely that we will not be able to sustain this growth. As part
of the nascent mobile advertising industry, we will encounter risks and difficulties frequently encountered by early-stage companies in rapidly evolving
industries, including the need to:

• maintain our reputation and build trust with our advertisers and developers; 

• offer competitive pricing to both advertisers and developers; 

• maintain and expand our network of advertising space through which we deliver mobile advertising campaigns; 

• deliver advertising results that are superior to those that advertisers or developers could achieve directly or through the use of competing
providers or technologies; 

• continue to develop and upgrade the technologies that enable us to provide mobile advertising services; 

• respond to evolving government regulations relating to the internet, telecommunications, privacy, data security, direct marketing and
advertising aspects of our business; 

• identify, attract, retain and motivate qualified personnel; and
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• manage our expanding operations.

If we do not successfully address these risks, our revenue could decline and our ability to pursue our growth strategy and attain profitability could be
compromised.

We may not be able to enhance our mobile advertising platform to keep pace with technological and market developments.

        The market for mobile advertising services is characterized by rapid technological change, evolving industry standards and frequent new service
introductions. To keep pace with technological developments, satisfy increasing advertiser and developer requirements, maintain the attractiveness and
competitiveness of our mobile advertising solutions and ensure compatibility with evolving industry standards and protocols, we will need to regularly
enhance our current services and to develop and introduce new services on a timely basis.

        For example, advances in technology that allow developers to generate revenue from their apps without our assistance could harm our relationships
with developers and diminish our available advertising inventory within their apps. Similarly, technological developments that allow third parties to
better mediate the delivery of ads between advertisers and developers by introducing an intermediate layer between us and our developers could impair
our relationships with those developers. Our inability, for technological, business or other reasons, to enhance, develop, introduce and deliver
compelling mobile advertising services in response to changing market conditions and technologies or evolving expectations of advertisers or mobile
device users could hurt our ability to grow our business and could result in our mobile advertising platform becoming obsolete.

We depend on developers for mobile advertising space to deliver our advertiser clients' advertising campaigns, and any decline in the supply of
advertising inventory from these developers could hurt our business.

        We depend on developers to provide us with space within their apps, which we refer to as "advertising inventory," on which we deliver ads. The
developers that sell their advertising inventory to us are not required to provide any minimum amounts of advertising space to us, nor are they
contractually bound to provide us with a consistent supply of advertising inventory. The tools that we provide to developers allow them to make
decisions as to how to allocate advertising inventory among us and other advertising providers, some of which may be our competitors. A third party
acting as a mediator on behalf of developers, or any competing mediation tools embedded within a developer's apps, could result in pressure on us to
increase the prices we pay to developers for that inventory or otherwise block our access to developer inventory, without which we would be unable to
deliver ads on behalf of our advertiser clients.

        We generate a significant portion of our revenue from the advertising inventory provided by a limited number of developers. In most instances,
developers can change the amount of inventory they make available to us at any time. Developers may also change the price at which they offer
inventory to us, or they may elect to make advertising space available to our competitors who offer ads to them on more favorable economic terms. In
addition, developers may place significant restrictions on our use of their advertising inventory. These restrictions may prohibit ads from specific
advertisers or specific industries, or they could restrict the use of specified creative content or format. Developers may also use a fee-based or
subscription-based business model to generate revenue from their content, in lieu of or to reduce their reliance on ads.

        If developers decide not to make advertising inventory available to us for any of these reasons, decide to increase the price of inventory, or place
significant restrictions on our use of their advertising space, we may not be able to replace this with inventory from other developers that satisfy our
requirements in a timely and cost-effective manner. If this happens, our revenue could decline or our cost of acquiring inventory could increase.
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Our business depends on our ability to collect and use data to deliver ads, and any limitation on the collection and use of this data could
significantly diminish the value of our services and cause us to lose clients and revenue.

        When we deliver an ad to a mobile device, we are often able to collect anonymous information about the placement of the ad and the interaction of
the mobile device user with the ad, such as whether the user visited a landing page or watched a video. We may also be able to collect information about
the user's mobile location. As we collect and aggregate this data provided by billions of ad impressions, we analyze it in order to optimize the placement
and scheduling of ads across the advertising inventory provided to us by developers. For example, we may use the collected information to limit the
number of times a specific ad is presented to the same mobile device, to provide an ad to only certain types of mobile devices, or to provide a report to
an advertiser client on the number of its ads that were clicked. We also compile the data derived from our platform to publish monthly reports of key
mobile industry trends in the form of our S.M.A.R.T. and Mobile Mix reports, which we provide to advertisers and developers to enable them to improve
their business decisions about mobile advertising or monetization strategies and to promote their use of our services.

        Although the data we collect is not personally identifiable information, our clients might decide not to allow us to collect some or all of this data or
might limit our use of this data. For example, app developers may not agree to provide us with the data generated by interactions with the content on
their apps, or device users may not consent to having information about their device usage provided to the developer. Any limitation on our ability to
collect data about user behavior and interaction with mobile device content could make it more difficult for us to deliver effective mobile advertising
programs that meet the demands of our advertiser clients.

        Although our contracts with advertisers generally permit us to aggregate data from advertising campaigns, these clients might nonetheless request
that we discontinue using data obtained from their campaigns that have already been aggregated with other clients' campaign data. It would be difficult,
if not impossible, to comply with these requests, and responding to these kinds of requests could also cause us to spend significant amounts of
resources. Interruptions, failures or defects in our data collection, mining, analysis and storage systems, as well as privacy concerns and regulatory
restrictions regarding the collection of data, could also limit our ability to aggregate and analyze mobile device user data from our clients' advertising
campaigns. If that happens, we may not be able to optimize the placement of advertising for the benefit of our advertiser clients, which could make our
services less valuable, and, as a result, we may lose clients and our revenue may decline.

Our business depends in part on our ability to collect and use location-based information about mobile connected device users.

        Our business model depends in part upon our ability to collect data about the location of mobile connected device users when they are interacting
with their devices, and then to use that information to provide effective targeted advertising on behalf of our advertising clients. Our ability to either
collect or use location-based data could be restricted by a number of factors, including new laws or regulations, technology or consumer choice.
Limitations on our ability to either collect or use location data could impact the effectiveness of our platform and our ability to target ads.

Our business practices with respect to data could give rise to liabilities or reputational harm as a result of governmental regulation, legal
requirements or industry standards relating to consumer privacy and data protection.

        In the course of providing our services, we transmit and store information related to mobile devices and the ads we place, including a device's
geographic location for the purpose of delivering targeted location-based ads to the user of the device, with that user's consent. Federal, state and
international laws and regulations govern the collection, use, retention, sharing and security of data that we collect across our
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mobile advertising platform. We strive to comply with all applicable laws, regulations, policies and legal obligations relating to privacy and data
protection. However, it is possible that these requirements may be interpreted and applied in a manner that is inconsistent from one jurisdiction to
another and may conflict with other rules or our practices. Any failure, or perceived failure, by us to comply with U.S. federal, state, or international
laws, including laws and regulations regulating privacy, data security, or consumer protection, could result in proceedings or actions against us by
governmental entities or others. We are aware of several ongoing lawsuits filed against companies in our industry alleging various violations of privacy-
related laws. Any such proceedings could hurt our reputation, force us to spend significant amounts in defense of these proceedings, distract our
management, increase our costs of doing business, adversely affect the demand for our services and ultimately result in the imposition of monetary
liability. We may also be contractually liable to indemnify and hold harmless our clients from the costs or consequences of inadvertent or unauthorized
disclosure of data that we store or handle as part of providing our services.

        The regulatory framework for privacy issues worldwide is evolving, and various government and consumer agencies and public advocacy groups
have called for new regulation and changes in industry practices, including some directed at the mobile industry in particular. For example, in early
2012, the State of California entered into an agreement with several major mobile app platforms under which the platforms have agreed to require
mobile apps to meet specified standards to ensure consumer privacy. Subsequently, in January 2013, the State of California released a series of
recommendations for privacy best practices for the mobile industry. In January 2014, a California law also became effective amending the required
disclosures for online privacy policies. It is possible that new laws and regulations will be adopted in the United States and internationally, or existing
laws and regulations may be interpreted in new ways, that would affect our business, particularly with regard to location-based services, collection or
use of data to target ads, and communication with consumers via mobile devices.

        The U.S. government, including the Federal Trade Commission, or FTC, and the Department of Commerce, is focused on the need for greater
regulation of the collection of consumer information, including regulation aimed at restricting some targeted advertising practices. In December 2012,
the FTC adopted revisions to the Children's Online Privacy Protection Act, or COPPA, that went into effect on July 1, 2013. COPPA imposes a
number of obligations on operators of websites and online services including mobile apps, such as obtaining parental consent, if the operator collects
specified information from users and either the site or service is directed to children under 13 years old or the site or service knows that a specific user is
a child under 13 years old. The changes broaden the applicability of COPPA, including the types of information that are subject to these regulations, and
may apply to information that we or our clients collect through mobile devices or apps that, prior to the adoption of these new regulations, was not
subject to COPPA. These revisions impose new compliance burdens on us. In February 2013, the FTC issued a staff report containing
recommendations for best practices with respect to consumer privacy for the mobile industry. To the extent that we or our clients choose to adopt these
recommendations, or other regulatory or industry requirements become applicable to us, we may have greater compliance burdens.

        As we expand our operations globally, compliance with regulations that differ from country to country may also impose substantial burdens on our
business. In particular, the European Union has traditionally taken a broader view as to what is considered personal information and has imposed
greater obligations under data privacy regulations. In addition, individual EU member countries have had discretion with respect to their interpretation
and implementation of the regulations, which has resulted in variation of privacy standards from country to country. In January 2012, the European
Commission announced significant proposed reforms to its existing data protection legal framework, including changes in obligations of data controllers
and processors, the rights of data subjects and data security and breach notification requirements. The EU proposals, if implemented, may result in a
greater compliance burden if we deliver ads to mobile device users in Europe. Complying with any new regulatory requirements could
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force us to incur substantial costs or require us to change our business practices in a manner that could compromise our ability to effectively pursue our
growth strategy.

        In addition to compliance with government regulations, we voluntarily participate in several trade associations and industry self-regulatory groups
that promulgate best practices or codes of conduct addressing the provision of location-based services, delivery of promotional content to mobile
devices, and tracking of device users or devices for the purpose of delivering targeted advertising. We could be adversely affected by changes to these
guidelines and codes in ways that are inconsistent with our practices or in conflict with the laws and regulations of U.S. or international regulatory
authorities. If we are perceived as not operating in accordance with industry best practices or any such guidelines or codes with regard to privacy, our
reputation may suffer and we could lose relationships with advertiser or developer partners.

Our business involves the use, transmission and storage of confidential information, and the failure to properly safeguard such information
could result in significant reputational harm and monetary damages.

        We may at times collect, store and transmit information of, or on behalf of, our clients that may include certain types of confidential information
that may be considered personal or sensitive, and that are subject to laws that apply to data breaches. We believe that we take reasonable steps to protect
the security, integrity and confidentiality of the information we collect and store, but there is no guarantee that inadvertent or unauthorized disclosure
will not occur or that third parties will not gain unauthorized access to this information despite our efforts to protect this information. If such
unauthorized disclosure or access does occur, we may be required to notify persons whose information was disclosed or accessed. Most states have
enacted data breach notification laws and, in addition to federal laws that apply to certain types of information, such as financial information, federal
legislation has been proposed that would establish broader federal obligations with respect to data breaches. We may also be subject to claims of breach
of contract for such disclosure, investigation and penalties by regulatory authorities and potential claims by persons whose information was disclosed.
The unauthorized disclosure of information may result in the termination of one or more of our commercial relationships or a reduction in client
confidence and usage of our services. We may also be subject to litigation alleging the improper use, transmission or storage of confidential information,
which could damage our reputation among our current and potential clients, require significant expenditures of capital and other resources and cause us
to lose business and revenue.

Our quarterly operating results have fluctuated in the past and may do so in the future, which could cause our stock price to decline.

        Our operating results have historically fluctuated and our future operating results may vary significantly from quarter to quarter due to a variety of
factors, many of which are beyond our control. You should not rely on period-to-period comparisons of our operating results as an indication of our
future performance. Factors that may affect our quarterly operating results include the following:

• seasonal patterns in the mix of brand and performance advertiser clients and in overall spending by mobile advertisers, which tend to be
cyclical; 

• the addition of new advertisers or developers or the loss of existing advertisers or developers; 

• changes in demand for our mobile advertising services; 

• changes in the amount, price and quality of available advertising inventory from developers; 

• the timing and amount of sales and marketing expenses incurred to attract new advertisers and developers;
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• changes in the economic prospects of advertisers or the economy generally, which could alter current or prospective advertisers'
spending priorities, or could increase the time it takes us to close sales with advertisers; 

• changes in our pricing policies, the pricing policies of our competitors or the pricing of mobile advertising generally; 

• changes in governmental regulation of the internet, wireless networks, mobile advertising or the collection of mobile device user data; 

• costs necessary to improve and maintain our technology platform; 

• timing differences at the end of each quarter between our payments to developers for advertising space and our collection of advertising
revenue related to that space; and 

• costs related to acquisitions of other businesses.

Our operating results may fall below the expectations of market analysts and investors in some future periods. If this happens, even just temporarily, the
market price of our common stock may fall.

Seasonal fluctuations in mobile advertising activity could adversely affect our cash flows.

        Our cash flows from operations could vary from quarter to quarter due to the seasonal nature of our advertisers' spending. For example, many
advertisers devote the largest portion of their budgets to the fourth quarter of the calendar year, to coincide with increased holiday purchasing. To date,
these seasonal effects have been masked by our rapid revenue growth. However, if and to the extent that seasonal fluctuations become more
pronounced, our operating cash flows could fluctuate materially from period to period as a result.

We do not have long-term agreements with our advertiser clients, and we may be unable to retain key clients, attract new clients or replace
departing clients with clients that can provide comparable revenue to us.

        Our success requires us to maintain and expand our current advertiser client relationships and to develop new relationships. Our contracts with our
advertiser clients generally do not include long-term obligations requiring them to purchase our services and are cancelable upon short or no notice and
without penalty. As a result, we may have limited visibility as to our future advertising revenue streams. We cannot assure you that our advertiser clients
will continue to use our services or that we will be able to replace, in a timely or effective manner, departing clients with new clients that generate
comparable revenue. If a major advertising client representing a significant portion of our business decides to materially reduce its use of our platform or
to cease using our platform altogether, it is possible that we would not have a sufficient supply of ads to fill our developers' advertising inventory, in
which case our revenue could be significantly reduced. Revenue derived from performance advertisers in particular is subject to fluctuation and
competitive pressures. Such advertisers, which seek to drive app downloads, "clicks," or other specific actions by viewers, are less consistent with
respect to their spending volume on our platform, and may decide to substantially increase or decrease their use of our platform based on seasonality or
popularity of a particular app. Advertisers in general may shift their business to a competitor's platform because of new or more compelling offerings,
strategic relationships, technological developments, pricing and other financial considerations, or a variety of other reasons. Any non-renewal,
renegotiation, cancellation or deferral of large advertising contracts, or a number of contracts that in the aggregate account for a significant amount of
revenue, could cause an immediate and significant decline in our revenue and harm our business.
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Loss or reduction of business from our large advertiser clients could have a significant impact on our revenues, results of operations and overall
financial condition.

        From time to time, a limited number of our advertiser clients have accounted for, and may continue to account for, a significant share of our
advertising revenue. This customer concentration increases the risk of quarterly fluctuations in our revenues and operating results. Our advertiser clients
may reduce or terminate their business with us at any time for any reason, including changes in their financial condition or other business circumstances.
If a large advertising client representing a substantial portion of our business decided to materially reduce or discontinue its use of our platform, it could
cause an immediate and significant decline in our revenue and negatively affect our results of operations and financial condition.

        Our customer concentration also increases the concentration of our accounts receivable and our exposure to payment defaults by key customers.
We generate significant accounts receivable for the services that we provide to our key advertiser clients, which could expose us to substantial and
potentially unrecoverable costs if we do not receive payment from them.

Our sales efforts with both advertisers and developers require significant time and expense.

        Attracting new advertisers and developers requires substantial time and expense, and we may not be successful in establishing new relationships or
in maintaining or advancing our current relationships. For example, it may be difficult to identify, engage and market to potential advertiser clients who
do not currently spend on mobile advertising or are unfamiliar with our current services or platform. Furthermore, many of our clients' purchasing and
design decisions typically require input from multiple internal constituencies. As a result, we must identify those involved in the purchasing decision
and devote a sufficient amount of time to presenting our services to each of those individuals.

        The novelty of our services and our business model often requires us to spend substantial time and effort educating potential advertisers and
developers about our offerings, including providing demonstrations and comparisons against other available services. This process can be costly and
time-consuming. If we are not successful in streamlining our sales processes with advertisers and developers, our ability to grow our business may be
adversely affected.

If we do not achieve satisfactory results under performance-based pricing models, we could lose clients and our revenue could decline.

        We offer our services to advertisers based on a variety of pricing models, including CPM, CPA and CPC. Under performance-driven CPA and
CPC pricing models, from which we currently derive a significant portion of our revenue, advertisers only pay us if we provide the results they specify.
These results-based pricing models differ from fixed-rate pricing models, like CPM, under which the fee is based on the number of times the ad is
shown, without regard to its effectiveness. As a result, under our contracts with advertisers that provide for us to be paid on a CPC or CPA basis, we
must be able to develop effective ad campaigns that result in the desired actions being taken by consumers. If we are not able to perform effectively
under these arrangements, or have disagreements with clients over the measurement of deliverables, it could hurt our reputation with advertisers and
developers and could cause our revenues to decline.

If we cannot increase the capacity of our mobile advertising technology platform to meet advertiser or device user demand, our business will be
harmed.

        We must be able to continue to increase the capacity of our technology platforms in order to support substantial increases in the number of
advertisers and device users, to support an increasing variety of advertising formats and to maintain a stable service infrastructure and reliable service
delivery for our mobile advertising campaigns. If we are unable to efficiently and effectively increase the scale of our
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mobile advertising platforms to support and manage a substantial increase in the number of advertisers and mobile device users, while also maintaining
a high level of performance, the quality of our services could decline and our reputation and business could be seriously harmed. In addition, if we are
not able to support emerging mobile advertising formats or services preferred by advertisers, we may be unable to obtain new advertising clients or may
lose existing advertising clients, and in either case our revenue could decline.

If we fail to detect click fraud or other invalid clicks on ads, we could lose the confidence of our advertiser clients, which would cause our
business to suffer.

        Our business relies on delivering positive results to our advertiser clients. We are exposed to the risk of fraudulent and other invalid clicks or
conversions that advertisers may perceive as undesirable. Because of their smaller sizes as compared to personal computers, mobile device usage could
result in a higher rate of accidental or otherwise inadvertent clicks by a user. Invalid clicks could also result from click fraud, where a mobile device user
intentionally clicks on ads for reasons other than to access the underlying content of the ads. If fraudulent or other malicious activity is perpetrated by
others, and we are unable to detect and prevent it, the affected advertisers may experience or perceive a reduced return on their investment. High levels
of invalid click activity could lead to dissatisfaction with our advertising services, refusals to pay, refund demands or withdrawal of future business.
Any of these occurrences could damage our brand and lead to a loss of advertisers and revenue.

System failures could significantly disrupt our operations and cause us to lose advertiser clients or advertising inventory.

        Our success depends on the continuing and uninterrupted performance of our own internal systems, which we utilize to place ads, monitor the
performance of advertising campaigns and manage our inventory of advertising space. Our revenue depends on the technological ability of our
platforms to deliver ads and measure them on a CPM, CPC or CPA basis. Sustained or repeated system failures that interrupt our ability to provide
services to clients, including technological failures affecting our ability to deliver ads quickly and accurately and to process mobile device users'
responses to ads, could significantly reduce the attractiveness of our services to advertisers and reduce our revenue. Our systems are vulnerable to
damage from a variety of sources, including telecommunications failures, power outages, malicious human acts and natural disasters. In addition, any
steps we take to increase the reliability and redundancy of our systems may be expensive and may not ultimately be successful in preventing system
failures.

Failure to adequately manage our growth may seriously harm our business.

        We have experienced, and may continue to experience, significant growth in our business. If we do not effectively manage our growth, the quality
of our services may suffer, which could negatively affect our reputation and demand for our services. Our growth has placed, and is expected to
continue to place, a significant strain on our managerial, administrative, operational and financial resources and our infrastructure. Our future success
will depend, in part, upon the ability of our senior management to manage growth effectively. This will require us to, among other things:

• implement additional management information systems; 

• further develop our operating, administrative, legal, financial and accounting systems and controls; 

• hire additional personnel; 

• develop additional levels of management within our company; 

• locate additional office space;
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• maintain close coordination among our engineering, operations, legal, finance, sales and marketing and client service and support
organizations; and 

• manage our expanding international operations.

        Moreover, as our sales increase, we may be required to concurrently deploy our services infrastructure at multiple additional locations or provide
increased levels of customization. As a result, we may lack the resources to deploy our services on a timely and cost-effective basis. Failure to
accomplish any of these requirements could impair our ability to deliver our mobile advertising platform in a timely fashion, fulfill existing client
commitments or attract and retain new clients.

Our increasing international operations subject us to increased challenges and risks.

        We have expanded our international operations over the last several years, including opening offices in the United Kingdom in the first half of
2010, launching operations in Singapore in the fourth quarter of 2011, opening offices in continental Europe and Southeast Asia during 2012, and
opening an office in Japan in the first half of 2013. We expect to further expand our international operations by opening offices in new countries and
regions worldwide. However, we have a limited operating history as a company outside the United States, and our ability to manage our business and
conduct our operations internationally requires considerable management attention and resources and is subject to the particular challenges of supporting
a rapidly growing business in an environment of multiple cultures, customs, legal systems, alternative dispute systems, regulatory systems and
commercial infrastructures. International expansion will require us to invest significant funds and other resources. Expanding internationally may
subject us to new risks that we have not faced before or increase risks that we currently face, including risks associated with:

• recruiting and retaining talented and capable employees in foreign countries; 

• providing mobile advertising services among different cultures, including potentially modifying our platform and features to ensure that
we deliver ads that are culturally relevant in different countries; 

• increased competition from local providers of mobile advertising services; 

• compliance with applicable foreign laws and regulations; 

• longer sales or collection cycles in some countries; 

• credit risk and higher levels of payment fraud; 

• compliance with anti-bribery laws, such as the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and the UK Anti-Bribery Act; 

• currency exchange rate fluctuations; 

• foreign exchange controls that might prevent us from repatriating cash earned outside the United States; 

• economic instability in some countries, particularly those in Europe; 

• political instability; 

• compliance with the laws of numerous taxing jurisdictions, both foreign and domestic, in which we conduct business, potential double
taxation of our international earnings and potentially adverse tax consequences due to changes in applicable U.S. and foreign tax laws; 

• the complexity and potential adverse consequences of U.S. tax laws as they relate to our international operations;
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• increased costs to establish and maintain effective controls at foreign locations; and 

• overall higher costs of doing business internationally.

        If our revenue from our international operations, and particularly from our operations in the countries and regions on which we have focused our
spending, do not exceed the expense of establishing and maintaining these operations, our business and operating results will suffer.

Our transition to a new chief executive officer may not be successful, and our inability to hire or retain other key personnel would also slow our
growth.

        In January 2014, Paul Palmieri, our founder, resigned as our chief executive officer and as a member of our board of directors, and Michael Barrett
was appointed as our chief executive officer and a member of our board of directors. There can be no guarantee that the transition to a new chief
executive officer will be smooth or successful. Leadership transitions can be inherently difficult to manage and may cause uncertainty or a disruption to
our business or may increase the likelihood of turnover in key officers and employees. The uncertainty inherent in our senior management transitions
could lead to concerns from current and potential advertisers, developers and other third parties with whom we do business, any of which could hurt
our business prospects. In addition, our future success will depend to a significant extent on the continued services of our other executive officers and
senior personnel. There can be no assurance that we will be able to retain their services. The loss of the services of one or more of these individuals
could adversely affect our business and could divert other senior management time in searching for their replacements.

If we do not attract additional sales and technology talent, we may not be able to sustain our growth or achieve our business objectives.

        Our future success also depends on our ability to continue to attract, retain and motivate highly skilled managers and employees, particularly
employees with technical skills that enable us to deliver effective mobile advertising solutions and sales, and client support representatives with
experience in mobile and other digital advertising and strong relationships with brand advertisers and app developers. Competition for these employees
in our industry is intense. As a result, we may be unable to attract or retain these management, technical, sales and client support personnel that are
critical to our success, resulting in harm to our key client relationships, loss of key information, expertise or know-how and unanticipated recruitment
and training costs. The loss of the services of our senior management or other key employees could make it more difficult to successfully operate our
business and pursue our business goals.

Acquisitions or investments may be unsuccessful and may divert our management's attention and consume significant resources.

        A key part of our growth strategy is to pursue additional acquisitions or investments in other businesses or individual technologies, including
additional technology tools for app developers that allow them to generate revenue from their apps through advertising that we can supply. For example,
we acquired Metaresolver, Inc., a mobile media buying and targeting platform, in April 2013, and we acquired Jumptap, a competing mobile advertising
company, in November 2013. For more information about Jumptap, see "—Risks Related to Our Acquisition of Jumptap." These and future
acquisitions or investments may require us to use significant amounts of cash, issue potentially dilutive equity securities or incur debt. In addition,
acquisitions involve numerous risks, any of which could disrupt or harm our business, including:

• difficulties in integrating the operations, technologies, services and personnel of acquired businesses, especially if those businesses
operate outside of our core competency of delivering mobile advertising;
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• cultural challenges associated with integrating employees from the acquired company into our organization; 

• ineffectiveness or incompatibility of acquired technologies or services; 

• potential loss of key employees of acquired businesses; 

• inability to maintain the key business relationships and the reputations of acquired businesses; 

• diversion of management's attention from other business concerns; 

• litigation related to activities of the acquired company, including claims by terminated employees, clients, former stockholders or other
third parties; 

• in the case of foreign acquisitions, the need to integrate operations across different cultures and languages and to address the particular
economic, currency, political and regulatory risks associated with specific countries; 

• costs necessary to establish and maintain effective internal controls for acquired businesses; 

• failure to successfully further develop the acquired technology in order to recoup our investment; and 

• increased fixed costs.

Activities of our advertiser clients could damage our reputation or give rise to legal claims against us.

        Our advertiser clients' promotion of their products and services may not comply with federal, state and local laws, including, but not limited to,
laws and regulations relating to mobile communications. Failure of our clients to comply with federal, state or local laws or our policies could damage
our reputation and expose us to liability under these laws. We may also be liable to third parties for content in the ads we deliver if the artwork, text or
other content involved violates copyrights, trademarks or other intellectual property rights of third parties or if the content is defamatory, unfair and
deceptive, or otherwise in violation of applicable laws. Although we generally receive assurance from our advertisers that their ads are lawful and that
they have the right to use any copyrights, trademarks or other intellectual property included in an ad, and although we are normally indemnified by the
advertisers, a third party or regulatory authority may still file a claim against us. Any such claims could be costly and time-consuming to defend and
could also hurt our reputation. Further, if we are exposed to legal liability as a result of the activities of our advertiser clients, we could be required to
pay substantial fines or penalties, redesign our business methods, discontinue some of our services or otherwise expend significant resources.

Our business depends on our ability to maintain the quality of our advertiser and developer content.

        We must be able to ensure that our clients' ads are not placed in developer content that is unlawful or inappropriate. Likewise, our developers rely
upon us not to place ads in their apps that are unlawful or inappropriate. If we are unable to ensure that the quality of our advertiser and developer
content does not decline as the number of advertisers and developers we work with continues to grow, then our reputation and business may suffer.

Our inability to use software licensed from third parties, or our use of open source software under license terms that interfere with our
proprietary rights, could disrupt our business.

        Our technology platform incorporates software licensed from third parties, including some software, known as open source software, which we
use without charge. Although we monitor our use of open source software, the terms of many open source licenses to which we are subject have not
been interpreted by U.S. or foreign courts, and there is a risk that such licenses could be construed in a manner that imposes unanticipated conditions or
restrictions on our ability to provide our platform to our clients. In the future,
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we could be required to seek licenses from third parties in order to continue offering our platform, which licenses may not be available on terms that are
acceptable to us, or at all. Alternatively, we may need to re-engineer our platform or discontinue use of portions of the functionality provided by our
platform. In addition, the terms of open source software licenses may require us to provide software that we develop using such software to others on
unfavorable license terms. Our inability to use third party software could result in disruptions to our business, or delays in the development of future
offerings or enhancements of existing offerings, which could impair our business.

Software and components that we incorporate into our mobile advertising platform may contain errors or defects, which could harm our
reputation and hurt our business.

        We use a combination of custom and third party software, including open source software, in building our mobile advertising platform. Although
we test software before incorporating it into our platform, we cannot guarantee that all of the third party technology that we incorporate will not contain
errors, bugs or other defects. We continue to launch enhancements to our mobile advertising platform, and we cannot guarantee any such enhancements
will be free from these kinds of defects. If errors or other defects occur in technology that we utilize in our mobile advertising platform, it could result in
damage to our reputation and losses in revenue, and we could be required to spend significant amounts of additional resources to fix any problems.

Our failure to protect our intellectual property rights could diminish the value of our services, weaken our competitive position and reduce our
revenue.

        We regard the protection of our intellectual property, which includes trade secrets, patents, copyrights, trademarks, domain names and patent
applications, as critical to our success. We strive to protect our intellectual property rights by relying on federal, state and common law rights, as well as
contractual restrictions. We enter into confidentiality and invention assignment agreements with our employees and contractors, and confidentiality
agreements with third parties with whom we conduct business in order to limit access to, and disclosure and use of, our intellectual property and
proprietary information. However, these contractual arrangements and the other steps we have taken to protect our intellectual property may not prevent
the misappropriation of our proprietary information or deter independent development of similar technologies by others.

        We seek patent protection for certain of our technologies and currently have 72 issued U.S. and international patents, and over 100 pending
international and domestic patent applications. There can be no assurance that these additional patents will ultimately be issued. We are also pursuing the
registration of our domain names, trademarks and service marks in the United States and in certain locations outside the United States. Effective trade
secret, copyright, trademark, domain name and patent protection is expensive to develop and maintain, both in terms of initial and ongoing registration
requirements and the costs of defending our rights. We may be required to protect our intellectual property in an increasing number of jurisdictions, a
process that is expensive and may not be successful or which we may not pursue in every location. We may, over time, increase our investment in
protecting our intellectual property through additional patent filings that could be expensive and time-consuming.

        We have licensed in the past, and expect to license in the future, some of our proprietary rights, such as trademarks or copyrighted material, to third
parties. These licensees may take unauthorized actions that diminish the value of our proprietary rights or harm our reputation.

        Monitoring unauthorized use of our intellectual property is difficult and costly. Our efforts to protect our proprietary rights may not be adequate to
prevent misappropriation of our intellectual property. Further, we may not be able to detect unauthorized use of, or take appropriate steps to enforce, our
intellectual property rights. Our competitors may also independently develop similar technology. In addition, the laws of many countries, such as China
and India, do not protect our proprietary rights to as
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great an extent as do the laws of European countries and the United States. Further, the laws in the United States and elsewhere change rapidly, and any
future changes could adversely affect us and our intellectual property rights. Our failure to meaningfully protect our intellectual property could result in
competitors offering services that incorporate our most technologically advanced features, which could seriously reduce demand for our mobile
advertising services. In addition, we may in the future need to initiate infringement claims or litigation. Litigation, whether we are a plaintiff or a
defendant, can be expensive, time-consuming and may divert the efforts of our technical staff and managerial personnel, which could harm our
business, whether or not such litigation results in a determination that is unfavorable to us. In addition, litigation is inherently uncertain, and thus we
may not be able to stop our competitors from infringing upon our intellectual property rights.

We operate in an industry with extensive intellectual property litigation. Claims of infringement against us may hurt our business.

        Our success depends, in part, upon non-infringement of intellectual property rights owned by others and being able to resolve claims of intellectual
property infringement without major financial expenditures or adverse consequences. The mobile telecommunications industry generally is characterized
by extensive intellectual property litigation. Although our technology is relatively new and our industry is rapidly evolving, many participants that own,
or claim to own, intellectual property historically have aggressively asserted their rights. From time to time, we may be subject to legal proceedings and
claims relating to the intellectual property rights of others, including currently pending proceedings related to alleged patent infringement, as described in
Part I, Item 3. Legal Proceedings, below, and we expect that third parties will continue to assert intellectual property claims against us, particularly as we
expand the complexity and scope of our business.

        Future litigation may be necessary to defend ourselves or our clients by determining the scope, enforceability and validity of third party proprietary
rights or to establish our proprietary rights. Some of our competitors have substantially greater resources than we do and are able to sustain the costs of
complex intellectual property litigation to a greater degree and for longer periods of time than we could. In addition, patent holding companies that focus
solely on extracting royalties and settlements by enforcing patent rights may target us. Regardless of whether claims that we are infringing patents or
other intellectual property rights have any merit, these claims are time-consuming and costly to evaluate and defend and could:

• adversely affect our relationships with our current or future clients; 

• cause delays or stoppages in providing our mobile advertising services; 

• divert management's attention and resources; 

• require technology changes to our platform that would cause us to incur substantial cost; 

• subject us to significant liabilities; and 

• require us to cease some or all of our activities.

        In addition to liability for monetary damages against us, which may be tripled and may include attorneys' fees, or, in some circumstances, damages
against our clients, we may be prohibited from developing, commercializing or continuing to provide some or all of our mobile advertising solutions
unless we obtain licenses from, and pay royalties to, the holders of the patents or other intellectual property rights, which may not be available on
commercially favorable terms, or at all.
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If we fail to maintain proper and effective internal controls, our ability to produce accurate financial statements on a timely basis could be
impaired.

        We are subject to the reporting requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the Dodd-Frank Wall Street
Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010 and the rules and regulations of the New York Stock Exchange. The Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires,
among other things, that we maintain effective disclosure controls and procedures and internal controls over financial reporting and perform system and
process evaluation and testing of our internal controls over financial reporting to allow management to report on the effectiveness of our internal
controls over financial reporting. This requires that we incur substantial professional fees and internal costs related to our accounting and finance
functions and that we expend significant management efforts.

        We may in the future discover areas of our internal financial and accounting controls and procedures that need improvement. Our internal control
over financial reporting will not prevent or detect all error and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only
reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the control system's objectives will be met. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no
evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that misstatements due to error or fraud will not occur or that all control issues and instances of
fraud will be detected.

        If we are unable to maintain proper and effective internal controls in the future, we may not be able to produce timely and accurate financial
statements, and we may conclude that our internal controls over financial reporting are not effective. If that were to happen, the market price of our stock
could decline and we could be subject to sanctions or investigations by the New York Stock Exchange, the SEC or other regulatory authorities.

We are an "emerging growth company," and we expect to comply only with reduced disclosure requirements applicable to emerging growth
companies, which could make our common stock less attractive to investors.

        We are an "emerging growth company," as defined in the Jumpstart Our Business Startup Act, or JOBS Act, enacted in 2012, and, for as long as
we continue to be an "emerging growth company," we may choose to take advantage of exemptions from various reporting requirements applicable to
other public companies including, but not limited to, reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in our periodic reports and proxy
statements, and exemptions from the requirements of holding a nonbinding advisory vote on executive compensation and shareholder approval of any
golden parachute payments not previously approved. We expect to comply with these reduced disclosure requirements in our proxy statement for the
upcoming 2014 annual meeting of our stockholders. We could be an "emerging growth company" through the year ending December 31, 2017,
although a variety of circumstances could cause us to lose that status earlier. We cannot predict if investors will find our common stock less attractive
when we choose to rely on these exemptions. If some investors find our common stock less attractive as a result of any choices to reduce future
disclosure, there may be a less active trading market for our common stock and our stock price may be more volatile.

        Under the JOBS Act, emerging growth companies that become public can delay adopting new or revised accounting standards until such time as
those standards apply to private companies. We have irrevocably elected not to avail ourselves of this exemption from new or revised accounting
standards and, therefore, we will be subject to the same new or revised accounting standards as other public companies that are not emerging growth
companies.
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We may need additional capital in the future to meet our financial obligations and to pursue our business objectives. Additional capital may not be
available on favorable terms, or at all, which could compromise our ability to meet our financial obligations and grow our business.

        We may need to raise additional capital to fund operations in the future or to finance acquisitions. If we seek to raise additional capital in order to
meet various objectives, including developing future technologies and services, increasing working capital, acquiring businesses and responding to
competitive pressures, capital may not be available on favorable terms or may not be available at all. In addition, pursuant to the terms of our credit
facility, we may be restricted from using the net proceeds of financing transactions for our operating objectives. Lack of sufficient capital resources
could significantly limit our ability to take advantage of business and strategic opportunities. Any additional capital raised through the sale of equity or
debt securities with an equity component would dilute our stock ownership. If adequate additional funds are not available, we may be required to delay,
reduce the scope of, or eliminate material parts of our business strategy, including potential additional acquisitions or development of new technologies.

Our net operating loss carryforwards may expire unutilized or underutilized, which could prevent us from offsetting future taxable income.

        We may be limited in the portion of net operating loss carryforwards that we can use in the future to offset taxable income for U.S. federal income
tax purposes. At December 31, 2013, we had federal net operating loss carryforwards of $179.0 million, which expire at various dates through 2034.
Our gross state net operating loss carryforwards are equal to or less than the federal net operating loss carryforwards and expire over various periods
based on individual state tax law.

        We periodically assess the likelihood that we will be able to recover our net deferred tax assets. We consider all available evidence, both positive
and negative, including historical levels of income, expectations and risks associated with estimates of future taxable income and ongoing prudent and
feasible profits. As a result of this analysis of all available evidence, both positive and negative, we concluded that a valuation allowance against our net
deferred tax assets should be applied as of December 31, 2013. To the extent we determine that all or a portion of our valuation allowance is no longer
necessary, we will recognize an income tax benefit in the period such determination is made for the reversal of the valuation allowance. Once the
valuation allowance is eliminated or reduced, its reversal will no longer be available to offset our current tax provision. These events could have a
material impact on our reported results of operations.

Risks Related to Ownership of Our Common Stock

An active trading market for our common stock may not continue to develop or be sustained.

        Prior to our initial public offering in March 2012, there was no public market for our common stock, and we cannot assure you that an active
trading market for our shares will continue to develop or be sustained. If an active market for our common stock does not continue to develop or is not
sustained, it may be difficult for investors in our common stock to sell shares without depressing the market price for the shares or to sell such shares at
all.

The trading price of the shares of our common stock has been and is likely to continue to be volatile.

        Since our initial public offering in March 2012, our stock price has exhibited significant volatility, ranging from a high of $27.90 per share to a low
of $5.78 per share. The stock market in general and the market for technology companies in particular have experienced extreme volatility that has often
been unrelated to the operating performance of particular companies. As a result of this volatility, investors may
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not be able to sell their common stock at or above the price paid for the shares. The market price for our common stock may be influenced by many
factors, including:

• actual or anticipated variations in quarterly operating results; 

• changes in financial estimates by us or by any securities analysts who might cover our stock; 

• conditions or trends in our industry; 

• stock market price and volume fluctuations of other publicly traded companies and, in particular, those that operate in the advertising,
internet or media industries; 

• announcements by us or our competitors of new product or service offerings, significant acquisitions, strategic partnerships or
divestitures; 

• announcements of investigations or regulatory scrutiny of our operations or lawsuits filed against us; 

• capital commitments; 

• additions or departures of key personnel; and 

• sales of our common stock, including sales by our directors and officers or specific stockholders.

In addition, in the past, stockholders have initiated class action lawsuits against technology companies following periods of volatility in the market
prices of these companies' stock. Such litigation, if instituted against us, could cause us to incur substantial costs and divert management's attention and
resources.

If securities or industry analysts do not publish research or publish unfavorable research about our business, our stock price and trading
volume could decline.

        The trading market for our common stock will rely in part on the research and reports that equity research analysts publish about us and our
business. We have only limited research coverage by equity research analysts. Equity research analysts may elect not to initiate or to continue to provide
research coverage of our common stock, and such lack of research coverage may adversely affect the market price of our common stock. Even if we do
have equity research analyst coverage, we will not have any control over the analysts or the content and opinions included in their reports. The price of
our stock could decline if one or more equity research analysts downgrade our stock or issue other unfavorable commentary or research. If one or more
equity research analysts ceases coverage of our company or fails to publish reports on us regularly, demand for our stock could decrease, which in turn
could cause our stock price or trading volume to decline.

The issuance of additional stock in connection with financings, acquisitions, investments, our stock incentive plans or otherwise will dilute all
other stockholders.

        Our certificate of incorporation authorizes us to issue up to 250,000,000 shares of common stock and up to 5,000,000 shares of preferred stock
with such rights and preferences as may be determined by our board of directors. Subject to compliance with applicable rules and regulations, we may
issue shares of our common stock or securities convertible into our common stock from time to time in connection with financing, acquisition or
investment activity, our stock incentive plans, or otherwise. For example, in connection with our acquisition of Jumptap in November 2013, we issued
24,759,604 shares of our common stock to the former securityholders of Jumptap and assumed options that are now exercisable for an additional
861,311 shares of our common stock. In the aggregate, this represented approximately 22.8% of the total number of our common shares following the
acquisition of Jumptap on a fully diluted basis. Any similar issuances of our equity securities in the future could result in substantial dilution to our
existing stockholders and cause the trading price of our common stock to decline.
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Provisions in our corporate charter documents and under Delaware law may prevent or frustrate attempts by our stockholders to change our
management and hinder efforts to acquire a controlling interest in us, and the market price of our common stock may be lower as a result.

        There are provisions in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws that may make it difficult for a third
party to acquire, or attempt to acquire, control of our company, even if a change in control was considered favorable by you and other stockholders. For
example, our board of directors has the authority to issue up to 5,000,000 shares of preferred stock. The board of directors can fix the price, rights,
preferences, privileges, and restrictions of the preferred stock without any further vote or action by our stockholders. The issuance of shares of
preferred stock may delay or prevent a change in control transaction. As a result, the market price of our common stock and the voting and other rights
of our stockholders may be adversely affected. An issuance of shares of preferred stock may result in the loss of voting control to other stockholders.

        Our charter documents also contain other provisions that could have an anti-takeover effect, including:

• only one of our three classes of directors is elected each year; 

• stockholders are not entitled to remove directors other than by a 662/3% vote and only for cause; 

• stockholders are not permitted to take actions by written consent; 

• stockholders cannot call a special meeting of stockholders; and 

• stockholders must give advance notice to nominate directors or submit proposals for consideration at stockholder meetings.

        In addition, we are subject to the anti-takeover provisions of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, which regulates corporate
acquisitions by prohibiting Delaware corporations from engaging in specified business combinations with particular stockholders of those companies.
These provisions could discourage potential acquisition proposals and could delay or prevent a change in control transaction. They could also have the
effect of discouraging others from making tender offers for our common stock, including transactions that may be in your best interests. These
provisions may also prevent changes in our management or limit the price that investors are willing to pay for our stock.

        Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation also provides that the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware will be the exclusive forum
for substantially all disputes between us and our stockholders.

We do not anticipate paying any cash dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable future and our stock may not appreciate in value.

        We have not declared or paid cash dividends on our common stock to date. We currently intend to retain our future earnings, if any, to fund the
development and growth of our business. In addition, the terms of any existing or future debt agreements may preclude us from paying dividends.
There is no guarantee that shares of our common stock will appreciate in value or that the price at which our stockholders have purchased their shares
will be able to be maintained.

We will incur costs and demands upon management as a result of complying with the laws and regulations affecting public companies in the
United States.

        As a public company listed in the United States, and particularly after we cease to be an "emerging growth company," we will incur significant
additional legal, accounting and other expenses. In addition, changing laws, regulations and standards relating to corporate governance and public
disclosure, including regulations implemented by the SEC and stock exchanges, may increase legal and financial compliance costs and make some
activities more time consuming. These laws, regulations and standards are subject to varying interpretations and, as a result, their application in practice
may evolve over time as new guidance
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is provided by regulatory and governing bodies. We intend to invest resources to comply with evolving laws, regulations and standards, and this
investment may result in increased general and administrative expenses and a diversion of management's time and attention from revenue-generating
activities to compliance activities. If, notwithstanding our efforts to comply with new laws, regulations and standards, we fail to comply, regulatory
authorities may initiate legal proceedings against us and our business may be harmed.

        Failure to comply with these rules might also make it more difficult for us to obtain some types of insurance, including director and officer liability
insurance, and we might be forced to accept reduced policy limits and coverage or incur substantially higher costs to obtain the same or similar
coverage. The impact of these events could also make it more difficult for us to attract and retain qualified persons to serve on our board of directors, on
committees of our board of directors or as members of senior management.

Item 1B.    Unresolved Staff Comments 

        None.

Item 2.    Properties 

        Our principal offices occupy approximately 96,000 square feet of leased office space in Baltimore, Maryland pursuant to a lease agreement that
expires in September 2024. We also maintain offices in New York, New York; Boston, Massachusetts; Chicago, Illinois; Los Angeles, California;
Detroit, Michigan; London, England; San Francisco, California; Atlanta, Georgia; Paris, France; Hamburg, Germany; Jakarta, Indonesia; Singapore;
Tokyo, Japan; and Washington, DC. We believe that our current facilities are suitable and adequate to meet our current needs. We intend to add new
facilities or expand existing facilities as we add employees, and we believe that suitable additional or substitute space will be available as needed to
accommodate any such expansion of our operations.

Item 3.    Legal Proceedings 

        Augme Technologies, Inc. v. Millennial Media, Inc.    On April 5, 2012, Augme Technologies, Inc. filed a complaint in the U.S. District Court for
the District of Delaware, alleging patent infringement against us. Plaintiff alleges that we are infringing U.S. Patent No. 7,783,721 entitled "Method and
Code Module For Adding Function To A Web Page," U.S. Patent No. 7,269,636 entitled "Method and Code Module For Adding Function To A Web
Page," and U.S. Patent No. 6,594,691 entitled "Method and System For Adding Function To A Web Page." We answered the complaint on July 5,
2012. Among other things, we filed counterclaims asking for a declaratory judgment of non-infringement and invalidity of the patents in question.
Augme disclosed its initial infringement contentions on January 2, 2013. We disclosed our invalidity contentions on February 1, 2013. The parties
agreed to a stay of the litigation proceedings while engaged in settlement discussions. The parties subsequently reached an agreement, and on
December 2, 2013, filed a stipulation dismissing the litigation with prejudice.

        Streetspace, Inc. v. Google, Inc. et al.    On August 23, 2010, plaintiff Streetspace, Inc. filed a complaint in the U.S. District Court for the Southern
District of California, alleging patent infringement against a group of defendants including us. The plaintiff alleged that each of the defendants has
infringed, and continues to infringe, plaintiff's patent. On September 12, 2011, the court granted the defendants' motion to transfer the case to the U.S.
District Court for the Northern District of California. On September 15, 2011, the defendants jointly filed a request to reexamine plaintiff's claimed
patent with the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office (the "PTO"). On November 18, 2011, the PTO granted the defendants' request, ordered a
reexamination of the plaintiff's patent, and rejected all of the plaintiff's patent claims in the first office action. The PTO entered an Action Closing
Prosecution on June 4, 2012 rejecting all claims of the patent-in-suit. The PTO entered its final rejection, also known as Right of Appeal Notice, on
May 10, 2013 rejecting all claims of the patent-in-suit. The plaintiff filed its Notice of Appeal on June 10, 2013 and the defendants filed their Notice of
Cross Appeal on June 24, 2013. The plaintiff filed an appellant's brief and
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a petition requesting continued reexamination to enter a concurrently filed amendment on August 12, 2013. On August 26, 2013, the defendants filed a
cross-appeal brief, and on September 12, 2013, the defendants filed a brief in response to the plaintiff's appeal brief. On September 26, 2013, the
plaintiff filed a brief in response to the defendants' cross-appeal brief. The Patent Office dismissed the plaintiff's Petition for Continued Reexamination
on November 20, 2013. The parties are awaiting the examiner's Answer to the briefing on appeal. The defendants also filed a motion to stay the case in
the Northern District of California, pending the reexamination. The court granted the motion to stay in February 2012 and there has been no discovery
in the litigation. The court entered orders maintaining the stay of litigation on May 8, 2013 and August 14, 2013.

        Evolutionary Intelligence, LLC. v. Millennial Media, Inc.     On October 17, 2012, Evolutionary Intelligence, LLC filed a complaint in the U.S.
District Court for the Eastern District of Texas, Tyler Division, alleging patent infringement against us. The plaintiff alleges that we are infringing U.S.
Patent No. 7,010,536, entitled "System and Method for Creating and Manipulating Containers with Dynamic Registers" and U.S. Patent
No. 7,702,682, entitled "System and Method for Creating and Manipulating Containers with Dynamic Registers." The complaint seeks declaratory
judgment, unspecified damages and injunctive relief. We answered the complaint on December 17, 2012. Among other things, we asserted defenses
based non-infringement and invalidity of the patents in question. We have filed a motion to transfer venue to the Northern District of California on
December 21, 2012 and the Eastern District of Texas granted the transfer motion on August 27, 2013. The case was opened in the Northern District of
California on September 17, 2013. An initial case management conference was set for December 17, 2013, and has been continued until March 7, 2014
by stipulation of the parties. On January 31, 2014, we filed a motion to stay the proceedings, pending reexamination of the patents-in-suit by the U.S.
Patent and Trademark Office. A hearing on the motion to stay is scheduled for March 7, 2014. The parties are currently conducting discovery.

Item 4.    Mine Safety Disclosures 

        Not applicable.

Item 5.    Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

        Our common stock has been listed on the New York Stock Exchange, or the NYSE, since March 29, 2012, under the symbol "MM". Prior to our
initial public offering, or IPO, there was no public market for our common stock.

        The following tables set forth for the indicated periods the high and low sales prices of our common stock as reported on the NYSE.

 

        As of February 20, 2014, there were 107 registered stockholders of record for our common stock. The actual number of stockholders is greater
than this number of record holders and includes stockholders who
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  2013  
  First Quarter  Second Quarter  Third Quarter  Fourth Quarter  

High  $ 14.66 $ 8.95 $ 10.48 $ 7.48 
Low   6.26  5.87  6.36  5.78 

  2012  
  First Quarter*  Second Quarter  Third Quarter  Fourth Quarter  

High  $ 27.90 $ 23.64 $ 16.49 $ 16.86 
Low   22.61  10.98  9.00  11.51 

* Beginning on March 29, 2012
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are beneficial owners but whose shares are held in street name by brokers and other nominees. This number of holders of record also does not include
stockholders whose shares may be held in trust by other entities.

        We have never declared or paid any dividends on our common stock. We anticipate that we will retain all of our future earnings, if any, for use in
the operation and expansion of our business and do not anticipate paying cash dividends in the foreseeable future. Additionally, our ability to pay
dividends on our common stock is limited by restrictions under the terms of the agreements governing our credit facility.

Stock Performance Graph

        The graph set forth below compares the cumulative total stockholder return on an initial investment of $100 in our common stock between
March 29, 2012 (the date of our IPO) and December 31, 2013, with the comparative cumulative total return of such amount on (i) the NYSE Composite
Index, (ii) Global X Social Media Index ETF, and (iii) SPDR Morgan Stanley Technology Fund ETF over the same period. We have not paid any cash
dividends and, therefore, the cumulative total return calculation for us is based solely upon stock price appreciation (depreciation) and not upon
reinvestment of cash dividends. The graph assumes our closing sales price on March 29, 2012 of $25.00 per share as the initial value of our common
stock.

        The comparisons shown in the graph below are based upon historical data. We caution that the stock price performance shown in the graph below
is not necessarily indicative of, nor is it intended to forecast, the potential future performance of our common stock.

        The information presented above in the stock performance graph shall not be deemed to be "soliciting material" or to be "filed" with the SEC or
subject to Regulation 14A or 14C, except to the extent that we subsequently specifically request that such information be treated as soliciting material or
specifically incorporate it by reference into a filing under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or a filing under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
as amended.
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Item 6.    Selected Consolidated Financial Data

        The following selected consolidated financial data as of and for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, 2011, 2010 and 2009 is derived from
our audited consolidated financial statements, which have been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, independent registered public accounting firm. Our
historical results are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected in the future. The selected consolidated financial data should be read together
with "Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" and in conjunction with the consolidated
financial statements, related notes, and other financial information included elsewhere in this Annual Report.
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  Year Ended December 31,  
  2013  2012  2011  2010  2009  
  (in thousands, except per share data)  

Consolidated Statement of Operations Data:                 
Revenue  $ 259,171 $ 177,667 $ 103,678 $ 47,828 $ 16,220 
Cost of revenue   154,774  105,739  63,595  31,602  11,596 
            

Gross profit   104,397  71,928  40,083  16,226  4,624 
Operating expenses:                 

Sales and marketing   38,682  23,816  14,255  8,508  4,609 
Technology and development   18,966  13,620  5,181  2,175  1,095 
General and administrative   61,891  38,954  21,321  12,535  6,326 

            

Total operating expenses   119,539  76,390  40,757  23,218  12,030 
            

Loss from operations   (15,142)  (4,462)  (674)  (6,992)  (7,406)
Total interest and other expense   (18)  (898)  (99)  (107)  (144)
            

Loss before income taxes   (15,160)  (5,360)  (773)  (7,099)  (7,550)
Income tax benefit (expense)   47  (70)  486  (22)  — 
            

Net loss   (15,113)  (5,430)  (287)  (7,121)  (7,550)
Accretion of dividends on redeemable convertible

preferred stock   —  (1,328)  (5,022)  (2,933)  (1,793)
            

Net loss attributable to common stockholders  $ (15,113) $ (6,758) $ (5,309) $ (10,054) $ (9,343)
            

            

Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders
—basic and diluted  $ (0.18) $ (0.11) $ (0.32) $ (0.56) $ (0.56)

            

            

Weighted average shares of common stock outstanding
used in computing net loss per share attributable to
common stockholders   84,029  60,951  16,363  17,966  16,783 

Other Financial Data:                 
Adjusted EBITDA(1)  $ 8,961 $ 4,543 $ 1,839 $ (6,436) $ (7,048)

(1) We define adjusted EBITDA as earnings before interest, income taxes, depreciation and amortization, adjusted to eliminate non-
cash stock-based compensation expense and expenses related to acquisitions, such as costs for services of lawyers, investment
bankers, accountants, and other third parties and acquisition related severance costs, bonuses, retention bonuses and accrual of
retention payments that represent contingent compensation to be recognized as expense over a requisite service period. Please see
"Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Key Operating and Financial
Performance Metrics" for more information and for a reconciliation of adjusted EBITDA to net loss, the most directly
comparable financial measure
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Adjusted EBITDA

        To provide investors with additional information regarding our financial results within this Annual Report, we have used adjusted
EBITDA, a non-GAAP financial measure. We have provided a reconciliation below of adjusted EBITDA to net loss, the most directly
comparable GAAP financial measure.

        We have included adjusted EBITDA in this Annual Report because it is a key measure used by our management and board of directors to
understand and evaluate our core operating performance and trends, to prepare and approve our annual budget and to develop short- and long-
term operational plans. In particular, we believe that the exclusion of the expenses eliminated in calculating adjusted EBITDA can provide a
useful measure for period-to-period comparisons of our core business. Additionally, adjusted EBITDA is a key financial measure used by the
compensation committee of our board of directors in connection with the development of incentive-based compensation for our executive
officers. Accordingly, we believe that adjusted EBITDA provides useful information to investors and others in understanding and evaluating
our operating results in the same manner as our management and board of directors.

        Our use of adjusted EBITDA has limitations as an analytical tool, and you should not consider it in isolation or as a substitute for analysis
of our financial results as reported under GAAP. Some of these limitations are:

• although depreciation and amortization are non-cash charges, the assets being depreciated and amortized may have to be replaced in the
future, and adjusted EBITDA does not reflect cash capital expenditure requirements for such replacements or for new capital expenditure
requirements; 

• adjusted EBITDA does not reflect changes in, or cash requirements for, our working capital needs; 

• adjusted EBITDA does not reflect the potentially dilutive impact of equity-based compensation; 

• adjusted EBITDA does not reflect tax payments that may represent a reduction in cash available to us; and 

• other companies, including companies in our industry, may calculate adjusted EBITDA or similarly titled measures differently, which
reduces its usefulness as a comparative measure.
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calculated and presented in accordance with United States generally accepted accounting principles, or GAAP.

  As of December 31,  
  2013  2012  2011  2010  2009  
  (in thousands)  

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:                 
Cash and cash equivalents  $ 99,237 $ 137,439 $ 16,707 $ 27,803 $ 19,171 
Accounts receivable, net of allowances   109,056  59,179  34,986  19,978  6,485 
Total assets   419,604  208,449  61,885  49,115  26,136 
Long-term debt, including current portion   —  —  —  —  2,238 
Total liabilities   84,134  44,668  29,638  17,807  10,190 
Total redeemable convertible preferred stock   —  —  76,668  71,622  41,202 
Total stockholders' equity (deficit)   335,470  163,781  (44,421)  (40,314)  (25,256)
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        Because of these and other limitations, you should consider adjusted EBITDA alongside other GAAP-based financial performance measures,
including various cash flow metrics, net income (loss) and our other GAAP financial results. The following table presents a reconciliation of adjusted
EBITDA to net loss for each of the periods indicated:
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  Year Ended December 31,  
  2013  2012  2011  2010  2009  
  (in thousands)  

Net loss  $ (15,113) $ (5,430) $ (287) $ (7,121) $ (7,550)
Adjustments:                 

Interest expense, net   95  64  21  28  144 
Income tax (benefit) expense   (47)  70  (486)  22  — 
Depreciation and amortization expense            5,913  2,365  759  223  146 
Acquisition-related costs   8,410  —  —  —  — 
Deferred compensation   750  —  —  —  — 
Stock-based compensation expense   8,953  7,474  1,832  412  212 

            

Total net adjustments   24,074  9,973  2,126  685  502 
            

Adjusted EBITDA  $ 8,961 $ 4,543 $ 1,839 $ (6,436) $ (7,048)
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Item 7.    Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

        You should read the following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations in conjunction with the consolidated
financial statements and the related notes to those statements included later in this Annual Report. In addition to historical financial information, the
following discussion contains forward-looking statements that reflect our plans, estimates, beliefs and expectations that involve risks and uncertainties.
Our actual results and the timing of events could differ materially from those discussed in these forward-looking statements. Factors that could cause
or contribute to these differences include those discussed below and elsewhere in this Annual Report, particularly in "Item 1A. Risk Factors" and
"Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements."

Overview

        We are the leading independent mobile advertising platform company and one of the largest mobile display advertising platforms in the United
States. Our technology, tools and services help developers maximize their advertising revenue, acquire users for their apps and gain insight about their
users. To advertisers, we offer the ability to reach more than 600 million monthly unique users, including approximately 170 million monthly unique
users in the United States alone. We also offer advertisers sophisticated targeting capabilities and the opportunity to deliver interactive and engaging ad
experiences to consumers on their smartphones, tablets, other mobile connected devices and PCs. More than 50,000 apps are enabled to receive ads
through our platform, and we can deliver ads on over 9,000 different mobile device types and models. We have developed more than 625 million
proprietary, anonymous user profiles that we can use to more accurately and efficiently target ads. Our platform is compatible with all major mobile
operating systems, including Apple® iOS, Android™, Windows Phone and BlackBerry®.

        We help developers and advertisers remove complexity from mobile advertising. By working with us, developers gain access to our tools and
services that allow their apps to display video ads, banner ads, interactive rich media ads and native ad formats from our platform. In return, developers
supply us with space on their apps to deliver ads for our advertiser clients and also provide us with access to anonymous data associated with their apps
and users. We analyze this data to build sophisticated user profiles and audience groups that, in combination with the real-time decisioning, optimization
and targeting capabilities of our technology platform, enable us to deliver highly targeted advertising campaigns for our advertiser clients. Advertisers
pay us to deliver their ads to mobile connected device users, and we pay developers a fee for the use of their ad space. As we deliver more ads, we are
able to collect additional anonymous data about users, audiences and the effectiveness of particular ad campaigns, which in turn enhances our targeting
capabilities and allows us to deliver better performance for advertisers and better opportunities for developers to increase their revenue streams.

        We have built relationships with developers and advertisers of all sizes. Our developer base includes large mobile web publishers, large app
developers and other developers. Our advertiser clients include leading advertising agencies and brands, including 90 of Ad Age's top 100 national
advertisers, as well as smaller advertisers and often the developers themselves. Advertisers and developers are able to access our platform through our
full-service offering and through self-service interfaces. We offer programmatic buying capabilities to advertisers through our exchange, MMX, and
through our demand side platform, mmDSP. We offer programmatic selling capabilities to developers through our developer portal, mMedia, which
includes access to MMX.

        We operate in one segment, mobile advertising services. We have increased our revenue from $16.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2009
to $259.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2013. During the year ended December 31, 2013, approximately 24.0% of our revenue was derived
from outside of the United States, up from 14.8% during the year ended December 31, 2012. We commenced our international operations in the Europe
during the first half of 2010 and in Asia during the fourth quarter of 2011 with the launch of operations in Singapore. We further expanded our
international
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operations by opening additional offices in Europe and Asia in 2012 and 2013. We offer the same services internationally as we do in the United States,
and we intend to continue to pursue a strategy of expanding our international operations.

Key Operating and Financial Performance Metrics

        We monitor the key operating and financial performance metrics set forth in the table below to help us evaluate growth trends, establish budgets,
measure the effectiveness of our sales and marketing efforts and assess our operational efficiencies.

        Gross margin is our gross profit, or revenue less cost of revenue, expressed as a percentage of our total revenue. Our gross margin has been and
will continue to be primarily affected by our pricing terms with new and existing developers, as well as the mix of offerings used by our clients. Certain
offerings such as MMX can generate a lower gross margin for us at times than our network business, for example.

        Adjusted EBITDA represents our earnings before interest, income taxes, depreciation and amortization, adjusted to eliminate non-cash stock-based
compensation expense and expenses related to acquisitions, such as costs for services of lawyers, investment bankers, accountants, and other third
parties and acquisition related severance costs, bonuses, retention bonuses and accrual of retention payments that represent contingent compensation to
be recognized as expense over a requisite service period. We do not consider the inclusion of these costs to be indicative of our core operating
performance. Adjusted EBITDA is a key measure used by our management and board of directors to understand and evaluate our core operating
performance and trends, to prepare and approve our annual budget and to develop short- and long-term operational plans. In particular, we believe that
the exclusion of the expenses eliminated in calculating adjusted EBITDA can provide a useful measure for period-to-period comparisons of our core
business. Additionally, adjusted EBITDA is a key financial measure used by the compensation committee of our board of directors in connection with
the development of incentive-based compensation for our executive officers. Accordingly, we believe that adjusted EBITDA provides useful
information to investors and others in understanding and evaluating our operating results in the same manner as our management and board of directors.

        Diluted non-GAAP net income per share is calculated as adjusted EBITDA divided by the diluted weighted average number of shares outstanding
during the period.

        Adjusted EBITDA and diluted non-GAAP net income per share are not measures calculated in accordance with U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles, or GAAP, and should not be considered as an alternative to any measure of financial performance calculated and presented in
accordance with GAAP. In addition, these non-GAAP measures may not be comparable to similarly titled measures of other companies because other
companies may not calculate them in the same manner that we do.

45

  Year Ended December 31,  
  2013  2012  2011  

  
(in thousands, except percentages and

per share amounts)  

Revenue  $ 259,171 $ 177,667 $ 103,678 
Gross margin   40.3% 40.5% 38.7%
Net loss  $ (15,113) $ (5,430) $ (287)
Adjusted EBITDA  $ 8,961 $ 4,543 $ 1,839 
Basic and diluted net loss per share  $ (0.18) $ (0.11) $ (0.32)
Diluted non-GAAP net income per share  $ 0.10 $ 0.07 $ 0.09 
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        These non-GAAP measures have limitations as an analytical tool, and you should not consider them in isolation or as substitutes for analysis of
our financial results as reported under GAAP. Some of these limitations are:

• although depreciation and amortization are non-cash charges, the assets being depreciated and amortized may have to be replaced in the
future, and adjusted EBITDA and diluted non-GAAP net income (loss) per share do not reflect cash capital expenditure requirements for
such replacements or for new capital expenditure requirements; 

• adjusted EBITDA and diluted non-GAAP net income per share do not reflect changes in, or cash requirements for, our working capital
needs; 

• adjusted EBITDA does not reflect the potentially dilutive impact of equity-based compensation; 

• adjusted EBITDA and diluted non-GAAP net income per share do not reflect tax payments that may represent a reduction in cash
available to us; and 

• other companies, including companies in our industry, may calculate adjusted EBITDA or similarly titled measures differently, which
reduces its usefulness as a comparative measure.

        Because of these and other limitations, you should consider adjusted EBITDA and diluted non-GAAP net income per share alongside other
GAAP-based financial performance measures, including various cash flow metrics, net loss and our other GAAP financial results. The following tables
present reconciliations of net loss to adjusted EBITDA for each of the periods indicated:
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  Year Ended December 31,  
  2013  2012  2011  
  (in thousands)  

Net loss  $ (15,113) $ (5,430) $ (287)
Adjustments:           

Interest expense, net   95  64  21 
Income tax (benefit) expense   (47)  70  (486)
Depreciation and amortization expense   5,913  2,365  759 
Acquisition-related costs   8,410  —  — 
Deferred compensation   750  —  — 
Stock-based compensation expense   8,953  7,474  1,832 

        

Total net adjustments   24,074  9,973  2,126 
        

Adjusted EBITDA  $ 8,961 $ 4,543 $ 1,839 
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        The following tables present reconciliations of GAAP net loss per share to diluted non-GAAP net income per share for each of the periods
indicated:

* GAAP diluted net loss per share is the same as GAAP basic net loss per share as the effects of potentially dilutive items were anti-dilutive given
our net loss. These anti-dilutive items are included in the denominator for the calculation of diluted non-GAAP net income per share.

Components of Operating Results

Revenue

        We generate revenue by charging advertisers to deliver ads to users of mobile connected devices. Depending on the specific terms of each
advertising contract, we generally recognize revenue based on the activity of mobile users viewing these ads. Our fees from advertisers are commonly
based on the number of ads delivered, views, clicks or actions by users on mobile advertisements we deliver, and we recognize revenue at the time the
user views, clicks or otherwise acts on the ad. We sell ads on several bases: cost per thousand impressions, or CPM, on which we charge advertisers
for each ad delivered to a consumer; cost per click, or CPC, on which we charge advertisers for each ad clicked on by a user; and cost per action, or
CPA, on which we charge advertisers each time a consumer takes a specified action, such as downloading an app. Our revenue recognition policies are
discussed in more detail in the section below entitled "—Critical Accounting Policies and Significant Judgments and Estimates."

        We classify our advertiser clients as "brand" advertisers or "performance" advertisers, depending on the intent of the advertiser. We believe this
classification is typical in the advertising and media industries. The goal of a brand advertiser, such as a large automobile manufacturer, is primarily to
promote recognition and awareness of its brand among potential consumers and to induce those consumers to purchase a product or service over time.
On the other hand, a performance advertiser, such as a social gaming company, typically seeks to cause a specific action by the viewer of the ad, such as
clicking on the ad to be taken to a mobile website, downloading an app on the viewer's mobile device or registering the viewer's email address in order
to receive further communications from the provider of a product or service.

        Most of our brand advertiser clients, whether based in the United States or internationally, pay us on a CPM basis, as their primary goal is to
maximize the number of ad impressions being viewed, although

47

  Year Ended December 31,  
  2013  2012  2011  

Net loss per share  $ (0.18) $ (0.11) $ (0.32)
Adjustments:           

Impact of difference in denominator due to dilutive shares*   —  —  0.06 
Accretion of dividends on preferred   —  0.02  0.24 
Interest expense, net   0.00  0.00  0.00 
Income tax benefit (expense)   0.00  0.00  (0.02)
Depreciation and amortization expense   0.07  0.04  0.04 
Acquisition-related costs   0.10  —  — 
Deferred compensation   0.01  —  — 
Stock-based compensation expense   0.10  0.12  0.09 

        

Total net adjustments   0.28  0.18  0.41 
        

Diluted non-GAAP net income per share  $ 0.10 $ 0.07 $ 0.09 
        

        

Diluted weighted average common shares outstanding (in
thousands)   87,172  67,215  20,802 
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some brand advertisers may use CPC pricing terms from time to time. On the other hand, U.S. and international performance advertisers generally pay
us on a CPC or CPA basis, in which case we are only paid when a viewer takes the specified action, such as clicking on the ad or downloading an app.

        Historically, brand advertisers have typically represented about 60% of our annual revenues, with performance advertisers generating the
remainder. Factoring in our acquisition of Jumptap in November 2013, our split between brand and performance revenue was approximately 50% brand
and 50% performance for the fourth quarter of 2013. We have not generally experienced meaningful trends in the mix of our annual revenue between
these types of advertisers; however, the composition of revenue from brand and performance advertisers on our platform often changes throughout the
year. For example, we typically see a larger proportion of our revenue derived from brand advertisers in the second and fourth quarters, reflecting what
we believe to be traditional seasonality in the advertising industry due to increased consumer spending going into the summer and winter holiday
seasons. We tend to see the lowest percentage of brand advertising and the highest percentage of performance advertising in the first quarter of the year.
Following these seasonal trends, brand advertising typically represents between one-half and two-thirds of our revenue in any particular quarter. In
addition, based on our historical experience, a higher percentage of our international revenue is derived from performance advertisers than is the
percentage for domestic revenues, although there is a wide variation from country to country, even within a global region, of the mix between
performance and brand advertising in any particular quarter.

        During the year ended December 31, 2013, we experienced a decline in our U.S. performance advertising business and a corresponding increase in
the percentage of our business derived from brand advertisers. This decline was the result of some performance advertisers looking to drive downloads
of their applications by moving their business to competitive platforms, particularly those that enabled them to buy across multiple mobile exchanges.
Jumptap, which we recently acquired, had captured a meaningful portion of this business. After we announced the acquisition of Jumptap on
August 13, 2013, we saw an acceleration of this trend, as some performance advertisers consolidated their spending on Jumptap's buying platform
understanding that, following the closing of the acquisition, Jumptap would be able to purchase advertising through us as needed. This acceleration also
continued in the fourth quarter, and we believe the acquisition will help reverse the trend of slowing growth in our U.S. performance business, and we
expect our annual mix of brand and performance advertising to be about equal going forward.

Cost of Revenue

        Cost of revenue consists primarily of the payments we make to developers for their advertising space on which we deliver mobile ads. These
payments are typically determined in advance as either a percentage of the advertising revenue we earn from mobile ads placed on the developer's app or
as a fixed fee for the ad space or fees paid to win bids for advertising inventory purchased from auction-based marketplace exchanges. We recognize
cost of revenue on a developer-by-developer basis at the same time as we recognize the associated revenue. Costs owed to developers but not yet paid
are recorded on our consolidated balance sheets as accrued cost of revenue. The use of CPM, CPC, or CPA pricing, whether by U.S. or international
advertisers, does not directly affect the gross margin percentage we earn because we pay the same percentage or fixed fee to a developer regardless of
what pricing model generated the revenue for us. The cost of revenue for ads delivered through auction-based exchanges can vary depending on our
ability to purchase inventory at competitive rates to win the auction bid. In addition, the geographic location of our developers is not a factor in
determining the percentage or fixed fee we pay for ad space. We expect that our exchange business may generate a lower gross margin for us than our
network business, as is typical in the industry.

Operating Expenses

        Operating expenses consist of sales and marketing, technology and development and general and administrative expenses. Salaries and personnel
costs are the most significant component of each of these
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expense categories. We expect to continue to hire new employees in order to support our anticipated revenue growth. We include stock-based
compensation expense in connection with the grant of any equity instrument in the applicable operating expense category based on the respective equity
award recipient's function. Additionally, with the closing of the acquisition of Jumptap and our assumption of the Jumptap sales and marketing,
technology and development and general and administrative functions, we saw an immediate increase in our operating expenses beginning in the fourth
quarter of 2013.

        Sales and marketing expense.     Sales and marketing expense consists primarily of salaries and personnel costs for our advertiser-focused sales
and marketing employees, including stock-based compensation, commissions and bonuses. Historically, salaries and personnel costs have been
approximately 70% of total sales and marketing expenses. Additional expenses include marketing programs, consulting, amortization of customer
relationship intangible assets, travel and other related overhead. We expect our sales and marketing expense to increase in the foreseeable future as we
further increase the number of our sales and marketing professionals and expand our marketing activities.

        Technology and development expense.    Technology and development expense primarily consists of salaries and personnel costs for development
employees, including stock-based compensation and bonuses. Historically, salaries and personnel costs have been 75% to 85% of total technology and
development expenses. Technology and development employees are focused on new product and technology development. Additional expenses include
costs related to the development, quality assurance and testing of new technology and enhancement of existing technology, amortization of technology
intangible assets and internally developed software related to our technology infrastructure, consulting, travel and other related overhead. Other general
IT costs are included in general and administrative expenses. We engage third party consulting firms for various technology and development efforts,
such as documentation, quality assurance and support. We intend to continue to invest in our technology and development efforts by hiring additional
development personnel and by using outside consulting firms for various technology and development efforts. We believe continuing to invest in
technology and development efforts is essential to maintaining our competitive position.

        General and administrative expense.    General and administrative expense primarily consists of salaries and personnel costs for product,
operations, developer support, business development, administration, finance and accounting, legal, information systems and human resources
employees, including stock-based compensation and bonuses. Historically, salaries and personnel costs have been approximately 50% to 60% of total
general and administrative expenses. Additional expenses include consulting and professional fees, travel, bad debt expense, insurance and other
corporate expenses. We expect our general and administrative expenses to increase in the foreseeable future to support our continued growth.

Interest and Other Income (Expense)

        Interest expense, net consists primarily of interest expense, offset by interest income. Interest expense consists primarily of interest from capital
leases, amortization of deferred financing costs and commitment fees on loans. We have not borrowed under our existing credit facility to date.

        Prior to our IPO, the fair value of our preferred stock warrant liability was re-measured at the end of each reporting period, and any changes in fair
value were recognized in other income or expense. Upon the closing of our IPO, the preferred stock warrant was, in accordance with its terms,
automatically converted into a warrant to purchase common stock, which resulted in the reclassification of the preferred stock warrant liability to
additional paid-in capital. Upon reclassification, no further changes in fair value will be recognized in other income or expense.

Income Tax Benefit (Expense)

        Income tax expense consists of U.S. federal, state and foreign income taxes. To date, we have not been required to pay U.S. federal income taxes
because of our current and accumulated net operating losses. We incurred minimal state and foreign income tax expense for the years ended
December 31, 2013 and 2012.
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Results of Operations

        The following table sets forth our consolidated statement of operations data, both in dollars and as a percentage of revenue, for each of the periods
indicated.

Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2013 and 2012

        Revenue.    Revenue was $259.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2013 compared to $177.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2012,
an increase of $81.5 million, or 45.9%. 2013 revenue includes revenue from Jumptap of $25.6 million for the period from November 6, 2013 to
December 31, 2013. This growth was primarily attributable to an increase in spending from our existing advertiser clients as well as an increase in the
number of advertiser clients using our platform. Revenue from our existing advertiser clients increased by 52.8% during the year ended December 31,
2013 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2012 and represented 87.3% of our total revenue for the year ended December 31, 2013. The

  Year Ended December 31,      
  2013  2012      
  (in thousands)

 
Period-to-Period

Change
 

   

 

Percentage
of

Revenue

  

 

Percentage
of

Revenue

 

  Amount  Amount  Amount  Percentage  

Consolidated
Statement of
Operations Data:                    
Revenue  $259,171  100.0% $177,667  100.0% $ 81,504  45.9%
Cost of revenue   154,774  59.7  105,739  59.5  49,035  46.4 

               

Gross profit   104,397  40.3  71,928  40.5  32,469  45.1 
Operating

expenses:                    
Sales and

marketing   38,682  14.9  23,816  13.4  14,866  62.4 
Technology and

development   18,966  7.3  13,620  7.7  5,346  39.3 
General and

administrative  61,891  23.9  38,954  21.9  22,937  58.9 
               

Total
operating
expenses   119,539  46.1  76,390  43.0  43,149  56.5 

               

Loss from
operations   (15,142) (5.8)  (4,462) (2.5)  (10,680) 239.3 

Interest and other
expense:                    
Interest

expense, net   (95) 0.0  (64) 0.0  (31) 48.5 
Other income

(expense)   77  0.0  (834) (0.5)  911  (109.3)
               

Total interest
and other
expense   (18) 0.0  (898) (0.5)  880  (98.0)

Loss before
income taxes   (15,160) (5.8)  (5,360) (3.0)  (9,800) 182.8 

Income tax benefit
(expense)   47  0.0  (70) 0.0  117  (167.1)

               

Net loss  $ (15,113) (5.8)%$ (5,430) (3.0)%$ (9,683) 178.3 
               

               



increase in revenue from existing clients was driven by additional campaigns from brand and performance advertisers that had previously advertised
with us, larger campaign sizes and campaigns for new brands owned by existing clients. Revenue from new advertiser clients increased by 8.9% during
the year ended December 31, 2013 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2012 and represented 12.7% of our total revenue for the year ended
December 31, 2013.

        Our revenue from international operations was $62.1 million, or 24.0% of total revenue, for the year ended December 31, 2013 compared to
$26.2 million, or 14.8% of total revenue, for the year ended December 31, 2012. This revenue growth in our international operations was primarily
driven by certain large, international performance clients, though revenue increased across a number of clients globally in 2013.
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        We classify revenue based on the geographic location where the advertising was sold. Performance advertising often is displayed globally.
Therefore, we may sell a campaign to a large performance advertiser in one location, such as Europe, and principally deliver ads for that campaign to
consumers located in the United States. As a result, our revenue from advertising delivered to U.S. consumers was higher than the revenue derived
from advertising sold in the United States in 2013.

        We also substantially increased our overall sales force during the year ended December 31, 2013 compared to the prior year, allowing us to
increase our number of advertising client relationships and the number of developer applications enabled to receive ads delivered through our platform.

        Cost of revenue.    Cost of revenue was $154.8 million, or 59.7% of revenue, for the year ended December 31, 2013, an increase of $49.1 million,
or 46.4%, from $105.7 million, or 59.5% of revenue, for the year ended December 31, 2012. The increase in cost of revenue in absolute dollars was the
direct result of the increase in revenue, as we pay a percentage of that revenue to developers for use of their ad space in delivering mobile ads for our
advertising clients.

        Sales and marketing.    Sales and marketing expense was $38.7 million, or 14.9% of revenue, for the year ended December 31, 2013, an increase
of $14.9 million, or 62.4%, from $23.8 million, or 13.4% of revenue, for the year ended December 31, 2012. The increase in sales and marketing
expense, both in absolute dollars and as a percentage of revenue, was primarily attributable to a $9.8 million increase in salaries and personnel-related
costs associated with an increase in headcount and stock-based compensation expense, as we increased the number of sales and marketing personnel to
support our expanding client base and experienced higher commission costs associated with higher revenue. The number of full-time sales and
marketing employees was 187 at December 31, 2013, which is an increase from 113 at December 31, 2012. As a result of the Jumptap acquisition we
added 40 sales and marketing employees. These employees and corresponding expenses only affected the period from November 6, 2013 to
December 31, 2013. In addition, we experienced a $2.5 million increase in our marketing programs and travel expenses, an additional $509,000 in
depreciation expense related to our property and equipment, an additional $531,000 in amortization expense for acquired intangible assets, an additional
$723,000 in rent expense, $801,000 in severance payments which resulted from the acquisition of Jumptap, and an additional $100,000 in other general
sales and marketing costs to support our growing sales force.

        Technology and development.    Technology and development expense was $19.0 million, or 7.3% of revenue, for the year ended December 31,
2013, an increase of $5.4 million, or 39.3%, from $13.6 million, or 7.7% of revenue, for the year ended December 31, 2012. The increase in technology
and development expense, in absolute dollars, was primarily attributable to a $5.2 million increase in salaries and personnel-related costs associated with
an increase in headcount, partially offset by a decrease in stock compensation expense of $2.1 million primarily associated with a one-time cost recorded
in the prior year related to the departure of certain employees in the technology and development functions and acceleration of unvested stock awards.
The number of full-time technology and development employees was 143 at December 31, 2013, which is an increase from 79 at December 31, 2012.
As a result of the Jumptap acquisition we added 51 technology and development employees. These employees and corresponding expenses only
affected the period from November 6, 2013 to December 31, 2013. In addition, for the year ended December 31, 2013, we incurred $780,000 in
increased depreciation expense related to our property, equipment, and internally developed software, an additional $765,000 in amortization expense
for acquired intangible assets, an additional $107,000 in rent expense, an additional $162,000 in travel related activities, an additional $334,000 in
production server hosting expenses, and $95,000 in severance payments as a result of the acquisition of Jumptap. The decrease in technology and
development expenses as a percentage of revenue for the year ended December 31, 2013 was primarily attributable to our revenue growing faster than
our expenses during 2013, but was also affected by the $2.1 million of higher stock-based compensation expense for our technology and development
employees in the prior year.
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        General and administrative.    General and administrative expense was $61.9 million, or 23.9% of revenue, for the year ended December 31,
2013, an increase of $22.9 million, or 58.9%, from $39.0 million, or 21.9% of revenue, for the year ended December 31, 2012. The increase in general
and administrative expense was primarily attributable to a $9.4 million increase in salaries and personnel-related costs associated with an increase in
headcount and stock compensation expense. In addition, for the year ended December 31, 2013, we incurred $7.6 million of acquisition-related costs
and severance related to the Jumptap and Metaresolver acquisitions, increased professional service fees of $1.3 million, $1.0 million in increased
depreciation and amortization expense related to our property, equipment, and internally developed software, $750,000 of deferred compensation
expense related to our acquisition of Metaresolver, increased rent expense of $475,000, increased information system costs of $272,000, and an
increase of $2.1 million in other general corporate costs necessary to support the overall growth in our business. The number of full-time general and
administrative employees was 270 at December 31, 2013, an increase from 156 at December 31, 2012. As a result of the Jumptap acquisition we added
64 general and administrative employees. These employees and corresponding expenses only affected the period from November 6, 2013 to
December 31, 2013.

        Income tax benefit.     For the year ended December 31, 2013, we recognized an income tax benefit of $47,000 primarily due to investment tax
credits in Singapore, partially offset by minimal state and foreign tax liabilities.

Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2012 and 2011

  Year Ended December 31,      
  2012  2011      
  (in thousands)

 
Period-to-Period

Change
 

   

 

Percentage
of

Revenue

  

 

Percentage
of

Revenue

 

  Amount  Amount  Amount  Percentage  

Consolidated
Statement of
Operations Data:                    
Revenue  $177,667  100.0% $103,678  100.0% $73,989  71.4%
Cost of revenue   105,739  59.5  63,595  61.3  42,144  66.3 

               

Gross profit   71,928  40.5  40,083  38.7  31,845  79.4 
Operating

expenses:                    
Sales and

marketing   23,816  13.4  14,255  13.7  9,561  67.1 
Technology and

development   13,620  7.7  5,181  5.0  8,439  162.9 
General and

administrative  38,954  21.9  21,321  20.6  17,633  82.7 
               

Total
operating
expenses   76,390  43.0  40,757  39.3  35,633  87.4 

               

Loss from
operations   (4,462) (2.5)  (674) (0.6)  (3,788) 562.0 

Interest and other
expense:                    
Interest

expense, net   (64) 0.0  (21) 0.0  (43) 204.8 
Other expense   (834) (0.5)  (78) (0.1)  (756) 969.2 

               

Total other
income
(expense)   (898) (0.5)  (99) (0.1)  (799) 807.1 

Loss before
income taxes   (5,360) (3.0)  (773) (0.7)  (4,587) 593.4 

Income tax
expense   (70) 0.0  486  0.5  (556) (114.4)



        Revenue.    Revenue was $177.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2012 compared to $103.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2011,
an increase of $74.0 million, or 71.4%. This growth was primarily attributable to an increase in the number of advertiser clients using our platform as
well as an increase in spending from our existing advertiser clients. Revenue from our existing advertiser clients
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expense   (70) 0.0  486  0.5  (556) (114.4)
               

Net loss  $ (5,430) (3.0)%$ (287) (0.2)%$ (5,143) 1,792.0 
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increased by 84.4% during the year ended December 31, 2012 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2011 and represented 83.1% of our total
revenue for the year ended December 31, 2012. The increase in revenue from existing clients was driven by additional campaigns from brands that had
previously advertised with us, larger campaign sizes and campaigns for new brands owned by existing clients. Revenue from new advertiser clients
increased by 29.8% during the year ended December 31, 2012 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2011 and represented 16.9% of our total
revenue for the year ended December 31, 2012.

        Our revenue from international operations was $26.2 million, or 14.8% of total revenue, for the year ended December 31, 2012 compared to
$10.3 million, or 10.0% of total revenue, for the year ended December 31, 2011. This revenue growth in our international operations was primarily
attributable to an increase in our international sales force focused on generating revenue principally in Europe and Southeast Asia.

        We also substantially increased our overall sales force during the year ended December 31, 2012 compared to the prior year, allowing us to
increase our number of advertising client relationships and the number of developer applications enabled to receive ads delivered through our platform.

        Cost of revenue.    Cost of revenue was $105.7 million, or 59.5% of revenue, for the year ended December 31, 2012, an increase of $42.1 million,
or 66.1%, from $63.6 million, or 61.3% of revenue, for the year ended December 31, 2011. The increase in cost of revenue was driven primarily by the
need to purchase greater quantities of advertising inventory for use in delivering mobile ads. The decrease in cost of revenue as a percentage of revenue
and corresponding increase in gross margin was primarily the result of more favorable pricing terms with developers, improved optimization of our ad
delivery process, and increased usage of our self-service portal for developers.

        Sales and marketing.    Sales and marketing expense was $23.8 million, or 13.4% of revenue, for the year ended December 31, 2012, an increase
of $9.5 million, or 67.1%, from $14.3 million, or 13.7% of revenue, for the year ended December 31, 2011. The increase in sales and marketing
expense was primarily attributable to a $6.7 million increase in salaries and personnel- related costs, as we increased the number of sales and marketing
personnel to support our expanding client base and experienced higher commission costs associated with higher revenue. The number of full-time sales
and marketing employees was 113 at December 31, 2012, an increase from 69 at December 31, 2011. In addition, we experienced a $1.4 million
increase in our marketing programs and travel expenses. The decrease in sales and marketing expense as a percentage of revenue for the year ended
December 31, 2012 was primarily the result of our growth in revenue and improved efficiencies in our sales organization.

        Technology and development.    Technology and development expense was $13.6 million, or 7.7% of revenue, for the year ended December 31,
2012, an increase of $8.5 million, or 162.9%, from $5.2 million, or 5.0% of revenue, for the year ended December 31, 2011. The increase in technology
and development expense was primarily attributable to a $4.5 million increase in salaries and personnel-related costs associated with an increase in
headcount, as well as an increase in stock compensation expense of $400,000 resulting from a full year of vesting of equity awards made in connection
with the acquisition of Condaptive, Inc., or Condaptive, which closed in May 2011, an additional $1.4 million for accelerating the vesting of restricted
common stock for employees in the technology and development function, and $1.0 million in one-time stock- based compensation expense related to
the vesting of equity awards in connection with the separation of technology and development employees in 2012. The number of full-time technology
and development employees was 79 at December 31, 2012, an increase from 44 at December 31, 2011. Additionally, for the year ended December 31,
2012, we incurred $545,000 in increased amortization expenses related to our internally developed software.

        General and administrative.    General and administrative expense was $39.0 million, or 21.9% of revenue, for the year ended December 31,
2012, an increase of $17.7 million, or 82.7%, from $21.3 million,
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or 20.6% of revenue, for the year ended December 31, 2011. The increase in general and administrative expense was primarily attributable to a
$9.0 million increase in salaries and personnel-related costs associated with an increase in headcount and stock compensation expense. Additionally, for
the year ended December 31, 2012, we incurred increased information system costs of $1.4 million, increased professional fees of $1.5 million,
$1.3 million in increased bad debt expense, $639,000 in increased insurance costs, and an increase of $3.9 million in other general corporate costs
necessary to support the overall growth in our business. The number of full-time general and administrative employees was 156 at December 31, 2012,
an increase from 109 at December 31, 2011. The increase in general and administrative expense as a percentage of revenue for the year ended
December 31, 2012 was also primarily attributable to our increase in headcount.

        Income tax benefit.     For the year ended December 31, 2011, we recognized an income tax benefit of $486,000 due to a change in judgment,
following the Condaptive acquisition in May 2011, about our ability to realize a portion of our deferred tax assets.

Seasonality

        Our revenue tends to be seasonal in nature, with the fourth quarter of each calendar year historically representing the largest percentage of our total
revenue for the year, and the first quarter representing our smallest percentage of total revenue for the year. Many brand advertisers spend the largest
portion of their advertising budgets during the fourth quarter, in preparation for the holiday season.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Sources of Liquidity

        Prior to our IPO, we funded our operations principally through private placements of our capital stock and bank borrowings and raised an
aggregate of $64.8 million from the sale of redeemable convertible preferred stock to third parties.

        In August 2011, we entered into a line of credit with Silicon Valley Bank, or SVB, which allows for borrowings up to $15.0 million. Amounts
borrowed under the line of credit are secured by all of our assets. The loan agreement was amended in October 2013 to extend the maturity date to
May 9, 2014, revise the interest rate payable under the agreement and to make other changes. Advances under the line of credit bear interest at a floating
rate equal to the prime rate published in the Wall Street Journal, with interest payable monthly. The line of credit agreement requires that we maintain a
ratio of cash, cash equivalents and billed accounts receivable to current liabilities of at least 1.25 to 1.00. Additionally, the line of credit agreement
contains an unused line fee of 0.25% per year, calculated based on the average unused portion of the loan, payable monthly. As of December 31, 2013,
we had not yet drawn on this line of credit. As part of the line of credit, we have a maximum of $2.0 million in available letters of credit. As of
December 31, 2013, we were in compliance with all covenants under the loan agreement. As of December 31, 2013, we had $342,000 in standby letters
of credit outstanding against the available balance under the line of credit.

Public Offerings of Common Stock

        On April 3, 2012, we closed our IPO in which we sold 9,873,270 shares of common stock, and received net proceeds of approximately
$115.1 million, after deducting underwriting discounts and offering-related expenses. Upon closing of the IPO, all of the redeemable convertible
preferred stock then outstanding automatically converted into 47,679,003 shares of common stock. In addition, an outstanding warrant to purchase
redeemable convertible preferred stock automatically converted into a warrant to purchase common stock, and our preferred stock warrant liability of
$1.0 million as of April 3, 2012 was reclassified to additional paid-in capital.
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        On October 29, 2012, we closed an offering in which we sold 921,952 shares of common stock and received net proceeds of approximately
$11.9 million, after deducting underwriting discounts and additional offering-related expenses.

Working Capital

        The following table summarizes our cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, working capital and cash flows for the periods indicated:

        Our cash and cash equivalents at December 31, 2013 were held for working capital purposes. We do not enter into investments for trading or
speculative purposes. Our policy is to invest any cash in excess of our immediate requirements in investments designed to preserve the principal balance
and provide liquidity. Accordingly, our cash and cash equivalents are invested primarily in demand deposit accounts, certificates of deposit and money
market funds that are currently providing only a minimal return.

        Of our total cash and cash equivalents, less than 2.0% was held outside of the United States at December 31, 2013 and 2012. Our international
operations consist of selling and marketing functions supported by our U.S. operations, and we are dependent on our U.S. operations for our
international working capital needs. If our cash and cash equivalents held outside of the United States were ever needed for our operations inside the
United States, we would be required to accrue and pay U.S. taxes to repatriate these funds. We currently intend to permanently reinvest these foreign
amounts outside the United States, and our current plans do not demonstrate a need to repatriate the foreign amounts to fund our U.S. operations.

Cash Flows

Operating Activities

        For the year ended December 31, 2013, our net cash used in operating activities of $21.4 million consisted of a net loss of $15.1 million and
$23.0 million of cash used to fund changes in working capital, which was primarily driven by the acquisition of Jumptap, domestic and international
expansion of our operations, and by our investment in technology and development and personnel to facilitate our growth, offset by $16.7 million in
adjustments for non-cash items. Adjustments for non-cash items primarily consisted of non-cash stock compensation expense of $9.0 million,
depreciation and amortization expense of $5.9 million, and bad debt expense of $1.8 million. The increased depreciation and amortization expense
primarily related to increased capital expenditure requirements and our intangible assets resulting from the Metaresolver and Jumptap acquisitions that
closed in 2013. The decrease in cash resulting from changes in working capital primarily consisted of an increase in accounts receivable of
$28.1 million, which was primarily driven by increased revenue during the year as we continued to expand our operations both domestically and
internationally, an increase in prepaid expenses and other current assets of $1.3 million, which was primarily the result of additional deposit
requirements for new office space and future marketing events and memberships, an increase in accounts payable and accrued expenses of $4.7 million,
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As of and For the year Ended

December 31,  
  2013  2012  2011  
  (in thousands)  

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 99,237 $ 137,439 $ 16,707 
Accounts receivable, net of allowances   109,056  59,179  34,986 
Working capital   130,551  154,159  23,954 
Cash provided by (used in):           

Operating activities   (21,419)  (2,537)  (2,758)
Investing activities   (3,112)  (5,260)  (5,588)
Financing activities   (13,528)  128,526  (2,703)
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which was primarily the result of our Jumptap acquisition, and increases in accrued payroll and payroll related expenses of $1.1 million, which was
primarily the result of increases in headcount to support our growing business. These decreases were partially offset by increases in operating cash flow
due to an $11.5 million increase in accrued cost of revenue, driven primarily by an increase in developer-related charges.

        For the year ended December 31, 2012, our net cash used in operating activities of $2.5 million consisted of a net loss of $5.4 million and
$9.3 million of cash used to fund changes in working capital, which was primarily driven both by the domestic and international expansion of our
operations and by our investment in technology and development and personnel to facilitate our growth, offset by $12.3 million in adjustments for non-
cash items. Adjustments for non-cash items primarily consisted of non-cash stock compensation expense of $7.5 million, depreciation and amortization
expense of $2.4 million and non-cash changes in the fair value of a preferred stock warrant liability of $834,000 from January 1, 2012 until its
reclassification to additional paid-in capital on April 3, 2012. The increased depreciation and amortization expense primarily related to increased capital
expenditure requirements and our intangible assets resulting from the Condaptive acquisition that closed in 2011. The decrease in cash resulting from
changes in working capital primarily consisted of an increase in accounts receivable of $25.7 million, which was primarily driven by increased revenue
during the year as we continued to expand our operations both domestically and internationally, and an increase in prepaid expenses and other assets of
$542,000, which was primarily the result of additional deposit requirements for new office space and future marketing events and memberships. These
decreases were partially offset by increases in operating cash flow due to a $16.4 million increase in accounts payable and accrued expenses and accrued
cost of revenue, driven primarily by an increase in developer-related charges, and an $869,000 increase in accrued payroll and payroll-related expenses
resulting from an increase in the number of employees.

        For the year ended December 31, 2011, our net cash used in operating activities of $2.8 million consisted of a net loss of $287,000 and
$5.1 million of cash used to fund changes in working capital, which was primarily driven both by the domestic and international expansion of our
operations and by our investment in technology and development and personnel to facilitate our growth, offset by $2.6 million in adjustments for non-
cash items. Adjustments for non-cash items primarily consisted of non-cash stock compensation expense of $1.8 million, depreciation and amortization
expense of $759,000 and bad debt expense of $345,000, partially offset by $481,000 in deferred income tax benefits. The increased depreciation and
amortization expense primarily related to increased capital expenditure requirements and our intangible assets resulting from the acquisition of a
business. The decrease in cash resulting from changes in working capital primarily consisted of an increase in accounts receivable of $15.4 million,
primarily driven by increased revenue during the year as we continued to expand our operations both domestically and internationally, an increase in
prepaid expenses and other assets of $1.4 million, primarily the result of additional deposit requirements for new office space and future marketing
events and memberships, and a decrease in deferred revenue of $194,000 as a result of fewer clients prepaying for advertising services. These decreases
were partially offset by increases in operating cash flow due to a $9.8 million increase in accounts payable and accrued expenses and accrued cost of
revenue, driven primarily by an increase in developer-related charges, and a $2.0 million increase in accrued payroll and payroll-related expenses
resulting from an increase in the number of employees.

Investing Activities

        For the year ended December 31, 2013, net cash used in investing activities was $3.1 million, consisting of a cash inflow of $2.0 million of cash
acquired, net of cash consideration paid, as part of the Metaresolver and Jumptap acquisitions, offset by a cash outflow of $5.1 million for purchases of
property and equipment.

        For the year ended December 31, 2012, net cash used in investing activities was $5.3 million, consisting of purchases of property and equipment.
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        For the year ended December 31, 2011, net cash used in investing activities was $5.6 million. This amount consisted of $2.1 million of cash
consideration paid, net of cash received, as part of our acquisition of Condaptive and $3.5 million for the purchase of property and equipment.

Financing Activities

        For the year ended December 31, 2013, net cash used in financing activities was $13.5 million, consisting primarily of $14.4 million in cash used
to repay a line of credit and long-term debt acquired in the Jumptap acquisition and cash used for payment of employee withholding taxes related to
restricted stock unit vesting of $518,000. The cash used in financing activities was partially offset by $1.5 million in cash received upon the exercise of
stock options.

        For the year ended December 31, 2012, net cash provided by financing activities was $128.5 million, consisting of $127.0 million in proceeds
from the issuance of common stock in two offerings, net of offering costs and $1.5 million in cash received upon the exercise of stock options.

        For the year ended December 31, 2011, net cash used in financing activities was $2.7 million, consisting of $827,000 used to repurchase common
stock from one of our executive officers and $2.0 million in deferred offering costs and financing fees for our IPO and other financing transactions.
These amounts were partially offset by $166,000 in cash received upon the exercise of stock options.

Operating and Capital Expenditure Requirements

        We believe that our existing cash balances and interest income we earn on these balances will be sufficient to meet our anticipated cash
requirements through at least the next 12 months. During this period, we expect our capital expenditure requirements to be approximately $25 million,
primarily for computer and network equipment, such as servers, switches and laptops and for the expansion of our Baltimore, Maryland headquarters.

Contractual Obligations

        We have non-cancelable contractual obligations for office space and capital leases. The following table discloses aggregate information about
material contractual obligations and periods in which payments were due as of December 31, 2013. Future events could cause actual payments to differ
from these estimates. We also have a line of credit with SVB, as described above, although we have not borrowed under this facility.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

        As of December 31, 2013, we did not have any off-balance sheet arrangements, as defined in Item 303(a)(4)(ii) of SEC Regulation S-K, such as
the use of unconsolidated subsidiaries, structured finance, special purpose entities or variable interest entities.
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  Payment due by period    
Contractual Obligations  2014  2015  2016  2017  2018  Thereafter  Total  
  (in thousands)  

Operating lease
obligations  $ 4,628 $ 6,267 $ 6,359 $ 5,403 $ 5,234 $ 20,506 $ 48,397 

Capital lease
obligations   661  674  326  87  —  —  1,748 

Other liabilities   50  60  70  —  —  —  180 
                

Total  $ 5,339 $ 7,001 $ 6,755 $ 5,490 $ 5,234 $ 20,506 $ 50,325 
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Critical Accounting Policies and Significant Judgments and Estimates

        Our management's discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is based on our consolidated financial statements,
which have been prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. The preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires us to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated
financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reported period. In accordance with U.S. GAAP, we base our
estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ
from these estimates.

        While our significant accounting policies are more fully described in Note 2 to our consolidated financial statements included in Item 8 of this
Annual Report, we believe the following accounting policies are critical to the process of making significant judgments and estimates in the preparation
of our consolidated financial statements.

Revenue Recognition

        We recognize revenue based on the activity of mobile users viewing ads through developer applications and mobile websites. Our revenue is
recognized when our advertising services are delivered based on the specific terms of the advertising contract, which are commonly based on the
number of ads delivered, or views, clicks or actions by users on mobile advertisements. At that time, our services have been provided, the fees charged
are fixed or determinable, persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, and collectability is reasonably assured.

        In the normal course of business, we act as an intermediary in executing transactions with third parties. The determination of whether revenue
should be reported on a gross or net basis is based on an assessment of whether we are acting as the principal or an agent in our transactions with
advertisers. The determination of whether we are acting as a principal or an agent in a transaction involves judgment and is based on an evaluation of the
terms of each arrangement. While none of the factors individually are considered presumptive or determinative, in reaching our conclusions on gross
versus net revenue recognition, we place the most weight on the analysis of whether or not we are the primary obligor in the arrangement. To date, we
have determined that we are the primary obligor in all our advertising arrangements because we are responsible for identifying and contracting with third
party advertisers, establishing the selling prices of the advertisements sold, and performing all billing and collection activities, including retaining credit
risk, and bearing sole responsibility for fulfillment of the advertising. Accordingly, we act as the principal in all of our arrangements and therefore report
revenue earned and costs incurred related to these transactions on a gross basis.

        We record deferred revenue when we receive cash payments from our advertiser clients in advance of when we perform the services under our
arrangements with them.

Accounts Receivable and Allowances for Doubtful Accounts and Sales Credits

        Accounts receivable are stated at realizable value, net of an allowance for doubtful accounts that we maintain for estimated losses expected to result
from the inability of some clients to make payments as they become due. Our estimated allowance is based on our analysis of past due amounts and
ongoing credit evaluations. Historically, our actual collection experience has not varied significantly from our estimates, due primarily to our credit and
collection policies and the financial strength of many of our clients.

        We also estimate an allowance for sales credits based on our historical experience of sales credits as a percentage of revenue. Historically, actual
sales credits have not significantly differed from our estimates.
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However, if our revenue and client base continues to grow, higher than expected sales credits may result in future write-offs that are greater than our
estimates.

Business Combinations

        In business combinations, we determine the acquisition purchase price as the sum of the consideration we provide. When we issue stock-based
awards to an acquired company's selling stockholders or employees, we evaluate whether the awards are purchase consideration or compensation for
post-business combination services. Our evaluation includes, among other things, whether the vesting of the stock-based awards is contingent on the
continued employment of the selling stockholder beyond the acquisition date. If continued employment is required for vesting, the awards are treated as
compensation for post-acquisition services and recognized as future compensation expense over the required service period.

        We allocate the purchase price in a business combination to the identifiable assets and liabilities of the acquired business at their acquisition date
fair values. The excess of the purchase price over the amount allocated to the identifiable assets and liabilities, if any, is recorded as goodwill.

        To date, the assets acquired and liabilities assumed in our business combinations have primarily consisted of acquired working capital and definite-
lived intangible assets. Working capital is recorded at its fair value. We estimate the fair value of definite-lived intangible assets acquired using a
discounted cash flow approach, which includes an analysis of the future cash flows expected to be generated by the asset and the risk associated with
achieving these cash flows. The key assumptions used in the discounted cash flow model include the discount rate that is applied to the forecasted future
cash flows to calculate the present value of those cash flows and the estimate of future cash flows attributable to the acquired intangible asset, which
include revenue, operating expenses and taxes.

Stock-Based Compensation

        We include stock-based compensation as part of operating expenses in connection with the grant or modification of stock options and other equity
awards to our directors, employees and non-employees. We apply the fair value method in accordance with authoritative guidance for determining the
cost of stock-based compensation. The total cost of the grant is measured based on the estimated fair value of the award at the date of grant.
Modifications are measured based on the fair value at the date of modification. The fair value is then recognized as stock-based compensation expense
over the requisite service period, which is the vesting period, of the award. Information about the assumptions used in the calculation of stock-based
compensation expense is set forth in the Stock-Based Compensation footnote to our consolidated financial statements included under Item 8 of this
Annual Report.

Item 7A.    Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

        Market risk is the risk of loss to future earnings, to fair values or to future cash flows that may result from changes in the price of a financial
instrument. The value of a financial instrument may change as a result of changes in interest rates, exchange rates, commodity prices, equity prices and
other market changes. We are exposed to market risk related to changes in foreign currency exchange rates. We do not use derivative financial
instruments for speculative, hedging or trading purposes, although in the future we may enter into exchange rate hedging arrangements to manage the
risks described below.

Interest Rate Sensitivity

        We maintain a short-term investment portfolio consisting mainly of highly liquid short-term money market funds, which we consider to be cash
equivalents. These investments earn interest at variable rates and, as a result, decreases in market interest rates would generally result in decreased
interest income. Any borrowings under our line of credit with SVB are at a variable rate and, as a result, increases in market
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interest rates would generally result in increased interest expense on our outstanding borrowings. During 2013, we did not have any borrowings
outstanding under the line of credit.

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk

        With international operations, we face exposure to adverse movements in foreign currency exchange rates. These exposures may change over time
as business practices evolve and if our exposure increases, adverse movement in foreign currency exchange rates would have a material adverse impact
on our financial results. Historically, our primary exposures have been related to non-U.S. dollar denominated operating expenses in the United
Kingdom, other countries in Europe, and Singapore. As a result, our results of operations would generally be adversely affected by a decline in the
value of the U.S. dollar relative to these foreign currencies. However, based on the size of our international operations and the amount of our expenses
denominated in foreign currencies, we would not expect a 10% decline in the value of the U.S. dollar from rates on December 31, 2013 to have a
material effect on our financial position or results of operations. Substantially all of our sales contracts are currently denominated in U.S. dollars.
Therefore, we have minimal foreign currency exchange risk with respect to our revenue.

Inflation

        We do not believe that inflation has had a material effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations. We continue to monitor the
impact of inflation in order to minimize its effects through pricing strategies, productivity improvements and cost reductions. If our costs were to
become subject to significant inflationary pressures, we may not be able to fully offset such higher costs through price increases. Our inability or failure
to do so could harm our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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Item 8.    Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Millennial Media, Inc. 

INDEX TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of Millennial Media, Inc.:

        We have audited Millennial Media, Inc.'s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2013, based on criteria established in Internal
Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (1992 framework) (the COSO
criteria). Millennial Media, Inc.'s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of
the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting appearing in
Item 9A. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the company's internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

        We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a
material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing
such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

        A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company's
internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are
recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and
expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's assets that could have a
material effect on the financial statements.

        Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the
degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

        As indicated in Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting appearing in Item 9A, management's assessment of and
conclusion on the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting did not include the internal controls of Jumptap, Inc., which is included in the
2013 consolidated financial statements of Millennial Media, Inc. and constituted $214 million and $186 million of total and net assets, respectively, as of
December 31, 2013 and $26 million and $259 thousand of revenues and net loss, respectively, for the year then ended. Our audit of internal control
over financial reporting of Millennial Media, Inc. also did not include an evaluation of the internal control over financial reporting of Jumptap, Inc.

        In our opinion, Millennial Media, Inc. maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2013, based on the COSO criteria.
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        We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated
balance sheets of Millennial Media, Inc. as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, and the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive loss,
stockholders' (deficit) equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2013 of Millennial Media, Inc., and our
report dated March 3, 2014 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Baltimore, Maryland
March 3, 2014
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
Consolidated Financial Statements

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of Millennial Media, Inc.

        We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Millennial Media, Inc. as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, and the related
consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive loss, changes in stockholders' (deficit) equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2013. Our audits also included the financial statement schedule listed in the Index at Item 15(b). These financial statements
and schedule are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and
schedule based on our audits.

        We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An
audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing
the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We
believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

        In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of Millennial
Media, Inc. at December 31, 2013 and 2012, and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2013, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Also, in our opinion, the related financial statement
schedule, when considered in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly in all material respects the information set forth
therein.

        We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), Millennial
Media, Inc.'s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2013, based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (1992 framework) and our report dated March 3, 2014 expressed
an unqualified opinion thereon.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Baltimore, Maryland
March 3, 2014
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Millennial Media, Inc.

Consolidated Balance Sheets

(in thousands, except share and per share data)

  
December 31,

2013  
December 31,

2012  

Assets        
Current assets:        

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 99,237 $ 137,439 
Restricted cash   320  — 
Accounts receivable, net of allowances of $4,773 and $2,673 as of December 31,

2013 and December 31, 2012, respectively   109,056  59,179 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets   4,243  1,966 

      

Total current assets   212,856  198,584 

Long-term assets:        
Property and equipment, net   12,663  6,850 
Restricted cash   515  — 
Goodwill   135,489  1,348 
Intangible assets, net   57,706  913 
Other assets   375  754 

      

Total long-term assets   206,748  9,865 
      

Total assets  $ 419,604 $ 208,449 
      

      

Liabilities and stockholders' equity        
Current liabilities:        

Accounts payable and accrued expenses  $ 7,617 $ 3,788 
Accrued cost of revenue   65,053  34,430 
Accrued payroll and payroll related expenses   8,767  6,038 
Deferred revenue   868  169 

      

Total current liabilities   82,305  44,425 

Other long-term liabilities   1,829  243 
      

Total liabilities   84,134  44,668 

Commitments and contingencies        

Stockholders' equity:        
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value, 5,000,000 shares authorized, no shares issued and

outstanding as of December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012   —  — 
Common stock, $0.001 par value, 250,000,000 shares authorized, 106,314,909 and

79,182,913 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2013 and
December 31, 2012, respectively   106  79 

Additional paid-in capital   400,716  213,823 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss   (196)  (78)
Accumulated deficit   (65,156)  (50,043)

      

Total stockholders' equity   335,470  163,781 
      

Total liabilities and stockholders' equity  $ 419,604 $ 208,449 



   

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Total liabilities and stockholders' equity  $ 419,604 $ 208,449 
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Millennial Media, Inc. 

Consolidated Statements of Operations 

(in thousands, except per share data) 

   

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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  Year Ended December 31,  
  2013  2012  2011  

Revenue  $ 259,171 $ 177,667 $ 103,678 
Cost of revenue   154,774  105,739  63,595 
        

Gross profit   104,397  71,928  40,083 
Operating expenses:           

Sales and marketing   38,682  23,816  14,255 
Technology and development   18,966  13,620  5,181 
General and administrative   61,891  38,954  21,321 

        

Total operating expenses   119,539  76,390  40,757 
        

Loss from operations   (15,142)  (4,462)  (674)
Interest and other income (expense):           

Interest expense, net   (95)  (64)  (21)
Other income (expense)   77  (834)  (78)

        

Total interest and other income (expense)   (18)  (898)  (99)
        

Loss before income taxes   (15,160)  (5,360)  (773)
Income tax benefit (expense)   47  (70)  486 
        

Net loss   (15,113)  (5,430)  (287)
Accretion of dividends on redeemable convertible preferred stock            —  (1,328)  (5,022)

        

Net loss attributable to common stockholders  $ (15,113) $ (6,758) $ (5,309)
        

        

Net loss per share:           
Basic and diluted  $ (0.18) $ (0.11) $ (0.32)

Weighted average common shares outstanding:           
Basic and diluted   84,029  60,951  16,363 

Stock-based compensation expense included above:           
Sales and marketing  $ 877 $ 1,003 $ 130 
Technology and development   1,665  3,768  1,007 
General and administrative   6,411  2,703  695 
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Millennial Media, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss

(in thousands)

   

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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  Year Ended December 31,  
  2013  2012  2011  

Net loss  $ (15,113) $ (5,430) $ (287)
Foreign currency adjustments:           

Intra-entity foreign currency transaction adjustments   (117)  5  (68)
Foreign currency translation adjustments   (1)  (58)  54 

        

Total comprehensive loss  $ (15,231) $ (5,483) $ (301)
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Millennial Media, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders' Equity (Deficit)

(in thousands, except share and per share data)

 

 
 Common Stock

  

 

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Loss

     
 

 

Additional
Paid-In
Capital  

Accumulated
Deficit  

Total
Stockholders'

(Deficit) Equity

 

  Shares  Amount  
Balance, December 31,

2010   16,258,297 $ 1 6 $ — $ (11) $ (40,319) $ (40,314)
Repurchase and

retirement of common
stock   (300,761)  —  —  —  (827)  (827)

Issuance of common
stock in connection
with an acquisition   24,329  —  7 5  —  —  7 5 

Issuance of restricted
common stock in
connection with an
acquisition   1,448,080  1  —  —  —  1 

Exercise of stock
options   581,090  —  166  —  —  166 

Stock-based
compensation expense   —  —  1,832  —  —  1,832 

Accretion of dividends
on redeemable
convertible preferred
stock   —  —  (2,073)  —  (2,949)  (5,022)

Accretion of issuance
costs on redeemable
convertible preferred
stock   —  —  —  —  (31)  (31)

Net loss   —  —  —  —  (287)  (287)
Intra-entity foreign

currency transaction
adjustments                —  —  —  (68)  —  (68)

Foreign currency
translation
adjustments   —  —  —  54  —  54 

              

Balance, December 31,
2011   18,011,035 $ 1 7 $ — $ (25) $ (44,413) $ (44,421)

              

              

 
 Common Stock

  

 

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Loss

     
 

 

Additional
Paid-In
Capital  

Accumulated
Deficit  

Total
Stockholders'

(Deficit) Equity

 

  Shares  Amount  
Balance, December 31,

2011   18,011,035 $ 1 7 $ — $ (25) $ (44,413) $ (44,421)
Conversion of Series B

warrant to common
stock warrant   —  —  1,017  —  —  1,017 

Cashless exercise of
warrant to purchase
common stock   46,760  —  —  —  —  — 

Conversion of
redeemable convertible
preferred stock to
common stock   47,679,003  48  77,955  —  —  78,003 

Issuance of common
stock in connection
with exercises of stock
options and vesting of
restricted stock units,
net of withholdings   2,650,893  3  1,493  —  —  1,496 

Issuance of common
stock from initial



 

   

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

68

public offering, net of
issuance costs   10,795,222  1 1  127,020  —  —  127,031 

Accretion of dividends
on redeemable
convertible preferred
stock   —  —  (1,136)  —  (192)  (1,328)

Accretion of issuance
costs on redeemable
convertible preferred
stock   —  —  —  —  (8)  (8)

Stock-based
compensation expense   —  —  7,474  —  —  7,474 

Net loss   —  —  —  —  (5,430)  (5,430)
Intra-entity foreign

currency transaction
adjustments                —  —  —  5  —  5 

Foreign currency
translation
adjustments   —  —  —  (58)  —  (58)

              

Balance, December 31,
2012   79,182,913 $ 79 $ 213,823 $ (78) $ (50,043) $ 163,781 

              

              

 
 Common Stock

  

 

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Loss

     
 

 

Additional
Paid-In
Capital  

Accumulated
Deficit  

Total
Stockholders'

Equity

 

  Shares  Amount  
Balance, December 31, 2012   79,182,913  79  213,823  (78)  (50,043) $ 163,781 

Issuance of common stock in connection with an
acquisition, net of issuance costs   24,745,470  25  175,270  —  —  175,295 

Issuance of common stock and stock options for
acquisition-related activity   14,134  —  112  —  —  112 

Issuance costs related to public offerings   —  —  (58)  —  —  (58)
Options assumed in connection with an acquisition   —  —  1,672  —  —  1,672 
Issuance of common stock in connection         —          

with exercises of stock options   2,087,492  2  1,462  —  —  1,464 
Issuance of common stock in connection with vesting of

restricted stock units, net of withholdings   284,900  —  (518)  —  —  (518)
Stock-based compensation expense   —  —  8,953  —  —  8,953 
Net loss   —  —  —  —  (15,113)  (15,113)
Intra-

entity foreign currency transaction adjustments                —  —  —  (117)  —  (117)
Foreign currency translation adjustments   —  —  —  (1)  —  (1)

              

Balance, December 31, 2013   106,314,909 $ 106 $ 400,716 $ (196) $ (65,156) $ 335,470 
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Millennial Media, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(in thousands)

  Year Ended December 31,  
  2013  2012  2011  

Cash flows from operating activities           
Net loss  $ (15,113) $ (5,430) $ (287)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash and cash equivalents used in operating

activities:           
Stock-based compensation expense   8,953  7,474  1,832 
Non-cash change in fair value of Series B warrant   —  834  78 
Non-cash acquisition related costs   111  —  — 
Bad debt expense   1,766  1,639  345 
Deferred income taxes   —  —  (481)
Depreciation and amortization   5,913  2,365  759 
Amortization of deferred financing fees   61  28  12 
Unrealized foreign currency (gain) loss   (84)  (98)  38 
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of acquired balances:           

Accounts receivable   (28,117)  (25,733)  (15,379)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets   (1,299)  (542)  (1,027)
Other assets   363  (249)  (399)
Accounts payable and accrued expenses   (4,740)  2,884  1,817 
Accrued cost of revenue   11,455  13,467  7,942 
Accrued payroll and payroll related expenses   (1,096)  869  2,005 
Other long-term liabilities   292  (57)  181 
Deferred revenue   116  12  (194)

        

Net cash and cash equivalents used in operating activities   (21,419)  (2,537)  (2,758)

Cash flows from investing activities           
Net cash from acquisitions   1,968  —  (2,060)
Purchases of property and equipment   (5,080)  (5,260)  (3,528)
        

Net cash and cash equivalents used in investing activities   (3,112)  (5,260)  (5,588)

Cash flows from financing activities           
Repayment of credit line   (4,003)  —  — 
Repayment of long-term debt   (10,353)  —  — 
Repurchase and retirement of common shares   —  —  (827)
Proceeds from issuance of common stock, net of offering costs   —  127,030  — 
Payment of deferred offering costs   —  —  (1,985)
Payment of deferred financing fees   —  —  (57)
Proceeds from exercises of stock options   1,462  1,496  166 
Share issuance costs   (116)  —  — 
Withholding payments for vesting of restricted stock units   (518)  —  — 
        

Net cash and cash equivalents provided by (used in) financing activities   (13,528)  128,526  (2,703)
        

Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents   (143)  3  (47)
        

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents   (38,202)  120,732  (11,096)

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of the period   137,439  16,707  27,803 



   

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

69

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of the period   137,439  16,707  27,803 
        

Cash and cash equivalents, end of the period  $ 99,237 $137,439 $ 16,707 
        

        

Supplemental disclosure of noncash investing and financing activities           
Issuance of common stock and assumption of options in connection with

acquisitions, net of offering costs  $176,967 $ — $ 75 
Accretion of dividends on redeemable convertible preferred stock  $ — $ 1,328 $ 5,022 
Accretion of issuance costs on redeemable convertible preferred stock  $ — $ 8 $ 31 
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Millennial Media, Inc. 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

1. Description of Business

        Millennial Media, Inc. (the "Company") was incorporated in the state of Delaware in May 2006. The Company is engaged in the business of
providing mobile advertising solutions to advertisers and developers. Its technology, tools and services help developers to maximize their advertising
revenue, acquire users and gain insight about their users. The Company offers advertisers significant audience reach, sophisticated targeting capabilities
and the ability to deliver rich and engaging ad experiences to consumers on their mobile connected devices.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Principles of Consolidation

        The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Millennial Media, Inc. and its wholly owned subsidiaries. All intercompany balances
and transactions have been eliminated in the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Use of Estimates

        The preparation of financial statements in conformity with United States generally accepted accounting principles ("U.S. GAAP") requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes.
Actual results could differ from those estimates.

        On an ongoing basis, the Company evaluates its estimates, including those related to the accounts receivable allowances, the useful lives of long-
lived assets and other intangible assets, assumptions used for purposes of determining stock-based compensation, identification of intangibles in
purchase accounting, and income taxes, among others. The Company bases its estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that
it believes to be reasonable, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying value of assets and liabilities as well as
reporting revenue and expenses during the periods presented.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

        Cash and cash equivalents consist of checking accounts and a money market account. The Company considers all highly liquid investments with
original maturities of three months or less at the time of purchase to be cash equivalents. The Company maintains cash balances in financial institutions
in amounts greater than federally insured limits.

Restricted Cash

        Restricted cash as of December 31, 2013 consists of cash required to be deposited with financial institutions for letters of credit for the Company's
Massachusetts and New York office lease agreements and as collateral for the Company's credit card accounts.

Revenue Recognition and Deferred Revenue

        The Company recognizes revenue based on the activity of mobile users viewing advertisements through developer applications and mobile
websites. Revenues are recognized when the related advertising services are delivered based on the specific terms of the advertising contract, which are
commonly based on the number of ads delivered, or views, clicks or actions by users on mobile advertisements. The
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Millennial Media, Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Company recognizes revenue based on these terms because the services have been provided, the fees the Company charges are fixed or determinable,
persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, and collectability is reasonably assured.

        In the normal course of business, the Company acts as an intermediary in executing transactions with third parties. The determination of whether
revenue should be reported on a gross or net basis is based on an assessment of whether the Company is acting as the principal or an agent in the
transaction. In determining whether the Company acts as the principal or an agent, the Company follows the accounting guidance for principal-agent
considerations. While none of the factors identified in this guidance is individually considered presumptive or determinative, because the Company is
the primary obligor and is responsible for (i) identifying and contracting with third party advertisers, (ii) establishing the selling prices of the
advertisements sold, (iii) performing all billing and collection activities including retaining credit risk and (iv) bearing sole responsibility for fulfillment
of the advertising, the Company acts as the principal in these arrangements and therefore reports revenue earned and costs incurred on a gross basis.

        Deferred revenue arises as a result of differences between the timing of revenue recognition and receipt of cash from the Company's customers. As
of December 31, 2013 and 2012, there was $868,000 and $169,000, respectively, of services for which cash payments were received in advance of the
Company's performance of the service under the arrangement and recorded as deferred revenue in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Cost of Revenue

        Cost of revenue consists primarily of amounts due to developers for the advertising inventory utilized in running mobile advertisements. These
amounts are typically either a percentage of the advertising revenue earned by the Company based on mobile advertisements that are run on each
developer's application or a fixed fee for the ad space or fees paid to win bids for advertising inventory purchased from auction-based marketplace
exchanges. The Company recognizes the cost of revenue as the associated revenue is recognized, on a developer by developer basis during the period
the advertisements run on the developer's advertising application or mobile website. Costs owed to developers but not yet paid are recorded as accrued
cost of revenue. The cost of revenue for ads delivered through auction-based exchanges can vary depending on the Company's ability to purchase
inventory at competitive rates to win the auction bid.

Fair Value Measurements

        The carrying amounts of certain of the Company's financial instruments, including cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts
payable and accrued expenses, approximate their respective fair values due to their short-term nature.

        The Company uses a three-tier fair value hierarchy to classify and disclose all assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis, as
well as assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis, in periods subsequent to their initial measurement. The hierarchy requires
the Company to use observable inputs when available, and to minimize the use of unobservable inputs when determining fair value. The three tiers are
defined as follows:

• Level 1.  Observable inputs based on unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

• Level 2.  Inputs, other than quoted prices in active markets, that are observable either directly or indirectly; and 

• Level 3.  Unobservable inputs for which there is little or no market data, which require the Company to develop its own assumptions.

Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis

        The Company evaluates its financial assets and liabilities subject to fair value measurements on a recurring basis to determine the appropriate level
to classify them for each reporting period. This determination requires significant judgments to be made. The following table summarizes the
conclusions reached as of December 31, 2013 and 2012 (in thousands):

 

Concentration of Credit Risk

        Financial instruments that subject the Company to significant concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents and
accounts receivable. All of the Company's cash and cash equivalents are held at financial institutions that the Company believes to be of high credit
quality. The Company's cash and cash equivalent accounts exceed federally insured limits at times. The Company has not experienced any losses on
cash and cash equivalents to date. To manage accounts receivable risk, the Company evaluates the creditworthiness of its customers and maintains an
allowance for doubtful accounts.

        During the year ended December 31, 2013 no customers accounted for more than 10% of revenue and one customer accounted for greater than
10% of outstanding receivables at year end. During the year ended December 31, 2012 no customers accounted for more than 10% of revenue or
greater than 10% of outstanding receivables at year end.
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Balance at

December 31, 2013  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  

Assets:              
Money market funds(1)  $ 68,437 $ 68,437 $ — $ — 
          

 $ 68,437 $ 68,437 $ — $ — 
          

          

  
Balance at

December 31, 2012  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  

Assets:              
Money market funds(1)  $ 108,419 $ 108,419 $ — $ — 
          

 $ 108,419 $ 108,419 $ — $ — 
          

          

(1) Money market funds are classified as cash equivalents in the Company's consolidated balance sheets. As short-term,
highly liquid investments readily convertible to known amounts of cash, with remaining maturities of three months or less
at the time of purchase, the Company's cash equivalent money market funds have carrying values that approximate fair
value. Amounts do not include $30.8 million and $29.0 million of operating cash balances as of December 31, 2013 and
December 31, 2012, respectively.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts and Sales Credits

        The Company extends credit to customers without requiring collateral. Accounts receivable are stated at realizable value, net of an allowance for
doubtful accounts. The Company utilizes the allowance method to provide for doubtful accounts based on the Company's evaluation of the collectability
of amounts due. The Company's estimate is based on historical collection experience and a review of the current status of accounts receivable.
Historically, actual write-offs for uncollectible accounts have not significantly differed from the Company's estimates. However, higher than expected
bad debts may result in future write-offs that are greater than the Company's estimates.

        The Company also estimates an allowance for sales credits based on the Company's historical sales credits experience. Historically, actual sales
credits have not significantly differed from the Company's estimates. However, higher than expected sales credits may result in future write-offs that are
greater than the Company's estimates. The allowances for doubtful accounts and sales credits are included in accounts receivable, net in the consolidated
balance sheets.

Property and Equipment

        Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Expenditures for major additions and improvements are capitalized. Depreciation and amortization is
provided over the estimated useful lives of the related assets using the straight-line method.

        The estimated useful lives for significant property and equipment categories are as follows:

        Repairs and maintenance costs are charged to expense as incurred.

Internally Developed Software

        The Company capitalizes certain internal and external software development costs, consisting primarily of direct labor associated with creating the
internally developed software. Software development projects generally include three stages: the preliminary project stage (all costs expensed as
incurred), the application development stage (costs are capitalized) and the post-implementation/ operation stage (all costs expensed as incurred). The
costs capitalized in the application development stage primarily include the costs of designing the application, coding and testing of the system.
Capitalized costs are amortized using the straight-line method over the estimated useful life of the software once it is ready for its intended use. The
Company believes the straight-line recognition method best approximates the manner in which the expected benefit will be derived. Capitalized software
development costs of $3.5 million and $3.0 million have been included in property and equipment in the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31,
2013 and 2012, respectively. Amortization expense for the related capitalized internally developed software for the years ended December 31, 2013,
2012, and 2011 totaled $1.0 million, $723,000,
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Office furniture and fixtures  3 - 7 years
Computer equipment  3 years
Purchased software  3 years
Internally developed software  3 years
Leasehold improvements  Lesser of remaining lease term or useful

life
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

and $79,000, respectively, and is included in technology and development and general and administrative expenses in the accompanying consolidated
statements of operations.

Business Combinations

        In business combinations, the Company determines the acquisition purchase price as the sum of the consideration provided. When stock-based
awards are issued to an acquired company's selling stockholders or employees, the Company evaluates whether the awards are purchase consideration
or compensation for post-business combination services. This evaluation includes, among other things, whether the vesting of the stock-based awards is
contingent on the continued employment of the selling stockholder beyond the acquisition date. If continued employment is required for vesting, the
awards are treated as compensation for post-acquisition services and recognized as future compensation expense over the required service period.

        The Company allocates the purchase price in a business combination to the identifiable assets and liabilities of the acquired business at their
acquisition date fair values. The excess of the purchase price over the amount allocated to the identifiable assets and liabilities, if any, is recorded as
goodwill.

        To date, the assets acquired and liabilities assumed in business combinations have primarily consisted of acquired working capital and definite-
lived intangible assets. Working capital is recorded at its fair value. The Company estimates the fair value of definite-lived intangible assets acquired
using a discounted cash flow approach, which includes an analysis of the future cash flows expected to be generated by the asset and the risk associated
with achieving these cash flows. The key assumptions used in the discounted cash flow model include the discount rate that is applied to the forecasted
future cash flows to calculate the present value of those cash flows and the estimate of future cash flows attributable to the acquired intangible asset,
which include revenue, operating expenses and taxes.

Goodwill

        Goodwill represents the excess of: (a) the aggregate of the fair value of consideration transferred in a business combination, over (b) the fair value
of assets acquired, net of liabilities assumed. Goodwill is not amortized, but is subject to an annual impairment test. The Company tests goodwill for
impairment annually on October 1st or more frequently if events or changes in business circumstances indicate the asset might be impaired. Goodwill is
tested for impairment at the reporting unit level using a two-step approach. The first step is to compare the fair value of the reporting unit to the carrying
value of the net assets assigned to the reporting unit. If the fair value of the reporting unit is greater than the carrying value of the net assets assigned to
the reporting unit, the assigned goodwill is not considered impaired. If the fair value is less than the reporting unit's carrying value, step two is
performed to measure the amount of the impairment, if any. In the second step, the fair value of goodwill is determined by deducting the fair value of the
reporting unit's identifiable assets and liabilities from the fair value of the reporting unit as a whole, as if the reporting unit had just been acquired and the
fair value was being initially allocated. If the carrying value of goodwill exceeds the implied fair value, an impairment charge would be recorded in the
period the determination is made.

        As of its impairment assessment date, the Company determined that it had a single, entity-wide reporting unit. Since becoming a public company,
the Company uses market capitalization to determine the fair value of the Company's entity-wide reporting unit. As a result of the Company's annual
impairment testing as of October 1, 2013, goodwill was not considered impaired.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Identifiable Intangible Assets

        The Company acquired fixed life intangible assets in connection with its business acquisitions. These assets were recorded at their estimated fair
values at the acquisition date and are being amortized over their respective estimated useful lives using the straight-line method.

        The estimated useful lives used in computing amortization are as follows:

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

        The Company reviews long-lived assets and certain identifiable intangible assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Recoverability of the long-lived asset is measured by a comparison of the carrying
amount of the asset or asset group to future undiscounted net cash flows expected to be generated by the asset or asset group. If such assets are not
recoverable, the impairment to be recognized, if any, is measured by the amount by which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the estimated fair
value of the assets or asset group. As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, the Company did not believe any long-lived assets were impaired.

Income Taxes

        Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method of accounting. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future
tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax
bases, as well as for operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to
apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and
liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in the results of operations in the period that includes the enactment date. The measurement of a deferred
tax asset is reduced, if necessary, by a valuation allowance if it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax asset will not be
realized. Any excess tax benefit above amounts previously recorded for stock-based compensation expense is recorded in additional paid-in-capital in
the consolidated balance sheets to the extent that cash taxes payable are reduced. The Company uses the with-and-without approach when determining
when excess tax benefits have been realized.

        The Company accounts for uncertain tax positions by recognizing the financial statement effects of a tax position only when, based on the technical
merits of the position, it is more likely than not that the position will be sustained upon examination by the taxing authorities.

        The Company has a policy to recognize interest and penalties accrued on any uncertain tax positions as a component of income tax expense.

Advertising Costs

        The Company expenses advertising costs as incurred. Advertising costs totaled $168,000, $76,000, and $184,000 for the years ended
December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011, respectively. Advertising costs are included within sales and marketing expenses on the consolidated statements
of operations.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Technology and Development

        Technology and development expense primarily consists of salaries and payroll-related costs for development employees, including stock-based
compensation and bonuses. Additional expenses include costs related to the development, quality assurance and testing of new technology and
enhancement of existing technology, amortization of internally developed software related to the Company's technology infrastructure, consulting, travel
and other related overhead.

        Technology and development costs are expensed as incurred, except for certain costs relating to internally developed software, which are
capitalized and amortized on a straight-line basis over three years once the asset is placed in service.

Foreign Operations and Currency

        The consolidated financial statements include the results of the Company's wholly owned subsidiaries whose books and records are maintained in
a functional currency other than the U.S. Dollar. Foreign currency transaction losses totaled $194,000, $7,000 and $20,000 for the years ended
December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011, respectively.

Stock-Based Compensation

        The Company accounts for stock-based payment awards for employees by measuring services received in exchange for all equity awards granted
based on the fair value of the award as of the grant date. The Company recognizes stock-based compensation expense on a straight-line basis over the
awards' vesting period, adjusted for estimated forfeitures. The Company accounts for stock-based payment awards for non-employees by measuring
services received in exchange for all equity awards granted based on the fair value of the award as of the grant date. Fair value is remeasured each
reporting period. The Company recognizes non-employee stock-based compensation expense on a straight-line basis over the awards' vesting period,
adjusted for estimated forfeitures.

        The Company uses the Black-Scholes option pricing model for estimating the fair value of stock options. The use of the option valuation model
requires the input of highly subjective assumptions, including the fair value of the Company's common stock, the expected life, and the expected stock
price volatility based on peer companies, as there is not enough historical price data for the Company's common stock. Additionally, the recognition of
expense requires the estimation of the number of options that will ultimately vest and the number of options that will ultimately be forfeited.

Basic and Dilutive Loss per Common Share

        The Company uses the two-class method to compute net loss per common share because the Company has issued securities, other than common
stock, that contractually entitle the holders to participate in dividends and earnings of the Company. The two-class method requires earnings for the
period to be allocated between common stock and participating securities based upon their respective rights to receive distributed and undistributed
earnings. Holders of each series of the Company's redeemable convertible preferred stock (prior to the conversion to common stock) and the restricted
common stock issued in the May 2011 acquisition of Condaptive, Inc. ("Condaptive") are entitled to participate in distributions, when and if declared by
the board of directors, that are made to common stockholders, and as a result are considered participating securities.
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        Under the two-class method, for periods with net income, basic net income per common share is computed by dividing the net income attributable
to common stockholders by the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding during the period. Net income attributable to common
stockholders is computed by subtracting from net income the portion of current year earnings that the participating securities would have been entitled to
receive pursuant to their dividend rights had all of the year's earnings been distributed. No such adjustment to earnings is made during periods with a net
loss, as the holders of the participating securities have no obligation to fund losses. Diluted net loss per common share is computed under the two-class
method by using the weighted-average number of shares of common stock outstanding, plus, for periods with net income attributable to common
stockholders, the potential dilutive effects of stock options and warrants. In addition, the Company analyzes the potential dilutive effect of the
outstanding participating securities under the "if-converted" method when calculating diluted earnings per share, in which it is assumed that the
outstanding participating securities convert into common stock at the beginning of the period. The Company reports the more dilutive of the approaches
(two class or "if-converted") as its diluted net income per share during the period. Due to net losses for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, and
2011, basic and diluted loss per share were the same, as the effect of potentially dilutive securities would have been antidilutive.

3. Acquisitions

Metaresolver

        On April 1, 2013, the Company completed the acquisition of all of the outstanding stock of Metaresolver, Inc. ("Metaresolver"), a technology and
data company focused on analyzing volumes of data from real-time bidding exchanges to help brands and agencies optimize their buy and deliver more
relevant promotions. The cash consideration for the acquisition of Metaresolver was $13.7 million, of which $2.0 million represents potential deferred
cash payments to certain of the Metaresolver founders. The deferred cash payments are subject to varying service requirements over a two-year period
following the closing of the acquisition, are contingent on the Metaresolver founders' continued service with the Company and will be recognized as
compensation expense on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period. For tax purposes, the $2.0 million was included in the purchase price.

        The Metaresolver acquisition was accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting. The consolidated financial statements of the Company
for the year ended December 31, 2013 include the financial position and results of operations of Metaresolver from the acquisition date of April 1,
2013.

        The developed technology intangible asset acquired is being amortized over its estimated useful life of ten years. Amortization expense was
$153,000 for the year ended December 31, 2013 and is included in general and administrative expenses on the accompanying consolidated statements of
operations. Goodwill recognized from the transaction results from expected synergies and the acquired workforce. The Metaresolver acquisition was
accounted for as a stock acquisition and, as such, none of the goodwill is deductible for tax purposes.

        The Company recognized $481,000 of acquisition-related costs for the year ended December 31, 2013, which is included in general and
administrative expenses on the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.
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3. Acquisitions (Continued)

Jumptap

        On November 6, 2013, the Company completed its acquisition of all of the outstanding stock of Jumptap, Inc. ("Jumptap"). Jumptap is a
technology and data company focused on analyzing volumes of data from real-time bidding exchanges to help brands and agencies optimize and deliver
more relevant advertising.

        The acquisition date fair value of the consideration transferred to the former Jumptap securityholders was approximately $186.7 million, which
consisted of the following:

        The value of the share consideration for the Company's common stock was based on the closing price of $7.09 on the closing date of the
acquisition. The fair value of the stock options assumed by the Company was determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model.

        The Jumptap acquisition was accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting. The consolidated financial statements of the Company as
of and for the year ended December 31, 2013 include the financial position and results of operations of Jumptap from the acquisition date of
November 6, 2013.

        The fair value estimates for Jumptap's assets and liabilities are based on, but not limited to, expected future revenue and cash flows, expected future
growth rates, and estimated discount rates. The intangible assets acquired will be amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated remaining useful
lives of 7 and 6 years for the technology and customer relationships assets, respectively. Goodwill represents the future economic benefits expected to
arise from other intangible assets acquired that do not qualify for separate recognition, including acquired workforce, as well as expected future
synergies. The estimated fair values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed are considered preliminary and are based on the information that was
available as of the date of this report. Thus, the provisional measurements of fair value are subject to change due to settlement of working capital. The
Company expects to finalize the valuation as soon as practicable, but not later than one year from the acquisition date. The Jumptap acquisition was
accounted for as a stock acquisition and, as such, none of the goodwill is deductible for tax purposes.

        In November 2013, subsequent to the closing of the acquisition of Jumptap, the Company paid the remaining balance of the outstanding long term
debt assumed in the acquisition of $14.4 million.

        The Company recognized $7.9 million of acquisition-related costs for the year ended December 31, 2013, which is included in general and
administrative expenses on the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.
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Fair value of consideration transferred (in thousands, except share data)     
Cash  $ 9,484 
Common stock (24,745,470 shares)   175,445 
Fair value of stock options assumed (861,311 options)   1,672 
Effective settlement of pre-existing relationship   84 

    

Total  $ 186,685 
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        The following table summarizes the estimated fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of the date of acquisition (in thousands)
for the Jumptap and Metaresolver acquisitions:

        The following unaudited pro forma financial information presents the Company's consolidated financial information assuming the acquisitions of
Jumptap and Metaresolver had taken place on January 1, 2012. These amounts are presented in accordance with U.S. GAAP, consistent with the
Company's accounting policies.

  Jumptap  Metaresolver  

Restricted cash  $ 320 $ — 
Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $1,062   23,410  118 
Prepaids and other assets   1,332  22 
Restricted cash—long term   514  — 
Property and equipment   4,851  47 
Customer relationships   21,290  — 
Technology   35,170  2,048 
Other assets   —  5 
Goodwill   124,335  9,806 
      

Total assets acquired   211,222  12,046 
      

Accounts payable and accrued expenses   11,363  221 
Accrued cost of revenue   19,167  — 
Deferred revenue   530  — 
Capital lease—current   566  — 
Other current liabilities   —  149 
Long-term debt   14,355  — 
Capital lease—long-term   1,205  — 
Other long-term liabilities   478  — 
      

Total liabilities acquired assumed   47,664  370 
      

Purchase consideration  $ 163,558 $ 11,676 
      

      

Cash acquired  $ 23,127 $ 110 

  
Year Ended

December 31,  
  2013  2012  

Revenue(1)  $ 341,943 $ 241,670 
Net loss attributable to common stockholders(1)(2)   (22,845)  (29,593)

(1) Portions of Metaresolver's and Jumptap's operations were fully integrated within the Company's operations as of the
acquisition date; therefore, the Company is unable to determine the revenue and earnings amounts separately attributable
to Metaresolver and the earnings amount separately attributable to Jumptap subsequent to each acquisition date. Revenue
subsequent to the acquisition date separately attributable to Jumptap is approximately $25.6 million. 

(2) Pro forma net loss attributable to common stockholders for the year ended December 31, 2012 reflects the impact of
certain expenses included in the Consolidated Statement of Operations for the year ended December 31, 2013, but
excluded from the calculation of pro forma net loss attributable to common stockholders for that year. These expenses
include acquisition-related costs of $8.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2013.
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4. Property and Equipment

        Property and equipment consisted of the following as of December 31 (in thousands):

        Depreciation and amortization expense of property and equipment for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011 was $3.2 million,
$2.1 million, and $580,000, respectively. Depreciation and amortization expense of internally developed software for the years ended December 31,
2013, 2012, and 2011 was $1.0 million, $723,000, and $79,000, respectively. The unamortized balance of internally developed software as of
December 31, 2013 and 2012 was $1.7 million and $2.2 million, respectively.

5. Goodwill and Intangible Assets

        The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 were as follows (in thousands):

        Information regarding the Company's acquisition-related intangible assets is as follows (in thousands):
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  2013  2012  

Office furniture and fixtures  $ 1,147 $ 514 
Leasehold improvements   3,201  1,129 
Internally developed software   3,458  2,980 
Computer software   1,575  1,178 
Computer equipment   10,438  4,030 
      

  19,819  9,831 
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization   (7,156)  (2,981)
      

Property and equipment, net  $ 12,663 $ 6,850 
      

      

Balance as of January 1, 2012  $ 1,348 
Goodwill attributable to acquisitions   — 
    

Balance as of December 31, 2012   1,348 
Goodwill attributable to acquisitions   134,141 
    

Balance as of December 31, 2013  $ 135,489 
    

    

  As of December 31, 2013  

  

Gross
Carrying
Amount  

Accumulated
Amortization  

Net
Carrying
Amount  

Weighted-Average
Remaining
Useful Life
(in years)  

Intellectual property  $ 72 $ 28 $ 44  6.2 
Customer relationships   21,290  531  20,759  5.9 
Technology   38,510  1,607  36,903  6.9 
           

Total  $ 59,872 $ 2,166 $ 57,706  6.6 
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        Amortization expense of acquisition-related intangible assets for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011 was $1.7 million, $266,000,
and $179,000, respectively. As of December 31, 2013, expected amortization expense for acquisition-related intangible assets for each of the next five
years and thereafter was as follows (in thousands):

6. Commitments and Contingencies

Operating Lease Commitments

        The Company leases office space under non-cancelable operating lease agreements which may include renewal options. Future minimum lease
payments under these operating leases consisted of the following as of December 31, 2013 (in thousands):

        Rent expense for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011 totaled $3.3 million, $2.0 million, and $927,000, respectively.

        Future minimum lease payments due under the non-cancelable operating lease arrangements contain fixed rent increases over the term of the lease.
Rent expense on these operating leases is recognized over the term of the lease on a straight-line basis. The excess of rent expense over future minimum
lease payments due has been reported as a deferred rent liability within other long term liabilities in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.
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  As of December 31, 2012  

  

Gross
Carrying
Amount  

Accumulated
Amortization  

Net
Carrying
Amount  

Weighted-Average
Remaining
Useful Life
(in years)  

Intellectual property  $ 72 $ 20 $ 52  7.2 
Technology   1,292  431  861  3.3 
           

Total  $ 1,364 $ 451 $ 913  3.5 
           

           

2014  $ 9,056 
2015   9,043 
2016   8,871 
2017   8,785 
2018   8,785 
Thereafter   13,166 
    

 $ 57,706 
    

    

2014  $ 4,628 
2015   6,267 
2016   6,359 
2017   5,403 
2018   5,234 
Thereafter   20,506 
    

 $ 48,397 
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6. Commitments and Contingencies (Continued)

Legal Contingencies

        During the normal course of our business, the Company is occasionally involved with various claims and litigation. Reserves are established in
connection with such matters when a loss is probable and the amount of such loss can be reasonably estimated. The determination of probability and the
estimation of the actual amount of any such loss are inherently unpredictable, and it is therefore possible that the eventual outcome of such claims and
litigation could exceed the estimated reserves. Based upon the Company's experience, current information and applicable law, it does not believe it is
reasonably possible that any proceedings and claims will have a material effect on its financial statements.

7. Debt and Capital Leases

Line of Credit

        In August 2011, the Company entered into a line of credit with Silicon Valley Bank ("SVB"), which allows for borrowings up to $15.0 million.
Amounts borrowed under the line of credit are secured by substantially all of the Company's assets. The loan agreement was amended in October 2013.
Advances under the line of credit bear interest at a floating rate equal to the prime rate published in the Wall Street Journal, with interest payable
monthly. The line of credit agreement requires that the Company maintain a ratio of cash, cash equivalents and billed accounts receivable to current
liabilities of at least 1.25 to 1.00. Additionally, the line of credit agreement contains an unused line fee of 0.25% per year, calculated based on the
average unused portion of the loan, payable monthly. The line of credit is scheduled to mature on May 9, 2014. As of December 31, 2013, the
Company had not yet drawn on this line of credit. As part of the line of credit, the Company has a maximum of $2.0 million in available letters of credit.
As of December 31, 2013, the Company has $342,000 in standby letters of credit outstanding against the available balance under the line of credit.

Capital Leases

        As part of the acquisition of Jumptap, the Company acquired capital lease agreements with financing companies for computer equipment. The
terms of the capital leases are between 3 - 4 years with interest rates ranging between 3.5% and 3.75%. As of December 31, 2013, these leases had a
gross asset balance of $1.7 million and accumulated depreciation of $102,000. Depreciation expense for the year ended December 31, 2013 was
$102,000.

        The future minimum payments under the capital leases as of December 31, 2013 are as follows:
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2014  $ 661 
2015   674 
2016   326 
2017   87 
    

 $ 1,748 
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8. Stock-Based Compensation

2006 Equity Incentive Plan

        The Company's Board of Directors adopted, and the holders of common stock approved, the 2006 Equity Incentive Plan (the "2006 Plan") in July
2006. The 2006 Plan was amended by the Company's Board of Directors and approved by the holders of common stock in December 2010. The
Company's 2006 Plan provides for the grant of incentive stock options to the Company's employees and affiliates' employees, and for the grant of non-
statutory stock options, stock bonuses and restricted stock awards to the Company's employees, directors and consultants.

        As of December 31, 2013, options to purchase 2,737,582 shares of the Company's common stock were outstanding under the 2006 Plan at a
weighted average exercise price of $1.91 per share. Effective upon the Company's initial public offering, no further stock awards could be granted under
the Company's 2006 Plan, but all outstanding stock awards will continue to be governed by their existing terms.

2012 Equity Incentive Plan

        In March 2012, the Company's Board of Directors and the holders of common stock approved the 2012 Equity Incentive Plan (the "2012 Plan"),
which became effective on March 28, 2012 upon the pricing of the Company's initial public offering. The 2012 Plan provides for the grant of incentive
stock options within the meaning of Section 422 of the Internal Revenue Code (the "Code") to the Company's employees and parent and subsidiary
corporations' employees, and for the grant of non-statutory stock options, restricted stock awards, restricted stock unit ("RSU") awards, stock
appreciation rights, performance stock awards and other forms of stock compensation to the Company's employees, including officers, consultants and
directors. The 2012 Plan also provides for the grant of performance cash awards to employees, consultants and directors.

        Authorized Shares.    The maximum number of shares of the Company's common stock that may be issued under the 2012 Plan was initially
3,250,000 shares, which was increased on January 1, 2013 to 6,258,951 shares. As of December 31, 2013, the Company had granted options to
purchase an aggregate of 4,332,250 shares of common stock and RSU awards covering 1,590,655 shares under the 2012 Plan. Stock options and RSU
awards to purchase 352,872 shares previously granted had been forfeited, and 688,918 shares remained available for future grant as of December 31,
2013. The number of shares of the Company's common stock reserved for issuance under the 2012 Plan will increase on January 1 of each year, for a
period of ten years, from January 1, 2013 continuing through January 1, 2022, by the lesser of 3.8% of the total number of shares of the Company's
common stock outstanding on December 31 of the preceding calendar year, or a lesser number of shares determined by the Company's Board of
Directors prior to December 31 of the year immediately preceding the increase. Accordingly, on January 1, 2014 the number of shares of the
Company's common stock reserved for issuance under the 2012 Plan increased by 4,039,967 shares.

        Shares issued under the 2012 Plan may be authorized but unissued or reacquired shares of the Company's common stock. Shares subject to stock
awards granted under the 2012 Plan that expire or terminate without being exercised in full, or that are paid out in cash rather than in shares, will not
reduce the number of shares available for issuance under the 2012 Plan. Additionally, shares issued pursuant to stock awards under the 2012 Plan that
the Company repurchases or that are forfeited, as well as shares reacquired by the Company as consideration for the exercise or purchase price of a
stock award or to satisfy tax withholding obligations related to a stock award, will become available for future grant under
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the 2012 Plan. As of December 31, 2013, options to purchase 4,094,410 shares of the Company's common stock were outstanding under the 2012 Plan
at a weighted average exercise price of $7.57.

The Jumptap, Inc. Amended and Restated 2005 Stock Option and Grant Plan

        In March 2005, Jumptap's Board of Directors and the holders of common stock approved the Jumptap, Inc. 2005 Stock Option Plan (the "Jumptap
Plan"). As part of the acquisition of Jumptap, the Company assumed options that were outstanding under the Jumptap Plan and converted them into
options to purchase an aggregate of 861,311shares of the Company's common stock. 24,630 options previously granted have been forfeited and 3,576
options have been exercised as of December 31, 2013. As of December 31, 2013, options to purchase 833,105 shares of the Company's common stock
were outstanding under the Jumptap Plan at a weighted average exercise price of $5.13. No further equity awards can be granted under the Jumptap
Plan, but all outstanding equity awards will continue to be governed by their existing terms.

        Stock compensation expense recognized by the Company is as follows (in thousands):

Stock Option Awards

        The following summarizes the assumptions used for estimating the fair value of stock options granted to employees and non-employees for the
years ended December 31:
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  Year Ended December 31,  
  2013  2012  2011  

Stock option awards  $ 4,146 $ 2,377 $ 859 
Restricted stock awards   1,289  3,655  973 
RSUs   3,518  1,442  — 
        

Total recognized stock-based compensation expense  $ 8,953 $ 7,474 $ 1,832 
        

        

  Year Ended December 31,
  2013  2012  2011

Risk-free interest rate  0.1% - 2.4%  0.8% - 1.3%  1.1% - 2.4%
Expected life  0 - 8.7 years  5.7 - 6.1 years  5.5 - 6.1 years
Expected volatility  37% - 55%  53% - 55%  44% - 54%
Dividend yield  0%  0%  0%
Weighted-average grant date fair value  $3.63  $6.01  $1.46
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        The following is a summary of option activity for the year ended December 31, 2013:

        As of December 31, 2013 $15.6 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to stock options is expected to be recognized over a
weighted-average period of approximately 3.2 years.

        The aggregate intrinsic value of all options exercised during the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011 was $16.5 million, $36.9 million,
and $1.7 million, respectively. The total fair value of shares which vested during the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011 was $3.1 million,
$2.4 million, and $471,000, respectively.

Restricted Common Stock

        In connection with the acquisition of Condaptive on May 6, 2011, the Company issued 1,448,080 shares of restricted common stock to the
employee shareholders of Condaptive. Under the terms of the stock restriction agreements, a portion of the shares of common stock issued was released
from restriction on May 6, 2012, the first anniversary of the issuance. Thereafter, shares of common stock will be released from restriction on a monthly
basis over a period that expires between May 2014 and December 2014, depending on the individual award, so long as the shareholder remains an
employee of the Company as of the date of each such release, until all of the common stock is released from restriction. If the shareholder's employment
terminates prior to the release of all shares from restriction, the shares not yet vested are subject to repurchase by the Company at a price of $0.001 per
share. As of December 31, 2013, a total of 1,363,199 shares had been released from restriction.

        Stock-based compensation expense related to the restricted common stock is being recognized ratably over the restriction period based on the fair
value of the individual awards. At December 31, 2013, unrecognized compensation expense relating to the restricted stock awards was $242,000 and
the aggregate intrinsic value of the unvested restricted stock was $617,000. The unrecognized compensation expense will be amortized for the remaining
vesting period of one year based on the vesting schedules of the awards.
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  Number  

Weighted-
Average

Exercise Price  

Weighted-
Average

Remaining
Contractual

Term
(in years)  

Aggregate
Intrinsic

Value
(in thousands)  

Options outstanding at January 1, 2013   5,600,021 $ 2.55       
Granted   4,632,311  6.81       
Exercised   (2,087,492)  0.68       
Forfeited   (479,743)  6.78       

             

Options outstanding at December 31, 2013   7,665,097 $ 5.28  7.85 $ 18,395 
             

             

Options exercisable at December 31, 2013   3,260,107 $ 3.13  5.29  13,706 
             

             

Options vested and expected to vest at December 31,
2013   7,478,781 $ 5.29  7.53  17,416 
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Restricted Stock Units (RSUs)

        The following is a summary of RSU activity for the year ended December 31, 2013:

        At December 31, 2013, unrecognized compensation expense related to the RSUs was $8.5 million. The unrecognized compensation expense is
expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of approximately 3.3 years.

9. Income Taxes

        The components of loss before income tax for the years ended December 31 are as follows (in thousands):

        The components of income tax (expense) benefit for the years ended December 31 are as follows (in thousands):

        Total income tax (expense) benefit for the years ended December 31 is allocated as follows (in thousands):
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  Number  

Weighted-Average
Grant Date
Fair Value  

RSUs outstanding at January 1, 2013   444,549 $ 12.71 
Granted   1,105,190  6.89 
Vested   (341,251)  11.15 
Forfeited   (31,200)  8.96 

       

RSUs outstanding at December 31, 2013   1,177,288  7.80 
       

       

  2013  2012  2011  

Domestic  $ (15,001) $ (5,276) $ (677)
Foreign   (159)  (84)  (96)
        

Total loss before income tax  $ (15,160) $ (5,360) $ (773)
        

        

  2013  2012  2011  

Federal  $ — $ — $ 439 
State and local   (10)  (17)  57 
Foreign   57  (53)  (10)
        

Total income tax (expense) benefit  $ 47 $ (70) $ 486 
        

        

  2013  2012  2011  

Current  $ 49 $ (70) $ 5 
Deferred   (2)  —  481 
        

Total income tax (expense) benefit  $ 47 $ (70) $ 486 
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        A reconciliation of the difference between the statutory federal income tax rate and the effective income tax rate for the years ended December 31 is
as follows:

        Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effect of temporary differences that exist between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for
financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes, using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which the differences are
expected to reverse. As of December 31, 2013, the Company had $179.0 million of federal net operating loss carryforwards, which expire at various
dates through 2034. The gross amount of the state net operating loss carryforwards is equal to or less than the federal net operating loss carryforwards
and expires over various periods based on individual state tax law. As of December 31, 2013, the Company had gross foreign net operating loss
carryforwards of $168,000 that do not expire. In addition, the Company acquired tax credits from the Jumptap acquisition of $3.2 million which expire
at various dates through 2034.

        At December 31, 2013, the Company had $35.9 million in excess tax benefits related to stock-based compensation deductions, the benefit of which
will be recorded to additional paid-in-capital once the benefit is realized through a reduction of income taxes payable. The Company uses the with-and-
without approach when determining when excess tax benefits have been realized.

        In general, businesses with U.S. net operating losses ("NOLs") are considered loss corporations for U.S. federal income tax purposes. Pursuant to
Section 382 of the Code, loss corporations that undergo an ownership change, as defined under the Code, may be subject to an annual limitation on the
amount of NOLs (and certain other tax attributes) available to offset taxable income earned after such ownership change. The Company has performed
an analysis of its ownership changes pursuant to the rules prescribed under U.S. tax law and preliminarily determined that it experienced two ownership
changes since its inception. Based on this analysis, the Company's NOLs and other tax attributes are limited under Section 382 of the Code, although
the Company does not believe that such limitations will prevent the Company from utilizing its NOLs and other tax attributes in the future. Instead, the
realizability of the Company's U.S. NOLs and other tax attributes are dependent on the Company earning sufficient taxable income to utilize its NOLs
prior to their respective expiration.
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  2013  2012  2011  

U.S. statutory Federal rate   34.0% 34.0%  34.0%
Increase (decrease) resulting from:           

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes   (4.3)  (9.8)  (22.2)
State income taxes, net of federal benefit   3.3  (2.9)  (2.8)
Stock compensation   1.5  (28.1)  (66.5)
Acquisition-related costs   (8.4)  —  (2.9)
Changes in valuation allowance for deferred income taxes   (25.6)  5.1  128.2 
Other   (0.2)  0.6  (4.9)

        

Effective tax rate   0.3% (1.1)%  62.9%
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        The following summarizes the significant components of the Company's deferred tax assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2013 and 2012,
respectively (in thousands):

Components of deferred tax assets and liabilities:

        Based upon the Company's historical operating performance and the reported cumulative net losses to date, the Company presently does not have
sufficient objective evidence to support the recovery of its net deferred tax assets. Accordingly, the Company has established a valuation allowance
against its net deferred tax assets for financial reporting purposes because it is not more likely than not that these deferred tax assets will be realized.

        The Company has subsidiaries in certain international jurisdictions, all of which have accumulated net losses since inception. The Company
currently has no plans to repatriate any cash to the U.S. as it intends to permanently reinvest all future earnings internationally.

        The following summarizes the significant components of gross unrecognized tax benefits as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively (in
thousands):
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  2013  2012  

Deferred tax assets:        
U.S. net operating loss carryforwards  $ 53,516 $ 8,666 
Foreign net operating loss carryforwards   35  26 
Reserves and accrued expenses   2,264  1,077 
Depreciation and amortization   242  43 
Stock compensation   1,649  886 
Tax credits   2,454  — 
Other deferred tax assets   163  278 

      

Gross deferred tax assets   60,323  10,976 
Deferred tax liabilities:        

Depreciation and amortization   (21,086)  (339)
Internally developed software   (643)  (802)
Prepaid expenses   (636)  (515)
Other deferred tax liabilities   (51)  (22)

      

Gross deferred tax liabilities   (22,416)  (1,678)
      

Valuation allowance   (37,916)  (9,304)
      

Net deferred tax liabilities, net of allowance  $ (9) $ (6)
      

      

  2013  2012  

Balance, beginning of year  $ — $ — 
Current year uncertain tax positions:        

Gross increases   29  — 
Gross increases—acquisition   765  — 

      

Balance, end of year  $ 794 $ — 
      

      



Table of Contents

Millennial Media, Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

9. Income Taxes (Continued)

        In the ordinary course of the Company's business, transactions occur for which the ultimate tax outcome may be uncertain. Under applicable
accounting guidance, the Company is unable to recognize the effects of a tax position in its financial statements unless the position satisfies a minimum
recognition threshold mandated by the guidance. At December 31, 2013, the Company's unrecognized income tax benefits were approximately
$0.8 million. Currently no interest or penalties are being computed. Any interest and penalties related to unrecognized income tax benefits would be
classified as a component of income tax expense. The Company's unrecognized income tax benefit is presented in the financial statements as a reduction
of the related deferred tax asset. To the extent the Company continues to have a full valuation allowance against its deferred tax assets, any previously
unrecognized income tax benefit that would be ultimately recognized would not impact income tax expense.

        The Company files tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction, as well as various U.S. state jurisdictions and certain international jurisdictions,
where the Company has established subsidiaries. Currently, the Company is not currently under examination by any taxing authority. The tax years
2009 to 2012 remain open to examination by the taxing authorities. Though the statute for years prior to 2009 is closed for assessment of tax, the taxing
authority has the ability to make adjustments to such tax years upon examination to determine the appropriate amount of net operating loss carryover to
the open statute years.

10. Net Loss Per Common Share

        Diluted loss per common share is the same as basic loss per common share for all periods presented as the effects of potentially dilutive items were
anti-dilutive given the Company's net loss and net loss attributable to common stockholders. The following securities have been excluded from the
calculation of weighted average common shares outstanding because the effect is anti-dilutive:

11. Segment and Geographic Information

        Operating segments are defined as components of an enterprise about which separate financial information is available that is evaluated regularly
by the chief operating decision maker, in deciding how to allocate resources and assess performance. The Company's chief operating decision maker is
its Chief Executive Officer ("CEO"). The CEO reviews financial information presented on a consolidated basis for purposes of allocating resources and
evaluating financial performance. As such, the Company has concluded that its operations constitute one operating and reportable segment.
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  Year Ended December 31,  
  2013  2012  2011  

Reedemable convertible preferred stock   —  —  47,679,003 
Unvested restricted common stock   84,881  418,482  1,448,080 
Warrant to purchase Series B preferred stock   —  —  50,750 
Stock options   7,665,097  5,600,021  7,650,498 
RSUs   1,177,288  444,549  — 
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Millennial Media, Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

11. Segment and Geographic Information (Continued)

        Substantially all assets were held in the United States for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011. The following table summarizes
revenue generated through sales personnel employed by the Company's U.S. and non-U.S. subsidiaries (in thousands):

12. Employee Benefit Plan

        The Company has a defined contribution retirement plan (the "Plan") available to all full-time employees in the United States under Section 401(k)
of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code. Eligible employees may elect to defer a percentage of their annual compensation up to amounts prescribed by law.
For the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company made matching contributions of $720,000 to the Plan. The Company did not make matching
contributions to the Plan for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011.

13. Quarterly Financial Data (unaudited) (in thousands, except per share data)

        The following table sets forth certain unaudited quarterly financial data for 2013 and 2012. This unaudited information has been prepared on the
same basis as the audited information included elsewhere in this Annual Report and includes all adjustments necessary to present fairly the information
set forth therein. The operating results are not necessarily indicative of results for any future period.
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  Year Ended December 31,  
  2013  2012  2011  

Revenues:           
Domestic  $ 197,103 $ 151,443 $ 93,357 
International   62,068  26,224  10,321 

        

Total  $ 259,171 $ 177,667 $ 103,678 
        

        

  Three Months Ended  

  
March 31,

2013  
June 30,

2013  
September 30,

2013  
December 31,

2013  

Revenue  $ 49,438 $ 57,009 $ 56,061 $ 96,663 
Gross profit   20,564  24,185  22,201  37,447 
Loss from operations   (3,726)  (3,022)  (4,596)  (3,798)
Net loss  $ (3,753) $ (3,053) $ (4,605) $ (3,703)
Net loss per share:              
Basic and diluted  $ (0.05) $ (0.04) $ (0.06) $ (0.04)
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Millennial Media, Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

13. Quarterly Financial Data (unaudited) (in thousands, except per share data) (Continued)

 

        Amounts in the tables above have been rounded and therefore may not sum.

14. Related Party Transactions

        During the year ended December 31, 2011, the Company purchased 300,761 shares of common stock for $980,000 from one of the Company's
executives. Of the total consideration of $980,000, the Company recorded a reduction to common stock based on the par value of the shares
repurchased and additional paid-in capital of $0 and $827,000, respectively, which represented the Company's estimate of the fair value of the
Company's common stock on the date of repurchase. The shares purchased were cancelled and retired. The price paid in excess of fair value of the
shares of $153,000 was recognized as compensation expense to the employee and is included in general and administrative expense in the Company's
consolidated statement of operations.

        Wenda Harris Millard, a member of the Company's Board of Directors, is president of, and an owner of equity interests in, MediaLink LLC.
During the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, the Company paid MediaLink $170,000 and $130,000, respectively, for strategic advisory and
consulting services.
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  Three Months Ended  

  
March 31,

2012  
June 30,

2012  
September 30,

2012  
December 31,

2012  

Revenue  $ 32,930 $ 39,411 $ 47,366 $ 57,960 
Gross profit   13,014  15,650  19,361  23,903 
Income (loss) from operations   (2,991)  (2,339)  (1,719)  2,587 
Net income (loss)  $ (3,973) $ (2,238) $ (1,769) $ 2,550 
Net income (loss) per share:              
Basic and diluted  $ (0.32) $ (0.03) $ (0.02) $ 0.03 
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Item 9.    Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure 

        None.

Item 9A.    Controls and Procedures 

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

        Under the supervision of and with the participation of our management, including our chief executive officer, who is our principal executive
officer, and our chief financial officer, who is our principal financial officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls
and procedures as of December 31, 2013, the end of the period covered by this Annual Report. The term "disclosure controls and procedures," as set
forth in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act, means controls and other
procedures of a company that are designed to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it
files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in the SEC's rules and
forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be
disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to the company's management,
including its principal executive and principal financial officers, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Management
recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving their
objectives, and management necessarily applies its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures. Based on
the evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2013, our chief executive officer and chief financial officer concluded that,
as of such date, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective at the reasonable assurance level.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

        We completed the acquisition of Jumptap on November 6, 2013. Management considers this transaction to be material to our consolidated financial
statements and believes that the internal controls and procedures of Jumptap have a material effect on our internal control over financial reporting. We
are currently in the process of incorporating the internal controls and procedures of Jumptap into our internal controls over financial reporting and
extending our compliance program to include Jumptap. We have excluded Jumptap from the scope of our 2013 assessment of internal control over
financial reporting as provided by applicable law and SEC rules and regulations concerning business combinations.

        Other than the Jumptap acquisition noted above, there have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-
15(f)) identified in connection with the evaluation required by Rule 13a-15(d) of the Exchange Act that occurred during the quarter ended December 31,
2013 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and Attestation Report of Registered Public Accounting Firm

        Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. Under the supervision and with
the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, we assessed the effectiveness of our internal
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2013 based on the criteria set forth in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Based on our assessment, management has concluded that, as of
December 31, 2013, our internal control over financial reporting was effective based on those criteria.
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        Management has excluded the operations of Jumptap from its assessment of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2013.
These assets acquired represent $214 million and $186 million of total and net assets, respectively as of December 31, 2013 and $26 million of total
revenues for the year ended December 31, 2013.

        The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2013 has been audited by Ernst and Young, LLP, an
independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report, which is included in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report.

Item 9B.    Other Information 

        Not applicable.
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PART III

        We will file a definitive Proxy Statement for our 2014 Annual Meeting of Stockholders or our 2014 Proxy Statement with the SEC, pursuant to
Regulation 14A, not later than 120 days after the end of our fiscal year. Accordingly, certain information required by Part III has been omitted under
General Instruction G(3) to Form 10-K. Only those sections of the 2014 Proxy Statement that specifically address the items set forth herein are
incorporated by reference.

Item 10.    Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance 

        The information required by Item 10 is hereby incorporated by reference to the sections of our 2014 Proxy Statement under the captions "Board of
Directors and Committees," "Election of Directors," "Management" and "Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance."

Item 11.    Executive Compensation 

        The information required by Item 11 is hereby incorporated by reference to the sections of our 2014 Proxy Statement under the captions
"Executive Compensation" and "Director Compensation."

Item 12.    Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters 

        The information required by Item 12 is hereby incorporated by reference to the sections of our 2014 Proxy Statement under the captions "Security
Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management" and "Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans."

Item 13.    Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence 

        The information required by Item 13 is hereby incorporated by reference to the sections of our 2014 Proxy Statement under the captions
"Transactions with Related Parties" and "Director Independence."

Item 14.    Principal Accountant Fees and Services 

        The information required by Item 14 is hereby incorporated by reference to the section of our 2014 Proxy Statement under the caption
"Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm Fees."
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Item 15.    Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules. 

(a) Exhibits

Exhibit
Number  Description of Document

 2.1(1) Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of February 15, 2013, by and among Millennial Media, Inc.,
Mojo Merger Sub, Inc., Metaresolver, Inc. and Michael Dearing, as the Stockholders' Representative.

     
 2.2(2) Amendment to Agreement and Plan of Merger and Consent, dated as of March 31, 2013, by and

between Millennial Media, Inc. and Metaresolver, Inc.
     
 2.3(3) Agreement and Plan of Reorganization, dated as of August 13, 2013, by and among Millennial

Media, Inc., Polo Corp, and Jumptap, Inc.
     
 2.4(4) First Amendment to Agreement and Plan of Reorganization, dated as of November 1, 2013, by and

between Millennial Media, Inc., and Jumptap, Inc.
     
 3.1(5) Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation.
     
 3.2(6) Amended and Restated Bylaws.
     
 4.1(7) Specimen stock certificate evidencing shares of Common Stock.
     
 10.1.1(8) Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of August 11, 2011, by and between the Registrant and Silicon

Valley Bank.
     
 10.1.2(9) First Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement, dated March 14, 2013.
     
 10.1.3(10) Second Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement, dated July 29, 2013.
     
 10.1.4(11) Third Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement, dated October 30, 2013.
     
 10.2(12) Third Amended and Restated Investor Rights Agreement, dated as of December 23, 2010, by and

among the Registrant and certain of its stockholders.
     
 10.3 Commercial Lease, dated as of December 27, 2013, by and between the Registrant and The Can

Company LLC.
     
 10.4(13) Sublease, dated as of February 4, 2011, by and between the Registrant and TravelClick, Inc., including

First Addendum, dated as of March 1, 2011.
     
 10.5(14) Sublease, dated as of September 27, 2010, by and between the Registrant and Can Company

Tenant LLC.
     
 10.6(15)+ 2006 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended.
     
 10.7(16)+ Form of Stock Option Agreement under 2006 Equity Incentive Plan.
     
 10.8(17)+ 2012 Equity Incentive Plan.
     
 10.9(18)+ Form of Stock Option Grant Notice and Stock Option Agreement under 2012 Equity Incentive Plan.
     
 10.10(19)+ Form of Restricted Stock Unit Grant Notice and Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under 2012 Equity

Incentive Plan.
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 10.11(20)+ Amended and Restated Jumptap, Inc. 2005 Stock Option and Grant Plan, as amended.
     
 10.12(21)+ Form of Indemnification Agreement entered into between the Registrant and its directors and executive

officers.
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Exhibit
Number  Description of Document

 10.13(22)+ Amended and Restated Key Employment Agreement, dated as of March 14, 2012, by and between the
Registrant and Paul Palmieri.

     
 10.14(23)+ Amended and Restated Key Employment Agreement, dated as of March 14, 2012, by and between the

Registrant and Michael Avon.
     
 10.15(24)+ Key Employment Agreement, dated as of September 11, 2012, by and between the Registrant and

Mary Spilman.
     
 10.16+ Key Employment Agreement, dated as of January 25, 2014, by and between the Registrant and Michael

G. Barrett.
     
 10.17+ Separation Agreement, dated as of January 25, 2014, by and between the Registrant and Paul Palmieri.
     
 10.18+ Consulting Agreement, dated as of January 25, 2014, by and between the Registrant and Paul Palmieri.
     
 10.19+ 2013 Bonus Plan for executive officers.
     
 21.1 Subsidiaries of the Registrant.
     
 23.1 Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, independent registered public accounting firm.
     
 24.1 Power of Attorney (contained on signature page hereto).
     
 31.1 Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) promulgated

under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted pursuant to section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002.

     
 31.2 Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) promulgated

under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted pursuant to section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002.

     
 32* Certification of Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Rules 13a 14(b)

and 15d-14(b) promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as
adopted pursuant to section 906 of The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

     
 101.INS# XBRL Instance Document
     
 101.SCH# XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
     
 101.CAL# XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
     
 101.DEF# XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
     
 101.LAB# XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
     
 101.PRE# XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

* These certifications are being furnished solely to accompany this Annual Report pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, and are not
being filed for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and are not to be incorporated by
reference into any filing of the Registrant, whether made before or after the date hereof, regardless of any general incorporation
language in such filing. 



96

+ Indicates management contract or compensatory plan. 



Table of Contents

# Pursuant to Rule 406T of Regulation S-T, the Interactive Data Files included in Exhibit 101 hereto are furnished and deemed not
filed or part of a registration statement or prospectus for purposes of Sections 11 or 12 of the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended, are deemed not filed for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and otherwise are
not subject to liability under those Sections. 

(1) Previously filed as Exhibit 2.1 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-35478), filed with the
Commission on May 9, 2013, and incorporated by reference herein. 

(2) Previously filed as Exhibit 2.2 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-35478), filed with the
Commission on May 9, 2013, and incorporated by reference herein. 

(3) Previously filed as Exhibit 2.1 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-35478), filed with the Commission
on August 19, 2013, and incorporated by reference herein. 

(4) Previously filed as Exhibit 2.2 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-35478), filed with the Commission
on November 8, 2013, and incorporated by reference herein. 

(5) Previously filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-35478), filed with the Commission
on April 3, 2012, and incorporated by reference herein. 

(6) Previously filed as Exhibit 3.2 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-35478), filed with the Commission
on April 3, 2012, and incorporated by reference herein. 

(7) Previously filed as Exhibit 4.2 to Amendment No. 4 to the Registrant's Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-
178909), filed with the Commission on March 15, 2012, and incorporated by reference herein. 

(8) Previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-178909), filed with the
Commission on January 5, 2012, and incorporated by reference herein. 

(9) Previously filed as Exhibit 10.4 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-35478), filed with the
Commission on August 14, 2013, and incorporated by reference herein. 

(10) Previously filed as Exhibit 10.5 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-35478), filed with the
Commission on August 14, 2013, and incorporated by reference herein. 

(11) Previously filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-35478), filed with the
Commission on November 14, 2013, and incorporated by reference herein. 

(12) Previously filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant's Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-178909), filed with the
Commission on January 5, 2012, and incorporated by reference herein. 

(13) Previously filed as Exhibit 10.5 to the Registrant's Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-178909), filed with the
Commission on January 5, 2012, and incorporated by reference herein. 

(14) Previously filed as Exhibit 10.6 to the Registrant's Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-178909), filed with the
Commission on January 5, 2012, and incorporated by reference herein. 

(15) Previously filed as Exhibit 10.7 to the Registrant's Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-178909), filed with the
Commission on January 5, 2012, and incorporated by reference herein. 
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(16) Previously filed as Exhibit 10.8 to the Registrant's Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-178909), filed with the
Commission on January 5, 2012, and incorporated by reference herein. 

(17) Previously filed as Exhibit 4.7 to the Registrant's Registration Statement on Form S-8 (Registration No. 333-180540) filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 3, 2012 and incorporated herein by reference.
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(18) Previously filed as Exhibit 10.10 to Amendment No. 3 to the Registrant's Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-
178909), filed with the Commission on March 8, 2012, and incorporated by reference herein. 

(19) Previously filed as Exhibit 10.11 to Amendment No. 3 to the Registrant's Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-
178909), filed with the Commission on March 8, 2012, and incorporated by reference herein. 

(20) Previously filed as Exhibit 4.4 to the Registrant's Registration Statement on Form S-8 (Registration No. 333-192139) filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 6, 2013 and incorporated herein by reference. 

(21) Previously filed as Exhibit 10.12 to Amendment No. 3 to the Registrant's Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-
178909), filed with the Commission on March 8, 2012, and incorporated by reference herein. 

(22) Previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-35478), filed with the
Commission on May 15, 2012, and incorporated by reference herein. 

(23) Previously filed as Exhibit 10.4 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-35478), filed with the
Commission on May 15, 2012, and incorporated by reference herein. 

(24) Previously filed as Exhibit 10.17 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No. 001-35478), filed with the
Commission on February 20, 2013, and incorporated by reference herein.
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(b) Financial Statement Schedules

Schedule II—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts (in thousands) 
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Balance at
Beginning
of Period  

Additions
Charged To

Expense/
Against
Revenue  

Additions
from

Acquisitions  Deductions  

Balance at
End of
Period  

Allowance for doubtful accounts and
sales credits:                 
Year ended December 31, 2013  $ 2,673 $ 6,219 $ 1,062 $ (5,181) $ 4,773 
Year ended December 31, 2012   1,215  1,887  —  (429)  2,673 
Year ended December 31, 2011  $ 1,034 $ 354 $ — $ (172) $ 1,216 

Valuation allowance for deferred tax
assets:                 
Year ended December 31, 2013  $ 9,304 $ 3,878 $ 24,733 $ — $ 37,916 
Year ended December 31, 2012   9,577  (273)  —  —  9,304 
Year ended December 31, 2011  $ 11,536 $ (1,959) $ — $ — $ 9,577 
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SIGNATURES 

        Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the registrant has duly caused this report
to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Date: March 3, 2014
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  MILLENNIAL MEDIA, INC.

  By: /s/ MICHAEL G. BARRETT

Michael G. Barrett
President and Chief Executive Officer
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        KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints Michael B. Avon
and Ho S. Shin, jointly and severally, as his or her true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for
him or her and in his or her name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Millennial Media, Inc., and any
or all amendments (including post-effective amendments) thereto, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto, and other documents in connection
therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents full power and authority to do and perform
each and every act and thing requisite or necessary to be done in and about the premises hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact
and agents, or his or their substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

        Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, this report has been signed below by the following persons on
behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature  Title  Date

     
/s/ MICHAEL G. BARRETT

Michael G. Barrett

 President, Chief Executive Officer and
Director (Principal Executive Officer)

 March 3, 2014

/s/ MICHAEL B. AVON

Michael B. Avon

 Executive Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer (Principal Financial Officer)

 March 3, 2014

/s/ ANDREW JEANNERET

Andrew Jeanneret

 Senior Vice President and Chief Accounting
Officer (Principal Accounting Officer)

 March 3, 2014

/s/ ROBERT P. GOODMAN

Robert P. Goodman  Director  March 3, 2014

/s/ PATRICK J. KERINS

Patrick J. Kerins  Director  March 3, 2014

/s/ ALAN MACINTOSH

Alan MacIntosh  Director  March 3, 2014

/s/ JOHN D. MARKLEY, JR.

John D. Markley, Jr.  Director  March 3, 2014

/s/ WENDA HARRIS MILLARD

Wenda Harris Millard  Director  March 3, 2014

/s/ JAMES A. THOLEN

James A. Tholen  Director  March 3, 2014

/s/ GEORGE BELL

George Bell  Director  March 3, 2014

/s/ THOMAS R. EVANS

Thomas R. Evans  Director  March 3, 2014

/s/ ROSS B. LEVINSOHN

Ross B. Levinsohn  Director  March 3, 2014
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Ross B. Levinsohn  Director  March 3, 2014
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EXHIBIT INDEX 

Exhibit
Number  Description of Document

 2.1(1) Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of February 15, 2013, by and among Millennial Media, Inc.,
Mojo Merger Sub, Inc., Metaresolver, Inc. and Michael Dearing, as the Stockholders' Representative.

     
 2.2(2) Amendment to Agreement and Plan of Merger and Consent, dated as of March 31, 2013, by and

between Millennial Media, Inc. and Metaresolver, Inc.
     
 2.3(3) Agreement and Plan of Reorganization, dated as of August 13, 2013, by and among Millennial

Media, Inc., Polo Corp, and Jumptap, Inc.
     
 2.4(4) First Amendment to Agreement and Plan of Reorganization, dated as of November 1, 2013, by and

between Millennial Media, Inc., and Jumptap, Inc.
     
 3.1(5) Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation.
     
 3.2(6) Amended and Restated Bylaws.
     
 4.1(7) Specimen stock certificate evidencing shares of Common Stock.
     
 10.1.1(8) Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of August 11, 2011, by and between the Registrant and Silicon

Valley Bank.
     
 10.1.2(9) First Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement, dated March 14, 2013.
     
 10.1.3(10) Second Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement, dated July 29, 2013.
     
 10.1.4(11) Third Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement, dated October 30, 2013.
     
 10.2(12) Third Amended and Restated Investor Rights Agreement, dated as of December 23, 2010, by and

among the Registrant and certain of its stockholders.
     
 10.3 Commercial Lease, dated as of December 27, 2013, by and between the Registrant and The Can

Company LLC.
     
 10.4(13) Sublease, dated as of February 4, 2011, by and between the Registrant and TravelClick, Inc., including
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 10.8(17)+ 2012 Equity Incentive Plan.
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Registrant and Paul Palmieri.
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Commission on January 5, 2012, and incorporated by reference herein. 
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(22) Previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-35478), filed with the
Commission on May 15, 2012, and incorporated by reference herein. 

(23) Previously filed as Exhibit 10.4 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-35478), filed with the
Commission on May 15, 2012, and incorporated by reference herein. 

(24) Previously filed as Exhibit 10.17 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No. 001-35478), filed with the
Commission on February 20, 2013, and incorporated by reference herein.
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COMMERCIAL LEASE

 
THIS COMMERCIAL LEASE (the “Lease”) is made on this 1  day of January, 2014 (the “Effective Date”), by and between THE CAN

COMPANY, LLC, a Maryland limited liability company and Can Company Tenant, LLC, a Maryland limited liability company (collectively, the
“Landlord”), and MILLENNIAL MEDIA, INC. , a Delaware corporation (the “Tenant”).

 
IN CONSIDERATION of the agreements and covenants hereinafter set forth, Landlord and Tenant mutually agree as follows:
 

ARTICLE 1
 

DEFINITIONS
 

1.1          As used herein, the following terms shall have the following meanings:
 
“Base Rent” has the meaning given it in subsection 4.1.
 
“Building” means collectively the buildings used for retail purposes, office purposes, and related accessory uses in the development known as The

Can Company and located on Boston Street, in Baltimore, Maryland.  The Building, currently contains approximately 200,300 rentable square feet, subject to
adjustment from time to time, and is more particularly shown on Exhibit “A”. The names of individual buildings are identified on Exhibit “A”.

 
“Building Service Equipment” means all apparatus, machinery, devices, fixtures, appurtenances, equipment and personal property now or

hereafter located on the Premises and owned by the Landlord.
 
“Common Areas” means those areas and facilities of the Project which may be designated by the Landlord from time to time as common areas

(portions of which may from time to time be relocated and/or reconfigured by the Landlord in its sole discretion so long as reasonable access to and from the
Premises is maintained), which Common Areas include footways, sidewalks, Parking Areas, lobbies, elevators, stairwells, corridors, restrooms, and certain
exterior areas on the Project, subject, however, to the Rules and Regulations, and excepting therefrom any such areas so described, which are located in parts of
the Building known as the Signature Building, the Annex, the to-be-constructed Entry Volume the Boiler House, or the Factory Building, all of which are to be
treated as part of the Tenant’s Premises as defined below.

 
“Default Rate” means an annual floating rate of interest equal to four (4) percentage points in excess of the prime rate of interest as announced from

time to time by Bank of America, or its successor.
 
“Insurance Premiums” means the aggregate of any and all premiums paid by the Landlord for hazard, property, casualty, liability, loss-of-rent,

workers’ compensation, boiler and machinery or other insurance upon any or all of the Project.
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“Landlord” means the Person hereinabove named as such and its successors and assigns.

 
“Lease Year” means (a) the period commencing on the Rent Commencement Date and terminating at 11:59 p.m. on the first anniversary of the last

day of the month in which the Rent Commencement Date occurs, and (b) each successive period of twelve (12) calendar months thereafter during the Term.
 
“Operating Costs” means any and all costs and expenses incurred by the Landlord for services performed by the Landlord or by others on behalf

of the Landlord with respect to the operation and maintenance of the Premises, Building, the Project, and the Common Areas located therein and serving or
allocable to the Premises (including the Parking Areas) in a manner deemed reasonable and appropriate by Landlord, including, without limitation, all costs
and expenses of:

 
(a)           operating, maintaining, repairing, lighting, signing, cleaning, removing trash from, painting, striping, controlling of traffic in,

controlling of rodents in, policing and securing the Common Areas;
 
(b)           purchasing and maintaining in full force insurance for the Project as deemed necessary in Landlord’s and Lender’s discretion;
 
(c)           operating, maintaining, repairing and replacing machinery, furniture, accessories and equipment used in the operation and

maintenance of the Project, and the personal property taxes and other charges incurred in connection with such machinery, furniture, accessories and
equipment;

 
(d)           maintaining and repairing roofs, awnings, paving, curbs, walkways, drainage pipes, ducts, conduits, grease traps and lighting

fixtures throughout the Common Areas;
 
(e)           interior and exterior planting, landscaping, replanting and replacing flowers, shrubbery, trees, grass and planters;
 
(f)            providing electricity, heating, ventilation and air conditioning to the Common Areas and HVAC service to the Building, and

operating, maintaining and repairing any equipment used in connection therewith, but excepting from same this same category of charges which are being paid
for directly by Tenant elsewhere in this Lease;

 
(g)           water and sanitary sewer services and other services, if any, furnished to the Common Areas for the non-exclusive use of tenants;
 
(h)           parcel pick-up, delivery and other similar services;
 
(i)            cleaning, operating, maintaining and repairing the Project;
 
(j)            accounting, audit and management fees and expenses, including a property management fee not to exceed four percent (4%) of

Landlord’s gross rental receipts, and payroll, payroll taxes, employee benefits and related expenses of all personnel engaged in the operation, maintenance, and
management of the Project (including the Parking Areas);
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(k)           the cost and expense of complying with all federal, state and local laws, orders, rules, fees, directives, permits, regulations and

ordinances applicable to the Project which are now in force, or which may hereafter be in force, as well as applicable covenants and restrictions;
 
(l)            the cost (including legal, architectural and engineering fees incurred in connection therewith) of any improvement made to the

Project during any Operating Year either (x) in order to comply with a legal requirement or insurance requirement, whether or not such legal requirement or
insurance requirement is valid or mandatory, (y) with the reasonable expectation by Landlord of reducing Operating Costs (as, for example, a labor-saving
improvement) or enhancing services, or (z) in lieu of a repair; provided, however, to the extent the cost of such improvement is required to be capitalized under
generally accepted accounting principles, such cost, plus financing charges, shall be amortized over the useful economic life of such improvement as
reasonably estimated by Landlord, and the annual amortization shall be deemed an Operating Cost in each of the Operating Years during which the cost of the
improvement is amortized;

 
(m)          providing janitorial and trash removal services to the Project and Premises (to the extent not provided by Tenant as required

hereunder);
 
(n)           all other costs of maintaining, repairing or replacing any or all of the Building (including expenses of landscaping, snow, ice,

water and debris removal, outdoor lighting, and exterior signage relating to the Project);
 
(o)           the cost of all capital improvements made to the Building which are reasonably necessary to replace equipment existing as of the

Rent Commencement Date and which are not provided for in subsections (a) through (n) above; provided that the cost of each such capital improvement,
together with any financing charges incurred in connection therewith, shall be amortized over the useful economic life thereof, as reasonably determined by
Landlord; and

 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the following items shall be excluded from Operating Costs:
 

(aa)         franchise, income taxes, or excess profit imposed upon Landlord;
 
(bb)         debt service on Mortgages and any costs and expenses relating to a refinancing or debt modification, including legal fees, title

insurance premiums, survey expenses, appraisals, environmental reports, or engineering reports;
 
(cc)         leasing commissions, brokerage fees or legal fees incurred in connection with the negotiation and preparation of letters, deal

memos, letters of intent, leases and related documents with respect to the leasing, assignment or subletting of space for any occupant of the Building;
 
(dd)         the cost of tenant installations incurred in connection with preparing space for a new tenant or refurbishing or renovating space

for an existing tenant;
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(ee)         salaries and other compensations of personnel not responsible for the day to day management, maintenance, operation and care

for the property;
 
(ff)          costs of compliance, in the Common Areas only, with the Americans with Disabilities Act;
 
(gg)         capital costs, depreciation or amortization (except as provided in the list of inclusions for Operating Costs under items (l) and

(o) above);
 
(hh)         all costs applicable solely to any additional buildings constructed on the Project;
 
(ii)           capital expenditures required by Landlord’s failure to comply with Laws (hereinafter defined);
 
(jj)           costs incurred for capital improvements to reduce Operating Costs above the amount actually saved as the result of such capital

improvements (although Landlord may include as part of Operating Costs, the amortization of savings from any such capital improvements);
 
(kk)         income, excess profit, franchise taxes or other such taxes imposed on or measured by the gross or net income of Landlord from

the operation of the Building;
 
(ll)           any amounts paid to any person, firm or corporation related to or otherwise affiliated with Landlord or any general partner,

officer, director or shareholder of Landlord or any of the foregoing, to the extent the same exceeds arm’s length competitive prices paid in Baltimore, Maryland
for similar services or goods;

 
(mm)      costs incurred to remove any hazardous materials or other toxic material or substances from either the Building or the Premises;
 
(nn)         costs relating to maintaining Landlord’s existence, either as a corporation, partnership, trust or other entity, such as trustee’s fees,

annual fees, partnership expenses, and legal and accounting fees (other than with respect to Building operations);
 
(oo)         Landlord’s general corporate office overhead expenses or costs and expenses of any management or marketing offices which are

not related to the day to day operation of the Property;
 
(pp)         costs and expenses resulting from the negligence or willful misconduct of Landlord or its employees, contractors or agents; and
 
(qq)         attorney’s fees and other costs and expenses incurred in connection with negotiations or disputes with present or prospective

Tenants, other occupants of the Project, or other third parties.
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“Operating Year” means each respective calendar year or part thereof during the Term, or, at the Landlord’s option, any other 12-month period or

part thereof designated by the Landlord during the Term.
 
“Parking Areas” means those portions of the Common Areas or other areas under Landlord’s control which from time to time are designated by the

Landlord for the parking of automobiles and other automotive vehicles while engaged in business upon the Premises (other than while being used to make
deliveries to and from the Premises), including the parking garages located in the Project.

 
“Person” means a natural person, a trustee, a corporation, a limited liability company, a partnership and/or any other form of legal entity.
 
“Premises” means the following certain spaces having rentable areas of the amount of square feet (subject to measurement according to standards

provided herein) as identified below, and all, as more particularly depicted on Exhibit “B”; provided, that if at any time hereafter any portion of the Premises
becomes no longer subject to this Lease, “Premises” shall thereafter mean so much thereof as remains subject to this Lease.  In addition, “Premises” shall
mean, collectively and individually the (i) “ Existing Premises”, which are those portions of the Premises annotated below as being “already occupied by
Tenant,” the (ii) “Expansion Premises” which are those portions of the Premises annotated below as being “Expansion Premises” which are to be delivered
subsequent to Lease signing and construction and/or renovation and which will, upon delivery to the Tenant, become part of the final Premises.

 
The “Existing Premises” (which excludes approximately 15,093 square feet Tenant occupies in the Building pursuant to an existing Sublease

Agreement between Tenant and TravelClick, Inc.) are such portions of the Premises currently occupied by Tenant pursuant to a lease dated July 11, 2008, by
and between Landlord and Tenant, as amended.  Upon the Effective Date hereof, the terms of such lease, including eight (8) amendments thereto, shall expire
and be of no further force and effect.  The Existing Premises already occupied by Tenant consist of the following spaces: Annex Building, Field (also known
as Boiler) House Building, and portions of the Signature Building.

 
The “Expansion Premises”  are to be delivered subsequent to Lease signing and will upon delivery become part of the “Premises”, and consist of

the following:  the Bridge, Factory Building, Entry Volume/Field House/Annex Building and the Lobby portion of the Signature Building.  As noted, several of
the Existing Premises will be consolidated into the Expansion Premises during construction and/or renovation in order to create the Expansion Premises.

 
“Property” means that certain parcel of land known containing approximately 4.3 acres, more or less, together with the Building thereon.  The

Property is more particularly shown on Exhibit “A”.
 
“Project” means that certain project located in Baltimore City, Maryland known as The Can Company more particularly shown on Exhibit “A” of

which the Building and Property is a part, which Project includes commercial and retail use.
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“Rent” means all Base Rent and all Additional Rent.

 
“Rules and Regulations” means the reasonable rules and regulations having uniform applicability to all tenants of the Project (subject to their

respective leases) and governing their use and enjoyment of the Project; provided that such rules and regulations shall not materially interfere with the Tenant’s
use and enjoyment of the Premises in accordance with this Lease for its uses as permitted hereunder.  The current Rules and Regulations are attached hereto as
Exhibit “D”.

 
“Tax Year” and “Real Estate Tax Year” means the 12-month period beginning July 1 of each year or such other 12-month period (deemed for the

purposes of this Lease to have 365 days) established as a real estate tax year by the taxing authority having lawful jurisdiction over the Property.
 
“Taxes” means the aggregate of any and all real property and other taxes, metropolitan district charges, front-foot benefit assessments, special

assessments and other taxes or public or private assessments or charges levied against any or all of the tax parcel containing the Premises.
 
“Tenant” means the Person hereinabove named as such and its successors and permitted assigns hereunder.
 
“Tenant’s Proportionate Share” is used to determine the amount of certain expenses to be borne by Tenant as provided herein.  The parties

acknowledge that the Buildings of which the Premises are a part are operated in conjunction with one or more adjacent buildings comprising the Project as to
which some, but not all, operating expenses are shared so that different expense items may apply to less than all of the Project.  Accordingly “proportionate
share” for each type of expense shall be equal to a fraction, the numerator of which shall be the number of square feet of leasable floor area in the Premises,
from time to time, and the denominator of which shall be the number of square feet of leasable floor area in that portion of the Project (whether leased or
occupied or not) as to which the expense element applies as determined by Landlord in accordance with reasonable commercial leasing and property
management practices.

 
“Tenant’s Share of Operating Costs” shall be the amount of (i) the Operating Costs for the Operating Year in question, less the Operating Costs

for the calendar year, also known as the “Base Year” of 2014, multiplied by (ii) Tenant’s Proportionate Share.  As noted in Section 4 below, Tenant will only
be responsible for its share of the increase in Operating Costs over a Base Year of 2014.

 
“Tenant’s Share of Taxes” shall be the amount of (i) the Taxes for the Tax Year in question, less the Taxes for the Base Real Estate Tax Year of

2014-2015 multiplied by (ii) Tenant’s Proportionate Share.  As noted in Section 4 below, Tenant will only be responsible for its share of the increase in Taxes
over a Base Year of 2014-2015.

 
“Term” means the Original Term plus any exercised renewals thereof.
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ARTICLE 2

 
PREMISES; MEASUREMENT.

 
2.1          Premises.  The Landlord hereby leases to the Tenant, and the Tenant hereby leases from the Landlord the Premises together with the right

to use, in common with others, the Common Areas.
 
2.2          Rentable Area.   The rentable area of the Premises shall be 95,911 square feet plus or minus adjustment based upon the actual rentable

area of the to-be-built “Entry Volume” relative to its current estimated rentable area of 2,586 square feet.  The actual rentable area of the to-be-constructed
“Entry Volume” shall be subject to verification by Landlord’s architect and Tenant’s design consultant.  For the purpose of calculating Rent, Additional Rent,
Tax payments, and for any other purpose under this Lease, the square footage of the various portions of the Premises shall be those set forth in the Rent
Commencement table in section 3.1(b), below and shall be adjusted accordingly following Tenant’s occupancy of the various portions of the Premises.

 
2.3          TravelClick Sublease Space.  The Landlord hereby leases to the Tenant, and the Tenant hereby leases from the Landlord,

approximately 15,093 square feet of space located on the 2  floor of the Signature Building upon the earlier of (a) May 1, 2016 or (b) the termination of the
existing TravelClick Sublease.  From and after such date, the Premises shall be amended to include the 15,093 square feet of space.

 
ARTICLE 3

 
TERM

 
3.1          Original Term; Occupancy Date.
 

(a)           This Lease shall be for a term (the “Original Term”) commencing as set forth below and ending at 11:59 p.m. on the tenth
(10 ) anniversary of the last day of the month in which Landlord delivers the last of the to-be-constructed Entry Volume, and accompanying Boiler House,
Annex and Bridge Spaces (which date is hereinafter referred to as the “ Termination Date”).  The Termination Date shall be applicable to all portions of the
Premises, regardless of the date that any given portion of the Premises is delivered to Tenant.

 
(b)           (i) Pursuant to the terms of this Lease, the Tenant shall occupy portions of the Premises in accordance with the chart set forth

below (“Occupancy Date”).
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Premises

Rentable
Area

(Sq. Ft.) Occupancy Date:
Rent Commencement

Date
Factory Building
3  Floor 48,652 Earlier of: (i) July 1 , 2014 or (ii) upon

delivery.
Earlier of: (i) July 1 , 2014 or (ii) upon
delivery.

Bridge and Landing 712 Earlier of: (i) October 1 , 2014 or
(ii) upon delivery.

Earlier of: (i) October 1 , 2014 or
(ii) upon delivery.

Subtotal 49,364
       
“Entry Volume” / Field House / Annex
“Entry Volume” 2,586 Earlier of: (i) October 1 , 2014 or

(ii) upon delivery of the referenced
Expansion Premises.

Earlier of: (i) October 1 , 2014 or
(ii) upon delivery of the referenced
Expansion Premises.

Field House, Signature Building Ground
Floor

10,360 Earlier of: (i) October 1 , 2014 or
(ii) upon delivery of the referenced
Expansion Premises.

Earlier of: (i) October 1 , 2014 or
(ii) upon delivery of the referenced
Expansion Premises.

Annex (Existing) 3,415 Currently occupied by Tenant *January 1, 2014
Subtotal 16,361
       
Signature Building
3  Floor 15,093 Currently occupied by Tenant January 1, 2014
4  Floor 15,093 Currently occupied by Tenant January 1, 2014
Subtotal 30,186
       
Total Rentable Area 95,911
 

*Subject to abatement during construction Expansion Premises.
 

(c)                                  Those spaces not yet occupied by Tenant shall be delivered to Tenant as they become available, with delivery of said spaces
anticipated to take place across the first three quarters of 2014, and in all events, no later than October 1 , 2014.  The parties acknowledge and agree that any
delay in removing the tenants currently occupying the Expansion Space will result in a delay in Tenant’s occupancy of the same.

nd

th

rd st st

st st

st st

st st

rd

th

st



delay in removing the tenants currently occupying the Expansion Space will result in a delay in Tenant’s occupancy of the same.
 
(d)                                 The parties acknowledge that the portion of the Premises designated as the Field House, is improved by, and contains fixtures

within, certain assets including but not limited to electronics, furniture, kitchen equipment, inventory and other assets which are set forth in greater detail on
Exhibit “H” (“FF&E”).  Landlord hereby grants Tenant the right to make use of all such FF&E during the Term of the Lease, at no additional cost;
however, in the event Tenant elects to use such FF&E, said FF&E shall be left in the Premises at the end of the Term in the same condition as when received,
normal wear and tear excepted.  If Tenant does not elect to use any of such FF&E, Landlord shall be responsible for removing any such FF&E from the
Premises, at Landlord’s sole cost and expense.
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3.2                               Confirmation of Commencement and Termination. After (a) the Rent Commencement Date for each portion of the Premises listed

above, and (b) the Termination Date, the Landlord shall confirm in writing by instrument in recordable form that, respectively, such rent commencement or
such termination has occurred, setting forth therein, respectively, the Rent Commencement Date and the Termination Date.

 
3.3                               Renewal.  Tenant shall have the option to renew the Term of this Lease for two (2) periods of five (5) years each (the “ Renewal Term”). 

Tenant shall exercise the options by providing written notice to Landlord of its election to exercise such options no later than twelve (12) months prior to the
expiration of the then current Term; provided, however, that Tenant’s options to renew shall be subject to the condition that no default shall have occurred and
be continuing after applicable notice and cure periods have expired as of the date of Tenant’s exercise of such options or as of the date of commencement of the
Renewal Terms.  Tenant shall have no other right to renew this Lease after the Renewal Terms.  Except as otherwise expressly provided in this Lease, all terms,
covenants, and conditions of this Lease shall remain in full force and effect during the Renewal Term, except that the Rent applicable to the Renewal Term
shall be as set forth in Section 4.1(b).  If the Tenant fails to give notice exercising the foregoing option by the date required herein, or if at the time Tenant
exercises such options or at commencement of the Renewal Terms the Tenant is in default of any term of this Lease beyond any applicable notice and cure
period, then Tenant’s rights and options to renew shall be automatically terminated and of no further force or effect.

 
3.4                               Surrender. The Tenant, at the expiration of the Term or any earlier termination of this Lease, shall at its expense (a) surrender to the

Landlord possession of the Premises (including any fixtures or other improvements which are owned by the Landlord) in as good order and repair as on the
Effective Date (ordinary wear and tear and damage by casualty excepted) and broom clean, (b) remove therefrom all signs, goods, effects, machinery, fixtures
and equipment used in conducting the Tenant’s trade or business which are neither part of the Building Service Equipment nor owned by the Landlord.  In the
event Tenant fails to properly remove all of its personal property in accordance with the terms of this Section 3.4, Landlord at its option may either (i) cause
that property to be removed at the risk and expense of Tenant (both as to loss and damage), and Tenant hereby agrees to pay all reasonable costs and expenses
incurred thereby, including sums paid to store the property elsewhere and the cost of any repairs to the Premises caused by the removal of the property, or
(ii) upon five (5) days’ written notice to Tenant, which the parties agree is commercially reasonable, sell at public or private sale any or all of such property,
whether exempt or not from sale under execution or attachment (such property being deemed charged with a lien in favor of Landlord for all sums due
hereunder), with the proceeds to be applied as set forth in this Lease, or (iii) at Landlord’s option, title for such personal property shall pass to Landlord. 
Tenant shall not vacate or abandon the Premises at any time during the Term and discontinue the payment of Base Rent, but if Tenant does vacate or abandon
the Premises or is dispossessed by process of law, any personal property belonging to Tenant and left on the Premises may, at the option of the Landlord, be
deemed to have been abandoned by Tenant, and the provisions of this Section shall apply.

 
3.5                               Holding Over.  If the Tenant continues to occupy the Premises after the expiration of the Term or any earlier termination of this Lease

without obtaining the Landlord’s
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express, written consent thereto (which consent Landlord may grant or withhold in the exercise of its sole and absolute subjective discretion), then:

 
(a)                                 such occupancy (unless the parties hereto otherwise agree in writing) shall be deemed to be under a month-to-month tenancy,

which shall continue until either party hereto notifies the other in writing, at least thirty (30) days in advance that the notifying party elects to terminate such
tenancy at the end of such calendar month, in which event such tenancy shall so terminate;

 
(b)                                 anything in this section to the contrary notwithstanding, the Rent payable for each such monthly period shall equal the sum of

(a) one-twelfth (1/12) of that amount which is equal to 150% of the Base Rent for the Lease Year during which such expiration of the Term or termination of
this Lease occurs, plus (b) the Additional Rent payable hereunder; and

 
(c)                                  except as provided herein, such month-to-month tenancy shall be on the same terms and subject to the same conditions as those

set forth in this Lease.
 

3.6                               Except as otherwise provided in Section 3.3 above, Tenant shall have no other rights of renewal or extension.
 

ARTICLE 4
 

RENT; SECURITY DEPOSIT
 

As Rent for the Premises, the Tenant shall pay to the Landlord all of the following:
 
4.1                               A.                                    Base Rent.  An annual rent (the “ Base Rent”) for the Original Term as follows:

 

Month Starting

Annual
Base
Rent

Monthly
Base
Rent

January 1, 2014 — June 30, 2014 $ 63,655.00
July 1, 2014 — September 30, 2014 $ 168,054.08
      
October 1, 2014 to September 30, 2015 $ 2,469,708.25 $ 205,809.02
October 1, 2015 to September 30, 2016 $ 2,537,625.23 $ 211,468.77
October 1, 2016 to September 30, 2017 $ 2,607,409.92 $ 217,284.84
October 1, 2017 to September 30, 2018 $ 2,679,113.69 $ 223,259.47
October 1, 2018 to September 30, 2019 $ 2,752,789.32 $ 229,399.11
October 1, 2019 to September 30, 2020 $ 2,828,491.03 $ 235,707.59
October 1, 2020 to September 30, 2021 $ 2,906,274.53 $ 242,189.54
October 1, 2021 to September 30, 2022 $ 2,986,197.08 $ 248,849.76
October 1, 2022 to September 30, 2023 $ 3,068,317.50 $ 255,693.13
October 1, 2023 to September 30, 2024 $ 3,152,696.23 $ 262,724.69
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B.                                    For purposes of the space currently known as the TravelClick Sublease space, the Base Rent shall be as follows:

 
Monthly Rent Schedule per Existing TravelClick Sublease (paid

directly to TravelClick until the expiration or earlier termination of the Sublease)
 

Month Starting

Monthly
Base
Rent

January 1, 2014 $ 26,932.50
February 1, 2014 to January 31, 2015 27,875.14
February 1, 2015 to January 31, 2016 28,850.77
February 1, 2016 to April 30, 2016 29,860.54

 
Travel Click Rent Schedule upon Scheduled Sublease Expiration

 

Month Starting

Annual
Base
Rent

Monthly
Base
Rent

May 1, 2016 to September 30, 2016 $ 33,277.71
October 1, 2016 to September 30, 2017 $ 410,314.08 34,192.84
October 1, 2017 to September 30, 2018 421,597.80 35,133.15
October 1, 2018 to September 30, 2019 433,191.72 36,099.31
October 1, 2019 to September 30, 2020 445,104.48 37,092.04
October 1, 2020 to September 30, 2021 457,344.84 38,112.07
October 1, 2021 to September 30, 2022 469,921.80 39,160.15
October 1, 2022 to September 30, 2023 482,844.72 40,237.06
October 1, 2023 to September 30, 2024 496,122.96 41,343.58

 
C.                                    During the Renewal Terms (if exercised), Base Rent shall be, in the first year of any such Renewal Term, in an amount equal to

the greater of (i) ninety five percent (95%) of the then-current Market Rate (as defined below) or (ii) ninety percent (90%) of the Base Rent in the year
immediately preceding the first year of the Renewal Term.  For all subsequent years of each Renewal Term, the Base Rent shall be increased annually by two
and three-quarters percent (2.75%).

 
D.                                    Any language to the contrary in this Lease notwithstanding, Tenant shall receive rent abatement with respect to 3,415 square feet

known as the Annex and the former Prudential Space which Tenant shall be required to vacate in order to allow the new improvements to the Premises and the
Building to be made.  Said abatement shall begin one (1) business day prior to the date Tenant vacates the entirety of said particular portion of the Premises
and shall terminate on the date said space is re-delivered to Tenant.

 
E.                                    In connection with the 5th Addendum of Lease executed by and between Landlord and Tenant, between December 28, 2012 and

June 30, 2013, Tenant paid an “Option Fee” of, in the aggregate, Thirty Thousand and 00/100 Dollar ($30,000.00).  The 5th Addendum
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provided that in the event the Tenant executed a lease for more than fifty-percent (50%) of the “ Option Space” (as that term was defined in said 5th
Addendum) that Tenant would receive a credit against the Base Rent for said Option Fee (“ Rent Credit”).  This Lease fulfills the requirements of said 5th
Addendum to allow said Rent Credit. Accordingly, at Rent Commencement for any portion of the Premises under this Lease, Tenant shall receive a Rent Credit
equal to the first Thirty Thousand and 00/100 Dollar ($30,000.00) of Base Rent due hereunder.

 
F.                                     In addition, Landlord hereby agrees to provide Tenant with a rent credit in the amount of $ $39,224.98, to be applied at

Tenant’s option, against the payment of Base Rent at any time prior to September 30, 2014.
 
G.                                   In the event Landlord pays the Additional Allowance to Tenant (as set forth in paragraph 15 of the Construction of Improvements

Work Letter (“Work Letter”), Exhibit “E” attached hereto and incorporated herein), Tenant’s Base Rent shall be increased by the amount determined by the
amortization of the Additional Allowance, over the length of this Lease at an annual interest rate equal to 8.0%.

 
H.                                   (a)  The “Market Rate” shall be the prevailing market rate of rent and all charges for comparable space in the Baltimore,

Maryland market at the end of the Term as increased in accordance with market rate annual escalations. If Tenant exercises its option to renew hereunder,
Tenant and Landlord shall make a good faith effort to agree on the Market Rate on or before a date (the “ Outside Negotiation Date”) which is no later than
ten (10) months prior to the expiration of the then current Term, and prior to implementing the procedures set forth below if the parties are unable to agree. If
Landlord and Tenant are unable to agree upon the Market Rate by the Outside Negotiation Date, then Landlord and Tenant shall determine the Market Rate in
accordance with the appraisal procedure set forth herein. Within ten (10) days after the Outside Negotiation Date, the parties shall appoint a broker who shall
be mutually agreeable to both Landlord and Tenant, shall have at least ten (10) years’ experience as a broker of commercial leasehold estates, and shall be
knowledgeable in office rentals in the Baltimore, Maryland market. If the parties are unable to agree on a broker within such ten (10) day period, then each
party, within five (5) days after the expiration of such ten (10) day period, shall appoint a broker (with the same qualifications) and the two (2) brokers (or the
one broker if either Landlord or Tenant fails timely to appoint a broker) shall together appoint a third broker with the same qualifications. The broker or
brokers so appointed then shall determine, within thirty (30) days after the appointment of such broker or brokers, the then Market Rate for the Premises.
Among the factors to be considered by the broker(s) in determining the fair market base rent for the Premises shall be those factors set out below. The figure
arrived at by the broker (or the average of the figures arrived at by the three brokers, if applicable) shall be used as the Market Rate for such renewal terms, If
the three broker method is chosen, then if any broker’s estimate of fair Market Rate is either (x) less than ninety percent (90%) of the average figure or (y) more
than one hundred ten percent (110%) of such average, then the fair market rent will be either (1) the average of the remaining two (2) appraisal figures falling
within such a range of percentages, (2) the remaining appraisal that is within such range of percentages or (3) if none of the figures are within such range, the
average of the three (3) appraisals. Landlord and Tenant shall each bear the cost of its broker and shall share equally the cost of the third broker.
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(b)                                 In determining the Market Rate, the parties hereto and such brokers shall be guided by the following principles: the Market Rate

shall be determined by reference to comparable office space in office buildings in the Baltimore, Maryland metropolitan area most comparable to the quality,
location, amenities, stature, reputation, visibility and services of the Building. The Market Rate shall take into account the fact that there are no new tenant
improvements to be constructed by Landlord nor other lease-up costs (except broker commissions, if any) and shall provide for updating the Base Operating
Costs to the first year of each renewal term, if such factors are considered market concessions at such time. The valuation shall be conducted in accordance
with the provisions of this Section and, to the extent not inconsistent herewith, in accordance with the then prevailing rules of the American Arbitration
Association in Maryland (or any successor thereto). The final determination of such brokers shall be in writing and shall be binding and conclusive on the
parties, each of whom shall receive counterpart copies thereof. In rendering such decision the brokers shall not add to, subtract from, or otherwise modify the
provisions of this Lease. In determining the Market Rate, the brokers shall consider all the items set forth above for consideration in determining the Market
Rate. Instructions to such effect shall be given to the brokers.

 
4.2                               Percentage Rent.
 

Left Intentionally Blank.
 

4.3                               Additional Rent.  Additional rent (“Additional Rent”) shall include any and all charges or other amounts which the Tenant is obligated
to pay to the Landlord under this Lease, other than the Base Rent.

 
4.4                               Operating Costs.
 

(a)                                 Computation.  Within one hundred twenty (120) days after the end of each calendar year during the Term, the Landlord shall
compute the total of the Operating Costs incurred for the Building during such calendar year, and the Landlord shall allocate them to each separate rentable
space within the Building in proportion to the respective operating costs percentages assigned to such spaces.  Within such one hundred twenty (120) day
period, the Landlord shall send to the Tenant an annual statement setting forth the Operating Costs for the applicable calendar year (the “ Operating Costs
Statement”).  Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, wherever the Tenant and/or any other tenant of space within the Building has agreed in its lease
or otherwise to provide any item of such services partially or entirely at its own expense, or wherever in the Landlord’s reasonable judgment any such
significant item of expense is not incurred with respect to or for the benefit of all of the net rentable space within the Building, in allocating the Operating Costs
pursuant to this subsection, the Landlord shall make an appropriate adjustment, using generally accepted accounting principles and/or sound commercial
office lease management practices so as to avoid allocating to the Tenant or to such other tenant (as the case may be) those Operating Costs covering such
services already being provided by the Tenant or by such other tenant at its own expense, or to avoid allocating to all of the net rentable space within the Project
those Operating Costs incurred only with respect to a portion thereof, as aforesaid.  The Tenant shall have the right to review the books and records of the
Landlord with respect to the calculation of Operating Costs for the prior Lease Year or the Base Year at the Landlord’s office during normal business hours, at
the Tenant’s sole expense,
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provided (i) the Tenant provides at least fifteen (15) days’ advance written notice to the Landlord of its desire to inspect such books and records, and (ii) such
request is made within one hundred twenty (120) days after the Operating Costs Statement is delivered by the Landlord to the Tenant; provided, however,
Tenant shall have the right to audit the Base Year at any time following the determination that there are discrepancies totaling more than five percent (5%) in the
annual Operating Costs.  Tenant may not hire, engage, make use of, consult, employ or utilize any person, firm, corporation or entity on a contingent fee
basis, with respect to Tenant’s inspection of such books and records.  Any audit that discloses a discrepancy of more than five percent (5%) in the annual
Operating Costs shall be at Landlord’s expense and Landlord shall reimburse Tenant for such cost (including reasonable attorneys’ fees) within thirty (30)
days of the result of the audit.

 
Landlord shall, within thirty (30) days prior to the commencement of each calendar year, provided Tenant with an estimated Operating Expense

budget for the upcoming calendar year, which budget shall include details addressing the actual (if known), or estimated, real estate taxes for the upcoming
calendar year.

 
(b)                                 Payment as Additional Rent.   The Tenant shall pay as Additional Rent to the Landlord, Tenant’s Share of the increase in

Operating Costs over the Operating Costs of calendar year 2014 (the “ Base Year”).  The Tenant shall also pay as Additional Rent to the Landlord, Tenant’s
Share of the increase in Real Estate Taxes over the Real Estate Taxes of the tax year 2014-2015 (the “ Real Estate Tax Base Year”). The Tenant shall also pay
as Additional Rent to the Landlord, Tenant’s Share of the increase in insurance costs over the insurance costs of 2014 (the “ Insurance Base Year”).  With
respect to the Real Estate Taxes, the tax component of the Landlord’s operating cost basis shall be based upon an assessment attributable to the Tenant’s
improvements reflecting the to-be-built or renovated improvements.  If the Property’s real estate taxes during the Real Estate Tax Base Year are not based upon a
new assessment, the real estate tax base shall be adjusted when the new assessment has been made.  There shall be excluded from the definition of Real Estate
Taxes any taxes based on increases in assessed value due to (a) any sale, transfer or conveyance of the Building or Property, including any of landlord’s right,
title or interest thereto; (b) any mortgaging or refinancing of the property; (c) improvements for other occupants of the property; (d) capital improvements to the
property which do not benefit Tenant; and (e) increases in the rentable area of the Building and additions to the Property (although in the event Tenant
constructs a fifth (5 ) floor on the Building, then in that event Tenant shall pay Tenant’s Proportionate share of the increase solely attributable to the increase
in Property Taxes for said additional Premises, if any).  Any language to the contrary in this Lease notwithstanding, Tenant shall pay one hundred percent
(100%) of the Operating Expenses, without any limitation to a Base Year, solely attributable to the “mezzanine improvements” in the Premises (the “mezzanine
improvements” specifically refers to the anticipated construction of a “mezzanine area” in the Field House portion of the Premises).  Landlord shall provide
Tenant with documentation reasonably acceptable to Tenant supporting any such allocation of Operating Expenses to the “mezzanine improvements”.

 
(c)                                  Proration.  If only part of any calendar year falls within the Term, the amount computed as Tenant’s Share of Operating Costs

for such calendar year under this subsection shall be prorated in proportion to the portion of such calendar year falling within the Term (but the expiration of
the Term before the end of a calendar year shall not impair the
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Tenant’s obligation hereunder to pay such prorated portion of Tenant’s Share of Operating Costs for that portion of such calendar year falling within the Term,
which amount shall be paid on demand as Additional Rent).  Tenant’s Share of Operating Costs shall be periodically adjusted to reflect Tenant’s increased
occupancy of the Premises in accordance with the schedule set forth in Section 3.1(b) above.

 
(d)                                 Landlord’s Right to Estimate.  Anything in this subsection to the contrary notwithstanding, the Landlord, at its reasonable

discretion, may (a) make from time to time during the Term a reasonable estimate of the Additional Rent which may become due under this subsection for any
calendar year, (b) require the Tenant to pay to the Landlord for each calendar month during such year one twelfth (1/12) of such Additional Rent, at the time
and in the manner that the Tenant is required hereunder to pay the monthly installment of the Base Rent for such month, and (c) increase or decrease from time
to time during such calendar year the amount initially so estimated for such calendar year, all by giving the Tenant written notice thereof, accompanied by a
schedule setting forth in reasonable detail the expenses comprising the Operating Costs, as so estimated.  In such event, the Landlord shall cause the actual
amount of such Additional Rent to be computed and certified to the Tenant within one hundred twenty (120) days after the end of such calendar year.  Any
overpayment or deficiency in the Tenant’s payment of Tenant’s Share of Operating Costs shall be reconciled between the Landlord and the Tenant; the Tenant
shall pay the Landlord or the Landlord shall credit to the Tenant’s account (or, if such reconciliation is at the end of the Term, the Landlord shall pay to the
Tenant), as the case may be, within thirty (30) days after such notice to the Tenant, such amount necessary to effect such reconciliation.  Except as otherwise
set forth herein, the Landlord’s failure to provide such notice within the time prescribed above shall not relieve the Tenant of any of its obligations hereunder.

 
4.5                               When Due and Payable.
 

(a)                                 Base Rent.  The Base Rent for any Lease Year shall be due and payable in twelve (12) consecutive, equal monthly installments,
in advance, on the first (1st) day of each calendar month during such Lease Year.  In addition, if the Rent Commencement Date falls on a day other than the
first day of a calendar month, then the Base Rent for the first month of the Term shall be prorated based on the number of days remaining in that month and
such amount shall be due and payable on the Rent Commencement Date.

 
(b)                                 Additional Rent.  Any Additional Rent accruing to the Landlord under this Lease, except as is otherwise set forth herein, shall

be due and payable when the installment of Base Rent next falling due after such Additional Rent accrues and becomes due and payable.
 
(c)                                  No Set-Off; Late Payment.   Each such payment shall be made promptly when due, without any deduction or setoff

whatsoever, and without demand, failing which the Tenant shall pay to the Landlord as Additional Rent, after the fifth (5th) day after such payment remains
due but unpaid, a late charge equal to five percent (5%) of such payment which remains due but unpaid.  In addition, any payment that is not paid by the
tenth (10th) day after such payment is due shall bear interest at the Default Rate.  Any payment made by the Tenant to the Landlord on account of Rent may be
credited by the Landlord to the payment of any Rent then past due before being credited to Rent currently falling due.  Any such payment which is less

th
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than the amount of Rent then due shall constitute a payment made on account thereof, the parties hereto hereby agreeing that the Landlord’s acceptance of such
payment (whether or not with or accompanied by an endorsement or statement that such lesser amount or the Landlord’s acceptance thereof constitutes
payment in full of the amount of Rent then due) shall not alter or impair the Landlord’s rights hereunder to be paid all of such amount then due, or in any
other respect.

 
4.6                               Where Payable.  The Tenant shall pay the Rent, in lawful currency of the United States of America, to the Landlord by delivering or

mailing it to the Landlord’s address set forth herein, or to such other address or in such other manner as the Landlord from time to time specifies by written
notice to the Tenant.

 
4.7                               Tax on Lease.  If federal, state or local law now or hereafter imposes any tax, assessment, levy or other charge directly or indirectly upon

(a) the Landlord with respect to this Lease or the value thereof, (b) the Tenant’s use or occupancy of the Premises, (c) the Base Rent, Additional Rent or any
other sum payable under this Lease, or (d) this transaction, then the Tenant shall pay the amount thereof as Additional Rent to the Landlord within thirty (30)
days following receipt of written demand, unless the Tenant is prohibited by law from doing so, in which event the Landlord at its election may terminate this
Lease by giving written notice thereof to the Tenant.

 
4.8                               Guaranty.  This section left intentionally blank.
 
4.9                               Security Deposit.  In the event that Tenant’s net worth falls below $175,000,000.00 in any quarterly financial reporting period, Tenant

will provide a letter of credit from a national banking institution which institution is in good standing with the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (the
“FDIC”) and which is in compliance with the FDIC’s Statement of Policy on Capital Adequacy, for the faithful performance of Tenant’s obligations under
this Lease.  The amount of such letter of credit shall equal $2,000,000.00 if Tenant’s net worth falls below $175,000,000.00 at any time between the Effective
Date of this Lease and September 30, 2018.  The amount of the letter of credit required in the event that Tenant’s net worth falls below $175,000,000.00 shall
decline by 20% on September 30th of every calendar year subsequent to September 30, 2018 until reaching $0.  Tenant shall maintain such letter of credit until
such time as Tenant’s net worth exceeds $175,000,000.00 for two (2) consecutive quarterly financial reporting periods.  Provided Tenant performs its
obligations under this Lease, the security deposit shall be returned to Tenant without interest within thirty (30) days following the expiration or earlier
termination of the Lease.  If Tenant shall default in any obligation under this Lease beyond any applicable notice and cure period, Landlord shall be entitled to
apply any or all of the security deposit toward Landlord’s damages as reasonably determined by Landlord, and Tenant shall within ten days (10) after receipt
of written notice thereof, deposit with Landlord an amount sufficient to restore the security deposit to its original amount, which amount shall constitute
additional rent.
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ARTICLE 5

 
TAXES

 
5.1                               Payment.  For each Tax Year, the Tenant shall pay to the Landlord in the manner provided herein, Tenant’s Share of the increase in the

Taxes levied upon or assessed against the Property, over a base year of 2014-2015, and as modified by section 4.4(b), above.  In addition, if Landlord
provides evidence reasonably acceptable to Tenant that any amount of the Taxes is solely attributable to the “mezzanine improvements” in the Premises, Tenant
shall pay for the entirety of the Taxes so attributable to the “mezzanine improvements” in the Premises (the “mezzanine improvements” specifically refers to the
anticipated construction of a “mezzanine area” in the Field House portion of the Premises).

 
5.2                               Proration.  If only part of any Tax Year falls within the Term, the amount computed as Tenant’s Share of Taxes for such Tax Year under

this subsection shall be prorated in proportion to the portion of such Tax Year falling within the Term (but the expiration of the Term before the end of a Tax
Year shall not impair the Tenant’s obligations hereunder to pay such prorated portion of Tenant’s Share of Taxes for that portion of such Tax Year falling
within the Term, which amount shall be paid on demand).  Tenant’s Share of Taxes shall be periodically adjusted to reflect Tenant’s increased occupancy of
the Premises in accordance with the schedule set forth in Section 3.1(b) above.

 
5.3                               Method of Payment.  Tenant’s Share of Taxes shall be paid by the Tenant, at the Landlord’s election (i) in advance, in equal monthly

installments in such amounts as are estimated and billed for each Tax Year by the Landlord at the commencement of the Term and at the beginning of each
successive Tax Year during the Term, each such installment being due on the first day of each calendar month or (ii) in a lump sum, following the Landlord’s
receipt of the tax bill for the Tax Year in question, and calculation of Tenant’s Share of Taxes with respect thereto.  If the Landlord has elected that the Tenant
pay Tenant’s Share of Taxes in installments, in advance, then, at any time during a Tax Year, the Landlord may re-estimate Tenant’s Share of Taxes and
thereafter adjust the Tenant’s monthly installments payable during the Tax Year to reflect more accurately Tenant’s Share of Taxes.  Within one hundred
twenty (120) days after the Landlord’s receipt of tax bills for each Tax Year, the Landlord will notify the Tenant of the amount of Taxes for the Tax Year in
question and the amount of Tenant’s Share of Taxes thereof.  Any overpayment or deficiency in the Tenant’s payment of Tenant’s Share of Taxes for each Tax
Year shall be reconciled between the Landlord and the Tenant.  Tenant shall pay the Landlord or the Landlord shall credit to the Tenant’s account (or, if such
reconciliation is at the end of the Term, the Landlord shall pay the Tenant) such amount necessary to effect such reconciliation within thirty (30) days after
such notice to the Tenant. Except as otherwise set forth herein, the Landlord’s failure to provide such notice within the time prescribed above shall not relieve
the Tenant of any of its obligations hereunder. Upon request by Tenant, Landlord shall provide Tenant with a copy of any tax bills for the Property.

 
5.4                               Taxes on Rent.  In addition to Tenant’s Share of Taxes, the Tenant shall pay to the appropriate agency any sales, excise and other tax (not

including, however, the Landlord’s income taxes) levied, imposed or assessed by the State of Maryland or any political subdivision thereof or other taxing
authority upon any Rent payable hereunder.  The Tenant shall also pay, prior to the time the same shall become delinquent or payable with penalty, all taxes
imposed on its inventory, furniture, trade fixtures, apparatus, equipment, leasehold improvements installed by the Tenant or by the Landlord on behalf of the
Tenant and any other property of the Tenant.
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ARTICLE 6

 
USE OF PREMISES

 
6.1                               Nature of Use/Use Restriction.   Tenant shall use the Premises solely and exclusively for the business purpose of operating a general

office and ancillary uses thereto, consistent with Tenant’s current use of the Premises.  Tenant covenants and warrants that under no circumstances shall
Tenant operate the premises in a manner that violates any of the exclusivity use extended by Landlord to any other tenant in the Building or Project or any of
the prohibited uses, as set forth in Exhibit “G” attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference.  In the event that Tenant breaches the covenant and
warranty in the foregoing sentence, it shall indemnify and hold Landlord harmless for same, including the payment of all reasonable and actual costs and
expenses incurred by Landlord, including but not limited to any defense costs incurred in responding to any action or complaint brought by any other tenant,
and for reasonable attorneys fees and costs of litigation.  Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, Landlord hereby acknowledges and approves of
Tenant’s right to serve food and beverages to its employees and guests at the Premises, but Tenant shall not sell any such food or beverages nor operate any
portion of the Premises as a restaurant.

 
6.2                               Compliance with Law and Covenants.   Landlord hereby covenants and agrees at its expense to maintain the Building and the Common

Areas of the Building in compliance with all applicable Laws, including but not limited to, the Americans with Disabilities Act.  To the best of Landlord’s
knowledge and belief, the Building and Common Areas of the Building will be in compliance with such applicable laws, in effect as of the Effective Date. The
Tenant, throughout the Term and at its sole expense, in its use and possession of the Premises, shall comply promptly and fully with (i) all laws, ordinances,
notices, orders, rules, regulations and requirements of all federal, state and municipal governments and all departments, commissions, boards and officers
thereof, including the Maryland Clean Air Act of 2007 and (ii) all covenants and restrictions affecting the Premises; pay when due all personal property taxes,
income taxes, license fees and other taxes assessed, levied or imposed upon the Tenant or any other person in connection with the operation of its business
upon the Premises or its use thereof in any other manner; and not obstruct, annoy or interfere with the rights of other tenants or Landlord in the operation and
management of the Building.

 
6.3                               Mechanics’ Liens.   Without limiting the generality of the foregoing provisions of this section, the Tenant shall not create or permit to be

created, and if created shall discharge or have released, any mechanics’ or materialmens’ lien arising while this Lease is in effect and affecting any or all of the
Premises, the Building and/or the Project, and the Tenant shall not permit any other matter or thing whereby the Landlord’s estate, right and interest in any or
all of the Premises, the Building and/or the Project might be impaired or encumbered.  The Tenant shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless the Landlord
against and from any and all liability, claim of liability or expense (including but not limited to that of reasonable attorneys’ fees) incurred by the Landlord on
account of any such lien or claim.
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6.4                               Signs.
 

(a)                                 Property Branding and Exterior Signage. On the later of i) October 1, 2014 and ii) substantial completion of the Phase II
improvements described herein, Landlord shall re-brand the Property “Millennial Media Center at the Can Company” and shall install signage consistent with
same, subject to the terms of this section.

 
(b)                                 Landlord shall provide an allowance (the “ Re-Branding Allowance”) of fifty thousand dollars ($50,000.00) to Tenant to be

used in the re-branding of the Property, which allowance shall be utilized for the development of promotional materials, logos, and signage.
 
(c)                                  Landlord will, at Tenant’s request and cost (and subject to the aforementioned Re-Branding Allowance): (i) install exterior signage

at the Property noting the name “Millennial Media Center at The Can Company”, which exterior signage shall include a mutually agreed upon logo in
accordance with this section, and (ii) modify the existing pylon signage at the entrances to the Property on Boston Street (the “ Existing Pylon Signs”) such
that such pylon signage reflects the new branding and logo “Millennial Media Center at the Can Company” and removes the existing Can Company logo
(collectively the “Pylon Signage”).  Any and all exterior signage installed pursuant to this Section 6.4 (collectively, the “ Exterior Signage” and each
individual exterior sign an “Exterior Sign”) and the Pylon Signage shall be (i) created pursuant to design(s) and placements on the Property that shall be
mutually agreed upon by Landlord and Tenant (it being expressly acknowledged and agreed that all Exterior Signage shall be installed only in the locations set
forth on Exhibit “J” and that the Pylon Signage shall be in the locations of the Existing Pylon Signs), (ii) in compliance with (1) the City of Baltimore’s laws
and specifications, and any other rules, regulations or restrictions affecting the Property and (2) sign criteria reasonably established by Landlord for tenants at
the Project, such sign criteria attached hereto as Exhibit “F”.  Subject to the terms of this Section 6.4, Tenant shall have the exclusive right to install Exterior
Signage in the locations set forth on Exhibit “J”, subject to any existing (or replacement) signage of Landlord at the Property, including but not limited to the
vertical “The Can Company” sign on the corner of the Signature Building and the “American Can Company” historic neon sign at the east facing roof
parapet.

 
(d)                                 In addition, Landlord shall utilize the name “Millennial Media Center at the Can Company” (although not specifically to the

exclusion of the names of other tenants of the Property) and include a mutually agreed upon logo in printed materials it utilizes to announce or advertise public
events and promotions at the Property, with the exception of promotions and events (A) sponsored by DAP or DAP successors or (B) undertaken as part of
Landlord’s efforts to lease, re-lease, finance, sell or otherwise promote the Property for sale or lease.

 
(e)                                  Interior Signage.      Tenant shall have (i) the exclusive right to install signage throughout the Premises, including the Signature

Building, the “Entry Volume”, Field House, and Annex, and throughout the non-lobby areas of the Factory Building (excepting therefrom the elevator and the
first and second floor lobbies of the Factory Building) and (ii) the non-exclusive right to install signage in the lobby of the Factory Building.  All signage (and
the locations thereof) installed by Tenant pursuant to this Section 6.4(b) shall be (A) subject to Landlord’s approval, which approval shall be granted or
denied in Landlord’s reasonable discretion, but Landlord may take into consideration with respect to such approval the
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commercial concerns of DAP Products, Inc., (B) repaired and maintained in a first-class condition throughout the Term at Tenant’s sole cost and expense, and
(C) installed at Tenant’s sole cost and expense.

 
(f)                                   The foregoing rights shall be further subject to the following conditions:
 

(i)                                    Tenant’s exclusive rights and the Landlord’s obligation to brand the Property, including the use of logos and signage
bearing the name “Millennial Media at the Can Company” shall terminate if at any time during the Lease Tenant or an Affiliate is not occupying at least fifty
percent (50%) of the leased square footage contemplated by this agreement and all subsequent signage agreements.

 
(ii)                                In addition, if at any time during the Term Tenant has been in monetary default beyond the expiration of any applicable

notice and cure period two (2) or more times in any twelve (12) month period, Tenant’s signage rights granted hereunder may, at Landlord’s election, be
forfeited in their entirety.

 
(iii)                            If Tenant loses its signage rights as set forth in the preceding paragraphs, Landlord may remove the signage of Tenant at

Landlord’s sole cost and expense.
 

6.5                               License.
 

(a)                                 Grant of License.  The Landlord hereby grants to the Tenant a non-exclusive license to use (and to permit its officers, members,
partners, directors, agents, employees and invitees to use), in the course of conducting business at the Premises, the Common Areas.

 
(b)                                 Non-Exclusive License.   Such license shall be exercised in common with the exercise thereof by the Landlord, the other tenants

or occupants of the Project, and their respective officers, members, partners, directors, agents, employees and invitees.
 
(c)                                  Parking Areas:
 

(i)                                    The Landlord hereby grants to the Tenant a non-exclusive license to use (and to permit its officers, members, partners,
directors, agents, employees and invitees to use), in the course of conducting business at the Premises, the Parking Areas at the Project during the term of the
Lease.  Any language to the contrary in this lease notwithstanding, Landlord does reserve unto itself the right to change the lay-out of the Parking Area, and the
points of ingress and egress from said Parking Areas.  Parking spaces designated to Tenant within the Property’s garage shall exclude spaces numbered 70
through 77, 33, and 35 on the attached Exhibit “I”.

 
(ii)                                Throughout the duration of this Lease, including its Renewal Terms, parking passes provided to Tenant by Landlord

shall be as follows and pursuant to the following rates:
 

1.                                      Garage Parking:     Throughout the duration of this Lease, including extensions or renewals thereof,
Landlord shall provide to Tenant up to 110
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parking passes for spaces located: (i) within the Property’s parking garage, (ii) the adjacent Safeway parking lot, or (iii) the City of Baltimore lot.  Of the 110
parking passes, no less than eighty-five (85) spaces shall be in the Property’s parking garage, and no more than twenty-five (25) spaces shall be located in
areas other than the parking garage.

 
Forty-two (42) of the parking passes for the Property’s parking garage shall be provided at no additional cost or expense to Tenant.  Of the

forty-two (42) parking passes, twenty (20) of such parking passes shall be for “Reserved” spaces within the Property’s parking garage and shall be clearly
identified as such.

 
The balance of the parking passes for spaces located within the Property’s parking garage shall be provided at the initial monthly rate of

one hundred dollars and no cents ($100.00) per parking space.  The monthly rate shall be subject to annual adjustment at the rate of two and three-quarters
percent (2.75%) applied on the anniversary of the date upon which the parking passes are delivered from Landlord to Tenant.

 
2.                                      Surface Parking:         Landlord may provide parking passes for up to twenty five (25) parking spaces

located on the adjacent Safeway parking lot, including the component owned by the City of Baltimore.  Tenant’s cost for the use of such parking spaces shall
be no more than the costs defined by an existing licensing agreement between Safeway and Can Company, LLC, subject to adjustment at a rate no greater than
two and three-quarters percent (2.75%) per Lease Year.

 
During the initial lease year and within thirty (30) days prior to Tenant’s occupancy of the 3  Floor of the Factory Building, Tenant shall

provide written notice to Landlord as to the number of additional parking passes it requires (subject to a maximum of 110).
 

During the initial lease year and within thirty (30) days prior to Tenant’s occupancy of the “Entry Volume”/Field House/Annex space,
Tenant shall provide written notice to Landlord as to the number of additional parking passes it requires in excess of those noticed in advance of Tenant’s
occupancy of the 3  Floor of the Factory Building (subject to a maximum of 110).

 
Tenant shall retain the right to request additional parking passes, subject to a maximum of 110, at any time during the Term of this Lease.

 
(d)                                 Alterations.  The Landlord reserves the right at any time and from time to time (i) to change or alter the location, layout, nature

or arrangement of the Common Areas or any portion thereof, including but not limited to the arrangement and/or location of entrances, passageways, doors,
corridors, stairs, lavatories, elevators, parking areas, and other public areas of the Building, and (ii) to construct additional improvements on the Project and
make alterations thereof or additions thereto and build additional stories on or in any such buildings adjoining the same; provided, however, in the exercise of
its rights hereunder, Landlord shall use reasonable efforts to minimize any disruption to Tenant’s normal business operations and no such change or alteration
shall deprive the Tenant of access to or use of the Premises.
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(e)                                  Use of Common Areas.   The Landlord shall at all times have full and exclusive control, management and direction of the

Common Areas.  The Tenant shall maintain in a neat and clean condition that area designated by the Landlord as the refuse collection area.  Except as
otherwise expressly stated herein, Tenant shall not place or maintain anywhere within the Project, other than within the area which may be designated by
Landlord from time to time as such refuse collection area, any trash, garbage or other similar items.

 
6.6                               Liability of Landlord.   The Landlord and its agents and employees shall not be liable to the Tenant or any other person whatsoever (a) for

any injury to person or damage to Project caused by any defect in or failure of equipment, pipes, wiring or broken glass, or the backing up of any drains, or
by gas, water, steam, electricity or oil leaking, escaping or flowing into the Premises, or (b) for any loss or damage that may be occasioned by or through the
acts or omissions of any other tenant of the Project or of any other person whatsoever, in each case other than to the extent same is due to the gross negligence or
willful misconduct of the Landlord or its employees, agents or contractors.

 
6.7                               Floor Load.  The Tenant shall not place a load upon any floor of the Premises exceeding the floor load per square foot area which such

floor was designed to carry.  The Landlord reserves the right to prescribe the weight and position of all safes and other heavy equipment, and to prescribe the
reinforcing, if any, which in the opinion of the Landlord may be required under the circumstances, such reinforcing to be at the Tenant’s sole expense. 
Business machines and mechanical equipment shall be placed and maintained by the Tenant in settings sufficient in the Landlord’s judgment to absorb and
prevent vibration and noise, and the Tenant shall, at its sole expense, immediately take such steps as the Landlord may direct to remedy any such condition. 
In no event shall Tenant allow any load upon the floor which exceeds one hundred twenty-five (125) pounds per square foot.

 
6.8                               Hazardous Materials.   Landlord represents and warrants that, to the best of its knowledge, following the remediation efforts completed

prior to 1996, Landlord has maintained the Building and the Project in compliance with all Environmental Laws.  Landlord covenants not to bring onto the
Property or Building, any Hazardous Materials.  The Tenant warrants and agrees that the Tenant shall not cause or permit any Hazardous Material to be
brought upon, kept, released, discharged, or used in or about the Premises by the Tenant, its agents, employees, contractors or invitees.  If the Tenant
breaches the obligations stated in the preceding sentence, then the Tenant shall indemnify, defend and hold the Landlord harmless from and against any and
all claims, judgments, damages, penalties, fines, costs, liabilities or losses (including, without limitation, diminution in value of the Premises and the
Building, damages for the loss or restriction on use of rentable or usable space or of any amenity of the Building or the Project generally, damages from any
adverse impact on marketing of space in the Building, and sums paid in settlement of claims, reasonable attorneys’ fees, reasonable consultant fees and
reasonable expert fees) which arise during or within six (6) months after the Term as a result of such contamination.  This indemnification of the Landlord by
the Tenant includes, without limitation, costs incurred in connection with any investigation of site conditions or any cleanup, remedial, removal or restoration
work required by any governmental authority because of Hazardous Material present in the soil or ground water or under the Premises or the Property
generally.  As used herein (i) “Environmental Laws” means the Clean Air Act, the Resource Conservation Recovery Act of 1976, the Hazardous Material
Transportation Act, the
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Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act of 1980, the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, the Toxic Substances
Control Act, the Occupational Safety and Health Act, the Consumer Product Safety Act, the Clean Water Act, the Federal Water Pollution Control Act, the
National Environmental Policy Act, Md.  Nat.  Res.  Code Ann., Title 8, and Md.  Env.  Code Ann., Title 7, as each of the foregoing shall be amended from
time to time, and any similar or successor laws, federal, state or local, or any rules or regulations promulgated thereunder; and (ii) “ Hazardous Materials”
means and includes asbestos; “oil, petroleum products and their by-products “hazardous substances;” “hazardous wastes” or “toxic substances,” as those
terms are used in Environmental Laws; or any substances or materials listed as hazardous or toxic in the United States Department of Transportation, or by
the Environmental Protection Agency or any successor agency under any Environmental Laws but excluding immaterial quantities of substances customarily
and prudently used in the normal course of business on, building and construction materials at, or landscaping, cleaning or maintenance of the Property in
accordance with any applicable law.  Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, Landlord represents that to the best of its knowledge, as of
the commencement date of this Lease, the Premises are not in violation of any federal, state, or local prohibition against the presence of PCB’s or other
Hazardous Materials.

 
6.9                               Trade Name.  Unless otherwise approved in writing by the Landlord, such approval not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or

delayed, the Tenant shall conduct the business in the Premises only in the name of “Millennial Media”.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event the Tenant
is acquired or merges with another entity, or to the extent the Tenant elects to change its name for any reason, Tenant shall have the right to conduct business in
the Premises in such name following written notice to Landlord.  The Tenant hereby represents and warrants to the Landlord that the Tenant has authority and
the exclusive right to use the foregoing trade name.

 
6.10                        Continuous Operation; Hours of Operation.   From and after the Rent Commencement Date, the Tenant shall occupy the Premises and

continuously operate and use the Premises for the permitted use set forth in Section 6.1. The Tenant shall not vacate or abandon any portion of the Premises
during the Term.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, Tenant shall not be in breach of this paragraph if the Premises is damaged by fire or other casualty or is
otherwise rendered untenantable.

 
ARTICLE 7

 
INSURANCE AND

 
7.1                               Insurance.  At all times from and after the earlier of (i) the entry by the Tenant into the Premises, or (ii) the Rent Commencement Date, the

Tenant shall take out and keep in full force and effect, at its expense:
 

(a)                                 commercial general liability insurance with a combined single limit of not less than One Million Dollars ($1,000,000) per
occurrence and Two Million Dollars ($2,000,000.00) in the aggregate, which limits may be reasonably increased by Landlord to reflect changing legal liability
standards.  Commercial general liability insurance shall include,
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 but not be limited to, coverage for Premises/Operations, products and completed operations, personal injury, advertising injury liability, broad form
contractual liability;

 
(b)                                 special form property insurance written at full replacement cost value and with replacement cost endorsement covering all of

Tenant’s property, except for improvements which are part of the Landlord’s Work;
 
(c)                                  worker’s compensation or similar insurance in form and amounts required by law; and
 
(d)                                 business automobile liability insurance of no less than $1 million, combined single limit, including coverage for owned, non-

owned and hired automobiles, if applicable;
 
(e)                                  such other insurance in such types and amounts as Landlord may reasonably require, provided that such other insurance is in

accordance with standards generally accepted for comparable buildings in the Baltimore area.
 
(f)                                   Tenant shall provide to Landlord at the time this Lease is executed, or any other times during the term of the Lease at the

Landlord’s sole discretion, certificates of insurance confirming that the insurance required under this Lease has been paid for and acquired by Tenant.
 
(g)                                 That all insurance to be provided by Tenant shall include a waiver of subrogation in favor of Landlord, shall be issued without

any co-insurance penalties, and shall name the Landlord and/or its designees (including without limitation any mortgagee of Landlord’s) as additional
insureds, shall be primary and non-contributory, and shall contain provisions wherein the insurer agrees that any such policy shall not be cancelled,
materially changed, terminated, or not renewed except upon after giving thirty (30) days advance written notice to the Tenant, and Tenant agrees to promptly
provide a copy of any such notice to Landlord and/or its designees.

 
7.2                               Tenant’s Contractor’s Insurance.  The Tenant shall require any contractor of the Tenant performing work in, on or about the Premises

to take out and keep in full force and effect, at no expense to the Landlord, such insurance as Landlord may reasonably require.
 
7.3                               Policy Requirements.  The company or companies writing any insurance which the Tenant is required to take out and maintain or cause

to be taken out or maintained pursuant to this Lease, as well as the form of such insurance, at all times be subject to the reasonable Landlord’s approval, and
any such company or companies shall be licensed to do business in the State of Maryland and have a rating of at least A or better and a financial size rating of
XII or larger from Best’s Key Rating Guide and Supplemental Service (or comparable rating from a comparable insurance rating service).  Public, commercial
general liability and all-risk casualty insurance policies evidencing such insurance shall name the Landlord and/or its designees (including, without limitation,
any Mortgagee) as additional insureds, shall be primary and noncontributory, and shall also contain a provision by which the insurer agrees that such policy
shall not be cancelled, materially changed, terminated or not renewed except after thirty (30)
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days’ advance written notice to the Tenant, and Tenant agrees to promptly provide a copy of any such notice to Landlord and/or such designees.

 
7.4                               Indemnities by Tenant and Landlord.
 

(a)                                 Notwithstanding any policy or policies of insurance required of the Tenant, the Tenant, for itself and its successors and assigns,
to the extent permitted by law, shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless the Landlord, the Landlord’s agents and any Mortgagee against and from any and
all liability or claims of liability by any person asserted against or incurred by the Landlord and/or such agent or Mortgagee in connection with (i) the use,
occupancy, conduct, operation or management of the Premises by the Tenant or any of its agents, contractors, servants, employees, licensees, concessionaires,
suppliers, materialmen or invitees during the Term; (ii) any work or thing whatsoever done in the Premises during the Term, performed by Tenant, its
employees, agents or contractors; (iii) any breach or default in performing any of the obligations under the provisions of this Lease and/or applicable law by
the Tenant or any of its agents, contractors, servants, employees, licensees, suppliers, materialmen or invitees during the Term; (iv) any negligent,
intentionally tortuous act or omission by the Tenant or any of its agents, contractors, servants, employees, licensees, concessionaires, suppliers, materialmen
or invitees during the Term; or (v) any injury to or death of any person or any damage to any property occurring upon the Premises (except to the extent such
event results from a condition existing before the execution of this Lease or resulting in the termination of this Lease), and from and against all costs, expenses
and liabilities incurred in connection with any claim, action, demand, suit at law, in equity or before any administrative tribunal, arising in whole or in part
by reason of any of the foregoing (including, by way of example rather than of limitation, the fees of attorneys, investigators and experts), all except to the
extent such claim, action or proceeding is asserted before or after the expiration of the Term or any earlier termination of this Lease and except to the extent
caused by the gross negligence or willful misconduct of Landlord, its agents, employees or contractors.

 
(b)                                 If any such claim, action or proceeding is brought against the Landlord and/or any agent or Mortgagee, the Tenant, if requested

by the Landlord or such agent or Mortgagee, and at the Tenant’s expense, promptly shall resist or defend such claim, action or proceeding or cause it to be
resisted or defended by an insurer.  The Landlord, at its option, shall be entitled to participate in the selection of counsel, settlement and all other matters
pertaining to such claim, action or proceeding, all of which shall be subject, in any case, to the prior written approval of the Landlord.

 
(c)                                  Subject to the provisions of subsection 7.8, Landlord shall indemnify, defend, and hold Tenant harmless from and against any

and all damage, claim, liability, cost or expense arising out of the gross negligence or intentional acts and omissions of the Landlord, its agents, employees,
contractors or invitees.

 
7.5                               Landlord Not Responsible for Acts of Others.   The Landlord shall not be responsible or liable to the Tenant, or to those claiming by,



through or under the Tenant, for any loss or damage which may be occasioned by or through the acts or omissions of persons occupying or using space
adjoining the Premises or any part of the premises adjacent to or connecting with the Premises or any other part of the Building or the Project, or for any loss or
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damage resulting to the Tenant (or those claiming by, through or under the Tenant) or its or their property, from (a) the breaking, bursting, stoppage or leaking
of electrical cable and/or wires, or water, gas, sewer or steam pipes, (b) falling plaster, or (c) dampness, water, rain or snow in any part of the Building,
except to the extent caused by the gross negligence or willful misconduct of Landlord, its agents, employees or contractors.  The Landlord is not obligated to
protect from the criminal acts of third parties the Tenant, Tenant’s agents, customers, invitees or employees, the Premises or the property of Tenant or any
property of any of Tenant’s agents, customers, invitees or employees.  Tenant hereby acknowledges that Tenant has the sole responsibility for the protection of
the Premises, the Tenant’s property and the Tenant’s customers, agents, invitees and employees.  Tenant acknowledges that, if Landlord shall provide security
guards for the Common Areas, Landlord does not represent, guarantee, or assume responsibility that Tenant will be secure from any claims or causes of
action relating to such security guards.

 
7.6                               Landlord’s Insurance.  During the Term, the Landlord shall maintain, in commercially reasonable amounts, (a) insurance on the Project

against loss or damage by fire and all of the hazards included in the extended coverage endorsement, (b) comprehensive commercial general liability and
property damage insurance with respect to the Common Areas, against claims for personal injury or death, or property damage suffered by others occurring
in, on or about the Project, and (c) any other insurance, in such form and in such amounts as are deemed reasonable by the Landlord, including, without
limitation, rent continuation and business interruption insurance, terrorism insurance, theft insurance and workers’ compensation, flood and earthquake, and
boiler and machinery insurance.  The costs and expenses of any and all such insurance carried by the Landlord shall be included as a part of Operating
Costs.

 
7.7                               Increase in Insurance Premiums.   The Tenant shall not do or suffer to be done, or keep or suffer to be kept, anything in, upon or about

the Premises, the Building or the Project which will contravene the Landlord’s policies of hazard or liability insurance or which will prevent the Landlord from
procuring such policies from companies acceptable to the Landlord.  If anything done, omitted to be done, or suffered by the Tenant to be kept in, upon or
about the Premises, the Building or the Project shall cause the rate of fire or other insurance on the Premises, the Building or the Project to be increased beyond
the minimum rate from time to time applicable to the Premises or to any such other property for the use or uses made thereof, the Tenant shall pay to the
Landlord, as Additional Rent, the amount of any such increase upon the Landlord’s demand therefor.

 
7.8                               Waiver of Right of Recovery.  To the extent that any loss or damage to the Premises, the Building, the Project, any building, structure or

other tangible property, or resulting loss of income, or losses under workers’ compensation laws and benefits, are covered by insurance, neither party shall be
liable to the other party or to any insurance company insuring the other party (by way of subrogation or otherwise), even though such loss or damage might
have been occasioned by the negligence of such party, its agents or employees.  Notwithstanding any provision of this Lease to the contrary, Landlord and
Tenant agree that, with respect to each indemnity contained in this Lease, the indemnifying party shall not be required to indemnify the indemnified party for
(a) such portion of any claim, cost, damage, expense, fee, liability, loss or suit which is attributable to the acts or omissions (including acts of negligence) of
the indemnified party or its respective agents or employees, as applicable, or (b) the portion (if any) of any claim, cost, damage, expense, fee, liability, loss or
suit for which the indemnified party is
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reimbursed by its insurance carrier(s) (or would have been reimbursed by its insurance carrier if the indemnified party had maintained the insurance required
to be maintained by the indemnified party hereunder) or any third party.

 
ARTICLE 8

 
SERVICES AND UTILITIES

 
8.1                               (a)                                 As long as an uncured Event of Default shall not exist, Landlord shall provide the following services and utilities during normal

business hours on all days except Sundays and federal and state holidays, or unless otherwise stated below. Cost of such services shall be included as an
Operating Cost.

 
(i)                                    when necessary during normal business hours, central heating and air conditioning in the Common Areas at

temperature levels customary for comparable office buildings in the immediate vicinity;
 
(ii)                                janitorial services five business days per week; and
 
(iii)                            two elevators, to be used in common with other tenants in the Factory Building (there are two elevators in the Signature

Building, the maintenance costs for which shall be borne in their entirety by Tenant).
 

“Normal business hours” for purposes of clause (a) above shall be deemed to mean the periods from 8:30 a.m. until 5:30 p.m. on business days (Monday
through Friday).  Tenant shall nonetheless have access to the Premises and elevators twenty-four (24) hours a day, subject to and in accordance with any
security procedures that Landlord may have in place.
 

(b)                                 Tenant shall be responsible for all electricity to the Premises, including lights, outlets, VAV boxes, and Tenant’s proportionate
share of the air handling units on the floor, and after-hours HVAC service to the Premises.  Tenant shall pay for electric current supplied to or used in the
Premises.  Except for electricity serving the air handling units on the floor, electric service shall be separately metered and billed directly to Tenant, and Tenant
shall make payments directly to the service provider. Any language in this Lease to the contrary notwithstanding, Tenant shall pay for all utilities for the third
(3 ) Floor of the Factory Building, and shall pay for all the costs for Tenant’s Heating, Ventilation, and Air Conditioning and for the roof-top equipment for
the portion of the Premises located on the Third (3 ) Floor of the Factory Building.  Any language to this Lease to the contrary Tenant will, for all portions of
the Premises in the Signature Building and the Annex pay Tenant’s Proportionate Share of utilities and for Tenant’s Proportionate Share of the costs of the
central tower with two restaurant tenants and will be billed by Landlord for those utility costs by Landlord proportionately with said two restaurant tenants. 
All such costs to be paid directly by Tenant as set forth in this section 8.1 shall not be part of Operating Costs.  Landlord shall not be liable to Tenant for
damages arising as a result of service interruptions caused by any electric service provider.

 
(c)                                  Any failure by the Landlord to furnish any of the foregoing services or utilities to the Building resulting from circumstances

beyond the Landlord’s reasonable control or from interruption of such services due to repairs or maintenance shall not render the Landlord
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liable in any respect for damages to either person or property, nor be construed as an eviction of the Tenant, nor cause an abatement of rent hereunder, nor
relieve the Tenant from any of its obligations hereunder.  Notwithstanding the foregoing to the contrary, Tenant shall be entitled to receive a rent abatement
based on the percentage of the portion of the Premises rendered unusable in the event of Landlord’s failure or inability to furnish any of the utilities or services
required to be furnished by Landlord hereunder if (a) Landlord is not proceeding diligently and in good faith to correct such failure and inability and if all or a
portion of the Premises is rendered unusable by Tenant for a continuous period of five (5) consecutive business days after Tenant gives Landlord written
notice thereof, and if Tenant does not in fact use the Premises or a portion thereof during such period. If any public utility or governmental body shall require
the Landlord or the Tenant to restrict the consumption of any utility or reduce any service for the Building, the Landlord and the Tenant shall comply with
such requirements, whether or not the services and utilities referred to in this section 8 are thereby reduced or otherwise affected, without any liability on the
part of the Landlord to the Tenant or any other person or any reduction or adjustment in rent payable hereunder.

 
(d)                                 Tenant shall not at any time overburden or exceed the capacity of the mains, feeders, ducts, conduits, or other facilities by which

such utilities are supplied to, distributed in or serve the Premises. If Tenant desires to install any equipment which shall require additional utility facilities or
utility facilities of a greater capacity than the facilities existing, such installation shall be subject to Landlord’s prior written approval of Tenant’s plans and
specifications therefor, such approval not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed. If such installation is approved by Landlord and if Landlord
provides such additional facilities to accommodate Tenant’s installation, Tenant agrees, to pay Landlord, on demand, the cost for providing such additional
utility facilities or utility facilities of greater capacity. Landlord shall not be responsible for providing any meters or other devices for the measurement of
utilities supplied to the Premises.

 
(e)                                  Landlord shall cause to be operated a trash removal service for the Project, the costs and expenses of which shall be a part of

Operating Costs. In the event that Tenant’s use of the Premises requires trash removal services in excess of that required for standard office tenants, Tenant
shall pay to Landlord, as Additional Rent all costs and expenses in excess of the trash removal costs which are attributable to such excess usage.

 
(f)                                   The Landlord does not warrant that any utilities provided by any utility company for the Building or the Landlord will be free

from shortages, failures, variations or interruptions caused by repairs, maintenance, replacements, improvements, alterations, changes of service, strikes,
lockouts, labor controversies, accidents, inability to obtain services, fuel, steam, water or supplies, governmental requirements or requests, or other causes
beyond the Landlord’s reasonable control.  The Landlord in no event shall be liable for damages by reason of such shortage, failure or variation, including
without limitation loss of profits, business interruption or other incidental or consequential damages unless caused by Landlord or its agents, employees
and/or contractors.
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ARTICLE 9

 
REPAIRS AND MAINTENANCE

 
9.1                               Landlord’s Duty to Maintain Structure.   The Landlord shall maintain or cause to be maintained in good operating condition the

structure of the Building and shall be responsible for structural repairs to the exterior walls, load bearing elements, foundations, roofs, structural columns and
structural floors with respect thereto, and the Landlord shall make all required repairs thereto, provided, however, that if the necessity for such repairs shall
have arisen, in whole or in part, from the negligence or willful acts or omissions of the Tenant, its agents, concessionaires, officers, employees, licensees,
invitees or contractors, or by any impermissible or unreasonable use of the Premises by the Tenant, then Tenant shall pay to Landlord the reasonable and
actual cost of such repairs, as Additional Rent, upon demand.  Any language to the contrary in this Lease notwithstanding, all cleaning, HVAC, mechanical
and elevator contracts to be entered into by Landlord for the Property (including the scope and content of such contracts) shall be subject to Tenant’s
reasonable approval, not to be unreasonably withheld.  Landlord shall furnish to Tenant copies of all reports relating to the periodic and ongoing maintenance
and servicing of all HVAC, mechanical and elevator equipment, including unscheduled repairs and maintenance.  During the Term of this Lease, including
any renewals or extensions thereof, Tenant shall have the right to cause Landlord to replace any cleaning, HVAC, and mechanical contractors or service
providers with an individual or entity reasonably acceptable to Landlord upon providing thirty (30) days prior written notice to Landlord in the event Tenant is
dissatisfied with the services provided, subject at all times to the conditions and timing for termination pursuant to the applicable agreement.

 
9.2                               Tenant’s Duty to Maintain Premises.
 

(a)                                 Except as provided in subsection 9.1, the Tenant shall keep and maintain the Premises and all fixtures and equipment located
therein in a good, safe, clean and sanitary condition consistent with the operation of similar businesses, and in compliance with all legal requirements with
respect thereto. Except as provided in subsection 9.1, all injury, breakage and damage to the Premises (and to any other part of the Building and/or the Project,
if caused by any act or omission of the Tenant, its agents, concessionaires, officers, employees, licensees, invitees or contractors) shall be repaired or replaced
by the Tenant at its sole cost and expense.  The Tenant shall, at its sole cost and expense, keep all pipes and conduits and all mechanical, electrical, HVAC
and plumbing systems contained within the Premises in good, safe, clean and sanitary condition.

 
(b)                                 The Tenant shall:  (i) keep the Premises in a neat, clean and orderly appearance to a standard of cleanliness and hygiene

reasonably satisfactory to the Landlord; (ii) remove all trash and garbage at least daily to a location specified by the Landlord, and the Tenant, at its expense
and to the Landlord’s reasonable satisfaction, shall remove all trash and garbage from the Premises and the Property; (iii) keep the inside and outside of all
windows in the Premises clean; (iv) replace promptly any cracked or broken glass with glass of like kind and quality; (v) keep lit the interior of the Premises
when the Tenant is open for business; (vi) take care not to overload the electrical wiring serving the Premises or located within the Premises; (vii) conduct its
business in all respects in a dignified manner in accordance with the standards of comparable buildings; (viii) subject to Landlord’s obligations hereunder,
maintain the Premises at its own expense in a clean, orderly and sanitary condition, free of insects, rodents, vermin and other pests, and (ix) surrender the
Premises at the expiration of the Term or at such other time as the Tenant may vacate the Premises in as good condition as when received, except for ordinary
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wear and tear and damage by casualty (other than such damage by casualty which is caused, in whole or in part, by the negligence or willful act or omissions
of the Tenant, its agents, officers, employees, licensees, invitees or contractors, and which is not wholly covered by the Landlord’s hazard insurance policy).

 
(c)                                  The Tenant shall not: (i) permit, allow or cause any public or private auction sales (except for charitable purposes), distress

sales, or “going out of business” sales to be conducted on or from the Premises; (ii) use or permit the use of any objectionable advertising medium which is
audible outside of the Premises; or (iii) place or maintain any merchandise, trash, refuse or other articles in any vestibule, service corridor or entry way of the
Premises, on the footwalks or any corridors adjacent thereto or elsewhere on the exterior of the Premises so as to obstruct any driveway, corridor, footwalk or
other Common Areas.

 
(d)                                 Subject to Landlord’s approval, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed, Tenant will repair

promptly at its own expense by or under the direction of Landlord, any damage (whether structural or nonstructural) to the Premises or the Property caused by
any construction or alterations performed by Tenant or by bringing into the Premises or on the Property any property for Tenant’s use, or by the installation or
removal of such property, regardless of fault or by whom such damage shall be caused, except to the extent caused by the negligence of Landlord or its
contractors or subcontractors or its or their agents or employees.

 
(e)                                  In the event Tenant fails in the performance to Landlord’s reasonable satisfaction of any of its obligations under this Section, and

Tenant fails to commence and diligently pursue the performance of its obligations within thirty (30) days after written notice from Landlord (except that in an
emergency no notice shall be required), Landlord, in addition to Landlord’s other remedies under this Lease, at law or in equity, may (but shall not be
obligated to do so) cure such default on behalf of Tenant without any liability of Landlord for damage to Tenant’s fixtures or other property or to the business
of Tenant or any assignee, subtenant, concessionaire, or licensee by reason thereof, and Tenant shall reimburse Landlord, as Additional Rent, upon demand,
for any all reasonable and actual sums paid or costs incurred in curing such default.

 
ARTICLE 10

 
IMPROVEMENTS

 
10.1                        Improvements to the Premises.
 

(a)                                 Landlord’s Work.  Landlord is leasing the Premises to Tenant subject to the terms of the Work Letter attached as Exhibit “E”.
 
(b)                                 Construction Improvements.   Landlord shall make those improvements to the Premises n accordance with the terms of the

Work Letter attached hereto as Exhibit “E” (the “Construction Improvements”).
 

10.2                        Tenant Alterations.  (a)  From and after the time that Landlord makes the Construction Improvements, the Tenant shall not make any
material alteration, improvement or
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addition (“Alterations”) to the Premises without first (a) presenting to the Landlord plans and specifications therefor and obtaining the Landlord’s written
consent thereto (which shall not, in the case of (i) non-structural interior Alterations, or (ii) Alterations which would not affect any electrical, mechanical,
plumbing or other Building systems, be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed so long as such Alterations will not violate applicable law or the
provisions of this Lease, or impair the value of the Premises, the Building or the rest of the Property) and (b) obtaining any and all governmental permits or
approvals for such Alterations, which are required by applicable law; provided, that (i) any and all contractors or workmen performing such Alterations must
first be approved by the Landlord, (ii) all work is performed in a good and workmanlike manner in compliance with all applicable codes, rules, regulations
and ordinances, and (iii) the Tenant shall remove any non-standard Alterations to the Premises and restore the Premises to its condition immediately before
such non-standard Alterations were made, by not later than the date on which the Tenant vacates the Premises or the Termination Date, whichever is earlier
(this restoration provision shall not apply, however, to the Construction Improvements).  The Tenant, at its own expense, shall repair promptly any damage to
the Building caused by bringing therein any property for its use, or by the installation or removal of such property, regardless of fault or by whom such
damage is caused, unless caused by the gross negligence or willful misconduct of Landlord, its agents, employees and/or contractors.

 
10.3                        Acceptance of Possession.   The Tenant shall for all purposes of this Lease be deemed to have accepted the Expansion Premises and the

Building and to have acknowledged them to be in the condition called for hereunder except with respect to those defects of which the Tenant notifies the
Landlord within six (6) months after the Rent Commencement Date.

 
10.4                        Fixtures.  Any and all improvements, repairs, alterations and all other property attached to, used in connection with or otherwise installed

within the Premises by the Landlord or the Tenant shall become the Landlord’s property, without payment therefor by the Landlord, immediately on the
completion of their installation; provided that any machinery, equipment or fixtures installed by the Tenant and used in the conduct of the Tenant’s trade or
business (rather than to service the Premises, the Building or the Project generally) and not part of the Building Service Equipment shall remain the Tenant’s
property.  The terms of section 10.4 shall apply with respect to all of Tenant’s fixtures.

 
10.5                        Roof Deck.  Subject to the conditions contained herein, the Tenant shall have the right to install a roof deck on the Signature Building

subject to the written approval of Landlord (including approval of: design, deck size and the final engineered design), such approval not to be unreasonably
withheld, conditioned or delayed, and consistent with all applicable local, state and federal rules and regulations.  Landlord may require, as a condition of
approval, that commercially reasonable barriers and safety features be incorporated into the final design, both to limit pedestrian access to any area of the roof
that is not part of the deck, and to limit or eliminate access to the edge of the roof.  The full cost of design, construction and maintenance and operating costs
for the roof deck (including any additional property taxes solely attributable to the roof deck) shall be paid in their entirety by Tenant.  The design shall make
provision for the future maintenance of the roof, and the scope of the work shall include any necessary upgrades to the existing structure, roof, roof
membrane, and Building, as well as to the roofing system and flashings to the extent reasonably necessary to allow for access to the areas under the

 
31



 
roof deck for inspection.  The roof deck shall be considered part of the Premises for all purposes except for Tenant’s obligation to pay Rent for the roof deck
and as to Landlord’s obligation to provide cleaning or janitorial services for same.  The total size of the roof deck shall not exceed 6,000 square feet or such
other size to which the parties may subsequently agree.

 
ARTICLE 11

 
LANDLORD’S RIGHT OF ENTRY

 
Subject to Tenant’s reasonable security requirements, the Landlord and its authorized representatives shall be entitled to enter the Premises at any

reasonable time during the Tenant’s usual business hours, after giving the Tenant at least one (1) business day written notice thereof, (a) to inspect the
Premises, (b) to exhibit the Premises (i) to any existing or prospective purchaser or Mortgagee thereof, or (ii) during the last six (6) months of the Term, to any
prospective tenant thereof, provided that in doing so the Landlord and each such invitee observes all reasonable safety standards and procedures which the
Tenant may require, and (c) to make any repair thereto and/or to take any other action therein which the Landlord is permitted to take by this Lease or
applicable law (provided, that in any situation in which, due to an emergency or otherwise, the Landlord reasonably believes the physical condition of the
Premises, the Building or any part of the Project would be unreasonably jeopardized or that a person could be injured unless the Landlord were to take such
action immediately, the Landlord shall not be required to give such notice to the Tenant and may enter the same at any time).  Nothing in this section shall be
deemed to impose any duty on the Landlord to make any such repair or take any such action, and the Landlord’s performance thereof shall not constitute a
waiver of the Landlord’s right hereunder to have the Tenant perform such work.  The Landlord shall not in any event be liable to the Tenant for any
inconvenience, annoyance, disturbance, loss of business or other damage or loss sustained by the Tenant by reason of the making of such repairs, the taking
of such action or the bringing of materials, supplies and equipment upon the Premises during the course thereof, and the Tenant’s obligations under this Lease
shall not be affected thereby provided Landlord shall use reasonable efforts to minimize any disruption to Tenant’s normal business operations.

 
ARTICLE 12

 
DAMAGE OR DESTRUCTION

 
12.1                        Option to Terminate.  If during the Term either the Premises or the Building are damaged by fire or other cause to such extent that the

damage, in the reasonable determination of an independent engineer, cannot be fully repaired within one hundred eighty (180) days from the date of the
casualty (or if despite a shorter estimate, the restoration in fact takes longer than one hundred eighty (180) days from the date of the casualty), Landlord or
Tenant, upon notice to the other party, may terminate this Lease, in which event the Rent shall be apportioned and paid to the date of such damage.
Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, Landlord shall have the right to terminate this Lease if (1) insurance proceeds are insufficient to pay the full
cost of such repair and restoration (provided Landlord maintained the insurance required pursuant to the terms of this Lease), (2) the holder of any Mortgage
fails or refuses to make such insurance proceeds available for such repair and restoration, (3) zoning or other applicable Laws do not permit such repair and
restoration, or (4) Landlord elects to raze the Building after any
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substantial damage to the Building.  On such termination, the Tenant shall pay to the Landlord all Base Rent, Additional Rent and other sums and charges
payable by the Tenant hereunder and accrued through the date of such casualty.  If neither party terminates this Lease pursuant to this section, the Landlord
shall restore the Premises as soon thereafter as is reasonably possible to their condition on the date of completion of the Landlord’s Work, taking into account
any delay experienced by the Landlord in recovering the proceeds of any insurance policy payable on account of such damage or destruction and in obtaining
any necessary permits.  Until the Premises are so repaired, the Base Rent (and each installment thereof) and the Additional Rent shall abate in proportion to the
floor area of so much, if any, of the Premises as is rendered substantially unusable by the Tenant by such damage or destruction.

 
12.2                        No Termination of Lease.  Except as is otherwise expressly permitted by subsection 12.1, no total or partial damage to or destruction of

any or all of the Premises shall entitle either party hereto to surrender or terminate this Lease, or shall relieve the Tenant from its liability hereunder to pay in
full the Base Rent, any Additional Rent and all other sums and charges which are otherwise payable by the Tenant hereunder, or from any of its other
obligations hereunder.  Tenant hereby waives any right now or hereafter conferred upon it by statute or otherwise, on account of any such damage or
destruction, to surrender this Lease, to quit or surrender any or all of the Premises, or to have any suspension, diminution, abatement or reduction of the Base
Rent or any Additional Rent or other sum payable by the Tenant hereunder.

 
ARTICLE 13

 
CONDEMNATION

 
13.1                        Termination of Lease.  If any or all of the Premises and/or of that portion of the Project underlying the Premises is taken by the exercise

of any power of eminent domain or is conveyed to or at the direction of any governmental entity under a threat of any such taking (each of which is herein
referred to as a “Condemnation”), this Lease shall terminate on the date on which the title to so much of the Premises as is the subject of such Condemnation
vests in the condemning authority, unless the parties hereto otherwise agree in writing.  If all or any substantial portion of the Building or the Project other than
that portion thereof underlying the Premises is taken or conveyed in a Condemnation, the Landlord shall be entitled, by giving written notice thereof to the
Tenant, to terminate this Lease on the date on which the title to so much thereof as is the subject of such Condemnation vests in the condemning authority.  If
this Lease is not terminated pursuant to this subsection, and subject to receipt of sufficient proceeds from the condemning authority, the Landlord shall restore
any of the Premises damaged by such Condemnation substantially to its condition immediately before such Condemnation, as soon after the Landlord’s
receipt of the proceeds of such Condemnation as is reasonably possible under the circumstances.

 
13.2                        Condemnation Proceeds.  Regardless of whether this Lease is terminated under this section, the Tenant shall have no right in any such

Condemnation to make any claim on account thereof against the condemning authority, except that the Tenant may make a separate claim for the Tenant’s
moving expenses and the value of the Tenant’s trade fixtures, provided that such claim does not reduce the sums otherwise payable by the condemning
authority to the
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Landlord.  Except as aforesaid, the Tenant hereby (a) waives all claims which it may have against the Landlord or such condemning authority by virtue of
such Condemnation, and (b) assigns to the Landlord all such claims (including but not limited to all claims for leasehold damages or diminution in value of
the Tenant’s leasehold interest hereunder).

 
13.3                        Effect on Rent.  If this Lease is terminated under this section, any Base Rent, any Additional Rent and all other sums and charges

required to be by the Tenant hereunder shall be apportioned and paid to the date of such termination.  If this Lease is not so terminated in the event of a
Condemnation, the Base Rent (and each installment thereof) and the Additional Rent shall be abated from the date on which the title to so much, if any, of the
Premises as is the subject of such Condemnation vests in the condemning authority, through the Termination Date, in proportion to the floor area of such
portion of the Premises as is the subject of such Condemnation.

 
13.4                        No Termination of Lease.  Except as otherwise expressly provided in this section, no total or partial Condemnation shall entitle either

party hereto to surrender or terminate this Lease, or shall relieve the Tenant from its liability hereunder to pay in full the Base Rent, any Additional Rent and all
other sums and charges which are otherwise payable by the Tenant hereunder, or from any of its other obligations hereunder, and the Tenant hereby waives
any right now or hereafter conferred upon it by statute or otherwise, on account of any such Condemnation, to surrender this Lease, to quit or surrender any or
all of the Premises, or to receive any suspension, diminution, abatement or reduction of the Base Rent or any Additional Rent or other sum payable by the
Tenant hereunder.

 
ARTICLE 14

 
ASSIGNMENT AND SUBLETTING

 
14.1                        Landlord’s Consent Required.  The Tenant shall not assign this Lease, in whole or in part, nor sublet all or any part of the Premises,

nor license concessions or lease departments therein, nor otherwise permit any other person to occupy or use any portion of the Premises (collectively, a
“Transfer”), without in each instance first obtaining the prior written consent of the Landlord, which consent may not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned
or delayed, provided said assignee or subtenant agrees in writing in a form reasonably acceptable to the Landlord to be bound by all of the terms and
conditions of this Lease and Tenant is not in default under the terms and provisions of this Lease beyond any applicable notice and cure period.  In addition,
the assignee must satisfy all of the following conditions:  (i) the assignee must have the financial ability to meet all obligations under this Lease; (ii) such
transfer does not adversely affect the quality and type of business operation which Tenant has conducted theretofore; (iii) such transferee shall possess
qualifications for the Tenant’s business substantially equivalent to those of Tenant and shall have demonstrated recognized experience in successfully
operating a similar business; (iv) such transferee shall continue to operate the business conducted in the Premises pursuant to all of the provisions of the
Lease; and (v) Tenant shall provide Landlord with a copy of such assumption/transfer document.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, Tenant shall have the right
without Landlord’s prior written consent (but with at least fifteen (15) days prior written notice to Landlord) to assign this Lease or sublet all or any part of the
Premises to any parent, subsidiary, or affiliate corporation. Consent by the Landlord to any assignment,
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subletting, licensing or other Transfer shall not (i) constitute a waiver of the requirement for such consent to any subsequent assignment, subletting, licensing
or other Transfer, (ii) relieve the Tenant from its duties, responsibilities and obligations under this Lease, or (iii) relieve any guarantor of this Lease from such
guarantor’s obligations under its guaranty agreement.  For purposes hereof, an affiliate shall mean any corporation, limited liability company, association,
trust, or partnership (1) that Controls (as herein defined) Tenant, (2) that is under the Control of Tenant, through stock ownership or otherwise, (3) that is
under common Control with Tenant, or (4) which results from the merger or consolidation with Tenant, or acquires all of the assets of Tenant, provided that
after the conclusion of such transaction, the surviving entity has a net worth and general creditworthiness (which shall be determined using generally accepted
accounting principles consistently applied and using the most recent financial statements) not less than those of Tenant immediately prior to such merger,
consolidation or reorganization.  The terms “Control” or “Controls” as used in this Section 14.1 shall mean the power to directly control all management
decisions of Tenant or such other entity.

 
14.2                        Acceptance of Rent from Transferee.  The acceptance by the Landlord of the payment of Rent from any person following any act,

assignment or other Transfer prohibited by this section shall not constitute a consent to such act, assignment or other Transfer, nor shall the same be deemed
to be a waiver of any right or remedy of the Landlord’s hereunder.

 
14.3                        Conditions of Consent.   All reasonable costs incurred by the Landlord in connection with any request for consent to a Transfer, including

reasonable costs of investigation and the reasonable fees of the Landlord’s counsel, in an amount not to exceed one thousand and no/100 dollars ($1,000.00) in
the aggregate shall be paid by the Tenant on demand as Additional Rent and as a further condition of any consent which may be given.

 
14.4                        Profits from Use or Transfer.  The Tenant agrees that in the event of a Transfer of the leasehold interest requiring Landlord’s consent, the

Tenant shall pay the Landlord as Additional Rent, within ten (10) days after receipt thereof, fifty percent (50%) of the excess of (i) any and all consideration,
money or thing of value, however characterized, received by the Tenant or payable to the Tenant in connection with or arising out of such Transfer, over (ii) all
amounts otherwise payable by the Tenant to the Landlord pursuant to this Lease.

 
14.5                        Transfer; Issuance of Corporate Shares; Creation of Partnership Interests.  A.   If the Tenant (or any general partner of the Tenant,

or any guarantor of the Tenant), is a corporation (other than a corporation the outstanding voting stock of which is listed on a “national securities exchange,”
as defined in the Securities Exchange Act of 1934), or a general or limited partnership or a limited liability company, the Tenant shall give the Landlord notice
within fifteen (15) days following the date upon which (i) additional voting stock (or Membership Interest, as the case may be) is issued by the Tenant or by
any such general partner or guarantor or member of Tenant, or any part or all of the corporate shares of the Tenant or any such general partner or guarantor or
member is Transferred if such issuance or transfer results in a change in control of the ownership of Tenant, or (ii) additional partnership, stock ownership,



or member interests are created by the Tenant or by any such guarantor, general partner, shareholder, or member, or any part or all of the partnership or
member interests of the Tenant or of any such guarantor are Transferred, by sale, assignment, pledge, bequest, inheritance, operation of law or otherwise.
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14.6                        Landlord’s Right of Recapture.  [Intentionally omitted.]
 

ARTICLE 15
 

RULES AND REGULATIONS
 

The Landlord shall have the right to prescribe, at its sole discretion, the Rules and Regulations.  The Rules and Regulations may govern, without
limitation, the use of sound apparatus, noise or vibrations emanating from machinery or equipment, obnoxious fumes and/or odors, the parking of vehicles,
lighting and storage and disposal of trash and garbage.  The Landlord will not enforce the Rules and Regulations in a discriminatory manner and will make
reasonable efforts to enforce the Rules and Regulations uniformly against all tenants.  The Tenant shall adhere to the Rules and Regulations and shall cause its
agents, employees, invitees, visitors and guests to do so.  A copy of the Rules and Regulations in effect on the date hereof is attached hereto as Exhibit “D”.
The Landlord shall have the right to amend the Rules and Regulations in a reasonable manner from time to time.

 
ARTICLE 16

 
SUBORDINATION AND ATTORNMENT

 
16.1                        Subordination.
 

(a)                                 Subject to the terms of this Article 16, unless a Mortgagee otherwise shall elect as provided herein, the Tenant’s rights under this
Lease are and shall remain subject and subordinate to the lien operation and effect of any mortgage, deed of trust or other security instrument constituting a lien
upon the Premises, and/or the Project, whether the same shall be in existence on the date hereof or created hereafter (any such lease, mortgage, deed of trust or
other security instrument being referred to herein as a “Mortgage,” and the party or parties having the benefit of the same, whether as beneficiary, trustee or
noteholders being referred to hereinafter collectively as “ Mortgagee”).  The Tenant’s acknowledgment and agreement of subordination as provided for in this
section is self-operative and no other instrument of subordination shall be required; however, the Tenant shall execute and deliver, within fifteen (15) business
days after written request therefor, a document providing for such further assurance thereof and for such other matters as shall be requisite or as may be
requested from time to time by the Landlord or any Mortgagee.

 
(b)                                 The Landlord hereby directs the Tenant, upon (i) the occurrence of any event of default by the Landlord, as mortgagor under any

Mortgage, (ii) the receipt by the Tenant of a notice of the occurrence of such event of default under such Mortgage from the Landlord or such Mortgagee, or (iii)
a direction by the Mortgagee under such Mortgage to the Tenant to pay all Rent thereafter to such Mortgagee, to make such payment to such Mortgagee, and the
Landlord agrees that in the event that the Tenant makes such payments to such Mortgagee, as aforesaid, the Tenant shall not be liable to the Landlord for the
same.  In addition, the Mortgagee (and any person who acquires the property from Mortgagee) shall not be responsible for security
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deposits not actually received by the Mortgagee, or its affiliate, after the Mortgagee, or its affiliate, becomes the owner of the property.

 
16.2                        Mortgagee’s Unilateral Subordination.   If a Mortgagee shall so elect by written notice to the Tenant or by the recording of a unilateral

declaration of subordination, this Lease and the Tenant’s rights hereunder shall be superior and prior in right to the Mortgage of which such Mortgagee has the
benefit, with the same force and effect as if this Lease had been executed, delivered and recorded prior to the execution, delivery and recording of such
Mortgage, subject, nevertheless, to such conditions as may be set forth in any such notice or declaration.

 
16.3                        Attornment. Within a reasonable time after the full execution of this Lease but in no event more than sixty (60) days, Landlord shall

obtain a non-disturbance agreement on Tenant’s behalf from the existing Mortgagee, if any, on such Mortgagee’s commercially reasonable standard form (and
in recordable form).  Provided the applicable mortgagee delivers to Tenant a nondisturbance agreement on such form agreeing that such Mortgagee or any
purchaser in a foreclosure sale shall recognize and be bound by the terms of this Lease upon a foreclosure or deed in lieu thereof (or termination of any such
ground lease), this Lease shall be subject and subordinate to the provisions, operation and effect of said lien.  As a condition to Tenant’s subordination for all
future Mortgagees, Landlord shall secure for and promptly deliver to Tenant such a non-disturbance agreement recognizing Tenant’s (and its designees’,
assignees’ and subtenants’) rights under this Lease from each future Mortgagee hereafter encumbering the Building. Subject to the terms of this Section 16.3,
if any Person shall succeed to all or any part of the Landlord’s interest in the Premises, whether by purchase, foreclosure, deed in lieu of foreclosure, power of
sale, termination of lease or otherwise, and if such successor-in-interest requests or requires, the Tenant shall attorn to such successor-in-interest and shall
execute and deliver within fifteen (15) business days after receipt thereof an agreement in confirmation of such attornment in a form as may be reasonably
requested by such successor-in-interest.  Failure to respond within such fifteen (15) business day period shall be deemed to be a confirmation by the Tenant of
the facts and matters set forth therein.

 
ARTICLE 17

 
DEFAULTS AND REMEDIES

 
17.1                        “Event of Default” Defined.  Any one or more of the following events shall constitute a default under the terms of this Lease (“ Event of

Default”):
 

(a)                                 the failure of the Tenant to pay any Rent or other sum of money due hereunder to the Landlord or any other person within five (5)
days after receipt of written notice that the same is past due, although Landlord shall not be required to send such notice any more than two (2) times in any
given twelve (12) month period;

 
(b)                                 the filing of a petition proposing the adjudication of the Tenant as a bankrupt or insolvent, or the reorganization of the Tenant, or

an arrangement by the Tenant with its creditors, whether pursuant to the Federal Bankruptcy Act or any similar federal or state
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proceeding, unless such petition is filed by a party other than the Tenant and is withdrawn or dismissed within sixty (60) days after the date of its filing;

 
(c)                                  the appointment of a receiver or trustee for the business or property of the Tenant, unless such appointment is vacated within

sixty (60) days of its entry;
 
(d)                                 the making by the Tenant of an assignment for the benefit of its creditors;
 
(e)                                  a default by the Tenant in the performance or observance of any covenant or agreement of this Lease to be performed or observed

by the Tenant (other than as set forth in clauses (a) through (d) above), which default is not cured within thirty (30) days after the giving of written notice
thereof by the Landlord, unless such default is of such nature that it cannot be cured within such 30-day period, in which event an Event of Default shall not
be deemed to have occurred if the Tenant institutes a cure within the 30-day period and thereafter diligently and continuously prosecutes the curing of the same
until completion but in no event shall such cure period exceed one hundred twenty (120) days; or

 
(f)                                   the vacating or abandonment of the Premises by the Tenant at any time during the Term together with the failure to pay Rent.
 

17.2                        Landlord’s Remedies.  Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default, the Landlord, without notice to the Tenant in any instance (except
where expressly provided for below), may do any one or more of the following:

 
(a)                                 perform, on behalf and at the expense of the Tenant, any obligation of the Tenant under this Lease which the Tenant has failed to

perform beyond any applicable grace or cure periods and of which the Landlord shall have given the Tenant notice (except in an emergency situation in which
no notice is required), the cost of which performance by the Landlord, together with interest thereon at the Default Rate from the date of such expenditure, shall
be deemed Additional Rent and shall be payable by the Tenant to the Landlord as otherwise set forth herein;

 
(b)                                 elect to terminate this Lease and the tenancy created hereby by giving notice of such election to the Tenant without any right on the

part of the Tenant to save the forfeiture by payment of any sum due or by other performance of condition, term, agreement or covenant broken, or elect to
terminate the Tenant’s possessory rights and all other rights of the Tenant without terminating this Lease, and in either event, at any time thereafter without
notice or demand and without any liability whatsoever, re-enter the Premises by force, summary proceedings or otherwise, and remove the Tenant and all other
persons and property from the Premises, and store such property in a public warehouse or elsewhere at the cost and for the account of the Tenant without
resort to legal process and without the Landlord being deemed guilty of trespass or becoming liable for any loss or damage occasioned thereby; and

 
(c)                                  exercise any other legal and/or equitable right or remedy which it may have at law or in equity, including rights of specific

performance and/or injunctive relief, where appropriate.
 

38



 
17.3                        Damages.
 

(a)                                 If this Lease, or Tenant’s right to possession, is terminated by the Landlord pursuant to subsection 17.2, the Tenant nevertheless
shall remain liable for any Rent and damages which may be due or sustained prior to such termination, as well as all reasonable costs, fees and expenses
incurred by the Landlord in pursuit of its remedies hereunder, and/or in connection with any bankruptcy proceedings of the Tenant, and/or in connection with
renting the Premises to others from time to time plus either:

 
(i)                                    the Rent which, but for the termination of this Lease, would have become due during the remainder of the Term, less the

amount or amounts of rent, if any, which the Landlord receives during such period from others to whom the Premises may be rented (other than any additional
rent received by the Landlord as a result of any failure of such other person to perform any of its obligations to the Landlord), in which case Landlord’s
damages shall be computed and payable in monthly installments, in advance, on the first business day of each calendar month following the termination of
this Lease and shall continue until the date on which the Term would have expired but for such termination, and any action or suit brought to collect any such
damages for any month shall not in any manner prejudice the right of the Landlord to collect any damages for any subsequent months by similar proceeding;
or

 
(ii)                                limited damages equal to the present worth (as of the date of such termination) of the Rent which, but for the termination

of this Lease, would have become due during the remainder of the Term, less the fair rental value of the Premises, as determined by an independent real estate
appraiser or broker selected by the Landlord, in which case Landlord’s damages shall be payable to the Landlord in one lump sum on demand, and shall bear
interest at the Default Rate.  “Present worth” shall be computed by discounting such amount to present worth at a rate equal to one percentage point above the
discount rate then in effect at the Federal Reserve Bank located nearest the Project.

 
(b)                                 If, as a result of any breach or default in the performance of any of the provisions of this Lease beyond any applicable notice and

cure period, Landlord uses the services of an attorney in order to secure compliance with such provisions or recover damages therefor, or to terminate this
Lease or evict Tenant, of if Landlord is required to defend itself or the terms of this Lease and Landlord uses the services of an attorney, then Tenant shall
reimburse Landlord, upon demand, for Landlord’s reasonable and actual attorney’s fees, costs, charges and expenses so incurred including, but not limited to
the fees and expenses of outside counsel, agents and others retained by Landlord incurred in enforcing Tenant’s obligations hereunder or incurred by Landlord
in any litigation, negotiation or transaction in which Landlord is involved, with such amounts being due as Additional Rent.  In the event either party initiates
legal proceedings or retains an attorney to enforce any right or obligation under this Lease or to obtain relief for the breach of any covenant hereof, the party
ultimately prevailing in such proceedings or the non-defaulting party shall be entitled to recover all costs and reasonable attorneys’ fees.

 
(c)                                  No payment by Tenant or receipt by Landlord of a lesser amount than any payment of Rent, Annual Rent or Additional Rent

herein stipulated shall be deemed to be other than on account of the earliest Annual Rent or Additional Rent due and payable. Landlord may accept such check
or payment without prejudice to Landlord’s right to recover the balance of such Rent or pursue any other remedy provided in this Lease, at law or in equity.
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ARTICLE 18

 
ESTOPPEL CERTIFICATE

 
The Tenant shall, without charge, at any time and from time to time, within fifteen (15) days after receipt of request therefor from the Landlord,

execute, acknowledge and deliver to the Landlord, and to such Mortgagee or other party as may be designated by the Landlord, a written estoppel certificate in
form and substance as may be reasonably requested from time to time by the Landlord, the other party or any Mortgagee, certifying to the other party, any
Mortgagee, any purchaser of Landlord’s interest in all or any part of the Property, or any other person or entity designated by the other party, as of the date of
such estoppel certificate, the following: (a) whether the Tenant is in possession of the Property; (b) whether this Lease is in full force and effect; (c) whether
there are any amendments to this Lease, and if so, specifying such amendments; (d) whether there are any then-existing setoffs or defenses against the
enforcement of any rights hereunder, and if so, specifying such matters in detail; (e) the dates, if any, to which any rent or other sums due hereunder have
been paid in advance and the amount of any security deposit held by the Landlord; (f) that the Tenant has no knowledge of any then-existing defaults of the
Landlord under this Lease, or if there are such defaults, specifying them in detail; (g) that the Tenant has no knowledge of any event having occurred that
authorized the termination of this Lease by the Tenant, or if such event has occurred, specifying it in detail; (h) the address to which notices to the Tenant
should be sent; and (i) any and all other matters reasonably requested by the Landlord, any Mortgagee and/or any other person or entity designated by the
Landlord.  If this Lease is subject to a Guaranty, any such certificate shall also include the joinder by such Guarantor certifying, among other things, that the
Guaranty remains in full force and effect, that no notice of default under the Guaranty has been given to Guarantor by Landlord, and to the best of
Guarantor’s knowledge, information, and belief, no condition exists that might give rise to a default by Guarantor under the Guaranty.  Any such estoppel
certificate may be relied upon by the person or entity to whom it is directed or by any other person or entity that could reasonably be expected to rely on it in the
normal course of business.  The failure of the Tenant to execute, acknowledge and deliver such a certificate in accordance with this section within thirty (30)
days after a written request therefor by the Landlord shall constitute an acknowledgment by the Tenant, which may be relied on by any person or entity who
would be entitled to rely upon any such certificate, that such certificate as submitted by the requesting party to the other party is true and correct, and the
requesting party is hereby authorized to so certify.

 
ARTICLE 19

 
QUIET ENJOYMENT

 
The Landlord hereby warrants that, so long as all of the Tenant’s obligations hereunder are timely performed, the Tenant will have during the Term

quiet and peaceful possession of the Premises and enjoyment of such rights as the Tenant may hold hereunder to use the Common Areas, against any person
claiming by, through or under Landlord, except if and to the extent that such possession and use are terminated pursuant to this Lease.
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ARTICLE 20

 
NOTICES

 
Except as may be otherwise provided in this Lease, any notice, demand, consent, approval, request or other communication or document to be

provided hereunder to the Landlord or the Tenant (a) shall be in writing, and (b) shall be deemed to have been provided (i) two (2) days following the date sent
as certified mail in the United States mails, postage prepaid, return receipt requested, (ii) on the day following the date it is deposited prior to the close of
business with Federal Express or another national courier service or (iii) on the date of hand delivery (if such party’s receipt thereof is acknowledged in
writing), in each case to the address of such party set forth herein below or to such other address as such party may designate from time to time by notice to
each other party hereto.

 
If to the Landlord, notice shall be sent to:
 
The Can Company, LLC
c/o Cross St. Partners, LLC.
1040 Hull Street, Suite 200
Baltimore, Maryland 2123
 
With a copy to:
 
Vice-President, Asset Management
c/o Cross St. Partners, LLC
1040 Hull Street, Suite 200
Baltimore, Maryland 21230
 
If to the Tenant, notices shall be sent to:
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
and
Senior Vice President and Chief Accounting Officer
Millennial Media, Inc.
2400 Boston Street, Suite 301



Baltimore, Maryland 21224
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With a copy to:
 
Cooley LLP
11951 Freedom Drive
Reston, Virginia 20190
Attn:  Michelle Garcia Schulman, Esq.
 
Counsel for a party hereto shall have the right to send any notice to the other party, and such notice so sent shall contain a certification that the sender

is counsel to the party for whom the sender is delivering such notice and that the sender is authorized to deliver such notice on such party’s behalf.
 

ARTICLE 21
 

GENERAL
 

21.1                        Effectiveness and Counterparts.   This Lease shall become effective on and only on its execution and delivery by each party hereto. 
This Lease may be executed in multiple counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original and all of which together constitute one and the same
document.  Faxed or emailed signatures shall have the same binding effect as original signatures.

 
21.2                        Complete Understanding.   This Lease represents the complete understanding between the parties hereto as to the subject matter hereof,

and supersedes all prior negotiations, representations, guaranties, warranties, promises, statements and agreements, either written or oral, between the parties
hereto as to the same.

 
21.3                        Amendment.  This Lease may be amended by and only by an instrument executed and delivered by each party hereto.
 
21.4                        Waiver.  No party hereto shall be deemed to have waived the exercise of any right which it holds hereunder unless such waiver is made

expressly and in writing (and, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, no delay or omission by any party hereto in exercising any such right shall be
deemed a waiver of its future exercise).  No such waiver made in any instance involving the exercise of any such right shall be deemed a waiver as to any other
such instance or any other such right.  Without limiting the generality of the foregoing provisions of this subsection, the Landlord’s receipt or acceptance of
any Base Rent, Additional Rent or other sum from the Tenant or any other person shall not be deemed a waiver of the Landlord’s right to enforce any of its
rights hereunder on account of any default by the Tenant in performing its obligations hereunder.

 
21.5                        Applicable Law.  This Lease shall be given effect and construed by application of the laws of Maryland and any action or proceeding

arising hereunder shall be brought in the courts of Maryland.
 
21.6                        Commissions and Advisory Fees.   The parties hereto hereby acknowledge and agree that, in connection with the leasing of the Premises

hereunder, Tenant has used the services of an advisor.  For services performed by its advisor, Landlord shall pay to Tenant an advisory
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fee (“Advisory Fee”) in connection with this Lease in the amount of Five Hundred Thousand and 00/100 Dollars ($500,000.00).  At Tenant’s election, Tenant
may direct Landlord to remit the Advisory Fee directly to its advisor.  Fifty-percent (50%) of this fee shall be paid to Tenant or Tenant’s designee upon signing
or execution of this Lease.  The remaining fifty percent (50%) shall be paid to Tenant or Tenant’s designee upon the later of i) July 1, 2014, Tenant’s scheduled
initial rent payment pursuant to Article 4.1 A for the portion of the Expansion Premises consisting of the 3rd Floor of the Factory Building, and ii) Tenant’s
payment of the first month’s rent due under this Lease for the Premises including the portion of the Expansion Premises consisting of the 3rd Floor of the
Factory Building.

 
Any and all commissions due to any brokers shall be paid in accordance with the terms and conditions set forth in a separate written agreement or

agreements between the Landlord and such broker.  Subject to the foregoing, each party hereto hereby represents and warrants to the other that, in connection
with such leasing, the party so representing and warranting has not dealt with any real estate broker, agent or finder, and there is no commission, charge or
other compensation due on account thereof.  Each party hereto shall indemnify and hold harmless the other against and from any inaccuracy in such party’s
representation.

 
21.7                        Landlord’s Liability.  No Person holding the Landlord’s interest hereunder (whether or not such Person is named as the “Landlord”

herein) shall have any liability hereunder after such Person ceases to hold such interest, except for any such liability accruing while such Person holds such
interest.  No Mortgagee not in possession of the Premises shall have any liability hereunder.  The Landlord nor any principal, agent, member, officer, director,
partner, employee, or contractor of the Landlord, whether disclosed or undisclosed, shall have any personal liability under this Lease.  If the Landlord
defaults in performing any of its obligations hereunder or otherwise, the Tenant shall look solely to the Landlord’s equity, interest and rights in the Project to
satisfy the Tenant’s remedies on account thereof.  In the event Tenant obtains a final nonappealable judgment against Landlord, but is unable to collect after
reasonable collection efforts because Landlord has no equity in the Building, or is otherwise judgment proof, Tenant, at its option, may offset the judgment
against its rental obligations hereunder.

 
21.8                        Remedies Cumulative.   No reference to any specific right or remedy shall preclude the Landlord from exercising any other right or from

having any other remedy or from maintaining any action to which it may otherwise be entitled at law or in equity.  No failure by the Landlord to insist upon
the strict performance of any agreement, term, covenant or condition hereof, or to exercise any right or remedy consequent upon a breach thereof, and no
acceptance of full or partial Rent during the continuance of any such breach, shall constitute a waiver of any such breach, agreement, term, covenant or
condition.  No waiver by the Landlord of any breach by the Tenant under this Lease or of any breach by any other tenant under any other lease of any portion
of the Building shall affect or alter this Lease in any way whatsoever.

 
21.9                        Severability.  No determination by any court, governmental or administrative body or agency or otherwise that any provision of this

Lease or any amendment hereof is invalid or unenforceable in any instance shall affect the validity or enforceability of (a) any other provision hereof, or
(b) such provision in any circumstance not controlled by such determination.  Each such provision shall remain valid and enforceable to the fullest extent
allowed by, and shall be construed wherever possible as being consistent with, applicable law.
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21.10                 Authority.  If the Tenant is a corporation partnership, limited liability company or similar entity, the person executing this Lease on behalf

of the Tenant represents and warrants that (a) the Tenant is duly organized and validly existing and (b) this Lease (i) has been authorized by all necessary
parties, (ii) is validly executed by an authorized officer or agent of the Tenant and (iii) is binding upon and enforceable against the Tenant in accordance with
its terms.

 
21.11                 Recordation.  Neither this Lease, any amendment to this Lease, nor any memorandum, affidavit or other item with respect thereto shall be

recorded by the Tenant or by anyone acting through, under or on behalf of the Tenant, and the recording thereof in violation of this provision shall (i) be
deemed an Event of Default and (ii) at the Landlord’s election, make this Lease null and void.

 
21.12                 Headings.  The headings of the sections, subsections, paragraphs and subparagraphs hereof are provided herein for and only for

convenience of reference and shall not be considered in construing their contents.
 
21.13                 Construction.  As used herein, all references made (a) in the neuter, masculine or feminine gender shall be deemed to have been made in all

such genders; (b) in the singular or plural number shall be deemed to have been made, respectively, in the plural or singular number as well; and (c) to any
section, subsection, paragraph or subparagraph shall be deemed, unless otherwise expressly indicated, to have been made to such section, subsection,
paragraph or subparagraph of this Lease.

 
21.14                 Exhibits.  Each writing or drawing referred to herein as being attached hereto as a schedule, an exhibit or otherwise designated herein as a

schedule or an exhibit hereto is hereby incorporated and made a part hereof.
 
21.15                 Confidentiality.  Landlord and Tenant and their respective principal shareholders or partners, employees and agents agree that the terms

and conditions of this Lease shall remain confidential and shall not be disclosed, directly or indirectly, to any individual or entity by either Landlord or
Tenant without the express written consent of the other, with the exception of consultants, employees, agents, lawyers, accountants and other professionals
employed or retained directly by either or both of the parties to negotiate or work on this Lease who have a legitimate need to know such information and any
other disclosures as may be required to comply with applicable legal requirements or otherwise required by a court of law or in connection with any other legal
arbitration or dispute resolution proceeding.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, Landlord hereby acknowledges and agrees that Tenant shall have a right to make
any disclosures Tenant deems reasonably necessary to comply with any security regulations or applicable laws without the Landlord’s consent.  In the event
either party is required by law to provide this Lease or disclose any of its terms, such party shall give the other prompt notice of such requirement prior to
making disclosure so that the non-disclosing party may seek an appropriate protective order.  If failing the entry of a protective order a party is compelled to
make disclosure, such party shall only disclose portions of this Lease which such party is required to disclose and will exercise reasonable efforts to obtain
assurance that confidential treatment will be accorded to the information so disclosed.  Any and all public announcements
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regarding this Lease and any public announcement using either party’s name must be approved in writing by such party prior to publication or other
dissemination.

 
21.16                 First Notice Refusal (Lease):   Landlord hereby grants Tenant a right of first refusal for any office or non-retail space which is not located

on the ground floor at the Property that becomes available for lease; however, this right will be subordinate to the existing rights of any 3rd party office tenants
at the Property, which include the following: DAP Products, Inc.  Landlord shall immediately notify Landlord if any space at the Property becomes available
for lease.  Upon being given any such notice, Tenant will have thirty (30) days within which to make an election on whether to lease all, but not less than all,
of any such space.  In the event Tenant elects to lease such space, the space shall be added to the definition of “Premises” in this Lease, and all of the terms
and conditions of this Lease, including the Base Rent, shall be applicable.

 
21.17                 Right of First Offer (Sale):  Throughout the term of this Lease, Landlord will grant unto Tenant a right of first notice (thirty (30) days’

prior notice) of Landlord’s intent to sell the Property in the event that Landlord elects to put the Property on the market for sale.
 
21.18                 Can Company Tenant, LLC:  Throughout this Lease, wherever the term “Landlord” is used, it shall, as to that portion of the Premises

for which Can Company Tenant, LLC is the Landlord as to Tenant (the 2,195 square feet), mean “Can Company Tenant, LLC”.  In addition, whenever
under this Lease Tenant receives notice from the Landlord with respect to this 2,195 square feet, any such notice which may be received by Tenant from Can
Company, LLC, shall constitute notice to Tenant as if same had come from Can Company Tenant, LLC.

 
ARTICLE 22

 
22.1                        Landlord Authorization.   Except to the extent specifically provided herein to the contrary, whenever Landlord’s consent or approval is

required to be given under any provision of this Lease, such consent or approval may be withheld in the sole and absolute subjective discretion of Landlord,
and Landlord shall not be required to respond to any request for consent or approval within a time period determined by Tenant.  Whenever Landlord is
authorized to exercise discretion, Landlord shall exercise such discretion in a commercially reasonable manner.  Tenant waives the right to any claim against
Landlord for money damages by reason of any refusal, withholding, or delaying by Landlord of any consent, approval, or statement of satisfaction, and in
such event, Tenant’s only remedies therefore shall be an action for specific performance, injunction, or declaratory judgment to enforce any such requirement.
All obligations of Landlord hereunder shall be construed as covenants, not conditions.

 
ARTICLE 23

 
23.1                        Commercial Purpose.  The parties stipulate that the Premises is being leased exclusively for business, commercial, manufacturing,

mercantile, or industrial purposes within the meaning of Section 8-110(a) of the Real Property Article of the Annotated Code of Maryland, and that the
provisions of Section 8-110(b) of such Article (or any future statute)
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pertaining to the redemption of reversionary interests under leases shall be inapplicable to this Lease.

 
23.2                        TENANT EXPRESSLY WAIVES ANY RIGHT TENANT MAY HAVE TO REDEEM ITS INTEREST IN THE PREMISES

FOLLOWING ENTRY OF JUDGMENT FOR POSSESSION IN FAVOR OF THE LANDLORD BY A COURT OF COMPETENT JURISDICTION. 
THIS PROVISION IS A MATERIAL INDUCEMENT FOR LANDLORD’S ENTERING INTO THIS LEASE AND THIS WAIVER IS GIVEN
KNOWINGLY, VOLUNTARILY AND INTENTIONALLY.

 
ARTICLE 24

 
24.1                        WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL AND WAIVER OF RIGHT TO DECLARATORY JUDGMENT RELIEF.  LANDLORD AND

TENANT HEREBY WAIVE TRIAL BY JURY AND WAIVE THEIR RIGHT TO OBTAIN DECLARATORY JUDGMENT RELIEF IN ANY
ACTION OR PROCEEDING TO WHICH THEY OR ANY OF THEM MAY BE A PARTY ARISING OUT OF OR IN ANY WAY RELATED TO
THIS LEASE.  IT IS UNDERSTOOD THAT THIS WAIVER CONSTITUTES A WAIVER OF TRIAL BY JURY AND WAIVER OF THEIR
RIGHT TO OBTAIN DECLARATORY JUDGMENT RELIEF OF ALL CLAIMS AGAINST ALL PARTIES TO SUCH ACTIONS OR
PROCEEDINGS.  THIS WAIVER IS KNOWINGLY, WILLINGLY, AND VOLUNTARILY MADE BY LANDLORD AND TENANT, AND
EACH PARTY REPRESENTS THAT NO REPRESENTATIONS OF FACT OR OPINION HAVE BEEN MADE BY ANY INDIVIDUAL TO
INDUCE THIS WAIVER OF TRIAL BY JURY AND WAIVER OF THEIR RIGHT TO OBTAIN DECLARATORY JUDGMENT RELIEF OR
TO IN ANYWAY MODIFY OR NULLIFY ITS EFFECT.  LANDLORD AND TENANT ACKNOWLEDGE AND AGREE THAT THIS
PROVISIONS IS A SPECIFIC AND MATERIAL ASPECT OF THIS LEASE.  LANDLORD AND TENANT EACH REPRESENT THAT IT
HAS BEEN REPRESENTED (OR HAS HAD THE OPPORTUNITY TO BE REPRESENTED) IN THE SIGNING OF THIS LEASE AND IN
THE MAKING OF THIS WAIVER BY INDEPENDENT LEGAL COUNSEL, AND THAT IT HAS HAD AN OPPORTUNITY TO DISCUSS
THIS WAIVER WITH COUNSEL.  THE TENANT FURTHER AGREES THAT IN THE EVENT THE LANDLORD COMMENCES ANY
SUMMARY PROCEEDING FOR NONPAYMENT OF RENT OR POSSESSION OF THE PREMISES, THAT TENANT WILL NOT, AND
HEREBY WAIVES, ALL RIGHT TO INTERPOSE ANY COUNTERCLAIM AND WAIVES THEIR RIGHT TO OBTAIN DECLARATORY
JUDGMENT RELIEF OF WHATEVER NATURE IN ANY SUCH PROCEEDING.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each party hereto has executed this Lease, or caused it to be executed on its behalf by its duly authorized

representatives, on the date first above written.
 
LANDLORD:

  
THE CAN COMPANY, LLC

   
By: Canton Court, L.L.C., it’s managing member

   
By: Hudson Street Real Estate Development, LLP, Its managing member

   
By: Luzerne Ave. LLC, its managing partner

   
By: /s/ Carl W. Struever (Seal)

    
Name: Carl W. Struever

    
Title: Managing Member

   
THE CANCO TENANT, LLC

   
By: /s/ Carl W. Struever (Seal)

    
Name: Carl W. Struever

    
Title: Managing Member

   
   

TENANT:
  

Millennial Media, Inc.
   

By: /s/ Paul J. Palmieri (Seal)
    

Name: Paul J. Palmieri
    

Title: President and CEO
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Exhibit 10.16
 

MILLENNIAL MEDIA, INC.
 

KEY EMPLOYEE AGREEMENT
 

This KEY EMPLOYEE AGREEMENT  (the “Agreement”) is entered into effective January 25, 2014 (the “ Effective Date”) by and between
MICHAEL BARRETT  (the “Executive”) and MILLENNIAL MEDIA, INC. , a Delaware corporation (the “Company”).

 
The Company desires to employ the Executive and, in connection therewith, to compensate the Executive for Executive’s personal services to the

Company; and
 
The Executive wishes to be employed by the Company and provide personal services to the Company in return for certain compensation.
 
Accordingly, in consideration of the mutual promises and covenants contained herein, the parties agree to the following:
 

1.                                      EMPLOYMENT BY THE COMPANY.
 

1.1                               Position.  Subject to the terms set forth herein, the Company agrees to employ Executive in the position of President and Chief
Executive Officer, and Executive hereby accepts such employment.  During the term of Executive’s employment with the Company, subject to Section 4.1,
Executive will devote Executive’s best efforts and substantially all of Executive’s business time and attention to the business of the Company (except for
vacation periods as set forth herein and reasonable periods of illness or other incapacities permitted by the Company’s general employment policies).

 
1.2                               Duties.  Executive shall serve as the Chief Executive Officer of the Company, reporting to the Board of Directors of the

Company (the “Board”) and performing such duties and having such authority and powers as are customarily associated with the chief executive officer of a
company together with such other duties as are consistent with that position and assigned to the Executive from time to time by the Board.  Executive will also
be nominated as a member of the Board and shall serve on the Board subject to approval by the Company’s stockholders.

 
1.3                               Other Employment Policies .  The employment relationship between the parties shall also be governed by the general

employment policies and practices of the Company, including those relating to protection of confidential information and assignment of inventions, except that
when the terms of this Agreement differ from or are in conflict with the Company’s general employment policies or practices, this Agreement shall control.
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2.                                      COMPENSATION.
 

2.1                               Salary.  As of the Effective Date, Executive shall receive for Executive’s services to be rendered hereunder an annualized base
salary of $500,000.  Executive’s base salary is subject to standard federal and state payroll withholding requirements, payable in accordance with Company’s
standard payroll practices.  This amount will be reviewed each year during the term of Executive’s employment in accordance with the Company’s standard
practices and will be subject to increase, if any, as may be approved by the Board (or Compensation Committee thereof), but may not be decreased during the
term of Executive’s employment without Executive’s prior written consent except under the circumstances described in Section 6.4(b)(ii) below (Executive’s
salary, as may be increased or decreased in accordance with this Agreement from time to time is hereinafter referred to as “ Base Salary”).

 
2.2                               Bonus.  Executive shall be eligible for an annual incentive bonus award opportunity in respect of each fiscal year during his term

of employment (the “Annual Bonus”).  As of the Effective Date, Executive shall have the opportunity to earn an annual incentive bonus award equal to a
maximum amount of 80% of Base Salary.  Any Annual Bonus shall be awarded by the Board in its sole discretion based upon an annual incentive plan
adopted by the Board (or Compensation Committee thereof) at or near the beginning of each fiscal year during the term hereof.  Any Annual Bonus shall be
paid to Executive at the same time as annual bonuses are generally payable to other senior executives of the Company, but in all events, any Annual Bonus
earned pursuant to this Section 2.2 will be paid on or before March 15 of the year following the year for which it is earned.

 
2.3                               Equity Compensation.
 

(a)                                 Stock Option.  As soon as practicable after the Effective Date, and subject to approval by the Board, Executive shall
be granted an option to purchase 1,500,000 shares of the Company’s common stock  (the “ Initial Option”) pursuant to the Company’s 2012 Equity Incentive
Plan, as may be amended from time to time (the “ Plan”).  The Initial Option shall be an incentive stock option to the extent permissible under Section 422 of
the Internal Revenue Code and have an exercise price equal to the fair market value of the stock on the date of the grant by the Board.  The complete terms and
conditions of the Initial Option shall be set forth in a separate grant notice and/or agreement between Executive and the Company.

 
(b)                                 Restricted Stock Units.   In addition, as soon as practicable after the Effective Date, and subject to approval by the

Board, Executive shall be granted 500,000 Restricted Stock Units (“ Initial RSUs”) pursuant to the Plan.  The complete terms and conditions of the Initial
RSUs shall be set forth in a separate grant notice and/or agreement between Executive and the Company.  In addition, if Executive meets certain performance
goals as established and determined by the Company in its sole discretion, then Executive will be eligible to be granted additional RSUs up to the value of
$2,000,000 annually, as decided by the Company in its sole discretion; provided, however, that for 2015 the value of the RSU grant shall be no less than
$1,500,000.

 
(c)                                  Vesting.  The Initial Option and Initial RSUs granted to Executive will vest according to the following schedule:
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(i)                                    Basic Vesting:  The Initial RSUs shall vest in four (4) equal quarterly installments on March 31, 2014,

June 30, 2014, September 30, 2014 and December 31, 2014 and the Initial Option shall vest in twelve (12) equal quarterly installments over the four (4) year
period following the Effective Date, with the first installment vesting on March 31, 2015 and then thereafter on the last day of each June, September,
December and March through March 31, 2018, in each case subject to Executive’s Continuous Service (as defined in the Plan) through the applicable vesting
date.

 
(ii)                                Acceleration of Vesting Upon Termination without Cause or Resignation for Good Reason:  In addition,

subject to Executive executing and allowing the Release (as defined below) to become effective in the manner described in Section 6.1(b) below (1) in the event
Executive’s employment is terminated without Cause or for Good Reason on or before the second anniversary of the Effective Date, 50% of the then-unvested
portion of the Initial Option and Initial RSUs shall accelerate and become vested as of the date of Separation from Service, and (2) in the event Executive’s
employment is terminated without Cause or for Good Reason after the second anniversary of the Effective Date, 100% of the then-unvested portion of the Initial
Option shall accelerate and become vested effective as of the date of Separation from Service, in each case provided that in no event will Executive receive
acceleration of vesting under both this Section 2.3(c)(ii) and under the portion of Section 2.3(c)(iii) relating to a Double Trigger Event; and

 
(iii)                            Acceleration of Vesting in Connection with a Change in Control:  In addition, 50% of the then-unvested

portion of the Initial Option and Initial RSUs shall accelerate upon a “ Single Trigger Event” (as defined below), subject to Executive’s Continuous Service as
of immediately prior to the closing of the Single Trigger Event.  In addition, 100% of the then-unvested portion of the Initial Option and Initial RSUs shall
accelerate upon a “Double Trigger Event” (as defined below), subject to Executive executing and allowing the Release (as defined below) to become effective in
the manner described in Section 6.1(b) below (provided that this acceleration is in lieu of, and not in addition to, any acceleration provided in
Section 2.3(c)(ii) above).

 
(1)                                 A “Single Trigger Event” shall mean that a “Change in Control” (as such term is defined in the

Plan)  has been consummated.
 
(2)                                 A “Double Trigger Event” shall mean that (1) a “Change in Control” (as such term is defined in

the Plan) has been consummated and (2) Executive has been terminated by the Company without “cause”, or Executive has resigned from his employment
with the Company for “good reason” (as “cause” and “good reason” are defined below), in either case, within two (2) months prior to, as of, or within twelve
(12) months after, the date that such Change in Control has been consummated.

 
2.4                               Standard Company Benefits .   Executive shall be entitled to all rights and benefits for which the Executive is eligible under the

terms and conditions of the standard Company benefits and compensation practices which may be in effect from time to time and provided by the Company
to its Executives generally, including four (4) weeks of paid vacation subject to the terms of the Company’s vacation policy.  The Company may adopt,
change or delete plans, policies and provisions in its sole discretion.
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2.5                               Expense Reimbursement .  The Company will promptly reimburse Executive for reasonable business expenses in accordance

with the Company’s standard expense reimbursement policy.  In addition, the Company will reimburse up to $10,000 in documented legal fees and
disbursements incurred by Executive in connection with the review and negotiation of this Agreement within fifteen (15) days after Executive submits to the
Company documentation with respect to such legal fees and disbursements, but in no event shall such reimbursement be paid later than December 31, 2014.

 
3.                                      PROPRIETARY INFORMATION, INVENTIONS, NON-COMPETITION AND NON-SOLICITATION OBLIGATIONS.
 

3.1                               Agreement.  As a condition of employment, Executive agrees to execute and abide by the Employee Nondisclosure and
Developments Agreement (the “Proprietary Information Agreement”), which may be amended by the parties from time to time without regard to this
Agreement.  The Proprietary Information Agreement contains provisions that are intended by the parties to survive and do survive termination or expiration of
this Agreement.

 
4.                                      OUTSIDE ACTIVITIES .
 

4.1                               Other Employment/Enterprise .  Except with the prior written consent of the Board, Executive will not, while employed by the
Company, undertake or engage in any other employment, occupation or business enterprise, other than those in which Executive is a passive investor. 
Executive may engage in limited advisory relationships with and serve on the boards of other companies (provided such companies are not in competitive
markets), scientific research, scholarly writing and publications, and civic and not-for-profit activities so long as such activities do not materially interfere
with the performance of Executive’s duties hereunder.

 
4.2                               Conflicting Interests.  Except as permitted by Section 4.3, while employed by the Company, Executive agrees not to acquire,

assume or participate in, directly or indirectly, any position, investment or interest known by Executive to be adverse or antagonistic to the Company, its
business or prospects, financial or otherwise.

 
4.3                               Competing Enterprises .  While employed by the Company, except on behalf of the Company, Executive will not directly or

indirectly, whether as an officer, director, stockholder, partner, proprietor, associate, representative, consultant, or in any capacity whatsoever engage in,
become financially interested in, be employed by or have any business connection with any other person, corporation, firm, partnership or other entity
whatsoever which were known by Executive to compete directly with the Company, throughout the world, in any line of business engaged in (or then currently
planned to be engaged in) by the Company; provided, however, that anything above to the contrary notwithstanding, Executive may own, as a passive
investor, securities of any public competitor corporation, so long as Executive’s direct holdings in any one such corporation shall not in the aggregate constitute
more than 2% of the voting stock of such corporation.

 
5.                                      FORMER EMPLOYMENT .
 

5.1                               No Conflict With Existing Obligations .  Executive represents that Executive’s performance of all the terms of this Agreement
and as an Executive of the Company
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do not and will not materially breach any agreement or obligation of any kind made prior to Executive’s employment by the Company, including agreements or
obligations Executive may have with prior employers or entities for which Executive has provided services.  Executive has not entered into, and agrees
Executive will not enter into, any agreement or obligation, either written or oral, in conflict herewith.
 

5.2                               No Disclosure of Confidential Information .  If, in spite of Section 5.1, Executive should find that confidential information
belonging to any former employer might be usable in connection with the Company’s business, Executive will not intentionally disclose to the Company or use
on behalf of the Company any confidential information belonging to any of Executive’s former employers (except in accordance with agreements between the
Company and any such former employer); but during Executive’s employment by the Company Executive will use in the performance of Executive’s duties
all information which is generally known and used by persons with training and experience comparable to Executive’s own and all information which is
common knowledge in the industry or otherwise legally in the public domain.

 
6.                                      TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT.  The parties acknowledge that Executive’s employment relationship with the Company is at-

will.  Either Executive or the Company may terminate the employment relationship at any time, with or without Cause.  The provisions of Sections 6.1
through 6.6 govern the amount of compensation, if any, to be provided to Executive upon termination of employment and do not alter this at-will status.

 
6.1                               Termination by the Company Without Cause.
 

(a)                                 The Company shall have the right to terminate Executive’s employment with the Company at any time without Cause
(as defined in Section 6.2(b) below) by giving notice as described in Section 6.6 of this Agreement.

 
(b)                                 In the event Executive’s employment is terminated without Cause, then provided that the Executive executes a general

release in favor of the Company, in form and substance reasonably acceptable to the Company (the “ Release”), which Release is effective as of the date
required by the Release agreement, but in no event later than 60 days following Executive’s separation from service (as defined under Treasury Regulation
Section 1.409A-1(h), and without regard to any alternate definition thereunder, a “ Separation from Service”), and subject to Section 6.1(c), then:

 
(i)                                    the Company shall continue to pay Executive as severance Executive’s then-effective Base Salary for a period

of the first twelve (12) months following Executive’s Separation from Service (the “ Severance Period”), less applicable withholdings and deductions, on the
Company’s regular payroll dates;

 
(ii)                                Executive shall be entitled to any additional acceleration of vesting of the Initial Option and Initial RSUs as set

forth in Section 2.3(c)(ii); and
 
(iii)                            if Executive is participating in the Company’s group health insurance plans on the Separation from Service,

and Executive timely elects and remains eligible for continued coverage under COBRA, or, if applicable, state insurance laws, the Company shall pay that
portion of Executive’s COBRA premiums that the Company was paying prior to the
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Separation from Service for the Severance Period or for the continuation period for which Executive is eligible, whichever is shorter (such shorter period, the
“COBRA Payment Period”).  The Company’s COBRA premium payment obligation will end immediately if the Executive obtains health care insurance
from any other source during the Severance Period.  However, if at any time the Company determines, in its discretion, that the payment of the COBRA
premiums would be reasonably likely to result in a violation of the nondiscrimination rules of Section 105(h)(2) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as
amended (the “Code”) or any statute or regulation of similar effect (including, without limitation, the 2010 Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, as
amended by the 2010 Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act), then in lieu of providing the Company’s portion of the COBRA premiums, the
Company will instead pay Executive, on the first day of each month of the remainder of the COBRA Payment Period, a fully taxable cash payment equal to
the portion of the COBRA premiums that the Company was paying prior to the date of Executive’s Separation from Service for that month, subject to
applicable tax withholdings and deductions.
 

(c)                                  The Company will not make any payments to Executive with respect to any of the benefits pursuant to
Section 6.1(b) prior to the 60th day following Executive’s Separation from Service. On the 60th day following Executive’s Separation from Service, and
provided that Executive has delivered an effective Release, the Company will make the first payment to Executive under Section 6.1(b) in a lump sum equal to
the aggregate amount of payments that the Company would have paid Executive through such date had the payments commenced on the date of Executive’s
Separation from Service through such 60th day, with the balance of the payments paid thereafter on the schedule described above, subject to any delay in
payment required by Section 7.11.

 
(d)                                 The benefits provided to Executive pursuant to this Section 6.1 are in lieu of, and not in addition to, any benefits to

which Executive may otherwise be entitled under any Company severance plan, policy or program.
 

6.2                               Termination by the Company for Cause.
 

(a)                                 The Company shall have the right to terminate Executive’s employment with the Company at any time for Cause by
giving notice as described in Section 6.6 of this Agreement.

 
(b)                                 “Cause” for termination shall mean:  (i) Executive’s commission of any act constituting a felony or a crime involving

fraud or moral turpitude; (ii) Executive’s wrongful act or omission which results in material harm to the Company; (iii) Executive’s willful violation of any
material Company policy that has, prior to any alleged violation, been communicated in writing to the Executive, and which results in material harm to the
Company; (iv) Executive’s material breach of any written agreement between the Executive and the Company which results in material harm to the Company;
(v) Executive’s conduct that demonstrates gross unfitness to serve the Company as determined in the sole discretion of the Board; or (vi) breach of fiduciary
duty by Executive which results in an improper benefit to Executive or material harm to the Company, its shareholders, or their respective interests.
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(c)                                  In the event Executive’s employment is terminated at any time for Cause, Executive will not be entitled to receive

severance pay or any other such severance compensation, except that, pursuant to the Company’s standard payroll policies, the Company shall pay to
Executive the accrued but unpaid salary of Executive through the date of termination, together with all compensation and benefits payable to Executive through
the date of termination under any compensation or benefit plan, program or arrangement during such period.

 
6.3                               Resignation by the Executive .
 

(a)                                 Executive may resign from Executive’s employment with the Company at any time by giving notice as described in
Section 6.6.

 
(b)                                 In the event Executive resigns from Executive’s employment with the Company (other than for Good Reason as set forth

in Section 6.4), Executive will not receive severance pay or any other such severance compensation, except that, pursuant to the Company’s standard payroll
policies, the Company shall pay to Executive the accrued but unpaid salary of Executive through the date of resignation, together with all compensation and
benefits payable to Executive through the date of resignation under any compensation or benefit plan, program or arrangement during such period.

 
6.4                               Resignation by the Executive for Good Reason .
 

(a)                                 Provided Executive has not previously been notified of the Company’s intention to terminate Executive’s employment,
the Executive may resign from Executive’s employment for “ Good Reason” within sixty (60) days after the occurrence of one of the events specified in
Section 6.4(b) below, by giving notice as described in Section 6.6 of this Agreement.

 
(b)                                 “Good Reason” for resignation shall mean the occurrence of any of the following without the Executive’s prior written

consent:  (i) a material diminution of Executive’s authority, responsibilities or duties; provided, however, that the acquisition of the Company and subsequent
conversion of the Company to a division or unit of the acquiring company will not by itself result in a diminution of Executive’s responsibilities or duties;
(ii) a material diminution by the Company in Executive’s Base Salary; (iii) the relocation of the Company’s principal offices to a location outside the New
York City, NY metropolitan area, or the Company’s requiring Executive to be based anywhere other than the Company’s principal offices in New York City;
or (iv) a material breach of this Agreement by the Company, which shall include without limitation the failure to nominate Executive for re-election to the
Board; provided, that prior to any termination for Good Reason pursuant to clauses (i), (ii), (iii) or (iv) of this Section 6.4(b), the Executive shall first provide
the Board with reasonable written notice, setting forth the reasons that the Executive believes exist that give rise to “Good Reason” for resignation, stating that
the Company shall have fifteen (15) business days to cure such “Good Reason”, and the “Good Reason” has not been cured by the Company within fifteen
(15) business days after such notice has been delivered.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, any actions taken by the Company to accommodate a disability of
the Executive or pursuant to the Family and Medical Leave Act shall not be a Good Reason for purposes of this Agreement.
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(c)                                  In the event Executive resigns from Executive’s employment for Good Reason, and subject to Section 6.4(d), the

Executive shall be entitled to receive the same payments and benefits as Executive would receive under Section 6.1 had Executive been terminated by the
Company without Cause, provided that Executive executes a Release in favor of the Company that meets the criteria specified in Section 6.1(b) and that
Executive’s receipt of the payments and benefits are subject to all the terms and conditions of Section 6.1(c).

 
(d)                                 Executive shall not receive any of the benefits pursuant to Section 6.4(c) unless and until the Release becomes effective

and can no longer be revoked by Executive under its terms.
 
(e)                                  The benefits provided to the Executive pursuant to this Section 6.4 are in lieu of, and not in addition to, any benefits to

which Executive may otherwise be entitled under any Company severance plan, policy or program.
 

6.5                               Termination by Virtue of Death or Disability of the Executive.
 

(a)                                 In the event of Executive’s death during the term of this Agreement, all obligations of the parties hereunder shall
terminate immediately, and the Company shall, pursuant to the Company’s standard payroll policies, pay to the Executive’s legal representatives Executive’s
accrued but unpaid salary through the date of death together with all compensation and benefits payable to Executive through the date of death under any
compensation or benefit plan, program or arrangement during such period; provided that, subject to Executive or a representative of Executive’s estate
executing and allowing the Release to become effective in the manner described in Section 6.1(b) above, the Initial Option and the Initial RSUs shall be subject
to the same accelerated vesting as would apply under Section 2.3(c)(ii) as if Executive’s employment had been terminated without Cause or for Good Reason.

 
(b)                                 Subject to applicable state and federal law, the Company shall at all times have the right, upon written notice to the

Executive, to terminate this Agreement based on the Executive’s Disability (as defined below).  Termination by the Company of the Executive’s employment
based on “Disability” shall mean termination because the Executive is unable to perform the essential functions of Executive’s position with or without
accommodation due to a disability (as such term is defined in the Americans with Disabilities Act) for six months in the aggregate during any twelve month
period. This definition shall be interpreted and applied consistent with the Americans with Disabilities Act, the Family and Medical Leave Act and other
applicable law.  In the event Executive’s employment is terminated based on the Executive’s Disability, Executive will not receive severance pay or any other
such compensation; provided, however, the Company shall, pursuant to the Company’s standard payroll policies, pay to Executive the accrued but unpaid
salary of Executive through the date of termination, together with all compensation and benefits payable to Executive through the date of termination under any
compensation or benefit plan, program or arrangement during such period.
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6.6                               Notice; Effective Date of Termination.
 

(a)                                 Termination of Executive’s employment pursuant to this Agreement shall be effective on the earliest of:
 

(i)                                    immediately after the Company gives written notice to Executive of Executive’s termination without Cause,
unless the Company specifies a later date, in which case, termination shall be effective as of such later date;

 
(ii)                                immediately after the Company gives written notice to Executive of Executive’s termination for Cause;
 
(iii)                            immediately upon the Executive’s death;
 
(iv)                             thirty (30) days after the Company gives written notice to Executive of Executive’s termination on account of

Executive’s disability, unless the Company specifies a later date, in which case, termination shall be effective as of such later date, provided, that Executive
has not returned to the full time performance of Executive’s duties prior to such date; or

 
(v)                                 thirty (30) days after the Executive gives written notice to the Company of Executive’s resignation and (in the

case of a resignation for Good Reason) otherwise fully complies with the procedures set forth in Section 6.4(b) above, unless the Company agrees to a different
date at any time between the date of notice and the date of resignation, in which case the Executive’s resignation shall be effective as of such other date.

 
(b)                                 Executive will receive compensation through any required notice period in the event of termination for any reason. 

However, the Company reserves the right to require that the Executive not perform any services or report to work during any required notice period.
 

7.                                      GENERAL PROVISIONS .
 

7.1                               Notices.   Any notices provided hereunder must be in writing and shall be deemed effectively given: (a) upon personal delivery to
the party to be notified, (b) when sent by electronic mail, telex or confirmed facsimile if sent during normal business hours of the recipient, and if not, then on
the next business day, (c) five (5) days after having been sent by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid, or (d) one (1) day after
deposit with a nationally recognized overnight courier, specifying next day delivery, with written verification of receipt.  All communications shall be sent to
the Company at its primary office location and to Executive at Executive’s address as listed on the Company payroll, or at such other address as the Company
or the Executive may designate by ten (10) days advance written notice to the other.

 
7.2                               Severability.   Whenever possible, each provision of this Agreement will be interpreted in such manner as to be effective and

valid under applicable law, but if any provision of this Agreement is held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect under any applicable law or
rule in any jurisdiction, such invalidity, illegality or unenforceability will
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not affect any other provision or any other jurisdiction, but this Agreement will be reformed, construed and enforced in such jurisdiction as if such invalid,
illegal or unenforceable provisions had never been contained herein.
 

7.3                               Waiver.   If either party should waive any breach of any provisions of this Agreement, Executive or it shall not thereby be
deemed to have waived any preceding or succeeding breach of the same or any other provision of this Agreement.

 
7.4                               Complete Agreement .   This Agreement, together with the Proprietary Information Agreement, constitutes the entire agreement

between Executive and the Company with regard to the subject matter hereof.  This Agreement is the complete, final, and exclusive embodiment of their
agreement with regard to this subject matter and supersedes any prior oral discussions or written communications and agreements.  This Agreement is entered
into without reliance on any promise or representation other than those expressly contained herein, and it cannot be modified or amended except in writing
signed by Executive and an authorized officer of the Company.

 
7.5                               Counterparts.   This Agreement may be executed in separate counterparts, any one of which need not contain signatures of more

than one party, but all of which taken together will constitute one and the same Agreement.
 
7.6                               Headings.  The headings of the sections hereof are inserted for convenience only and shall not be deemed to constitute a part

hereof nor to affect the meaning thereof.
 
7.7                               Successors and Assigns .  This Agreement is intended to bind and inure to the benefit of and be enforceable by Executive and the

Company, and their respective successors, assigns, heirs, executors and administrators, except that Executive may not assign any of Executive’s duties
hereunder and Executive may not assign any of Executive’s rights hereunder without the written consent of the Company.

 
7.8                               Survival.  Executive’s obligations under the Proprietary Information Agreement shall survive termination of Executive’s

employment with the Company, as provided therein.
 
7.9                               Choice of Law.  All questions concerning the construction, validity and interpretation of this Agreement will be governed by the

law of the State of Maryland.
 
7.10                        Resolution of Disputes.  Any controversy arising out of or relating to this Agreement or the breach hereof shall be settled by

binding arbitration in accordance with the National Rules for the Resolution of Employment Disputes of the American Arbitration Association (before a panel
of arbitrators) and judgment upon the award rendered may be entered in any court having jurisdiction thereof.  The location for the arbitration shall be the New
York City, NY metropolitan area.  Any award made by such panel shall be final, binding and conclusive on the parties for all purposes, and judgment upon
the award rendered by the arbitrators may be entered in any court having jurisdiction thereof.  The arbitrators’ fees and expenses and all administrative fees
and expenses associated with the filing of the arbitration shall be borne by the Company; provided, however, that at Executive’s option, Executive may
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voluntarily pay up to one-half the costs and fees. The parties acknowledge and agree that their obligations under this arbitration agreement survive the
termination of this Agreement and continue after the termination of the employment relationship between Executive and the Company.
 

7.11                        Application of Section 409A .  It is intended that all of the benefits provided under this Agreement satisfy, to the greatest extent
possible, the exemptions from the application of Section 409A of the Code and the regulations and other guidance thereunder and any state law of similar effect
(collectively, “Section 409A”) provided under Treasury Regulations Sections 1.409A-1(b)(4), 1.409A-1(b)(5), and 1.409A-1(b)(9), and this Agreement will
be construed to the greatest extent possible as consistent with those provisions. To the extent not so exempt, this Agreement (and any definitions in this
Agreement) will be construed in a manner that complies with Section 409A, and incorporates by reference all required definitions and payment terms. For
purposes of Section 409A (including, without limitation, for purposes of Treasury Regulations Section 1.409A-2(b)(2)(iii)), Executive’s right to receive any
installment payments under this Agreement will be treated as a right to receive a series of separate payments and, accordingly, each installment payment under
this Agreement will at all times be considered a separate and distinct payment. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth herein, any payments and
benefits provided under this Agreement (or under any other arrangement with Executive) that constitute “deferred compensation” shall not commence in
connection with Executive’s termination of employment unless and until Executive has also incurred a Separation from Service.  If the Company determines
that any of the payments or benefits upon a Separation from Service provided under this Agreement (or under any other arrangement with Executive) constitute
“deferred compensation” under Section 409A and if Executive is a “specified employee” of the Company (as defined in Section 409A(a)(2)(B)(i) of the Code)
at the time of his Separation from Service, then, solely to the extent necessary to avoid the incurrence of the adverse personal tax consequences under
Section 409A, the timing of the payments upon a Separation from Service will be delayed as follows: on the earlier to occur of (i) the date that is six months
and one day after the effective date of Executive’s Separation from Service, and (ii) the date of Executive’s death (the earlier date, the “ Delayed Initial
Payment Date”), the Company will (A) pay to Executive a lump sum amount equal to the sum of the payments upon Separation from Service that Executive
would otherwise have received through the Delayed Initial Payment Date if the commencement of the payments had not been delayed pursuant to this
Section 7.11, and (B) begin paying the balance of the payments in accordance with the applicable payment schedules set forth above. No interest will be due
on any amounts so deferred.

 
7.12                        Golden Parachute Excise Tax.   The Company and Executive agree that Executive’s execution of a non-competition agreement is

a material inducement to the severance payments and benefits provided pursuant to this Agreement, and the Company further agrees such severance payments
and benefits are payable on account of such non-competition agreement.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, if any payment or benefit Executive would receive
from the Company or otherwise in connection with a Change in Control (as defined in the Plan) or other similar transaction (“ Payment”) would (i) constitute a
“parachute payment” within the meaning of Section 280G of the Code, and (ii) but for this sentence, be subject to the excise tax imposed by Section 4999 of
the Code (the “Excise Tax”), then such Payment will be equal to the Reduced Amount.  The “ Reduced Amount” will be either (x) the largest portion of the
Payment
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that would result in no portion of the Payment being subject to the Excise Tax, or (y) the largest portion, up to and including the total, of the Payment,
whichever amount ((x) or (y)), after taking into account all applicable federal, state and local employment taxes, income taxes, and the Excise Tax (all
computed at the highest applicable marginal rate), results in Executive’s receipt of the greater economic benefit notwithstanding that all or some portion of the
Payment may be subject to the Excise Tax.  If a Reduced Amount will give rise to the greater after tax benefit, the reduction in the Payments will occur in the
following order: (a) reduction of cash payments; (b) cancellation of accelerated vesting of equity awards other than stock options; (c) cancellation of accelerated
vesting of stock options; and (d) reduction of other benefits paid to Executive.  Within any such category of payments and benefits (that is, (a), (b), (c) or
(d)), a reduction will occur first with respect to amounts that are not “deferred compensation” within the meaning of Section 409A and then with respect to
amounts that are.  In the event that acceleration of compensation from Executive’s equity awards is to be reduced, such acceleration of vesting will be canceled,
subject to the immediately preceding sentence, in the reverse order of the date of grant.
 

The registered public accounting firm engaged by the Company for general audit purposes as of the day prior to the effective date of the event
described in Section 280G(b)(2)(A)(i) of the Code will perform the foregoing calculations.  If the registered public accounting firm so engaged by the Company
is serving as accountant or auditor for the acquirer or is otherwise unable or unwilling to perform the calculations, the Company will appoint a nationally
recognized firm that has expertise in these calculations to make the determinations required hereunder.  The Company will bear all expenses with respect to the
determinations by such independent registered public accounting firm required to be made hereunder.  The firm engaged to make the determinations hereunder
will provide its calculations, together with detailed supporting documentation, to the Company and Executive within thirty (30) calendar days after the date on
which Executive’s right to a Payment is triggered (if requested at that time by the Company or Executive) or such other time as reasonably requested by the
Company or Executive.  Any good faith determinations of the independent registered public accounting firm made hereunder will be final, binding and
conclusive upon the Company and Executive.

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Key Employee Agreement on the Effective Date.
 

 
MILLENNIAL MEDIA, INC.

  
  

By: /s/ Michael Avon
Michael Avon
Chief Financial Officer

  
  

/s/ Michael Barrett
Michael Barrett
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Exhibit 10.17
 

SEPARATION AGREEMENT AND RELEASE OF CLAIMS
 

This Separation Agreement and Release of Claims (this “Agreement”) is hereby made and entered into on January 25, 2014 (the “Effective Date”) by
and between Paul Palmieri (“Mr. Palmieri”) and Millennial Media, Inc., a Delaware corporation, including any of its parent, subsidiary, affiliated and/or
related entities, and their directors, administrators, officers, employees, agents, insurers, attorneys, representatives and assigns (collectively, “Millennial” or
the “Company,” and together with Mr. Palmieri, the “Parties”).

 
WITNESSETH

 
WHEREAS, Mr. Palmieri is the Chairman of the Board of Directors (the “Board”), President and Chief Executive Officer of Millennial, and his

employment is governed by the terms of an Amended and Restated Key Employee Agreement, dated March 14, 2012, as amended (such Agreement and all
amendments, if any, collectively referred to as the “Employment Agreement”);

 
WHEREAS, Mr. Palmieri has decided to voluntarily resign from his positions as Chairman, as a member of the Board, President and Chief

Executive Officer of Millennial as of January 25, 2014, and the Parties have decided to voluntarily end their employment relationship and acknowledge that
Mr. Palmieri’s employment with the Company will cease at the close of business on February 1, 2014 (the “Separation Date”);

 
WHEREAS, contemporaneously with the execution of this Agreement, the Parties intend to enter into a consulting agreement (the “Consulting

Agreement”) whereby Mr. Palmieri will provide certain consulting and advisory services to Millennial from and after the Separation Date and otherwise on the
terms set forth in the Consulting Agreement; and

 
WHEREAS, the Parties wish to finally resolve all matters, if any, between them as of the date of this Agreement, and have therefore agreed to the

terms hereinafter set forth.
 
NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the aforesaid promises and the mutual promises hereinafter expressed in this Agreement, and other

good and valuable consideration, the adequacy and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties do hereby agree as follows:
 
1.                                      Resignation from Company .  Effective as of the Effective Date, Mr. Palmieri voluntarily resigns from the Company as the Company’s

President and Chief Executive Officer.  Additionally, Mr. Palmieri as of the Effective Date, voluntarily resigns as Chairman and a member of the Board and
from all other positions or appointments with the Company.  The Company hereby accepts the resignations of Mr. Palmieri from the aforementioned positions
with the Company.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, Mr. Palmieri shall remain an employee of the Company through and until the close of business on the
Separation Date, at which time, he
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shall also resign as an employee of the Company and the Company hereby accepts such resignation.
 

2.                                      Payments.
 

(a)                                 2013 Annual Bonus .  Millennial shall pay Mr. Palmieri his Annual Bonus (as defined in the Employment Agreement) for the
fiscal year 2013 (the “2013 Bonus”) in an amount determined by the Compensation Committee of the Board, in accordance with the 2013 Executive Bonus
Plan.  The 2013 Bonus shall be paid at the same time such bonuses are paid to the Company’s other senior executives, but in no event later than March 15,
2014.

 
(b)                                 COBRA.  Although Millennial is not otherwise obligated to do so, if Mr. Palmieri timely executes and does not revoke this

Agreement, Millennial will provide the benefit described in this Section 2(b), provided that Mr. Palmieri is not in material breach of this Agreement or any
other written agreement Mr. Palmieri may have executed with the Company.  The Parties agree that a qualifying event shall occur as of the Separation Date for
purposes of the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1985 (“COBRA”), and that thereafter Mr. Palmieri will be eligible to elect COBRA
continuation coverage in accordance with applicable federal law.  In addition, if Mr. Palmieri is participating in the Company’s group health insurance plan on
the Separation Date and timely elects and remains eligible for continued coverage through COBRA, Millennial will pay the entire amount of Mr. Palmieri’s
COBRA premiums for a period of one (1) year beginning on March 1, 2014 (the “Initial COBRA Payment Period”); thereafter, for an additional six
(6) months, Millennial shall pay that portion of Mr. Palmieri’s COBRA premium that the Company was paying prior to the Separation Date (such six
(6) month period, together with the Initial COBRA Payment Period, the “COBRA Payment Period”).  Millennial’s COBRA premium payment obligation will
end immediately if Mr. Palmieri obtains health care insurance from any other source during the COBRA Payment Period.  However, if at any time Millennial
determines, in its discretion, that the payment of the COBRA premiums would be reasonably likely to result in a violation of the nondiscrimination rules of
Section 105(h)(2) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”) or any statute or regulation of similar effect (including, without limitation,
the 2010 Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, as amended by the 2010 Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act), then in lieu of providing
Millennial’s payment of the COBRA premiums, Millennial will instead pay Mr. Palmieri, on the first day of each month of the remainder of the COBRA
Payment Period, a fully taxable cash payment equal to the portion of the COBRA premium otherwise payable by Millennial for that month, subject to
applicable tax withholdings and deductions.

 
3.                                      Consulting Agreement .  Commencing upon the Separation Date, Mr. Palmieri shall become a consultant to Millennial, providing consulting

and advisory services to the Board and/or Chief Executive Officer (the “Consultancy”).  The Consulting Agreement (attached hereto as Exhibit A) shall govern
the Consultancy; provided, that if Mr. Palmieri fails to timely execute this Agreement or executes and revokes this Agreement, the Consulting Agreement will
automatically terminate.
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4.                                      Equity Awards.
 

(a)                                 It is the intent of the Parties that, for purposes of the Millennial Media, Inc. 2006 Equity Incentive Plan and the Millennial
Media, Inc. 2012 Equity Incentive Plan (collectively, the “Equity Incentive Plans”), the provision of services during the Consultancy shall constitute
Continuous Service (as such term is defined in the Equity Incentive Plans), and that the restricted stock units (“RSUs”) granted to Mr. Palmieri on
September 11, 2012 and November 27, 2013 shall continue to vest during the term of the Consulting Agreement.  Furthermore, the vesting schedule of such
RSUs are hereby modified such that twenty-five percent (25%) of the unvested RSUs shall vest on each three (3) month anniversary of the commencement of
the Consultancy, such that one hundred percent (100%) of the RSUs are vested immediately at the end of the Term (as defined in the Consulting Agreement). 
Shares underlying vested RSUs shall be delivered to Mr. Palmieri on the applicable vesting date, regardless of whether such vesting date occurs during an
“open window,” provided that if the vesting date occurs on a day that is not a business day, delivery of such shares shall occur on the next following business
day.  Upon the request of Mr. Palmieri, the Company shall permit Mr. Palmieri to satisfy any federal, state, local and foreign tax withholding obligations that
arise in connection with such distribution by surrendering shares of the Company’s common stock that would otherwise be delivered to Mr. Palmieri pursuant
to his RSUs in accordance with the procedures set forth in the Equity Incentive Plans.

 
(b)                                 The Parties further agree that the stock options granted to Mr. Palmieri on November 27, 2013, none of which are vested as of the

Separation Date, shall be considered forfeited and cancelled as of the Separation Date.  For the avoidance of doubt, any other stock options granted to
Mr. Palmieri shall vest and remain exercisable in accordance with the Equity Incentive Plans and the applicable award agreements.

 
5.                                      Other Compensation or Benefits .  Mr. Palmieri acknowledges that, except as expressly provided in this Agreement, the letter from the

Company to Mr. Palmieri, dated as of January 25, 2014 (the “Termination and Benefits Letter”), the Indemnity Agreement (as defined below) and the
Consulting Agreement, he will not receive any additional compensation, severance or benefits after the Separation Date, including but not limited to, any
severance pay or benefits set forth in the Employment Agreement.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, Millennial shall pay to Mr. Palmieri all compensation and
benefits that have accrued and are payable through the Separation Date under the Employment Agreement and any other arrangement between Millennial and
Mr. Palmieri, including, without limitation, Base Salary (as such term is defined in the Employment Agreement).

 
6.                                      General Release by Mr. Palmieri.  Mr. Palmieri agrees for himself and his  heirs, executors, agents, successors, predecessors, personal

representatives, administrators, and assigns to release and forever  discharge Millennial, including any of its parents, subsidiaries, affiliated and/or related
entities or insurers, as well as their directors, administrators, officers, employees, insurers, agents, representatives and assigns, from any and all
administrative claims, demands, actions, causes of action, statutory rights, duties, debts, sums of money, lawsuits, contracts, agreements, controversies,
promises, damages (whether actual, punitive or exemplary or of some other nature or kind), including without limitation, wages, benefits, back pay, front
pay, and emotional distress, obligations, responsibilities, liabilities (including attorneys’ fees and costs actually incurred), accounts, injunctions, judgments,
jury verdicts and any other relief of any kind whatsoever, whether known or unknown, suspected or unsuspected, existing as of or prior
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to the Effective Date.  Causes of action released include, but are not limited to, breach of express or implied contract, covenant of good faith and fair dealing,
all claims for discrimination, harassment or retaliation, all claims for violation of public policy, all claims for alleged unpaid bonuses, wages or other
amounts, and all claims arising under the following statutes: Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended, the Americans with Disabilities Act, the
Age Discrimination in Employment Act, as amended by the Older Workers’ Benefits Protection Act (“ADEA”), the Civil Rights Act of 1866, the Family and
Medical Leave Act, the Fair Labor Standards Act, Employee Retirement Income Security Act ,  the Occupational Safety and Health Act, the Genetic Information
Nondiscrimination Act, the National Labor Relations Act, the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, Title 20 of the State Government Article of the Maryland Code, the
Maryland Flexible Leave Act, the Maryland Declaration of Rights, the Maryland Equal Pay Act and all other federal, state and/or local laws and/or common
law claims relating to employment, benefits or otherwise applicable to the relationship between Mr. Palmieri and Millennial prior to the Effective Date. 
Mr. Palmieri further agrees that if he attempts to avoid or set aside the terms of this general release, or if Millennial successfully asserts this general release as a
defense or bar to any claim asserted by Mr. Palmieri, he shall be liable for the reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs of Millennial in defending such claims or
asserting such defense based on this general release.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, Mr. Palmieri does not release any rights that he may have with respect to
any of the following: (a) any claim which, as a matter of law, cannot be released by private agreement; (b) any claim arising from an alleged breach of any
provision of this Agreement by either party; (c) any claim arising under the Consulting Agreement; and (d) any contribution, indemnity or other claim
Mr. Palmieri may have under (i) the Company’s constituent documents, including the Company’s articles of incorporation and bylaws, (ii) any applicable
policy of insurance, (iii) any agreement relating to indemnification, including the Indemnity Agreement between the Parties (the “Indemnity Agreement”), or
(iv) applicable law, by reason of the fact that Mr. Palmieri is or was a director, officer, executive or agent of the Company or serves or served any other
enterprise at the request of the Company.  Mr. Palmieri is waiving, however, his right to any monetary recovery should any governmental agency or entity,
such as the U.S. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (“EEOC”)  or the U.S. Department of Labor, pursue any claims on his behalf.
 

7.                                      Age Discrimination Release Notification .  This Agreement includes a release of all charges and claims under the ADEA and, therefore,
pursuant to the requirements of 29 U.S.C. §626(f), Mr. Palmieri acknowledges that he has been advised:

 
(a)                                 that this release includes all claims under the ADEA arising up to and including the Effective Date but does not include claims

that have not yet occurred;
 
(b)                                 to consult with an attorney and/or other advisor of his choosing concerning his rights and obligations under this release;
 
(c)                                  to fully consider this release before executing it; and
 
(d)                                 that Mr. Palmieri has seven (7) days following his execution of this Agreement to revoke the Agreement by delivering written notice

to Ho Shin, General Counsel, and this Agreement shall not be effective until the date upon which the revocation period has
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expired, provided that Mr. Palmieri has not revoked the Agreement during such period, which date shall be the eighth day after this Agreement is executed by
Mr. Palmieri.
 

Mr. Palmieri hereby acknowledges and agrees that he has been given twenty-one (21) days to consider, execute and deliver this Agreement to the
Company.  The Parties recognize that Mr. Palmieri may elect to execute this Agreement prior to the expiration of such period and Mr. Palmieri agrees that if he
elects to do so such election is knowing and voluntary and comes after full opportunity to consult with an attorney.

 
8.                                      Cooperation.  Mr. Palmieri agrees to cooperate reasonably with Millennial, at Millennial’s sole cost and expense, to provide such

information as may be from time to time requested in connection with pending and future litigation or any investigation or review by any federal, state or local
regulatory authority (including claims asserted with administrative agencies) involving Millennial.  Except as requested by Millennial or as compelled by law
or judicial process, Mr. Palmieri will not assist, cooperate with, or supply information of any kind to any individual or private-party litigant or their agents or
attorneys in any proceeding, investigation, or inquiry raising issues under any federal, state, or local law, or in any other litigation against Millennial; nor will
Mr. Palmieri participate in any class action against Millennial or accept any money recovered on his behalf by others.  If Mr. Palmieri receives a subpoena
seeking testimony, documents or information that Mr. Palmieri may have related to Millennial, he shall provide Millennial through its General Counsel Ho
Shin (or his designated successor) with a copy of the subpoena prior to the date specified for compliance and no later than four (4) business days following his
receipt of it.  This Agreement is not intended to, and shall not be construed to, in any way limit or affect the testimony which Mr. Palmieri gives in any
litigation, hearing or other matter; instead, it is understood and agreed that Mr. Palmieri will at all times testify fully, truthfully and accurately, whether in
deposition, trial or otherwise.  This Agreement also does not limit Mr. Palmieri’s ability to testify, assist, or participate in an investigation, hearing, or
proceeding conducted by the EEOC.  Mr. Palmieri’s cooperation under this Section 8 shall be deemed to be Services, as such term is defined in the Consulting
Agreement.

 
9.                                      Noncompetition, Nonsolicitation and No Hire .
 

(a)                                 Mr. Palmieri agrees that for a period of twelve (12) months following his Separation Date he will not, as an officer, director,
employee, consultant, owner, partner, or in any other capacity, either directly or through others, solicit, perform or provide, or attempt to perform or provide
the Primary Conflicting Services (as defined below) anywhere in the United States, nor will he assist another person to solicit, perform or provide, or attempt
to perform or provide the Primary Conflicting Services anywhere in the United States.  “Primary Conflicting Services” shall mean any product, service, or
process of any person or organization other than the Company that directly competes with a product, service, or process of the Company and with which
Mr. Palmieri worked directly or indirectly during his employment by the Company.

 
(b)                                 Mr. Palmieri agrees that for a period of twelve (12) months following the end of the twelve (12) month period referenced in

Section 9(a) above he will not, as an officer, director, employee, consultant, owner, partner, or in any other capacity, either directly or through others, solicit,
perform or provide, or attempt to perform or provide Secondary Conflicting Services
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(as defined below) anywhere in the United States, nor will he assist another person to solicit, perform or provide, or attempt to perform or provide Secondary
Conflicting Services anywhere in the United States.  “Secondary Conflicting Services” shall mean any product, service or process for the operation of a third
party mobile advertising platform; provided, that Secondary Conflicting Services shall not include attempting to perform or provide services in any capacity
for any person who operates a third party mobile advertising platform if the services to be performed or provided are for a department, division, unit or
subsidiary of such person that does not operate such platform.  As an example of the application of the foregoing restriction on Mr. Palmieri, but not a
limitation thereof, Mr. Palmieri may provide services for Google; provided, that he does not provide services for the AdMob division of Google.
 

(c)                                  Mr. Palmieri agrees that for a period of twelve (12) months following the Separation Date he will not, as an officer, director,
employee, consultant, owner, partner, or in any other capacity, directly:

 
(i)                                     hire, solicit, induce, encourage, or participate in hiring, soliciting, inducing, or encouraging any Employee (as defined

below) of the Company to terminate his or her relationship with the Company; or
 
(ii)                                  solicit, induce or attempt to induce any Customer or Potential Customer (as defined below), or any consultant or

independent contractor of the Company with whom he had direct or indirect contact or whose identity he learned of as a result of his employment with the
Company, to terminate or materially alter in a manner harmful to the Company its relationship with the Company.

 
“Employee” shall mean anyone who was or is an employee of the Company during the period commencing on the Separation Date up to and through the
expiration of the Consulting Agreement.  A “Customer” or “Potential Customer” is any person or entity who or which, at any time during the one (1) year
period prior to the Separation Date (1) contracted for, was billed for, or received from the Company any product, service or process with which Mr. Palmieri
worked directly or indirectly during his employment by the Company; or (2) was in contact with Mr. Palmieri or in contact with any other employee, owner,
or agent of the Company, of which contact Mr. Palmieri was or should have been aware, concerning any product, service or process with which Mr. Palmieri
worked directly or indirectly during his employment with the Company; or (3) was solicited by the Company in an effort in which Mr. Palmieri was involved.
 

10.                               Reasonableness of Restrictions .
 

(a)                                 Mr. Palmieri agrees that he has read this entire Agreement, including Section 9, and understands it.  He further agrees that the
restrictions set forth in Section 9 do not prevent him from earning a living or pursuing his career.  He agrees that the restrictions set forth in Section 9 are
reasonable, proper, and necessitated by the Company’s legitimate business interests.  He represents and agrees that he is entering into this Agreement freely and
with knowledge of its contents with the intent to be bound by the Agreement and the restrictions contained in it.
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(b)                                 In the event that a court finds this Agreement, or any of its restrictions, to be ambiguous, unenforceable, or invalid, Mr. Palmieri

and Millennial agree that the court shall read the Agreement as a whole and interpret the restriction(s) at issue to be enforceable and valid to the maximum extent
allowed by law.

 
(c)                                  If the court declines to enforce this Agreement in the manner provided in Section 10(b), Mr. Palmieri and the Company agree that

this Agreement will be automatically modified to provide the Company with the maximum protection of its business interests allowed by law and Mr. Palmieri
agrees to be bound by this Agreement as modified.

 
(d)                                 Mr. Palmieri agrees that any breach of this Agreement by him may cause irreparable damage to the Company and that in the event

of such breach the Company shall have, in addition to any and all remedies of law, the right to an injunction, specific performance or other equitable relief to
prevent the violation of his obligations hereunder.

 
11.                               Return of Property and Preservation of Documents .  Mr. Palmieri agrees that he will return all Millennial computer and other equipment by

February 28, 2014.  Mr. Palmieri further agrees that, if he has any email or other documents related to Millennial’s business on any computer or other personal
equipment or in hard copy, he will notify Millennial of this as soon as practicable and will make arrangements to have Millennial preserve these documents.

 
12.                               Nondisparagement.  The Parties mutually agree not to engage in any communications, written or oral, or cause or encourage others to make

any such communications, that defame or disparage the personal and/or business reputations, practices or conduct of one another (collectively, “Disparaging
Behavior”).  The Parties further agree that any breach of this provision is a material breach of this Agreement for which the nonbreaching party may
immediately seek legal, equitable, injunctive, monetary or any other appropriate relief in a court of competent jurisdiction without the posting of a bond or any
guarantee.  Such relief shall include, but is not limited to, the recovery of reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs incurred in successfully pursuing any claim for
a breach of this provision and any other economic, compensatory and/or consequential damages caused by such breach.  Notwithstanding the terms of this
provision, the Parties shall respond truthfully in response to a subpoena or court order.  The Company’s obligations under this Section 12 are limited to
Company representatives with knowledge of this provision; provided, that if a Company representative without knowledge of this provision engages in any
Disparaging Behavior relating to Mr. Palmieri, the Company shall immediately advise and cause such representative to cease such Disparaging Behavior.

 
13.                               Nondisclosure and Developments Agreement .  Mr. Palmieri acknowledges and agrees that he will continue to be bound by his Employee

Nondisclosure and Developments Agreement (“Employee NDA”), attached hereto as Exhibit B.  However, to the extent this Agreement expressly alters any
terms of the Employee NDA, the Parties agree that the terms of this Agreement will control.

 
14.                               Access to Certain Data.  The Company acknowledges that Mr. Palmieri has expressed interest in writing a book or another publication

regarding, among other things, his experience as the founder of the Company (a “Publication”).  Without limiting any obligations of Mr. Palmieri hereunder,
including with respect to his obligations under the Employee NDA, the
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Company shall, promptly upon the request of Mr. Palmieri, but in no event more than ninety (90) days following the Separation Date, use commercially
reasonable efforts to negotiate and enter into a license agreement, pursuant to which Mr. Palmieri will receive access to, and a license to use and publish, certain
data of the Company in any Publication.
 

15.                               No Admission .  The Parties understand and agree that all alleged liability between them is expressly denied, and that the present Agreement
constitutes the compromise of disputed claims.

 
16.                               Binding Successors, Heirs, and Assigns .  This Agreement shall bind and inure to the benefit of the Parties’ successors, heirs, and

assigns.
 
17.                               Medicare Representations and Indemnification .  Employee affirms and warrants that Employee is not a Medicare beneficiary and is not

currently receiving, has not received in the past, is not eligible for, and has not applied for or sought benefits from Medicare.  Employee agrees to indemnify
and hold Millennial harmless for any penalties or liability, including interest, that may be asserted against Millennial pursuant to Section 111 of the Medicare,
Medicaid, and SCHIP Extension Act of 2007, 42 U.S.C. § 1395y(b)(8) as a result of the payments and other benefits described in Section 2(b) of this
Agreement.

 
18.                               Application of Section 409A .  It is intended that all of the benefits provided under this Agreement satisfy, to the greatest extent possible, the

exemptions from the application of Section 409A of the Code and the regulations and other guidance thereunder and any state law of similar effect (collectively,
“409A”) provided under Treasury Regulations Sections 1.409A-1(b)(4), 1.409A-1(b)(5), and 1.409A-1(b)(9), and this Agreement will be construed to the
greatest extent possible as consistent with those provisions.  To the extent not so exempt, this Agreement (and any definitions in this Agreement) will be
construed in a manner that complies with Section 409A, and incorporates by reference all required definitions and payment terms.  For purposes of
Section 409A, Mr. Palmieri’s right to receive any installment payments under this Agreement will be treated as a right to receive a series of separate payments
and, accordingly, each installment payment under this Agreement will at all times be considered a separate and distinct payment.

 
19.                               Miscellaneous.  If any portion of this Agreement is declared void or unenforceable for any reason, the unenforceable portion shall be

deemed severed from the remaining portions of this Agreement, which shall otherwise remain in full force and effect.  This Agreement, including Exhibits A
and B, and the Termination and Benefits Letter constitute the complete, final and exclusive embodiment of the entire agreement between the Parties with regard
to this subject matter.  It is entered into without reliance on any promise or representation, written or oral, other than those expressly contained herein, and it
supersedes any other such promises, warranties or representations.  This Agreement may not be modified or amended except in a writing signed by both
Mr. Palmieri and a duly authorized officer of the Company.  Nothing in this Agreement shall affect the Consulting Agreement or the Indemnity Agreement,
which agreements shall continue in full force and effect pursuant to their terms.  This Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the
laws of the State of Maryland, without recourse to the choice of law provisions thereof.  The Parties further agree that any
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action to enforce this Agreement shall be brought in a state or federal court of competent jurisdiction within Maryland.
 

20.                               Facsimile/Electronic Signatures, Counterparts and Headings .  Facsimile and electronic signatures shall have the same power and effect as
original signatures.  This Agreement may be executed independently and separately (i.e. in counterparts) by the respective Parties. If executed in counterparts,
each counterpart shall be deemed to be an original, and said counterparts together shall constitute one and the same Agreement.  The headings within this
Agreement have been included for the convenience of reference only and shall not affect the meaning or interpretation of the terms herein or the Agreement as a
whole.

 
[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS]
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WHEREFORE, the Parties hereto, intending to be legally bound and by their respective signatures below, acknowledge that there exist no other

promises, representations or agreements relating to this Agreement except as specifically set forth herein, and that they knowingly and voluntarily enter into
this Agreement with a full understanding of its contents.

 
 

/s/ Paul J. Palmieri DATE: January 25, 2014
Paul Palmieri
   
   
MILLENNIAL MEDIA, INC.
   
By: /s/ Ho Shin DATE: January 25, 2014

Ho Shin, General Counsel
 



Exhibit 10.18
 

CONSULTING AGREEMENT
 

This Consulting Agreement (this “Agreement”) is entered into as of this 25  day of January, 2014 (the “Effective Date”), by and between Paul
Palmieri, (the “Consultant”) and Millennial Media, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company,” and together with the Consultant, the “Parties”).

 
WITNESSETH

 
WHEREAS, the Parties desire for the Company to engage Consultant as an independent contractor to perform the services described herein on the

terms and conditions set forth herein.
 
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the promises and mutual agreements contained herein, the Parties hereto, intending to be legally bound,

agree as follows:
 
1.                                      Statement of Work.  This Agreement is for consulting and advisory services (the “Services”) to be rendered by Consultant as set forth in

the Statement of Work attached hereto as Exhibit A (the “SOW”).
 
2.                                      Independent Contractor Relationship .  Consultant will be an independent contractor and not an employee of the Company.  Nothing in this

Agreement is intended to, or should be construed to, create a partnership, agency, joint venture or employment relationship.  Neither Consultant nor the
Company shall represent directly or indirectly that Consultant is an agent, employee, or legal representative of the Company.  Consultant shall not have the
authority to incur any liabilities or obligations of any kind in the name of or on behalf of the Company.  Consultant acknowledges and agrees that, except as
otherwise set forth in the Separation Agreement and Release of Claims, dated as of January 25, 2014, by and between Consultant and the Company (the
“Separation Agreement”), (a) Consultant shall not receive any employee benefits of any kind from the Company; (b) Consultant is excluded from participating
in any fringe benefit plans or programs as a result of the performance of the Services, without regard to Consultant’s independent contractor status; and
(c) Consultant waives any and all rights, if any, to participation in any of the Company’s fringe benefit plans or programs including, but not limited to,
health, sickness, accident or dental coverage, life insurance, disability benefits, severance, accidental death and dismemberment coverage, unemployment
insurance coverage, workers’ compensation coverage, and pension or 401(k) benefit(s) provided by the Company to its employees.

 
3.                                      Consultant’s Responsibilities.  As an independent contractor, the mode, manner, method and means used by Consultant in the

performance of the Services shall be of Consultant’s selection and under the sole control and direction of Consultant.  Consultant shall use commercially
reasonable efforts to perform the Services in a manner reasonably satisfactory to the Company and in accordance with timelines mutually agreed by the
Company and Consultant.
 

4.                                      Payment and Tax Treatment.  Consultant shall be compensated for performance of the Services on the basis set forth in the SOW. 
Consultant and the Company agree that the
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Company will treat Consultant as an independent contractor for purposes of all tax laws (local, state and federal) and file forms consistent with that status. 
Consultant will be solely responsible to pay any and all local, state, and federal income, social security and unemployment taxes arising out of the Services. 
The Company will not withhold any taxes or prepare W-2 Forms for Consultant, but will provide Consultant with a Form 1099, if required by law.

 
5.                                      Term; Termination.  This Agreement shall commence on the Effective Date and shall continue until February 1, 2015 (the “Term”);

provided, however, that if Consultant does not execute or executes and revokes the Separation Agreement, then this Agreement will immediately terminate.  The
Company may terminate this Agreement before its expiration if the Consultant materially breaches this Agreement; provided, that Consultant is provided with
written notice of the breach and the breach remains uncured thirty (30) days following Consultant’s receipt of such notice.  The Company may also terminate
this Agreement upon five (5) days prior written notice if Consultant violates state or federal laws applicable to the Services or is convicted of a felony.  Upon
any termination or expiration of this Agreement, Consultant shall (i) immediately discontinue all use of the Company’s Confidential Information (as defined
below) delivered under this Agreement; (ii) delete any such Company Confidential Information from Consultant’s computer storage or any other media,
including, but not limited to, online and off-line libraries; and (iii) return to the Company, or, at the Company’s option, destroy, all copies of such
Confidential Information then in Consultant’s possession.  In the event the Company terminates this Agreement, Consultant will not receive any compensation
from and after the effective date of termination; provided, however, that nothing herein shall be construed to release the Company from any obligation to
compensate Consultant for Services provided prior to termination of this Agreement.

 
6.                                      Ownership of Intellectual Property .  Consultant agrees that (i) all documents, deliverables, software, systems designs, disks, tapes and

any other materials, whether tangible or intangible (collectively, “Materials”) created, in whole or in part, by Consultant in the course of or related to providing
Services to the Company shall be treated as “works made for hire” for the Company, and (ii) Consultant will immediately disclose to the Company all
research, writings, discoveries, inventions, enhancements, improvements and similar creations (collectively, “Creations”) made, in whole or in part, by
Consultant in the course of or related to providing Services to the Company.  All ownership and control of the above Materials and Creations, including any
copyright, patent rights and all other intellectual property rights therein, shall vest exclusively with the Company, and Consultant hereby assigns to the
Company all right, title and interest that Consultant may have in such Materials and Creations, free of all liens and encumbrances of any type.  Consultant
agrees to execute any documents required by the Company, at the Company’s sole cost and expense, to register its rights and to implement the provisions
herein.  The Company reserves the right to release ownership of certain properties to Consultant at its sole discretion, should Consultant make such request in
writing.
 

7.                                      Confidentiality.  Consultant agrees to hold the Company’s Confidential Information in the strictest confidence and not to disclose such
Confidential Information to any third parties except as required in order to perform the Services.  Consultant also agrees not to use any of the Company’s
Confidential Information for any purpose other than performance of this Agreement.  “Confidential Information” as used in this Agreement shall mean all
information disclosed by the Company to Consultant or otherwise obtained by Consultant while providing the Services that is not generally known in the
Company’s trade or industry.  Subject to the foregoing, Consultant acknowledges that “Confidential Information” includes any and all
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information related to the Company’s intellectual property, including, without limitation, patents, know-how, technology, trade secrets, intellectual property
and patent strategy, and all related information.  “Confidential Information” also includes, without limitation, any and all information about the Company’s
finances, strategy, business plans, financing plans, audit results and any other financial or business information related to the Company’s operations.  All
Confidential Information furnished to Consultant by the Company is the sole and exclusive property of the Company or its suppliers or customers, as
applicable.  Consultant’s duty of confidentiality under this Agreement is independent of Consultant’s continuing duties under the Employee Nondisclosure
and Developments Agreement between the Parties (the “Employee NDA”).

 
8.                                      Indemnification.  Consultant shall indemnify and hold harmless the Company and its officers, directors, agents, owners, and employees,

for any claims brought or liabilities imposed against the Company by any third party relating to or arising out of Consultant’s status as an independent
contractor or any other matters involving the acts or omissions of Consultant pursuant to this Agreement or the SOW.  The Company shall defend, indemnify
and hold harmless Consultant for any costs, expenses (including reasonable attorneys’ fees), losses, damages and claims brought or liabilities imposed
against Consultant by any third party relating to or arising out of the Services, this Agreement or the SOW, except to the extent that such claims or liabilities
directly result from Consultant’s gross negligence or willful misconduct in providing the Services.

 
9.                                      Non-Exclusivity.  The Company reserves the right to engage other consultants to perform consulting and advisory services for the

Company.  Consultant reserves the right to perform consulting and advisory services for other third parties.
 
10.                               Assignment.  The Company may assign this Agreement and its rights and obligations hereunder to any corporation or other entity with or

into which the Company may hereafter merge or consolidate or to which the Company may transfer all or substantially all of its assets.  Consultant may not
assign or transfer this Agreement or any rights or obligations hereunder.

 
11.                               Entire Agreement; Amendments .  This Agreement constitutes the entire understanding of the Parties and supersedes any previous oral or

written communications, representations, understanding, or agreement between the Parties concerning this independent contractor relationship.  This
Agreement shall not be changed, modified, supplemented or amended except by express written agreement signed by Consultant and the Company.  This
Agreement does not amend or abrogate in any manner the Separation Agreement, the Employee NDA or the Indemnity Agreement between the Parties.  These
separate agreements have provisions that survive termination of Consultant’s relationship with the Company under this Agreement, may be amended or
superseded without regard to this Agreement, and are enforceable according to their terms without regard to the enforcement of this Agreement.

 
12.                               Governing Law.  This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of Maryland without regard to the conflicts of laws or

principles thereof.  Any suit involving this Agreement shall be brought in a court sitting in Baltimore County, Maryland.  The Parties agree that venue shall be
proper in such courts, and that such courts will have personal jurisdiction over them.
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13.                               Survival.  Consultant’s obligations in Sections 6, 7 and 8 of this Agreement shall survive the termination of this Agreement.
 
14.                               Severability.  Should any provision of this Agreement be held by a court of law to be illegal, invalid or unenforceable, the legality, validity

and enforceability of the remaining provisions of this Agreement shall not be affected or impaired thereby.
 
15.                               Waiver.  The waiver by the Company of a breach of any provision of this Agreement by Consultant shall not operate or be construed as a

waiver of any other or subsequent breach by Consultant.
 

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Consulting Agreement on the date written below.

 
 

CONSULTANT
  
  
/s/ Paul J. Palmieri DATE: January 25, 2014
Paul Palmieri
  
  
MILLENNIAL MEDIA, INC.
  
  
By: /s/ Ho Shin DATE: January 25, 2014                
Ho Shin, General Counsel

 
5



 
EXHIBIT A

 
STATEMENT OF WORK

 
Services
 
Consultant will provide consulting and advisory services in the following areas:
 

·                   Company operations
·                   Changes to management
·                   Communications of such changes within the company
·                   Company strategy
·                   Overall industry strategy
·                   Competitive trends within the industry and surrounding industries
·                   Investment opportunities
·                   International expansion
·                   Other areas as may be reasonably requested by Company
 

Consultant agrees to meet with the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and/or Board of Directors on a monthly basis, unless otherwise agreed by both Parties. 
Consultant agrees to, at the request of the Company, attend meetings and/or events, and provide Services at such meetings and/or events as reasonably
requested by the Company.  The Services shall not require Consultant to travel more than fifty (50) miles from any of the Company’s domestic offices, unless
otherwise mutually agreed by the Parties.
 
Term
 
The term of this SOW shall be for a period of one (1) year, commencing on February 2, 2014, unless the Agreement terminates earlier pursuant to Section 5.
 
Time Commitment
 
During the term of this SOW to the extent requested by the Company, Consultant shall provide up to ten (10) hours of Services to the Company per month (the
“Monthly Commitment”).  Upon request by the Company, the Consultant may, in his sole discretion, agree to provide additional hours of Services above the
Monthly Commitment (“Additional Services”).
 
Consultant Fees and Expenses
 

1.              It is the intent of the Parties that, for purposes of the Millennial Media, Inc. 2006 Equity Incentive Plan and the Millennial Media, Inc. 2012 Equity
Incentive Plan (collectively, the “Equity Incentive Plans”), the provision of Services during the Term shall constitute Continuous Service (as such
term is defined in the Equity Incentive Plans), and that the restricted stock units (“RSUs”) granted to Consultant on September 11, 2012 and
November 27, 2013 shall continue to vest during the Term.  Furthermore, the vesting schedule of such RSUs are hereby modified such that twenty-
five percent (25%) of the unvested RSUs shall vest on each three (3) month anniversary of the commencement of the Term such that one hundred
percent (100%) of the RSUs are vested immediately at the end of the Term.  Shares underlying vested RSUs shall be delivered to Consultant on
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the applicable vesting date, regardless of whether such vesting date occurs during an “open window,” provided that if the vesting date occurs on a
day that is not a business day, delivery of such shares shall occur on the next following business day.  Upon the request of Consultant, the
Company shall permit Consultant to satisfy any federal, state, local and foreign tax withholding obligations that arise in connection with such
distribution by surrendering shares of the Company’s common stock that would otherwise be delivered to Consultant pursuant to his RSUs in
accordance with the procedures set forth in the Equity Incentive Plans.  The Parties agree that the foregoing shall constitute Consultant’s
compensation for Services provided as part of the Monthly Commitment and shall be due to Consultant whether or not the Company requests
Services up to the number of hours in the Monthly Commitment.

 
2.              Unless otherwise mutually agreed upon by the Parties, the Company shall pay to Consultant compensation of $5,000 per day or any portion thereof

for Additional Services provided to the Company.  Such amounts shall be payable to Consultant within thirty (30) days of the end of the calendar
month during which the Additional Services were performed, upon receipt of an invoice for the Additional Services.

 
3.              The Company shall reimburse the Consultant for reasonable out-of-pocket expenses borne by Consultant in performing the Services.  Travel

expenses, including expenses for travel to and from the Company’s domestic offices outside of Baltimore, Maryland, shall be considered
reimbursable expenses.

 
ACKNOWLEDGED AND AGREED:
 
 
CONSULTANT
  
  
/s/ Paul J. Palmieri DATE: January 25, 2014    
Paul Palmieri
  
  
MILLENNIAL MEDIA, INC.
  
  
By: /s/ Ho Shin DATE: January 25, 2014

Ho Shin, General Counsel
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Exhibit 10.19
 

2013 Bonus Plan
 

·                   Bonus Pool is funded by achievement of corporate plan, with pro-rata payment for achievement between 50% -100% and between 100% - 150%.
 
·                   Individual performance will be measured by CEO evaluation of executive’s demonstration of Leadership, Leverage and Results and specific MBOs

established by the CEO, and be included in CEO’s recommendation to the Compensation Committee.
 
·                   Maximum plan funding is 150% of target but individual bonus awards can exceed 150% of target with CEO recommendation and with

Compensation Committee approval.
 
·                   The Compensation Committee will establish for each executive a target bonus expressed as a percentage of his annual salary.

 
·                   Revenue and EBITDA targets will be based on the performance tiers described below. The Compensation Committee retains the discretion to

reasonably adjust the Revenue and EBITDA targets to exclude the impact of any dispositions and acquisitions or other corporate events during the
plan year, as it deems appropriate.

 
Bonus Pool Funding
 

Performance Tiers

Corporate Plan
Plan

Weight

Threshold
50% Payout if results
above following but
below plan/target

Target
100% Payout Target

Stretch
150% Payout Target

Revenue 60% 91% of plan 100% of plan 109% of plan
EBITDA 20% 83% of plan 100% of plan 117% of plan
Discretionary evaluation and MBOs from CEO 20% TBD TBD TBD
 



Exhibit 21.1
 

SUBSIDIARIES OF MILLENNIAL MEDIA, INC.
 

Name Jurisdiction of Incorporation

Millennial Media GmbH Germany
Millennial Media Limited United Kingdom
Millennial Media Private Limited Singapore
Millennial Media SAS France
Cond Acquisition LLC Delaware
Metaresolver, Inc. Delaware
Millennial Media Holdings Limited United Kingdom
Millennial Media KK Japan
Jumptap, Inc. Delaware
Jumptap Security Corporation Massachusetts
Jumptap UK Limited United Kingdom
Jumptap (Israel) Limited Israel

 



Exhibit 23.1
 

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
 

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the following Registration Statements of Millennial Media, Inc. of our reports dated March 3, 2014,
with respect to the consolidated financial statements and schedule of Millennial Media, Inc. and the effectiveness of internal control over financial
reporting of Millennial Media, Inc. included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) of Millennial Media, Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2013.
 
(1)         Registration Statement (Form S-3 No. 333-192138) of Millennial Media, Inc.,
 
(2)         Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-192139) pertaining to the Amended and Restated Jumptap, Inc. 2005 Stock Option and Grant Plan of

Millennial Media, Inc., and
 
(3)         Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-180540) pertaining to Millennial Media, Inc. 2006 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended, and the

Millennial Media, Inc. 2012 Equity Incentive Plan
 

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
 
 

Baltimore, Maryland
March 3, 2014
 



Exhibit 31.1
 

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

 
I, Michael G. Barrett, certify that:
 
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Millennial Media, Inc.;
 
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant
and have:
 
a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during
the period in which this report is being prepared;
 
b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles;
 
c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 
d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter
(the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting; and
 

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 
a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 
b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.
 

Date: March 3, 2014
  

/s/ Michael G. Barrett
Michael G. Barrett
President and Chief Executive Officer
(principal executive officer)

 



Exhibit 31.2
 

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

 
I, Michael B. Avon, certify that:
 
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Millennial Media, Inc.;
 
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant
and have:
 
a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during
the period in which this report is being prepared;
 
b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles;
 
c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 
d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter
(the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting; and
 

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 
a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 
b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.
 

Date: March 3, 2014
  

/s/ Michael B. Avon
Michael B. Avon
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(principal financial officer)
 



Exhibit 32
 

CERTIFICATIONS OF
 PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER

PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
 

In connection with the Annual Report of Millennial Media, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Michael G. Barrett, President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify,
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:
 
1.  The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
 
2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition of the Company at the end of the period covered by
the Report and results of operations of the Company for the period covered by the Report.

 
Date: March 3, 2014 /s/ Michael G. Barrett

Michael G. Barrett
President and Chief Executive Officer
(principal executive officer)

 
This certification accompanies the Report and shall not be deemed “filed” by the Company with the Securities and Exchange Commission and is not to be
incorporated by reference into any filing of the Company under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended
(whether made before or after the date of the Report), irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in such filing.
 

 
In connection with the Annual Report of Millennial Media, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Michael B. Avon, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the
Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:
 
1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
 
2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition of the Company at the end of the period covered by
the Report and results of operations of the Company for the period covered by the Report.
 
Date: March 3, 2014 /s/ Michael B. Avon

Michael B. Avon
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(principal financial officer)

 
This certification accompanies the Report and shall not be deemed “filed” by the Company with the Securities and Exchange Commission and is not to be
incorporated by reference into any filing of the Company under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended
(whether made before or after the date of the Report), irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in such filing.
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